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States with Generation Planis

+ Competitive wholesale markets in North America.
= We handle a significant volume of load in the Northeast and Mid-Atlantic
regions, and Texas.
» We serve 4,500 megawatts of large commercial and industrial peak
foad nationally.

*» Strategic locations where customers have the greatest flexibility in
choosing suppliers, including California, IMinois, Kentucky, Massachusetts,
Maryland, Maine, Missouri, New York, Ohio, Oklahoma, Oregon,
Pennsylvania, Texas, and Canada.

e+ Strategic, competitive markets in North America, including California,
Florida, Hawail, Iflinois, Maryland, Michigan, Nevada, New York,
Pennsylvania, Texas, Utah, Virginia, and West Virginia.

*» Government and large commercial end industrial customers with
single or multiple locations throughout the United States.

»» Homes and small businesses in Maryland.

*+ A 2,300-square-mite electric and 800-square-mile natural gas service
territory in Central Maryland.
« Headguartered in Baltimore since 1816.
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+ Achieved what we consider to be the largest market share in a
fragmented market.

»» Expanded our reach into commercial and industrial markets with the
acquisitions of NewEnergy and Fellon-McCord and Alliance Energy
Services.

+ Enhanced the energy expertise, strength, and reach of the Constellation
Energy team.

«» Generated 45 million megawatt hours, up from 37 million megawatt
hours in 2001.

> Decreased operating and maintenance costs by $29 million.

*+ Protected generation gross margins by forward selling and buying
90 percent of the powsr we'll generate and the fuel we'll need for 2003.

»> Awarded contract to design, build and operate $44 million district energy
system for downtown Nashville, Tennessee.

> Completed and began operating $7 million chilled water plant for
The Rouse Company’s Las Vegas Fashion Show Mall.

e+ Achieved a 95 percent customer satisfaction rating.
* Launched residential “smart service” electrical and plumbing product.

*» Named a J.D. Power & Associates customer satisfaction leader among
gastern utilities.

*» Provided financial stability with a balanced mix of customer revenues—
50 percent residential, 40 percent commercial, 10 percent industrial.
s Achieved significant productivity gains.

+» Ranked among the best—in top 25 percent of regulated utilities—in
operating and maintenance costs.




Constellation Energy Group, a Fortune 500 company based in Baltimore, is the nation’s leading competitive
supplier of electricity to large commercial and industrial customers. We market energy nationally and manage the
associated risks. We own and operate a diversified fleet of generation plants throughout the United States. We also
deliver electricity and natural gas through the Baltimore Gas and Electric Company (BGE), our regulated utility in
Central Maryland. In 2002, the combined revenues of our integrated energy company totaled $4.7 billion.

HERE’S WHAT WE DO

THERE'S NEW ENERGY IN

Competitive Suppiy
» Constellation Power Source
++ Consteliation NewEnergy

» Felion-McCord & Associates
and Alliance Energy Services

L
Generation

»» Constellation Generation Group
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Other Energy Services
» Constellation Energy Source

»» BGE HOME

Energy Delivery
+ Baltimore Gas and Electric

+> Premier wholesale customers—all intensive energy
users—distribution utilities with no generation
assets including BGE, electric co-operatives,
municipalities, and power marketers.

++ Nore than 3,000 large commercial and industrial
gcustomers throughout North America.

» Government and large commercial and
industrial customers.

» Residential and small commercial customers.

+ 1.2 million electric and 600,000 natural gas
residential, commercial, and industrial customers.

++ Procure energy commodity.

» Market energy.

+> ianage risk.

+ Provide generation outsourcing and load
management.

+ Qffer natural gas and electricity consulting
and cost-management services.

» Supply natural gas and transportation services.

« Generate electricity.

+ Qwn and operate more than 11,300 megawatts
of generating capacity nationwide.

« Manage a fleet that is diversified by fuel,
geographic location, and technology.

« Provide operations, maintenance, gross margin,
and integrated partnership management.

+ Provide customized design, construction, and
operation of single-site heating, cooling,
and cogenaration facilities.

» Deliver energy solutions to increase efficiency,
reliability, and cost effectiveness.

» Provide essential services, including heating,
cooling, plumbing, electrical, home improvements,
and appliance service.

o+ Deliver electricity.

» Maintain 250 substations, and nearly
22,500 miles of distribution and 1,300 miles
of transmission lines.

++ Store and deliver natural gas through two
peak-shaving piants, ning gate stations, and
more than 6,000 miles of gas main.



Financial Highlights

2002 2001

(In millions, except per share amounts)

Common Stock Data

Earnings per share $ 3.20 $ 57
Earnings per share before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle $ 3.20 $ 52
Special items:

Workforce reduction costs $ (.23 $ (40

Contract termination related costs $ - $ (87

Impairment losses and other costs $ (1) $ (64

Net gain on the sale of investments and other assets $ 1.02 $ 02
Earnings per share before cumulative effect of change in accounting

principle and special items™ $ 252 $ 24
Dividends declared per share $ .96 $ 48
Average shares outstanding 164.2 160.7
Market price per share—year end $ 27.82 $ 26.55

Financial Data

Total revenues $ 4,703 $ 3,879
Income from operations $ 1,086 $ 358
Net income $ 526 $ 91
Total assets $ 14,129 $14,109
Current portion of long-term debt and short-term horrowings $ 437 $ 2382
Total deht $ 5,051 $ 5,094
Total common equity $ 3,862 $ 3,844
Deht (net of cash) to total capitalization 52% 55%
Capital requirement expenditures $ 923 $ 1318
Cash available for debt reduction** $§ 582 $ (895)

Certain pripr year amounis have been reclassified to conform with the current year’s presenfation.

*  Represents a measure that is not determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and should not be considered
as an alternative to earnings per share under GAAP. However, we believe that the impact of special ifems obscures frends in our resulls and that
it is useful to consider our resulis excluding such items.

** Represents change in debt (net of cash), excluding net unamortized discount and premium.

Total Cumulative Return Compared to the Market

$120 Beating the averages. An investment of $100 in Constellation

$110 /\ Energy common stock on December 31, 2001 was worth —

with dividends reinvested—$108.45 on December 31, 2002.
§100 That performance was significantly better than the Dow Jenes

$90 \\ Electric Utility Index and the S&P 500.
$80 g :

12/31/01 3/31/02 6/30/02 9/30/02 12/31/02

$70

wwsmm (onstellation Energy Group
wwewe Dow Jones Electric Utility Index
o S&P 500




IN OUR CONSTELLATION, WE HAVE

NEW ENERGY

AND IT'S EXCITING

We spent 2002 getting our business in shape. No doubt the environment was worse than we expected,
the weather better than expected, and the accounting profession entered the fray to make everything
more complicated than expected. Nonetheless, we were steadfast in our determination to deliver, and
more importantly, to expand on a strategy in which we have a great deal of confidence.

Mayo A. Shattuck Hi, Chairman of the Board, President
and Chief Executive Officer




We lived by the idea that we had to earn our right to grow.
That meant some tough decisions and hard work. It also meant
changing or stopping some of the things we were doing and
focusing on what we do best.

The results of our efforts are gratifying: a strong balance
sheet, a solid utility business, a fast-growing competitive supply
business, and an enhanced focus on our customers. In addition,
we continued our leadership in full disclosure and delivered
strong financial results.

Solid Earnings Growlh

Against a backdrop of lowered earnings expectations in our
industry, we reported solid earnings growth. Qur reported
earnings per share were $3.20 in 2002, compared with

Our vision is to be the firsi-choice provider for customers seeking
energy solutions in the complex and changing energy marketplace.

announced an additional dividend increase of 8 percent, making
it an annual rate of $1.04 per share, up from $0.96 per share.

When | look back on the challenges we and the rest of the
industry faced in 2002, I'm very proud that we produced such
strong financial results and increased the dividend. To see the
real strength of our performance, you have to look at what
happened beyond the company.

As we all know, 2002 was a very difficult year, especially
for the energy sector. The Dow Jones Utility Index was down
27 percent. Valuations were affected by the weak energy
business environment, the fact that many companies had
earnings decreases year over year, the credibility issues
associated with trading and accounting scandals, and a true
credit and liquidity crisis for many of our peers.

Our mission is to be the nation’s leading energy manager and
competitive supplier, generating and delivering power and natural
gas safely and reliably to our customers while acting in the interests
of our communities, employees, shareholders, and the environment.

$0.57 in 2001. Our 2002 reported earnings include scme
benefit from special items —primarily non-core asset sales.
Our 2001 reported earnings included special items as well—
primarily losses due to contract termination and workforce
reduction costs. As detailed on the financial highlights page,
our earnings for 2002—excluding special items —were
$2.52 per share versus $2.41 per share in 2001.

Our 2002 earnings reflect a negative impact of $0.32 for a
shift from mark-to-market to accrual accounting for certain
parts of our competitive supply business, which was precipi-
tated by changes in the way we do business. This approach
was validated by the Emerging Issues Task Force of the
Financial Accounting Standards Board issuance of EITF 02-3
late last year.

Despite the implementation of this conservative policy, we
were still able to grow our earnings —excluding special items —
4.6 percent relative to 2001 earnings per share.

Performing Well in a Challenging Environment
For the year, our stock closed up 4.8 percent over the 2001
closing price. Assuming reinvestment of dividends, our total
return to shareholders in 2002 was 8.5 percent. We also
doubled our dividend in 2002. And in January 2003, we

Sharpening Our Focus
We were one of the first companies to recognize these shifting
market dynamics, and we acted quickly.

We increased our focus on generating and selling energy
and we sold $708 million of non-core assets —businesses and
operations not directly involved in our core business. We
continued to invest in our risk management processes and
strengthen our control procedures. | believe this has put us in
the forefront of the industry. It also has allowed us to avoid many
of the issues that befell our competition.

More importantly, we knew that a strong and stable balance
sheet would mean the difference between success and failure.
By selling non-core assets and extending the maturity of
$2.5 billion of debt, we have constructed one of the best balance
sheets in the industry and positioned our company to grow.

We constructively renegotiated our contract with the
California Department of Water Resources, which allowed us to
resolve a significant uncertainty and provide greater visibility into
our earnings. We also made great progress in integrating our
new acquisitions —Nine Mile Point and NewEnergy —into the
Constellation family.

And finally, we sharpened our focus on the right business
model. Namely, we worked aggressively to develop further a




competitive supply business that balances our generation
and regulated distribution businesses and enhances our
growth potential.

Where We're Headed
Through our competitive supply platform, we serve as the
energy cost manager for utilities and large commercial and
industrial customers throughout the country. We moved to
expand that business platform with the acquisitions of
NewEnergy from AES, and Fellon-McCord and Alliance Energy
Services from Allegheny Energy.

We have a significant share of a large but fragmented
market. In fact, by our estimates, we are the largest provider of
power and energy cost management to wholesale, commercial

Our vaiues will help us in our mission to reach our vision:

= integrity, teamwork, social and environmental responsibility,
and customer focus guide our actions.

= speed, accountability, passion for excellence, and creation
of value measure our performance.

We also have a platform that we believe can grow faster than
the industry averages. The employees at Constellation worked
very hard last year to create this platform in the face of much
adversity in the industry. Their commitment, dedication, and
focus are the main reasons for our success.

Our Thanks

| want also to pay tribute to two retiring Directors who have
made significant contributions to this company for many years.
First, Chris Poindexter, my predecessor as Chairman and CEQ,
has retired from the Board of Directors. His 35 years of service
to this company span from the early years of building the
Calvert Cliffs Nuclear Power Plant to his courageous
stewardship of the company through the deregulation process.

and industrial customers in dereguiated energy markets. And
we're seeing great opportunities to continue to grow our share.

We believe we have a strong competitive advantage in our
customer relationships, our physical assets, our inteliectual
capital, and our five years’ experience in modeling, evaluating,
assuming, and managing the unique risks associated with
energy supply and cost management.

Wiy We'll be Successiul
In simple terms, we generate and we sell energy. Most
importantly, we meet our customers’ energy needs.

One of the key elements of our future success will be this
customer focus. Managing the risk and complexity of energy
use and cost is a unique skill that is highly valued by our large
customer base.

We also will be successful by continuing to focus on opera-
tional productivity. Process improvement has become part of our
culture, and we have reaped large savings from a number of
initiatives throughout the company. With our launch of Six Sigma
in 2002, we have institutionalized the notion that we must keep
getting better and more efficient at everything that we do.

Finally, we will be successful because we have a business
model that allows for strong, stable, and predictable cash flow.

His loyalty and impact on Constellation will be a permanent
legacy. Bev Byron, retiring in April, has been on the Board of
Directors for 10 years. Her insight and commitment to our
company have made a real difference.

Sincerely,

s

Mayo A. Shattuck Ill
Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer
March 7, 2003




We’re the energy supplier of choice from coast to ceast. Sean Mullen and Sara 0’Neill help the New York Sheraton shine with reliable and
cost-effective energy. They’re members of our competitive energy supply team, which buys the energy for 10 major Starwood Hotels
& Resorts properties in New York and California. Starwood is the parent company of the Sheraton, Westin, St. Regis, and W hotel brands.

THERE'S NEW ENERGY

IN OUR

We have the building blocks we need to become the first-choice
provider for customers seeking energy solutions.

Whether it's a company with sites across the country wanting
to dea! with one energy company ... or a utility that doesn’t own
power plants ... or a manufacturer who depends upon a reliable
energy supply ... or a Maryland homeowner who wants heat
when it's cold, air conditioning when it's hot, and power when
the switch is flipped —we have the capabilities to meet their
energy needs.

Meeting customer needs and adding value
Competitive energy supply is the growth engine of our company.
In 2003, we plan to sell more than 100 million megawatt hours—
the 50 million megawatt hours our energy generation business

produces, and the more than 50 million megawatt hours that
we’'ll buy from other generators and the market.

We meet energy needs. And we add value. That includes
generating, buying, and supplying energy, managing its use and
cost, and developing efficiencies for our wholesale and industrial
and commercial customers.

For us, competitive energy supply is a physical delivery
business. We take a physical product that we produce or buy,
enhance it with value-added services, and deliver it—or provide
for its delivery—to customers. These customers include deregu-
lated utilities with no generation assets, electric co-operatives,
municipalities, power marketers, and large commercial and
industrial customers with sites and companies throughout
the United States and parts of Canada.



Diversified generation. Steve Gross is
plant manager of our new High Desert
power plant, an 830-megawatt, natural
gas, combined-cycle plant that will
come on line this summer. It's one of
California’s first major generating plants
in more than 10 years. It's also a great
strategic addition to our fleet, which is
diversified geographically and by fuel
source. With High Desert, our total
owned generating capacity nationwide
will be more than 12,000 megawatts.

Generalting best in class

Our beginnings in power generation trace back to one of the
first electric companies in the United States. With more than
100 years of experience, we know how to generate electricity.
Through the many changes in our industry and business, a
constant for us has been to continuously grow and improve.

All of our power plants now sell energy into the competitive
marketplace. In 2003, we expect to generate 50 million megawatt
hours, the most we've ever generated in one year. And we're

No. 1 in competitive energy supply for large
customers. We believe our share of this market

is the largest of any company serving large
commercial and industrial customers. We're
estimating that the market will grow from its current
170,000 megawatts to 190,000 megawatts by 2005.
QOur goal is to increase our leading market share by
being among the best at meeting customers’
growing needs for energy and energy services.

aiming to be best in class. By 2004, we expect most of our

facilities to be among the best 25 percent of generators in

terms of production costs.

Delivering bottom-line productivity
With more than 185 years of energy industry experience,
Baltimore Gas and Electric {(BGE) has a solid franchise in

an economically healthy area.

It has a good customer mix—50 percent residential,
40 percent commercial, and 10 percent industrial—and a
steady growth rate with the annual addition of more than
20,000 electric and natural gas customers.

$400 million in 2003.

- solutions.

Reliable delivery. BGE, our regulated,

energy delivery business, is the strong and

dependable foundation of our company.
We deliver energy safely and reliably to

1.2 million electric and 600,000 natural gas
customers in Central Maryland. And we do it
efficiently while keeping customers happy.

BGE ranks among the best—the top

25 percent of regulated utilities—in terms

of operating and maintenance costs. In
addition, the company was named a
J.D. Power customer satisfaction leader
among eastern utilities.

It is also a productivity leader. In 2002, BGE—along with our
generation business — achieved process improvements that
helped the company save $68 million. In 2003, it will be taking
its Achieving Operational Excelience program to the next level
through Six Sigma, a disciplined approach to continuous
improvement. BGE and other parts of our company will be using
Six Sigma to focus on reducing costs, improving quality and
reliability, lowering administrative and operational cycle times,
and improving overall customer satisfaction.

Pulting us in @ good position
We are well positioned. Through the strategic sale of non-core
assets and decisive action in the capital markets, we now have
one of the strongest balance sheets in our industry. In 2002,
we reduced our net debt by $500 miliion and our debt-to-capital
ratio to 52 percent. We plan on reducing net debt by another

Our people are the real source of our new energy. They have
the expertise and ability to execute our strategy, and the drive to
make us the first-choice provider for customers seeking energy



THERE'S NEW ENERGY
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IN OUR

We have the reach we need to become the first-choice provider
for customers seeking energy solutions.

Our reach gives us access to deregulated markets and to
customers who can choose their energy suppliers. It also gives
us access to the disciplined growth that is part of our strategy.
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We can deliver energy and value-added services to
customers throughout North America. Our national fleet of
generating plants and our competitive energy supply operations
are strategically located in and near deregulated markets across
the United States.

The Fashion Show retail center in Las Vegas is cool. With 250 tenants and a million square feet of common space, that’s important to
The Rouse Company development director Sharon Bair. We developed, implemented, and now operate the center’s air conditioning system—
a chilled-water plant that saves The Rouse Company property a cool $500,000 a year in energy costs.




Qur reach cxtends to the botiom line. As
the preferred supplier of electricity to the
{llinois Manufacturers’ Association (IMA),
we have helped more than 500 of its
member companies save approximately
$25 million in energy costs since 1999.
Jim Belden (left), a sales and marketing
director with our competitive energy
supply business, and Kurt Wiebe, vice
president of the IMA, are part of the team
that has heiped make that happen. The
key has been delivering on our promise—

Our reach exiends into all areas of a
customer’s operations. At Boston University,
we serve more than 700 accounts by supplying

Qur reach also extends to the skies.

electrical energy to dormitories, classrooms,
laboratories, athletic facilities, outdoor lighting,
and many other areas of its campus along the
banks of the historic Charles River.

supplying cost-efficient energy with
excellent customer service.

When Lockheed Martin needed a reliable
supply of low-cost energy and a way

to track its energy use, we provided

the solution.

Throwughout the United States

Our reach helps make us the largest supplier of competitive
power to utility, municipal, and commercial and industrial
customers throughout the United States.

We provide energy and services directly to large commercial
and industrial customers. We also provide energy and services
to wholesale customers who then distribute the energy to their
own customers.

In the Northeast, our energy reaches into New York, New
Jersey, Massachusetts, Rhode Island, New Hampshire, and
Maine. That reach allows us to be one of the largest suppliers to
companies like National Grid.

Our reach also allows us to serve The Rouse Company,
which has more than 50 upscale retail properties totaling
45 million square feet in major markets throughout the United
States. It is one of the nation’s premier real estate development
and management companies. With the energy services we
provide, The Rouse Company can view and monitor energy
costs, usage, efficiency, and other energy statistics for all
its properties.

In Maryland, our reach extends to 1.2 million electric and
600,000 natural gas customers of Baltimore Gas and Electric.
Our regulated business ensures that the energy the region
needs is delivered safely and reliably.

Gaining high-value customer relationships

We improved our reach during 2002 with the acquisitions of
NewEnergy from AES, and Fellon-McCord and Alliance Energy
Services from Allegheny Energy. Those companies came with
key expertise and resources, and some high-value customer
relationships. They also came with offices strategically located in
states where customers have the most flexibility in choosing
energy suppliers. Those states include California, linois,
Kentucky, Maryland, Massachusetts, New York, Ohio, Oklahoma,
Pennsylvania, and Texas.

All along the energy value chain

Our reach also extends across the energy value chain. Between
the creation and consumption of energy, there is a long chain of
valuable transactions. Its many activities and processes include:

*» purchasing the fuel to produce energy, generating energy,
and delivering energy to customers who use it.

»» selling and delivering energy to wholesale customers who
then sell it to their own retail customers who use it.

e+ serving as an energy procurement and management
function for large commercial and industrial customers.

»+ selling energy to other energy marketers who use it to meet
their customers’ needs.
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We have the approach we need to become the first-choice

provider for customers seeking energy solutions. with a balanced strategy. Operating in both regulated and
Our approach is basically how we run our business. We deregulated business environments provides us stable earnings

generate and sell energy, we focus on customers, and we with good growth opportunities.
manage risk.

The approach we take in generating and selling energy starts

We help Denton, Texas get the energy it needs. In Denton —home to the University of North Texas and a 106-year-old courthouse made of Texas
limestone—we work with Glenn Fisher, Assistant Director with Denton Municipal Electric, to help make sure the lights stay on for the city’s nearly

85,000 residents. We handle Denton’s ful) requirements for energy— managing its power purchase agreements, scheduling delivery of energy,
buying the energy, and settling the accounts.

.
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Getting our energy to where it’s needed,
when it’'s needed. PJM is the largest compet-
itive wholesale electricity market in the world.
It is responsible for the transmission of bulk
energy through seven eastern states and the
District of Columbia. Recognized as the premier
regional transmission organization in the
United States, PJM has about 200 members—
and we’ve been a part of it since its inception.
With more than 6,000 megawatts of generating
capacity in the region, we've gained skills and
expertise in transmitting large amounts of
energy through PJM. Now we're using our
skills and expertise in other areas of the
country where we serve large customers.

Providing energy ... and more. National Grid owns five distribution utilities serving 3.2 million
electric customers in New York, Massachusetts, Rhode Island, and New Hampshire, and
540,000 natural gas customers in New York. [n conjunction with deregufation, the company
sold its generation. So now it must buy most of the energy it delivers. In addition to being one
of National Grid’s largest suppliers—providing 3,000 megawatts of power—we also handle
many of the operational, administrative, and risk management aspects of serving the
company’s load requirements and administering its power purchase agreements.

Even greater balance
We sell a mix of energy that we generate and that we purchase.
That balance of owned and contracted generation gives us
greater flexibility and helps diversify risk.

increasing our participation along the energy value chain
gives our strategy even greater balance. We are disciplined and
focused on opportunities that offer growth potential or stable and
predictable earnings.

Customers are at the heart of our business
Our core skills are generating, purchasing, delivering, and
selling energy. But our core mission is meeting customers’
energy needs. Our customers have complex needs that aren't
easily met by the standard, one-size-fits-all, large blocks of
power that are typically traded in the wholesale energy markets.

We analyze energy usage patterns and suggest alternative
production and operational possibilities to lower energy costs.
We also plan, generate, buy, and manage energy —often
acting as an extension of our customers’ administrative and
procurement functions.

in short, we sell energy and value-added, cost-management
services. This requires a special expertise. And our customers
often don’t want to invest what's needed to build and maintain
that capability in-house.

Managing risk conservatively
Risk management is in our DNA. Our combination of skills
differentiates us from the rest of our industry.

From our unique relationship with Goldman Sachs from
1997 to 2001, we've gained skills and expertise in risk
management, economic forecasting, and modeling. From
our mere than 185 years in the utility business, we've gained
skills and expertise in customer service, demand forecasting
and management, and energy generation, transmission,
and delivery.

Added to that is our intellectual capital—built with five years
of experience evaluating, assuming, and managing the unique
risks associated with energy cost management and load-
shaping. We believe that experience is what differentiates
us from everyone else.

We evaluate and manage the risk our customers want to
minimize. And we take a distinctly conservative approach. We
sell energy—either producing it ourselves or buying it from
others—and we physically deliver it along with value-added
services to our customers.

Providing these services also earns a premium. It's an
important part of our approach that enables us to grow earnings,
even at a time when other energy providers are struggling.



Bette has found a new home with us. She had been hanging— or should we say flying — around our Crane Power

Piant on the Seneca Creek in Baltimore County. She was looking for a place to raise a family. Naturally, we agreed to help her find a home. The
plant site is an ideal habitat, with plenty of water and marshland. We first learned about Bette from the Center for Conservation Biology at the
College of William & Mary. The Genter rescued the peregrine falcon from a poorly located nest when she was just a chick, and it has tracked
her location ever since. Following the Center’s directions, we provided a structure in which Bette could build a nest. She was impresséd and
moved right in. Now we’re hoping to welcome her new chicks sometime this spring.

THERE'S NEW IENERGY IN OUR

Being thoughtful and caring stewards of our environment and
communities is an important part of our mission. Social and
environmental responsibility is one of our foundational values.

We benefit from doing business in the communities where our
employees and customers live. In turn, the communities should
benefit from our presence. Being a good corporate citizen is the
right thing to do. It also makes good business sense.

Cur environmental stewardship

All of our efforts center on our commitment to helping meet the
nation’s energy needs, while also decreasing the environmental
impact of energy production. The U.S. Department of Energy’s
Climate Challenge Program is the world’s largest and most
successful initiative on global climate change. It features
voluntary individual utility programs and industry-wide initiatives
to reduce, avoid, or sequester greenhouse gases. And we're an
active participant.

10
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Since 1991, we've prevented the release of more than
40 million tons of carbon dioxide emissions per year by
expanding our nuclear plant capacity, running our fossil-fueled
plants more efficiently, and using less fuel. As a partner in the
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency's Energy STAR Buildings
Program, we've also conserved enough energy to prevent the
release of almost 100,000 tons of carbon dioxide. Qur goal is to
continue reducing emissions of carbon dioxide per megawatt of
electricity produced.

The diverse fuel mix we use to generate electricity also
supports our environmental stewardship. More than haif of the
power we generate in 2003 will come from emission-free nuclear
power, with the rest from coal, oil, gas, and renewable sources.
We're also ahead of the industry by installing selective catalytic
reduction technology at our two largest coal-fired power plants,
allowing us to remove 90 percent of ozone-contributing gases.




Kennedy Krieger Institute. The
internationally recognized Kennedy
Krieger Institute is dedicated to
helping children from around the
world cope with disorders of the
brain and achieve their full potential
by participating as fully as possible in
family, school, and community life. A
pioneer in special education, research,
and training, Kennedy Krieger’s teams
of specialists use a family-centered
approach to ensure quality care.

The Chesapeake Bay Foundation. As the
foremost conservation organization
dedicated solely to saving the Chesapeake
Bay, the foundation’s motto, Save the Bay,
defines its mission throughout the 64,000-
square-mile watershed. Its nationally
recognized environmental education
program works to prevent pollution,
restore habitat, and increase fisheries.

Living Classrooms Foundation. Offering
hands-on education and job training
programs, Living Classrooms motivates
diverse, at-risk students to succeed
academically, in the workplace, and in their
lives. With an emphasis on math, science,
language arts, history, economics, and
ecology, the programs provide opportu-
nities for students to apply the lessons
and technigues to maritime settings,
community revitalization projects, and
other challenging environments.

The real winners of the Constellation Energy Classic.

Renewabkle energy

We have ownership interests in 19 renewable energy projects
throughout the country. These plants use solar, geothermal,
biomass, hydro, and waste coal energy sources to produce
power. Also, the U.S. Department of Energy’s National Energy
Technology Laboratory selected us as one of five companies to
manage a national Biomass & Alternate Methane Fuels Energy
Savings Performance Contract for federal facilities.

Our efforts have received numerous awards, including U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency WasteWise Partner of the
Year, U.S. Department of Energy Clean City Award, and Clean
Air Partners Award for Ozone Action Days Program.

Our communitly commitment

We have a commitment to community partnerships. In 2002,
we contributed $4 million to educational, environmental, and
economic development programs.

Education is the foundation of personal and economic
growth. When individuals are gainfully employed and live
productive lives, there are many benefits —1to the individuals,
their communities, businesses within those communities, the
quality of life, and the overall economy.

So our support of education goes primarily to two basic
types of programs. We support programs that provide students
with the skills they need to enter the workforce when they finish

school. We also support programs that provide opportunities for
students to develop into resourceful leaders, informed voters,
and knowledgeable consumers—all with understanding and
respect for one another.

In addition, we encourage our employees to join with us in
financially supporting institutions of higher learning through
our Matching Gifts Program.

Our economic development support focuses on community
revitalization and efforts to promote job creation and retention.
We also support various arts and cultural programs.

Constellation Energy Classic

We're using our new sponsorship of the Consteliation Energy
Classic—a professional golf tournament —to add to our
support of our communities and the environment. More than
80 golfers from the Champions Tour—formerly known as the
Senior PGA TOUR —will participate in this September event.
All proceeds will be donated to three charities.

The Kennedy Krieger Institute and Living Classrooms
Foundation both will receive funds to help in their work providing
children with needed care and preparing students to become
productive members of our communities. The Chesapeake Bay
Foundation will receive funds to support its efforts to preserve
and enhance the health and vitality of Chesapeake Bay.
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“ Constellation Energy is an exciting place to be right now. Our vision is to be the first-choice provider for customers
seeking energy solutions in the complex and changing energy marketplace. That's a big order. But we have a
strategy that provides a clear path to reaching our vision. We just need to execute, and that’s how I'll be spending
most of my time.”

What do you see as our major accomplishments fn 2002
and our major challenges for 2003?

Our promise last year was that we would focus on crisp
execution and earn the right to grow. | am very proud to report
that we delivered on those promises. We met or exceeded our
guidance to Wall Street for the last five quarters, something very
few of the energy companies we monitor managed to do.

Perhaps more important, we put ourselves in the position of
being able to control our own destiny as our industry continues to
evolve. Recognizing that a strong balance sheet would mean the
difference between success and failure, we acted aggressively to
improve our balance sheet by selling $708 million in non-core
assets and issuing $2.5 billion of long-term debt. These actions
have given us one of the best balance sheets in the industry.

And finally, we sharpened our focus on the right business
model, namely, serving as the energy cost manager for utilities
and large commercial and industrial customers. We moved to
expand that business platform with the acquisitions of
NewEnergy, and Fellon-McCord and Alliance Energy Services.
The balance in earnings growth potential provided by a large
scalable competitive supply business promises to deliver more
stable and predictable earnings and cash flow.

In 2003, we must continue to earn the right to grow. Doing
that will require executing on our plan—growing our competitive
supply business, achieving productivity gains, maintaining a
disciplined approach to deployment of capital, and further
enhancing our customer focus.

12

Mayo Shattuck

We're focusing on the competlitive energy supply business
while other companies are leaving that markeiplace. What
makes our sirategy the right one?

There’s no question that some companies in the competitive
energy marketplace have made major errors. Some have left
and others are now scrambling for their very existence. Overall,
the competitive landscape has changed dramatically.

What has not gone away—and what will not go away—is the
customer need for energy and energy services. We estimate
that the market in which customers can choose their energy
suppliers is currently 170,000 megawatts, and we believe it will
grow to 190,000 megawatts by 2005. Right now, we're the
nation’s largest competitive supplier of energy and energy-
related services to utility, municipal, commercial, and industrial
customers. Our goal is to increase our market share.

The energy cost management services we provide require a
level of expertise that our customers do not possess and don't
want to build in-house. We differentiate ourselves by under-
standing our customers’ needs, structuring contracts that meet
those needs, pricing them appropriately, and becoming an
integrated component of our clients’ operations. Said simply —
we manage our partners’ energy needs.

It's a fragmented market, and we see a real opportunity to
grow this business both organically and through niche acquisi-
tions as others leave the business.




Constellation Energy does not face the problems many
other energy companies do. Why is that?

Some companies are suffering from self-inflicted problems. We
have avoided those pitfalls. We have a balanced strategy that
combines the strong, predictable earnings of our regulated
business with the growth of our competitive supply business.
We generate and sell energy along with value-added services
to customers. Ours is a physical delivery business—you can
clearly see what we're doing.

On top of that, our performance has been key. We recog-
nized the reality of the competitive energy marketplace early on,
and we took decisive action. The results give us some signif-
icant advantages—a strong balance sheet and cash flow, solid
investment-grade credit ratings, an integrated management
team, and risk management expertise—all of which position us

What males us best in class in terms of financial disclosure?
One of my first pricrities last year was to foster a new culture of
openness in which we provide best-in-class disclosure and
better insight into how we make money.

We’'ve made a substantial investment in people, as well as in
systems to help us track and understand our business and the
direction in which it's headed. As a result, we are able to give
accurate guidance on and present detailed financial models of
how we make money, giving investors and analysts the infor-
mation they need to appropriately value our company.

What malkes us risk managerment expernts?

We have intellectual capital and expertise in this area that few
can claim. We developed our skills in economic forecasting and
modeling and established a world-class risk management

to achieve long-term earnings growth. Add to that our focus on
integrity, best practices in full disclosure, and our smart, disci-
plined approach to the use of capital, and you can see why we
succeeded where others may have faltered.

In January, we increased our dividend by 8 percent. What
is our dividend policy?

When | look back on the challenges we faced in 2002, I'm very
proud that we produced the strong financial resuits that allowed
us to improve our balance sheet, invest in growth opportunities
at attractive returns, and raise our dividend. Very few companies
in our sector can make the same claim.

Our goal is to provide a competitive total return to our share-
holders through a combination of stock price appreciation and
dividends. We believe strong earnings growth will drive stock
price appreciation, and we plan to supplement that return with
a sustainable dividend.

You say we have the right people in the right positions. What
core competencies do we need on our managerment leam?

If you lock at the members of our leadership team, you'll see
their backgrounds are both impressive and diverse. Every
person is on the team because they are strong leaders, top-tier
performers in their fields, and they bring to the table the right
mix of skills and experience we need to be successful in this
business. More importantly, theyre here because they are solid
team players whose particular talents complement the others.

operation during our association with Goldman Sachs. Our
expertise in energy demand forecasting and management,
and generation, transmission, and distribution, comes from
more than 185 years in the utility business.

We've spent the last five years evaluating, modeling,
assuming, and managing the unique challenges associated with
the complex energy needs of our customers. We have continued
to invest both in personnel and systems to rigorously test and
optimize the way we quantify and manage risk.

Risk management is also a fundamental component of the
management of this company. We have a chief risk officer who
reports directly to me, senior managers experienced in
managing risk, and a very programmed process structured with
strong internal and external controls. | believe all of this puts us
at the forefront of the industry.

How will you spend most of your time in 2003?

My focus will be on executing our strategy. We're a national
company now with operations all over the country. And there
are a lot of opportunities to take advantage of good earnings
drivers. We have experienced personnel focused on operational
excellence. if we execute our strategy, we'll be able to deliver
some very significant earnings growth.




Board of Directors

Mayo A. Shattuck il
Chairman, President
and Chief Executive
Officer, Constellation
Energy Group

Age 48

Director since 1994*

Douglas L. Begker
Chairman and Chief

Executive Officer, Sylvan

Learning Systems, Inc.
Age 37
Director since 1998~

Committees of the Board

Executive Committee

James T. Brady
Managing Director,
Mid-Atlantic of
Ballantras
International, Ltd.
Age 62

Director since 1998~

Frank P. Bramble, Sr.
Vice Chairman,
MBINA Corparation
Age 54

Director since 2002

Committee on Management

Mayo A. Shattuck I!l, Chairperson
Frank P. Bramble, Sr.

Edward A. Crooke

Edward J. Kelly 1l

Robert J. Lawless

Audit Committee
James T. Brady, Chairperson
Freeman A. Hrabowski Il
Nancy Lampton

Michael D. Sullivan, Chairperson
Douglas L. Becker

Frank P. Bramble, Sr.

Edward J. Kelly 11l

Robert J. Lawless

Committee on Nuclear Power

James R. Curtiss, Chairperson
Beverly B. Byron

Edward A. Crooke

Roger W. Gale
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Beverly B. Byron
Former
Congresswomar,

U.S. House of
Representatives

Age 70

Director since 1993**
(Retiring April 2003)

Edward A. Croole
Retired Vice Chairman,
Constellation

Energy Group

Age 64

Director since 1988**

Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee

Michael D. Sullivan, Chairperson
Douglas L. Becker

Frank P. Bramble, Sr.

Edward J. Kelly Il1

Robert J. Lawless




James R.
Curiiss, Esg.

Partner, Winston &
Strawn

Age 49

Director since 1994**

Roger W. Gale
Partner, GF Energy, LLC
Age 56

Director since 1995~

Dr. Freeman A.
Hrabowski 1l
President, University
of Maryland
Battimore County

Age 52

Director since 1994**

Edward J. Kelly
Chairman, President
and Chief Executive
Officer, Mercantile
Bankshares Corporation
Age 49

Director since 2002

Nancy Lampton
Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer,
American Life and
Accident Insurance
Company of Kentucky
Age 60

Director since 1994**

Robert J. Lawless
Chairman, President
and Chief Executive
Officer, McCormick &
Company, Inc.

Age 56

Director since 2002

* Formerly a Director of a company subsidiary, was elected to the Constellation Energy Group Board of Directors in May 1999.
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Michael D. Sullivan
Chairman, Life
Source, inc.

Age 63

Director since 1992**

** Formerly a BGE Director, was elected to the Constellation Energy Group Board of Directors in April 1999 at the formation of the hofding company.




Executive Team

Constellation Energy’s executive team is diverse in
experience, background, and point of view. Those who are
steeped in the knowledge and experience of Constellation
work side-by-side with those who have been recruited for
their expertise gained around the world. Together they
combine the right mix of energy industry tradition and
competitive business savvy necessary for today’s changing
energy landscape.

Mayo A. Shattuck [10
Chairman of the Board,
President and Chief
Executive Officer

48, joined Constellation
Energy as President and
CEQ, and was elected
Chairman of the Board in
July 2002. From 1999 to
2001, he was Co-head of
Deutsche Bank's Global
Investment Bank and a
member of the Board of the
Bank’s Global Corporates and
institutions Division. Other
positions held while at
Deutsche Bank included
Chairman of the Board of
Deutsche Banc Alex. Brown,
CEQ of the Private Client and
Asset Management Group
Americas, and Global Head of
the Private Banking Division.
Previously he was Vice
Chairman of Bankers Trust
Corporation and President of
Alex. Brown, Inc.
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Thomas V. Brools
President, Constellation
Power Source

40, joined Constellation
Energy in 2001 as Vice
President, Business
Development & Strategy,
and was elected to his
current position in 2001,
Prior to this, he was
Vice President, Goldman
Sachs, working with
Constellation to develop
its power marketing
business; previously
served as director, Enron
Capital & Trade
Resources, joining them
when they bought AERX,
inc., a company he
helped found that
specialized in emissions
credit trading.

Frank 0. Heintz
President and Chief
Executive Officer, BGE

58, joined BGE™ in 1996
as Vice President,
assuming leadership of
its Gas Division in 1897;
elected Executive Vice
President, BGE Utility
Operations Group in
1998, and became BGE
President in 2000. Prior
1o this he served 13
years as Chairman,
Maryland Public Service
Commission. Previous
jobs include Executive
Director, Maryland
Employment Security
Administration; Special
Assistant to Maryland
Lieutenant Governor
Blair Lee IIl, and
Baltimore City
Councilman.

Wichael J. Wallace
President, Constellation
Generation Group

55, joined Constellation
Energy in 2002. Prior to
this he was co-founder
and Managing Director,
Barrington Energy
Partners, LLC, an energy
industry strategic
consulting firm.
Previously he held
several executive
positions at
Unicom/ComEd of
Hllinois, including Senior
Vice President and Vice
President. He also
served as its Chief
Nuclear Officer and led
its nuclear fleet.



Thomas F. Brady
Senior Vice President,
Corporate Strategy

& Development

53, joined BGE™ in
1969; hecame Assistant
Treasurer—Assistant
Secretary in 1983;
elected Vice President,
Accounting &
Economics in 1988;
Vice President,
Customer Service &
Accounting in 1991,
Vice President,
Customer Service &
Distribution in 1993;
Vice President, Retail
Services in 1998; Vice
President, Corporate
Strategy & Development
in 1998; and assumed
his current position

in 1999.

E. Follin Smith
Senior Vice President &
Chief Financial Officer

43, joined Constellation
Energy in 2001. Prior to
this she was Senior Vice
President and CFO of
Armstrong Holdings,
Inc. Previously, she
spent 15 years with
General Motors (GM),
starting in the New York
Treasurer’s Office; other
positions included
Treasurer-GM of Canada
Limited; Vice President
of Finance for GMAC;
Assistant Treasurer for
GM; and CFO for GM's
Delphi Chassis Systems
division.

Paut J. Allen
Vice President,
Corporate Affairs

51, joined Constellation
Energy in 2001. Prior to
this he was Senior Vice
President and Group
Head-0gilvy Public
Relations, managing its
energy and environment
practice. Previously

he served as senior staff
member at the Natural
Resources Defense
Council; Press
Secretary for U.S.
Senator Christapher
Dodd (D-CT); and
National Public Radio’s
Editor of “Morning
Edition” and then
Foreign News Editor.

Kathleen A. Chagnon
Vice President, General
Counsel and Secretary

43, joined Constellation
Energy in 2002. Before
this she was Vice
President and Corporate
Group General Counsel
for The St. Paul
Companies, Inc. She
was also Assistant Vice
President and Associate
Group Counsel of
USF&G Corporation
until its acquisition by
The St. Paul Companies
in 1998, Previously, she
held associate positions
in two international law
firms, Hogan & Hartson

and O'Melveny & Myers.

John R. Collins
Vice President and
Chief Risk Officer

45, joined BGE™ in
1988; named Assistant
Treasurer and Directar
of Financial
Management in 1995;
joined Constellation
Power Source at its
formation in 1987,
serving as its senior
financial officer; became
Managing Director-
Finance and Treasurer,
Constellation Power
Source Holdings in 2000
and was elected 1o his
current position in 2001,

Mark P. Huston

Vice President,
Corporate Strategy &
Development

39, joined BGE™ in
1986; in 1993 was
General Supervisor in
the Gas Construction
Division, and in 1996
was promoted to
Director of Gas Business
Development. In 1997
he was named Project
Manager—Corporate
Restructuring Project;

in 1959 was named
Manager, Corporate
Strategy & Development,
and in 2002 was elected
to his current position.

Mare L. Ugol
Vice President,
Human Resources

44, joined Constellation
Energy in 2002. Prior to
this he was Senior Vice
President of Human
Resources at Tellabs,
Inc., a global telecom
manufacturer.
Previously, he held
human resource
management positions
at Platinum Technology,
Inc., and System
Software Associates,
Inc., and spent 14 years
with Amoco Carporation
in a variety of
management positions,
including four years as
Director of Human
Resources for Amaoco
Norway based in
Stavanger, Norway.

* On April 30, 1998, Constellation Energy Group, Inc. became the holding company for Baltimore Gas and Electric Company (BGE) and its subsidiaries.
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WE'RE TAKING THE NEXT STEP.

——e LY B

One of our priorities at Constellation Energy is to provide you with clear,
more understandable information about our company.
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Five years ago, we were among the first major corporations to use plain English
to make our financial information easier to understand.
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The information on the next few pages is intended to help make our Form 10-K— our annual report required
to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission— more welcoming and less complex.

Very simply, we want you to know and understand what we do.

1Ps 2l about giving Investors the informali

ey need:
It's our continued leadership in providing information that all

shareholders can better understand.
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FULL DISCLOSURE AND TRANSPARENCY

It has never been more important for companies to provide
investors better insight into their business and how they make
money. The buzzword you often hear today is “transparency.” At
Constellation Energy, we view it as a priority to offer our investors
the information they need to understand what drives our business.

This year we've chosen to include the complete Form 10-K in our
2002 Annual Report. The Form 10-K is a standard document that
all U.S. publicly held companies are required to file annually with
the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). The document
is available to investors and anyone else who wishes to review it.

While the Form 10-K is complex, it is where investors can find
detailed and comprehensive information about a company and its
operations. To help make the financial information in this document
easier for you to find and understand, we have developed a Form
10-K overview and glossary of terms, both of which follow on the
next few pages.
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You'll find all of our SEC filings right on the investor page of
our Web site—constellation.com.



BREAKING DOWN OUR FORM 10-K

The information contained iin the Form 10-K is broken down o» Part §V: a listing of exhibits, certain executive and board of
into Parts, which are further broken down into Items. Our Form directors’ signatures, and executive officer certifications.

10-K has four parts: ) )
Over the next few pages, we provide summaries of some

o+ Part I: in-depth descriptions of our businesses. of the major topics included in Parts | and Il, and where you
can find them. We're doing that for Parts | and |l because

: i ial perf he information in which . G . .
*» Part li: our financial performance, the information | ¢ they contain the most detailed information about our business.

investors are usually most interested.

o+ Part #i: directs readers to our proxy statement for the
details on our board of directors and executive officers
and their compensation.

PART I: OUR BUSINESSES

Part | of our Form 10-K provides details about our and our other nonregulated businesses. Also included is infor-
businesses — our merchant energy business, our regulated mation about environmental matters, employees, properties,
energy delivery utility Baltimore Gas and Electric Company, and executive officers.

Item Section
Business Overview «+ Company description and brief background.
+» Operating segment details.
Merchant »» Business description.
Energy + Discussion of fuel sources we use to generate electricity.
Business +* Discussion of cur competition.
++ [Merchant energy operating statistics for the last five years.

Baltimore Gas »+ Business description broken down between electric and gas.

and Electric *+» Electric and gas operating statistics for the last five years.
Company
Other »» Descriptions of our other nonregulated businesses.
Nonregulated
Businesses
Environmental *» Discussion of the environmental matters affecting the company.
Matters
Employees *» Number of employees.
»» Union representation and labor contract status.
Properties »+ Generating plant location, ownership, and size details.
| Offices and facilities we own and lease.
Executive Officers | e Executive officers’ names, ages, current positions, and recent experience.
of Constellation
Energy
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PART II: OUR FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Part |l contains management’s discussion of our results of >+ Introductory {tems: the basics.
operations and financial condition. It compares 2002 results o+ Management’s Discussion and Analysis: the context.
to 2001, and 2001 results to 2000. The sections in Part |l

! o+ Financial Statements: the numbers.
include: .
> Notes to the Financial Statements: the details.

INTRODUCTORY ITEMS

The basics. Here's information about our common stock, prices and dividends, and historical financial data.
S s e ot e ST e b -- N e ,fi i ‘u 3 4 - p o bk iy - { p— e = : HWW:‘ - ) = '- T : L ) !
item Section |

Market for +» Dividend information and quarterly dividend and stock prices for the last two years. \
Registrant’s |

Common Equity
and Related
Shareholder Matters
Selected : »» Summary of operations and financial conditions of Constellation Energy and Baltimore Gas and Electric,
Financial Data | and financial statistics for the past five years.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The context. Our management discusses in detail the financial results and condition of our company... and the way we manage
our business.

Item Section Jl
Management's Introduction o+ Qverview of our company. J
Discussion

and Analysis of  Critical Accounting . = Description of our accounting policies that are most complex and subjective in portraying our financial
Financial Condition Policies condition and results.
and Results of j

Operations Significant Events | e Discussion of the significant events in 2002 and 2001 that impacted our company.
2002 and 2001 J
Strategy »» Discussion of our overall strategy, which focuses on maintaining a balance of stability and growth.
I
Business |+ Discussion of the business environment in which we operate—in general and in Maryland and other
Environment states—and how regulation, the weather, and other factors affect our business.
Results of The discussicn of our earnings broken down as follows: |
Operations »» Qur overall net income.

»» Qur net income for our merchant energy business.

«» Qur net income for Baltimore Gas and Electric's regulated electric and gas businesses.
* Qur net income for our other nonregulated businesses.

* Qur non-operating income and expenses. !

Financial Condition | e+ Cash flow details for the last three years.

+» (redit ratings for Consteltation Energy and Baltimcre Gas and Electric.

Capital Resources | e» Capital recuirements for the last three years and estimates for the next two years.
+ How we expect to fund our capital requirements.

|
\
|
i +» Financial cbligations over the next five years and beyond.
|

Market Risk + Discussion of our market risk, including interest rate risk, commodity price risk, credit risk, and equity [
price risk. |

»» Discussion of how we manage those risks.
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OUR FINANCIAL STAT

The numbers. We provide separate financial statements for Consteliation Energy and Baltimore Gas and Electric. This section also
includes our management and auditor reports on our financial information.

EMENTS

Item Section
Financial Report of
Statements and Management
Supplementary
Data '
Report of
Independent
Accountants

Consolidated
Statements
of Income

Consolidated

Balance Sheets

Consolidated
Statements of
Cash Flows

Consolidated
Statements of
Common
Shareholders’ Equity
and Comprehensive
Income

Consolidated
Statements of
Capitalization

I« Management’s report on how the financial statements are prepared—signed by Chairman of the
Board, President and Chief Executive Officer Mayo A. Shattuck |1 and by Senior Vice President &
Chief Financial Officer E. Follin Smith. |

» External audit report of PricewaterhouseCaopers LLP.

1 Revenue, expenses, income, and earnings for the last three years.
‘ {separate statements included for Constellation Energy and Baltimore Gas and Electric)

1= Assets, liabilities, and equity for the last two years.
| {separate statements included for Constellation Energy and Baftimore Gas and Electric)

( » Cash flows from operating, investing, and financing activities for the last three years.
| (separate statements included for Constellation Energy and Baltimore Gas and Electric)

»+ Changes in common stock, retained earnings, and other comprehensive income for the
last three years.

++ Long-term debt, preference stock, and common shareholders’ equity details for the last
1 two years.

NOTES TO OUR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The details. We explain the processes, events, actions, projects, issues, and specifics that produce the amounts reflected in our

financial statements.

It
[

Here:siWherel¥oullfookfinlRartii s
Item Section
Notes to Note 1.
Consolidated Significant
Financial Accounting Policies

Statements
Note 2.
Impairment Losses,
Workforce Reduction,
Contract Termination, and
Other Special items

Note 3.
Information by
Operating Segment

I

»» Accounting methods that we uss.

+» Effect on earnings of applying fair-value accounting to stock options and stock grants.
»+ Recently adopted or issued accounting rules established by standard setters.

*+ Workforce reduction, impairment losses, and other special items—pre-tax and after-tax amounts |
for 2002, 2001, and 2000.

.+ Revenue, expense, net income, and other financial information for our reportable operating
segments and other nonregulated businesses for the last three years.
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NOTES TO OUR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

e NHicresiWhatiVou N Einc N

Section

Item
Notes to Note 4.
Consolidated Investments
Financial
Statements Note 5.
Regulatory Assets
Note 6.
Pension,

Postretirement, Other
Postemployment, and
Employee Savings
Plan Benefits

Note 7.
Short-Term
Borrowings

Note 8.
Long-Term
Debt and
Preference Stock

Note 9.
Taxes

Note 10.
Leases

Note 11.
Commitments,
Guarantees, and
Contingencies

Note 12,
Hedging Activities
and Fair Value of

Financial Instruments

Note 13.
Stock-Based
Compensation

Note 14.
Acquisitions

Note 15.
Related Party
Transactions —BGE

Note 16.
Quarterly Financial
Data

{

« Regulatory assets for the last two years.

++ Pension and postretirament benefits —obligation, asset, funded status, and assumption details
about our employee benefit plans for the last two years.

++ Information on other postemployment benefits.

«» Emplcyee savings plan information and company-matching contributions.

*» Short-term bank lcans, commercial paper outstanding, and available bank lines of credit for

Constellation Energy, Baltimore Gas and Electric, and our nonregulated businesses.

»» Lang-term debt and preference stock details for Consteliation Energy, Baltimore Gas and Electric,

and our nonregulated businesses.

S

«> Income tax details for the last three years.

«» Lease payment details for the last three years, for the next five years, and for beyond 2007.

»» Commitments for the next five years and beyond 2007.

»+ Financial guarantees we've made for our businesses.

*» Environmental issues and legal proceedings involving our company.
» Nuclear fuel storage issues and insurance coverage.

*» |ssues concerning our California power purchase agreements.

* Actions to manage interest rate exposure angd electricity price fluctuations, and results of those
actions over the last two years.
= Information on the fair value of our financial instruments.

+ Stock option and stock awards for the fast three years.

|
|
[
!
|
|
|
i
\

«» Description of and financial information on Alliance/Fellon-McCord, NewEnergy, and Nine Mile Point |

acquisitions.

+» Relationships and interactions among our subsidiaries — their effect on our income statement and

balance sheet.

» Quarterly revenue, income, and earnings for Constellation Energy and Baltimore Gas and
Electric over the last two years.
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10-K Glossary

Aggregatar: a company or agent that combines the energy
needs of multiple customers, and then buys or provides
the energy and services needed.

Dekatherm: the term used in measuring amounts of natural
gas; one dekatherm equals 10 therms or one million BTU; a
BTU is the quantity of heat necessary to raise the temperature
of a pound of water by one degree Fahrenheit.

Beregulation: the elimination of regulation from a previously
regulated process, function, or industry.

Distributien: the delivery of energy to retail customers,
including homes, businesses, office buildings, and industrial
facilities.

Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF): a group of financial
professionals that advises the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (FASB) about standards for reporting new transactions
that may be unique and complex.

Federal Encrgy Regulatery Commission (FERG): the U.S. agency
that regulates interstate energy activities.

Financiai Accounting Standards Board {FASB): an independent,
private sector organization that is recognized by the Securities
and Exchange Commission to establish and improve
standards of financial accounting and reporting.

Full Requirements Service: a product offering that handles all

of a customer’s fluctuating energy needs through a combined
service that can include generating or buying energy, managing
load and power purchase agreements, scheduling delivery,
managing risk, settling accounts, and other related services.

Generating Capacity: the amount of electricity that can
be produced by a specified generating plant or utility.

Generation: the process of transforming other forms of
energy— coal, natural gas, uranium, oil, wind, water, and
sun—into electricity.

independant Powsr Project: a generating plant that
produces power primarily for wholesale customers and
that operates independently of a traditional utility.

independent System Operater: a federally regulated
organization that manages regional transmission lines
that deliver electricity.

Load Serving: the process of providing wholesale customers
with the energy they need to serve their retail customers.

Megawaii: one million watts of electricity; enough electricity to
light 10,000 100-watt light bulbs.

Megawatt hour: one million watts of electricity consumed over
one hour; enough electricity to keep 10,000 100-watt light
bulbs lit for one hour.
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Merchant Energy Business: our nonregulated business that
combines generation from our power plants and energy we
purchase with power marketing and other services to provide
energy solutions to meet the needs of customers throughout
North America.

Nonreguiated Business: the portion of our business whose
operations and prices are driven primarily by the needs of the
marketplace.

Nuclear Decommissioning Trust Fund: a federally mandated fund
set up to ensure that nuclear power plant owners put aside
enough money to pay for the cleaning up and dismantling of
the plants at the end of their useful lives.

Huclear Regulatory Commission: the U.S. agency that regulates
commercial nuclear power plants and the civilian use of
nuclear materials.

Origination: the initiation of wholesale energy purchases
and sales that may include value-added services along
with the energy.

Physical Delivery Activity: the completion of an energy
sale by the actual delivery of that energy to a customer.

Regional Transmission Organization (BT8): a group of companies
with responsibility for the planning and use of power
transmission lines in a geographic region.

Regufated Business: the portion of our business whose primary
operations and prices are set and controlled by the rules and
activities of a governmental agency.

Retail Market: the market in which energy is sold directly to the
customers who use it.

Standard Cffer Service: the obligation of a utility, such as
Baltimore Gas and Electric, to supply electricity for those
customers who have not chosen an alternate supplier.

Transmission: the sending of electricity at a higher voitage,
usually on lines running along high towers, from generating
plants to substations, where it is then reduced to a lower
voltage that is delivered to homes, businesses, office
buildings, and industrial facilities.

Value at Risk {VaB): a statistical measure that helps evaluate
risk by showing how much the value of mark-to-market assets
or liabilities may change under various circumstances.

Watt: the basic unit used to measure electricity; for example,
a 100-watt light bulb requires more electricity and provides
brighter light than a 60-watt light bulb.

Wholesale Market: the market in which energy is sold in
large blocks to other entities such as utilities, distribution
companies, electric co-operatives, municipalities, and power
marketers who sell or distribute the energy to others.
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Constellation Energy was incorporated in
Maryland on September 25, 1995. On April 30, 1999,
Constellation Energy became the holding company for
BGE and its subsidiaries through a share exchange.
Reference- in this report to “we” and “our” are to
Constellation Energy and its subsidiaries, collectively.
References in this report to the “utility business” are to
BGE.

Our merchant energy business is a competitive
provider of energy solutions for large customers in
North America. It has electric generation assets focated
in various regions of the United States and provides
energy solutions to meet customers’ needs. Our
merchant energy business focuses on serving the full
energy and capacity requirements of, and providing
other risk management activities for various customers,
such as utilities, municipalities, cooperatives, retail
aggregators, and large commercial and industrial
customers.

Our merchant energy business includes:

¢ fossil, nuclear, and hydroelectric generating
facilities and interests in qualifying facilities and
power projects in the United States,

¢ origination of structured transactions (such as
load-serving, tolling contracts, and power
purchase agreements), and risk management
services (hedging of output from generating
facilities and fuel costs),

¢ electric and gas retail energy services to large
commercial and industrial customers, and

¢ generation and consulting services.

BGE is & regulated electric and gas public
transmission and distribution utility company with a
service territory that covers the City of Baltimore and
all or part of ten counties in central Maryland. BGE
was incorporated in Maryland in 1906.

Our other nonregulated businesses:

& design, construct, and operate single-site
heating, cooling, and cogeneration facifities for
commercial and industrial customers,

¢ provide home improvements, service heating,
air conditioning, plumbing, electrical, and
indoor air quality systems, and provide electric
and natural gas retail marketing, and

& own and operate a district cooling system for
commercial customers in the City of Baltimore,
Maryland.

In addition, we own several investments that we
do not consider to be core operations. These include
financial investments, real estate projects, and interests
in a Latin American distribution project and in a fund
that holds interests in two South American energy
projects. We decided to sell certain non-core assets and
accelerated the exit strategies of other projects. We sold
certain non-core assets in 2002 and closed our retail
merchandise stores in December 2002.

For a discussion of recent events that have

impacted Constellation Energy, please refer to ftem 7.
Managements Discussion and Analysis—Significant Events
section. For a discussion of Constellation Energy’s
strategy, please refer to ftem 7. Managements Discussion
and Analysis—Strategy section. For a discussion of the
seasonality of our business, please refer to ftem 7.
Managements Discussion and Analysis—Business
Envivonment section.

Operating Segments

The percentages of revenues, net income, and assets
attributable to our operating segments are shown in the
tables below. We present information about our
operating segments, including certain special items, in
Note 3 ro Consolidated Financial Statements. Effective
July 1, 2000, the financial results of the electric
generation portion of our business are included in the
merchant energy business segment. Prior to that date,
the financial results are included in the regulated
electric segment.

Unaffiliated Revenues
Merchant Regulated Regulated Cther

Energy  Electric Gas  Nonregulated
2002 35% 42% 12% 11%
2001 16 53 17 14
2000 11 57 16 16

Net income(1)
Merchant Regulated Regulated Other

Energy  Electric Gas  Nonregulated
2002 67% 29% 8% (4)%
2001 75 22 10 (7)
2000 68 34 9 (11)
Total Assets
Other
Nonregulated
Merchant Regulated Regulated & Corp.
Energy  Electric Gas Items
2002 63%  25% 8% 4%
2001 57 27 8 8
2000 56 26 9 9

(1) Excludes special items included in operations and a
cumulative effect of change in accounting principle
as discussed in more detail in ftem 8. Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data.




Merchant Energy Business

introduction

Our merchant energy business integrates electric
generation assets with the marketing and risk
management of energy and energy-related commodities,
allowing us to manage energy price risk over geographic
regions and over time. Constellation Power Source, our
origination and risk management operation, dispatches
the energy from our generating facilities, manages the
risks associated with selling the output and obtaining
the fuel, and structures transactions to meet customers’
energy and risk management requirements. Generation
capacity supports our origination and risk management
operation by providing a source of reliable power supply
that provides a physical hedge for some of our load-
serving activities.

Our merchant energy business:

& provides service to distribution utilities,
municipalities, and large commercial and
industrial customers with approximately 18,700
megawatts (MW) of peak load in the aggregate,

% owns approximately 11,300 MW of generation
capacity, and

@ has under construction an 830 MW natural
gas-fired combined cycle generating facility in
California.

We analyze the results of our merchant energy

business as follows:

& PJM Platform—our fossil, nuclear, and
hydroelectric generating facilicies and load-
serving activities in the PJM Interconnection
(PJM) region for which the output is primarily
used to serve BGE.

¢ Plants with Power Purchase Agreements—our
generating facilities with fong-term power
purchase agreements, including our Nine Mile
Point Nuclear Station (Nine Mile Point)
nuclear generating facility and our new
Oleander and University Park generating
facilities.

# Competitive Supply—our wholesale business
that provides load-serving activities to
distribution utilities (primarily in Texas and
New England), other wholesale origination and
risk management services, and electric and gas
retail energy services to large commercial and
industrial customers.

¢ Other—our other gas-fired generating facilities,
investments in qualifying facilities and domestic
power projects, and our generation and
consulting services:

We present details about our generating properties

in ftem 2. Properties.

PJSM Platform
We own 6,485 MW of fossil, nuclear and hydroelectric
generation capacity in the PJM region. The outpur of

these plants is managed by our origination and risk
management operation and is hedged through a
combination of power sales to wholesale and retail
market participants.

BGE transferred all of these facilities to our
merchant energy generation subsidiaries on July 1, 2000
as a result of the implementation of electric customer
choice and competition among suppliers in Maryland,
except for the Handsome Lake project that commenced
operations in mid-2001. The assets transferred from
BGE are subject to the lien of BGE’s mortgage.

These facilities include the Calverr Cliffs Nuclear
Power Plant (two units), which is our largest generating
station. In March 2000, Calvert Cliffs became the firsc
nuclear power planet in the United States to achieve
license renewal. The Nuclear Regulatory Commission
(NRC) approved a twenty-year license renewal for both
units of Calvert Cliffs, extending the license for Unit 1
to 2034 and for Unit 2 to 2036.

Our merchant energy business provides standard
offer electric service to BGE as discussed in the
Baltimore Gas and Electric Company section. Qur
merchant energy business meets the load-serving
requirements of this contract using the outpurt from the
PJM facilities and from purchases in the wholesale
market. For 2002, the peak load supplied to BGE was
approximately 5,425 MW.

Plants with Power Purchase Agreements

We own 2,530 MW of nuclear and natural gas
generation capacity, and have under construction an
830 MW natural gas-fired facility that will commence
operation in 2003, with power purchase agreements for
their output. These facilities include Nine Mile Point,
which is our second largest generating station. We
purchased 100% of Unit 1 {609 MW) and 82% of
Unit 2 (941 MW) in November 2001. The remaining
interest in Nine Mile Point Unit 2 is owned by a
subsidiary of the Long Island Power Authority. Unit 1
entered service in 1969 and Unit 2 in 1988. Nine Mile
Point is located within the New York Independent
System Operator (NYISO) region.

We sell 90 percent of our share of the Nine Mile
Point plant’s output back to the sellers at an average
price of nearly $35 per megawatt-hour (MWH) under
agreements that terminate berween 2009 and 2010. The
agreements for the output of both units are unit’
contingent (if the output is not available because the
plant is not operating, there is no requirement to
provide output from other sources). The remaining
10% of Nine Mile Point’s output is managed by our
origination and risk management operation and sold
into the wholesale market.



The supply of fuel for nuclear generating stations
includes the:

& purchase of uranium concentrates,

@ conversion to uranium hexafluoride,

& enrichment of uranium hexafluoride, and

& fabrication of nuclear fuel assemblies.

Uranium

Concentrates:  We have under contract sufficient quantities
of uranium ro meer 100% of both Calvert
Cliffs and Nine Mile Point’s requirements
through 2004, 50% for both plants in
2005, 60% for both plants in 2006 and
25% for both plants in 2007.

We have contractual commitments
providing for the conversion of uranium
concentrate into uranium hexafluoride
that will meet 100% of Calvert Cliffs’
and Nine Mile Point’s requirements
through 2004, 50% for both plants in
2003, 67% for both plants in 2006 and
50% for both plants in 2007.

We have contractual commitments that
provide 100% of Calvert Cliffs’ and Nine
Mile Point’s uranium enrichment
requirements through 2006 and 25% of
these requirements for both plants in
2007 and 2008.

Conversion:

Enrichment:

Fuel Assembly
Fabrication:  We have contracted for the fabrication of
fuel assembilies for reloads required
through 2013 ar Calvert Cliffs and
through 2005 for Nine Mile Point Unit 2
and through 2009 for Nine Mile Point

Unit 1.

The nuclear fuel markets are competitive and we
do not anticipate any problem in meeting our future
requirements.

Storage of Spent Nuclear Fuel—Federal Facilities
One of the issues associated with the operation and

decommissioning of nuclear generating facilities is
disposal of spent nuclear fuel. The Nuclear Waste Policy
Act of 1982 required the federal government, through
the Department of Energy (DOE) by January 31, 1998,
to begin to dispose of spent nuclear fuel. The federal
government has stated that it will not meet that
obligation until 2010 at the earliest.

The 1982 Act assesses a tenth of one cent (one
mill) per kilowatt-hour fee on nuclear electricity
generated and sold to pay for the costs of disposing of
spent fuel. We estimate this fee to be approximately
$13 million for Calvert Cliffs and $12 million for our
portion of Nine Mile Point each year based on expected
operating levels. We will pay our portion of these fees
into the DOE’s Nuclear Waste Fund.

On February 14, 2002, the Secretary of Energy
submitted to the President a recommendation for
approval of the Yucca Mountain site for the
development of a nuclear waste repository for the
disposal of spent nuclear fuel and high level nuclear
waste from the nation’s defense activities. In July 2002,
the President signed a resolution approving the Yucca
Mountain site after receiving the approval of the U.S.
Senate and House of Representatives. This action allows
the Department of Energy to apply to the NRC to
license the project. The Department of Energy currently
expects that this facility will open in 2010. However,
the opening of Yucca Mountain could be delayed due
to multiple lawsuits initiated by the State of Nevada
and other interested parties, the NRC licensing
hearings, and other issues related to the site.

Storage of Spent Nuclear Fuel—On-Site Facilities

Calvert Cliffs has a license from the NRC to operate an
on-site independent spent fuel storage installation that
expires in 2012, We have storage capacity at Calvert
Cliffs that will accommodate spent fuel from operations
through 2008. In addition, we can expand our
temporary storage capacity at Calvert Cliffs to meet
future requirements until approximately 2025.
Currently, Nine Mile Point does not have independent
spent fuel storage capacity. Rather, Nine Mile Point’s
Unit 1 has sufficient storage capacity within the plant
until the end of its current operating license in 2009. If
license renewal is obtained, independent spent fuel
storage capability will need to be developed. Nine Mile
Point’s Unit 2 has sufficient storage capacity within the
plant until 2012. After that time independent spent fuel
storage capability may need to be developed.

Cost for Decommissioning Uranium Enrichment Facilities
The Energy Policy Act of 1992 contains provisions
requiring domestic nuclear utilities to contribute to a
fund for decommissioning and decontaminating
uranium enrichment facilities that had been operated by
DOE. These contributions are generally payable over a
15-year period with escalation for inflation and are
based upon the amount of uranium enriched by DOE
for each utility through 1992. The 1992 Act provides
that these costs are recoverable through utility service
rates. BGE is solely responsible for these costs as they
relate to Calvert Cliffs. The sellers of the Nine Mile
Point plant and a subsidiary of the Long Island Power
Authority are responsible for the costs relating to the
Nine Mile Point plant.

Cost for Decommissioning

We are obligated to decommission our nuclear plants at
the time these plants cease operation. Both Calvert
Cliffs and Nine Mile Point are required by the NRC to
prepare financially for this decommissioning. When
BGE transferred all of its nuclear generating assets to
our merchant energy business, it also transferred the
trust fund established to pay for decommissioning
Calvert Cliffs. At December 31, 2002, the trust fund
was $239.7 million.




Under the Maryland Public Service Commission’s
{Maryland PSC) order regarding the deregulation of

electric generation, BGE ratepayers must pay a total of
$520 million, in 1993 dollars, adjusted for inflation, to
decommission Calvert Cliffs through fixed annual
collections of approximately $18.7 million until June
30, 2006, and thereafter in an annual amount
determined by reference to specified factors. BGE is
collecting this amount on behalf of Calvert Cliffs. Any
costs to decommission Calvert Cliffs in excess of this
$520 million must be paid by Calvert Cliffs. If BGE
ratepayers have paid more than this amount at the time
of decommissioning, Calvert Cliffs must refund the
excess. If the cost to decommission Calvert Cliffs is less
than the amount BGE’s ratepayers are obligated to pay,
Calvert Cliffs may keep the difference.

The sellers of Nine Mile Point transferred a
$441.7 million decommissioning trust fund at the tme
of sale. In return, Nine Mile Point assumed all liability
for the costs to decommission Unit 1 and 82% of the
cost to decommission Unit 2. We believe thart this
amount is adequate to cover our responsibiliry for
decommissioning Nine Mile Point to a greenfield status
(restoration of the site so that it substantially matches
the natural state of the surrounding properties and the
site’s intended use). At December 31, 2002, the Nine
Mile Point trust fund was $405.7 million.

Coal

We purchase the majority of our coal under supply
contracts with mining operators, and we acquire the
remainder in the spot or forward coal markets. We
believe that we will be able to renew supply contracts as
they expire or enter into contracts with other coal
suppliers. Our primary coal burning facilities have the
following requirements:

Approximate

Annual Coal

Requirement Special Coal
(tons) Restrictions

Brandon Shores
Units 1 and 2

Sulfur content less

(combined) ... 3,500,000 than 0.8%
C. R Crane
Units 1 and 2 Low ash melting
(combined) ... 850,000 temperature
H. A. Wagner
Units 2 and 3 Sulfur content no more
(combined) ... 1,100,000 than 1%

Coal deliveries to these facilities are made by rail
and barge. The coal we use is produced from mines
located in central and northern Appalachia.

All of the Conemaugh and Keystone plants’ annual
coal requirements are purchased from regional suppliers
on the open market. The sulfur restrictions on coal are
approximately 2.5% for the Keystone plant and
approximately 4.5% for the Conemaugh plant.

The annual coal requirements for the ACE,
Jasmin, and POSO planss, which are located in
California, are supplied under contracts with mining
operators. Each plant is restricted to coal with sulfur
content less than 4%.

All of our requirements reflect historical levels. The
actual fuel quantities required can vary substantially
from historical levels depending upon the relationship
berween energy prices and fuel costs, weather
conditions, and operating requirements.

Gas

We purchase natural gas and transportation, as
necessary, for electric generation at certain plants. Some
of our gas-fired units can use residual fuel oil or
distillates instead of gas. Gas is purchased under
contracts with suppliers on the spot market and forward
markets, including financial exchanges and bilateral
agreements. The actual fuel quantities required can vary
substantially from year to year depending upon the
relationship between energy prices and fuel costs,
weather conditions, and operating requirements.
However, we believe that we wil] be able to obrain
adequate quantities of gas to meet our requirements.

Oil

Under normal burn practices, our requirements for
residual fuel oil (No. 6) amount to approximately
1,500,000 to 2,000,000 barrels of low-sulfur oil per
year. Deliveries of residual fuel oil are made from the
suppliers’ Baltimore Harbor marine terminal for
distribution to the various generating plant locations.
Also, based on normal burn practices, we also require
approximately 5,000,000 to 6,000,000 gallons of
distillates (No. 2 oil and kerosene) annually, but these
requirements can vary substantially from year to year
depending upon the relationship between energy prices
and fuel costs, weather conditions, and operating
requirements. Distillates are purchased from the
suppliers’ Baltimore truck terminals for distribution to
the various generating plant locations. We have
contracts with various suppliers to purchase oil at spot
prices, and for future delivery, to meer our
requirements.

Competition

Market developments over the past several years have
changed the nature of competition in the merchant
energy business. Certain companies within the merchant
energy sector have either curtailed their activities or
have withdrawn completely from the business. In
addition, other companies are entering the market (i.c.,
financial investors). We encounter competition from
companies of various sizes, having varying levels of
experience, financial and human resources, and differing
strategies.




We face competition in the markert for energy,
capacity, and ancillary services. In our merchant energy
business, we compete with international, national, and
regional full service energy providers, merchants and
producers, to obtain competitively priced supplies from
a variety of sources and locations, and to utilize efficient
transmission or transportation. We principally compete
on the basis of the price, customer service, reliability,
and availability of our products.

With respect to power generation, we compete in
the operation of energy-producing projects, and our
competitors in this business are both domestic and
international organizations, many of whom have
extensive and diversified operating expertise including
various utilities, industrial companies and independent
power producers (including affiliates of utilities), and
some of which have financial resources that are greater
than ours.

During the transition of the energy industry to
competitive markets, it is difficult for us to assess our
position versus the position of existing power providers
and new entrants because each company may employ
widely differing strategies in their fuel supply and power
sales contracts with regard to pricing, terms and
conditions. Further difficulties in making competitive
assessments of our company arise from states
considering different types of regulatory inidatives
concerning competition in the power industry. Increased

competition that resulted from some of these initiatives
in several states contributed in some instances to a
reduction in electricity prices and put pressure on

electric utilities to lower their costs, including the cost
of purchased electriciry. In addition, some states that
were considering deregulation have slowed their plans or
postponed consideration of deregulation.

We believe there is adequate growth potential in
the current deregulated marker. However, in response to
regional marker differences and to promote competitive
markets, the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission
(FERC) proposed initiatives promoting the formation of
Regional Transmission Organizations and a standard
market design. If approved, these market changes could
provide additional opportunities for our merchant
energy business. Additionally, while competition has
been adversely impacted by recent market events
including the weakened financial condition of certain
energy companies, we expect our business to become
more competitive due to technological advances in
power generation, e-commerce enabling new ways of
conducting business, the entrance of new full service
providers, and increased efficiency of energy markets.

However, we believe that our experience and
expertise in assessing and managing risk will help us to
remain competitive during volatile or otherwise adverse

marker circumstances.

Merchant Energy Operating Statistics

2002 2001 2000 1999 1998

Revenues (/n millions)
PJM Platform $1,391.4 $1,3792 % 7317 $ — § —
Plants with Power Purchase Agreements 456.4 70.8 — — —
Competitive Supply—Accrual Revenues 587.6 — — — —
—Mark-to-Market Revenues 238.1 175.8 151.5 147.7 47.5

Other 92.2 139.7 142.5 129.6 136.1
Total Revenue $2,765.7 $1,765.5 $1,025.7 $277.3 $183.6
Generation (I millions)—MWH 44.7 37.4 18.8 1.3 1.3

Operating statistics do nor reflect the elimination of intercompany transactions.




.Baltimore Gas and Electric Company
BGE is an electric and gas public transmission and

distribution utility company with a service territory that
covers the City of Baltimore and all or part of ten
counties in central Maryland. BGE is regulated by the
Maryland PSC and FERC with respect to rates and
other aspects of its business.

BGE’s electric service territory includes an area of
approximately 2,300 square miles. There are no
municipal or cooperative wholesale customers within
BGE'’s service territory. BGE's gas service territory
includes an area of approximately 800 square miles.

BGE’s electric and gas revenues come from many
customers-—residential, commercial, and industrial. In
2002, BGE's largest electric customer provided
approximately three percent of BGE's total electric
revenues. In 2002, BGE's largest gas customer provided
approximately one percent of BGE's total gas revenues.

Electric Business
Electric Regulatory Maztters and Competition

Deregulation

Effective July 1, 2000, efectric customer choice and
competition among electric suppliers was implemented in
Maryland. As a result of the deregulation of electric
generation, the following occurred effective July 1, 2000:
¢ All customers can choose their electric energy
supplier. BGE provides a fixed price standard
offer service over various time periods for
different classes of customers that do not select
an alternative supplier undl June 30, 2006.
¢ While BGE does not sell electric commodiry to
all customers in its service territory, BGE does
deliver electricity to all customers and provides
meter reading, billing, emergency response,
regular maintenance, and balancing services.
¢ BGE provides a market rate standard offer
service for those commercial and industrial
customers who are no longer eligible for fixed
price standard offer service until June 30, 2006.
¢ BGE reduced residential base rates by
approximately 6.5% on average, or about $54
million a year, from rates prior to July 1, 2000.
These rates will not change before July 2006.
While rotal residential base rates remain
unchanged over this transition period (July 1,
2000 through June 30, 2006), the increase in
the standard offer service rate is offset by a
corresponding decrease in the competitive
transition charge (CTC) that BGE receives
from its customers.
¢ Commercial and industrial customers have
several service options that will fix electric
energy rates through June 30, 2004 and
transition charges through June 30, 2000.

@ BGE transferred, at book value, its nuclear
generating assets, its nuclear decommissioning
trust fund, and related fiabilities to Calvert
Cliffs Nuclear Power Plant, Inc. In addition,
BGE transferred, at book value, its fossil
generating assets and related liabilities and It
partial ownership interest in two coal plants
and a hydroelectric plant located in
Pennsylvania to Constellation Power Source
Generation.

& BGE assigned approximately $47 million to
Calvere Cliffs Nuclear Power Plant, Inc. and
$231 million o Constellation Power Source
Generation of tax-exempt debt related to the
transferred assets. At December 31, 2002, BGE
remains contingently liable for the $269.8
million outstanding balance of this debt.

Standard Offer Service
Our origination and risk management operation

provides BGE with 100% of the energy and capacity
required to meet its standard offer service obligations
through June 30, 2003. Beginning July 1, 2003, this
operation will provide 90% and Allegheny Energy
Supply Company, LLC will provide the remaining 10%
of the energy and capacity required for BGE to meet its
standard offer service obligations until June 30, 2006.

Beginning July 1, 2002, the fixed price standard
offer service rate ended for large commercial and
industrial customers. As a result, customers representing
approximately 96% (approximately 1,200 megawatts) of
load from this class purchase their electricity from an
alternate supplier, including subsidiaries of Constellation
Energy. The remaining large commercial and industrial
customers that continue to receive their electric supply
from BGE are charged market rate standard offer
service.

Beginning July 1, 2004, all other commercial and
industrial customers that continue to receive their
electric supply from BGE will be charged a market rate
standard offer service. Currently, this class of customers
represents approximately 2,200 megawatts of load.
Beginning July 1, 2006, BGE’s current obligation to
provide fixed price standard offer service to residential
customers ends.

BGE’s (and other Maryland utilities’) role in
providing electricity supply to customers is currently the
subject of a proceeding at the Maryland PSC.
Specifically, BGE entered into a proposed settlement
agreement with parties representing customers, industry,
utilities, suppliers, the Maryland Energy Administration,
the Maryland PSC’s Staff, and the Office of People’s
Counsel that extends BGE's obligation to supply
standard offer service.




Under the proposed settlement agreement, BGE
would be obligated to provide market-based standard
offer service to residential customers until June 30,
2010, and for commercial and industrial customers for
a one, two or four year period beyond June 30, 2004,
depending on customer size. The rates charged during
this time would be fixed during the term of the supply
contract and would include an administrative fee. The
proposed settlement agreement currently is before the
Maryland PSC for approval.

We discuss the market risk of our regulated electric
business in more detail in ftem 7. Managements
Discussion and Analysis—Marker Risk section.

Competition

The electric transmission and distribution services are
facing competition from alternative energy sources that
include on-site generation and cogeneration projects. In
future years, emerging technologies, including fuel cells
and solar panels, may also become a competitive factor.

Electric Load Management

BGE implemented various programs for use when
system-operating conditions or market economics
indicate that a reduction in load would be beneficial.

We refer to these programs as active load management .
programs. These programs include:

¢ customer-owned generation and curtailable

service for large commercial and industrial
customers,

& air conditioning control for residential and

commercial customers, and

# residential water heater control.

BGE generally activates these programs on summer
days when demand and/or wholesale prices are relatively
high. The reduction in the summer 2002 peak load
from active load management was approximately
260 MW.

Transmission and Distribution Facilities

BGE maintains approximately 250 substations and
1,300 circuit miles of transmission lines throughout
central Maryland. BGE also maintains nearly 22,500
circuit miles of distribution lines. The transmission
facilities are connected to those of neighboring utility
systemns as part of the PJM Interconnection. Under the
PJM Tariff and various agreements, BGE and other
market participants can use regional transmission
facilities for energy, capacity and ancillary services
transactions including emergency assistance.

We discuss FERC'’s initiatives in implementing a
standard market design for wholesale electric markets in
more detail in ftem 7. Managements Discussion and
Analysis—FERC Regulation section.

Electric Operating Statistics

2002 2001 2000(A) 1999(A) 1998(A)
Revenues (In millions)
Residential $ 9466 § 8853 § 922.6 $ 9752 $§ 948.6
Commercial 809.5 903.0 926.2 939.3 912.9
Industrial 169.6 218.1 203.6 204.3 211.5
System Sales 1,925.7 2,006.4 2,052.4 2,118.8 2,073.0
Interchange Sales — — 53.8 112.1 120.8
Other (B) 40.3 33.6 29.0 29.1 27.0
Total $1,966.0 $2,040.0 $2,135.2  $2,260.0 $2,220.8
Sales (In thousands)—MWH
Residential 12,652 11,714 11,675 11,349 10,965
Commercial 14,602 14,147 14,042 13,565 13,219
Industrial 4,475 4,445 4,476 4,350 4,583
System Sales 31,729 30,306 30,193 29,264 28,767
Customers (In thousands)
Residential 1,852.3 1,040.5 1,033.4 1,021.4 1,009.1
Commercial 110.8 110.9 108.9 107.7 106.5
Industrial 4,9 5.0 5.0 4.7 4.6
Total 1,168.0 1,156.4 1,147.3 1,133.8 1,120.2

(A) Operating statistics reflect the generation function as part of regulated electric operations through June 30, 2000.

{B) Primarily includes transmission service integration revenues, late payment charges, miscellaneous service fees,
and tower leasing revenues.

Operating statistics do not reflect the elimination of intercompany transactions.
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Gas Business
Currently, no regulation exists for the wholesale price of

natural gas as a commodity, and the regulation of
interstate transmission at the federal level has been
reduced. All BGE gas customers have the option to
purchase gas from other suppliers. BGE continues to
deliver gas to all customers within its service territory.
This delivery service is regulated by the Maryland PSC.

BGE also provides these customers with meter
reading, billing, emergency response, regular
maintenance, and balancing services.

Delivery service customers may choose 1o purchase
gas from several different suppliers, including
subsidiaries of Constellation Energy. The basis of
competition for delivery service customers is primarily
commodity price.

Approximately 50% of the gas on our distribution
system is for customers using delivery service. We
charge all our delivery service customers fees to recover
the costs for the transportation service we provide.
These fees are the same as the delivery charges o
customers that purchase gas from us.

For customers that buy their gas from BGE, there
is a market-based rates incentive mechanism. Under
market-based rates, our actual cost of gas is compared
to a marker index {a measure of the market price of gas
in a given period). The difference between our acrual
cost and the market index is shared equally between
shareholders and customers, BGE must secure fixed-
price contracts for at least 10%, but not more than
20%, of forecasted system supply requirements for the
November through March period.

We purchase the natural gas we resell to customers
directly from many producers and marketers. We have
transportation and storage agreements that expire from
2004 wo 2012.
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Our current pipeline firm transportation
entitlements to serve our firm loads are 284,053
dekatherms (DTH) per day during the winter period
and 259,053 DTH per day during the summer period.

Qur current maximum storage entitlements are
235,080 DTH per day. To supplement our gas supply
at times of heavy winter demands and to be available in
temporary emergencies affecting gas supply, we have:

¢ a liquefied natural gas facility for che

liquefaction and storage of natural gas with a
total storage capacity of 1,092,977 DTH and a
daily capacity of 311,500 DTH, and

¢ a propane air facility with a mined cavern with

a total storage capacity equivalent to 564,200
DTH and a daily capacity of 85,000 DTH.

We have under contract sufficient volumes of
propane for the operation of the propane air facility and
are capable of liquefying sufficient volumes of natural
gas during the summer months for operations of our
liquefied natural gas facility during winter emergencies.

We historically have been able to arrange short-
term contracts or exchange agreements with other gas
companies in the event of short-term disruptions to gas
supplies.

BGE also participates in the interstate markets by
releasing, pipeline capacity or bundling pipeline capacity
with gas for off-system sales. Off-system gas sales are
low-margin direct sales of gas to wholesale suppliers of
natural gas outside our service territory. Earnings from
these activities are shared berween shareholders and
customers. We make these sales as part of a program to
balance our supply of, and cost of, natural gas.




Cas Operating Statistics

2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
Revenues (In millions)
Residenrtial
Excluding Delivery Service $ 3421 § 3784 3284 § 2981 § 2792
Delivery Service 16.5. 16.3 23.5 11.5 49
Commercial
Excluding Delivery Service 89.4 115.5 97.9 79.3 75.6
Delivery Service 29.2 21.4 25.8 24.4 19.4
Industrial
Excluding Delivery Service 9.3 12.8 10.9 8.2 8.0
Delivery Service 13.9 13.8 16.3 16.1 16.0
System Sales 500.4 558.2 502.8 437.6 403.1
Off-system Sales 74.8 113.6 101.0 T 429 40.9
Orther 6.1 8.9 7.8 7.6 7.1
Total $ 5813 § 680.7 6116 § 4881 $ 451.1
Sales (In thousands)—DTH
Residential
Excluding Delivery Service 35,364 33,147 34,561 34,272 33,595
Delivery Service 6,404 7,201 9,209 4,468 1,890
Commercial :
Excluding Delivery Service 11,583 12,334 13,186 11,733 11,775
Delivery Service 28,429 25,037 22,921 20,288 16,633
Industrial
Excluding Delivery Service 1,207 1,386 1,386 1,367 1,412
Delivery Service 23,689 23,872 32,382 33,118 34,798
System Sales 106,676 102,977 113,645 105,246 100,103
Off-system Sales 18,551 20,012 22,456 15,543 16,724
Total 125,227 122,989 136,101 120,789 116,827
Customers (In thousands)
Residential 567.3 558.7 553.7 543.5 532.5
Commercial 40.7 40.2 40.1 39.9 39.6
Industrial 1.3 1.4 1.4 1.3 1.3
Total 609.3 600.3 595.2 584.7 573.4

Operating statistics do not reflect the elimination of intercompany transactions.
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Franchises
BGE has nonexclusive electric and gas franchises to use

streets and other highways that are adequate and

sufficient to permit us to engage in our present
business. Conditions of the franchises are satisfacrory.

Other Nonregulated Businesses
Energy Products and Services
We offer energy products and services designed
primarily to provide solutions to the energy. needs of
commercial and industrial customers. These cnergy
products and services include:
@ designing, constructing, and operating single-
site heating, cooling, and cogeneration facilities,
¢ energy consulting and power-quality services,
& services to enhance the reliability of individual
electric supply systems, and
@ customized financing alternatives.

Home Products and Electric and
Gas Retail Marketing

We offer services to customers including:

¢ home improvements,

& the service of heating, air conditioning,
plumbing, electrical, and indoor air qualicy
systems, and

¢ clectric and natural gas retail marketing.

" Our other nonregulated businesses include investments

District Cooling Services
We also provide cooling services using a central chilled
water distribution system to commercial customers in

the City of Baltimore.

Cther

that we do not consider to be core operations. These
include financial investments, real estate projects, and
interests in a Latin American distribution project and in
a fund that holds interests in two South American
energy projects. In 2001, as part of our strategy to
focus attention and capital resources on ous core energy
businesses, we accelerated our exit strategies for our
remaining real estate projects and international
investments.

Consclidated Capital Requirements

Our business requires a great deal of capical. Our cortal
capital requirements for 2002 were $923 million. Of
this amount, $706 million was used in our
nonregulated businesses and $217 million was used in
our utility operations. We estimate our total capital
requitements to be $735 million in 2003.

We continuously review and change our capiral
expenditure programs, so actual expenditures may vary
from the estimates above. We discuss our capital
requirements further in Jtem 7. Managements Discussion
and Analysis—Capital Resources section.

Environmental Matters
We are subject to regulation by various federal, stare,
and local authorities with regard to:

@ air quality,

@ water quality, and

& disposal of hazardous substances.

The development (involving site selection,
environmental assessments, and permitting),
construction, acquisition, and operation of electric
generating and distribution facilities are subject to
extensive federal, state, and local environmental and
land use laws and regulations. From the beginning
phases of siting and developing, to the ongoing
operation of existing or new electric generating and
distribution facilities, our activities involve compliance
with diverse laws and regulations that address emissions
and impacts to air and water, special, protected and
cultural resources (such as wetlands, endangered species,
and archeological/historical resources), chemical, and
waste handling and noise impacts.
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Our activities require complex and often lengthy
processes to obtain approvals, permits, or licenses for
new, existing, or modified facilities. Additionally, the
use and handling of various chemicals or hazardous
materials (including wastes) requires preparation of
release prevention plans and emergency response
procedures. We continuously monitor federal and state
environmental initiatives in order to provide input as
well as to maintain a proactive view of the future which
is key to effective strategic planning. Additionally, as
new laws or regulations are promulgated, we assess their
applicability and implement the necessary modifications
to our facilities or their operation, as required.

Qur capital expenditures (excluding allowance for
funds used during construction) were approximately
$265 million during the five-year period 1998-2002 to
comply with existing environmental standards and
regulations, and we estimate that the future incremental
capital expenditures necessary to comply with existing
environmental standards and regulations will be
approximartely $20 million in 2003.



Clean Air Act

The Clean Air Act affects both existing generating
facilities and new projects. The Clean Air Act and
many state laws require significant reductions in SO,
(sulfur dioxide) and NOy (nitrogen oxide) emissions
that result from burning fossil fuels. The Clean Air Act
also contains other provisions that could materially
affect some of our projects. Various provisions may
require permits, inspections, or installation of additional
pollution control technology or may require the
purchase of emission allowances. Certain of these
provisions are described in more detail below.

On October 27, 1998, the Environmental
Protection Agency (EPA) issued a rule requiring 22
Fastern states and the District of Columbia to reduce
emissions of NOy (a precursor of ozone). Among other
things, the EPA’ rule establishes an ozone season, which
runs from May through September, and a NOy
emission budget for each state, including Maryland and
Pennsylvania. The EPA rule requires states to
implement controls sufficient to meet their NOy budget
by May 30, 2004. Coal-fired power plants are a
principal target of NOy reductions under this initiative.

Many of our generation facilities are subject to
NOy reduction requirements under the EPA rule,
including those located in Maryland and Pennsylvania.
At the Brandon Shores and Wagner facilities, we
installed emission reduction equipment to meet
Maryland regulations issued pursuant to EPAs rule. The
owners of the Keystone plant in Pennsylvania are
installing emissions reduction equipment by July 2003
o meet Pennsylvania regulations issued pursuant to
EPA’s rule. We estimate our costs for the equipment
needed at this plant will be approximately $35 million.
Through December 31, 2002, we have spent
approximately $26 million.

The EPA established new National Ambient Air
Quality Standards for very fine particulates and revised
standards for ozone atrainment that were upheld after
various court appeals. While these standards may
require increased controls at some of our fossil
generating plants in the future, implemenration could
be delayed for several years. We cannot estimate the
cost of these increased controls at this time because the
states, including Maryland, Pennsylvania, and
California, still need to determine what reductions in
pollutants will be necessary to meet the EPA standards.
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The EPA and several states have filed suits against
a number of coal-fired power plants in Mid-Western
and Southern states alleging violations of the

deterioration prevention and non-attainment provisions
of the Clean Air Act’s new source review requirements, '
In 2000, and again in 2002, using its broad
investigatory powers, the EPA requested information
relating to modifications made to our Brandon Shores,
Crane, and Wagner plants in Baltimore, Maryland. The
EPA also sent similar, but narrower, information
requests to two of our newer Pennsylvania waste-coal
burning plants. This informarion is to determine
compliance with the Clean Air Act and state
implementation plan requirements, including potential
application of federal New Source Performance
Standards. We have responded to the EPA and as of the
date of this report the EPA has taken no further action.

In general, such standards can require the
installation of additional air pollution control
equipment upon the major modification of an existing
plant. Although there have not been any new source
review-related suits filed against our facilicies, there can
be no assurance that any of them will not be the targer
of an action in the future. Based on the levels of
emissions control that the EPA and states are seeking in
these new source review enforcement actions, we believe
that material additional costs and penalties could be
incurred, and planned capital expenditures could be
accelerated, if the EPA was successful in any furure
actions regarding our facilities.

The Clean Air Act requires the EPA to evaluate
the public health impacts of emissions of mercury, a
hazardous air pollutant, from coal-fired plants. The EPA
has decided to control mercury emissions from coal-
fired plants. Compliance could be required by
approximately 2007. We believe final regulations could
be issued in 2004 and would affect all coal-fired boilers.
The cost of compliance with the final regulations could
be material.

Future initiatives regarding greenhouse gas
emissions and global warming continue to be the
subject of much debate. The related Kyoto Protocol was
signed by the United States but has since been rejected
by the President, who instead has asked for an 18%
decrease in carbon intensity on a voluntary basis. Future
initiatives on this issue and the ultimate effects of the
Kyoto Protocol and the President’s initiatives on us are
unknown at this rime. As a result of our diverse fuel
portfolio, our contribution to greenhouse gases varies by
plant type. Fossil fuel-fired power plants are significant
sources of carbon dioxide emissions, a principal
greenhouse gas. Our compliance costs with any
mandated federal greenhouse gas reductions in the
future could be material.




Ciean Water Act

Our facilities are subject to a variety of federal and state
regulations governing existing and potential water/
wastewater and stormwater discharges.

In April 2002, the EPA proposed rules under the
Clean Warer Act that require that cooling water intake
structures reflect the best technology available for
minimizing adverse environmental impacts. These rules
pertain to existing utilities and non-utilicy power
producers that currently employ a cooling water intake
structure and whose flow exceeds 50 million gallons per
day. We expect a final action on the proposed rules by
February 2004. The proposed rule may require the
installation of additional intake screens or other
protective measures, as well as extensive site specific
study and monitoring requirements. There is also the
possibility that the proposed rules may lead to the
installation of cooling towers on four of our fossil and
both of our nuclear facilities. Our compliance costs
associated with the final rules could be material.

Under current provisions of the Clean Water Act,
existing permits must be renewed at least every five
years, at which time permit limits come under extensive
review and can be modified to account for more
stringent regulations. In addition, the permits can be
modified at any time. Changes to the environmental
permits of our coal or other fuel suppliers due to
federal or state initiatives may increase the cost of fuel,
which in turn could have a significant impact on our
operations.

Comprehensive Environmental Response;
Compensation and Liability Act

{Superfund statute}

This law, or CERCLA, among other things, imposes
cleanup requirements for threatened or actual releases of
hazardous substances that may endanger public health
or welfare of the environment. Under CERCLA, joint
and several liability may be imposed on waste
generators, site owners and operators and others
regardless of fault or the legality of the original disposal
activity. Many states have implemented laws similar to
CERCLA. Although all waste substances generated by
our facilities are generally not regarded as hazardous
substances, some products used in the operations and
the disposal of such products are governed by CERCLA

and similar state statutes.

Metal Bank

In the early 1970s, BGE shipped an unknown number
of scrapped transformers to Metal Bank of America, a
metal reclaimer in Philadelphia. Metal Bank’s scrap and
storage yard has been found to be contaminated with
oil containing high levels of PCBs (hazardous chemicals
frequently used as a fire resistant coolant in electrical
equipment). On December 7, 1987, the EPA notified
BGE and nine other utilities that they are considered
potentially responsible parties (PRPs) with respect to the
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cleanup of the site. BGE, along with the other PRPs,
submitted a remedial investigation and feasibility study
to the EPA on October 14, 1994, and the EPA issued
its Record of Decision on December 31, 1997. On
June 26, 1998, the EPA ordered BGE, the other utility
PRPs, and the owner/operator to implement the
requirements of the Record of Decision. The utility
PRPs have submitted the remedial design to EPA. Based
on the Record of Decision, BGE’s share of the
reasonably possible cleanup costs, estimated to be
approximately 15.47%, could be as much as $1.3
million higher than amounts we believe are probable
and have recorded as a liability in our Consolidated
Balance Sheets. There has been no significant activity
with respect to this site since the EPA’s Record of
Decision in 1997.

Kane and Lombard Streets

Suit was originally filed by the EPA under CERCLA in
October 1989 against BGE and several other defendants
in the U.S. District Courr for the District of Maryland,
seeking to recover past and future clean up costs at the
Kane and Lombard Street site located in Baltimore City,
Maryland. The State of Maryland filed a similar
complaint in the same case and court in February 1990.
The complaints alleged that BGE arranged for coal fly
ash to be deposited on the site. The Court dismissed
these complaints in November 1995. Maryland began
additional investigation on the remainder of the site for
the EPA, but never completed the investigation. BGE,
along with three other defendants, agreed to complete a
remedial investigation and feasibility study of
groundwater contamination around the site in a July
1993 consent order. The remedial investigation report
and a draft feasibility study were submitted to the EPA
in February 2002. In December 2002, the EPA released
its proposed remedy for the site and estimated the total
cost for the site to be $6.2 million. Until the EPA
finalizes the plan, we cannort estimate BGE’s share of
the total site cleanup costs, but it is not expected to be
material.

68th Street Dump

In July 1999, the EPA notified BGE, along with 19
other entities, that it may be a potentially responsible
party at the 68% Streer Dump/Industrial Enterprises
Site, also known as the Robb Tyler Dump, located in
Baltimore, Maryland. The EPA indicated that it is
proceeding with plans to conduct a remedial
investigation and feasibility study. This site was
proposed for listing as a federal Superfund site in
January 1999, but the listing has not been finalized.
Although our potential liability cannot be estimated, we
do not expect such liability to be material based on
BGE records showing that it did not send waste to the
site.




Spring Gardens

In the past, predecessor gas companies (which were later
merged into BGE) manufactured coal gas for residential
and industrial use. The Spring Gardens site was once
used to manufacture gas from coal and oil. The residue
from this manufacturing process was coal tar, previously
thought to be harmless but now found to contain a
number of chemicals designated by the EPA as
hazardous substances.

In late December 1996, BGE signed a consent
order with the Maryland Department of the
Environment that required it to implement remedial
action plans for contamination at and around the
Spring Gardens site, located in Baltimore, Maryland.
BGE submitted the required remedial action plans, and
they have been approved by the Maryland Department
of the Environment. Based on these plans, the costs
BGE considers to be probable to remedy the
contamination are estimated to total $47 million. BGE
recorded these costs as a liability in its Consolidated
Balance Sheets and deferred these costs, ner of
accumulated amortization and amounts it recovered
from insurance companies, as a regulatory asset.
Through December 31, 2002, BGE spent
approximately $39 million for remediation at this site.

BGE also is required by accounting rules to
disclose additional costs it considers to be less likely
than probable, but still “reasonably possible” of being

incurred at this site. Because of the results of studies art

this site, it is reasonably possible that these additional
costs could exceed the $47 million BGE recognized by
approximately $14 million.

As a result of CERCLA’s no-fault, retroactive
liability provisions, we cannot determine whether we
will be free from substantial liabilities for other sites in
the future.

Employees
Constellation Energy and its subsidiaries had, at
December 31, 2002, approximately 8,700 employees.
The Central Wayne plant has a partially unionized
workforce where approximately 30 employees are
represented by the International Union of Operating
Engineers. The labor contract with this union expires
June 30, 2004. At the Nine Mile Point plant,
approximately 700 employees are represented by the
International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers, Local
97. The labor contract with this union expires in July
2006 with wages open to negotiation in June 2003. We
believe that our relations with both unicns are
satisfactory, but there can be no assurances that this will
continue to be the case.

We discuss several workforce reduction programs in
Irem 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis—
Significant Events section.

items 2. Properties

Constellation Energy’s corporate offices occupy
approximately 85,000 square feet of leased office space
in Baltimore, Maryland. The corporate offices for most
of our merchant energy business occupy approximately
100,000 square feet of leased office space in another
building in Baltimore, Maryland. We describe our
electric generation properties on the next page. We also
have leases for other offices and services located in the
Baltimore metropolitan region, and for various real
property and facilities relating to our generation
projects.

We own BGE's principal headquarters building in
downtown Baltimore. BGE owns propane air and
liquefied natural gas facilities as discussed in ftem 1.
Business—Gas Business section.

BGE also has rights-of-way to maintain 26-inch
natural gas mains across certain Baltimore City-owned
property {(principally parks) which expire in 2004,
These rights-of-way can be renewed during their last
year for an additional period of 25 years based on a fair
revaluation. Conditions of the grants are satisfactory.
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BGE has electric transmission and electric and gas
distribution lines located:

¢ in public streets and highways pursuant to

franchises, and

4 on rights-of-way secured for the most part by

grants from owners of the property.

All of BGE’s property is subject to the lien of
BGE’s mortgage securing its mortgage bonds. All of the
generation facilities transferred to affiliates by BGE on
July 1, 2000, along with the stock we own in certain of
our subsidiaries, are subject to the lien of BGE’s
mortgage.

We believe we have satisfactory title to our power
project facilities in accordance with standards generally
accepted in the energy industry, subject to exceptions,
which in our opinion, would not have a material
adverse effect on the use or value of the facilities.

We also maintain office space throughout North
America to support our competitive supply activities.



The following rable describes our generating facilities:

Installed % Capacity Primary
Plant Location Capacity (MW) Owned Owned (MW) Fuel
(at December 31, 2002) (at December 31, 2002)

PIM Platform
Calvert Cliffs Calvert Co., MD 1,685 100.0 1,685 Nuclear
Brandon Shores Anne Arundel Co., MD 1,286 100.0 1,286 Coal
H. A. Wagner Anne Arundel Co., MD 1,020 100.0 1,020 Coal/Oil/Gas
C. P Crane Baltimore Co., MD 399 100.0 399 Oil/Coal
Keystone Armstrong and Indiana Cos., PA 1,711 21.0 359 (A) Coal
Conemaugh Indiana Co., PA 1,711 10.6 181 (A) Coal
Perryman Harford Co., MD 360 100.0 360 Oil/Gas
Riverside Baltimore Co., MD 251 100.0 251 Oil/Gas
Handsome Lake Rockland Twp, PA 250 100.0 250 Gas
Notch Cliff Baltimore Co., MD 128 100.0 128 Gas
Westport Baltimore City, MD 121 100.0 121 Gas
Gould Stereet Baltimore Cicy, MD 104 100.0 104 Oil/Gas
Philadelphia Road Baltimore City, MD 64 100.0 64 Ol
Safe Harbor Safe Harbor, PA 416 66.7 277 Hydro

Total PJM Platform 9,506 6,485

Plants with Power Purchase Agreements
Nine Mile Point Unit 1 Scriba, NY 609 100.0 609 Nuclear
Nine Mile Point Unir 2 Scriba, NY 1,148 82.0 941 Nuclear
Oleander Brevard Co., FL 680 100.0 680 Qil/Gas
University Park Chicago, IL 300 100.0 300 Gas

Total Planss with Power Purchase Agreements 2,737 2,530

Competitive Supply
Rio Nogales Seguin, TX 800 100.0 800 Gas

Other
Holland Energy Shelby Co.. IL 665 100.0 665 Gas
Big Sandy Neal, WV 300 100.0 300 Gas
Woif Hills Bristol, VA 250 100.0 250 Gas
Panther Creek Nesquehoning, PA 83 50.0 42 Waste Coal
Colver Colver Township, PA 110 25.0 28 Waste Coal
Sunnyside Sunnyside, UT 53 50.0 26 Waste Coal
ACE Trona, CA 102 30.3 31 Coal
Jasmin Kern Co., CA 33 50.0 17 Coal
POSO Kern Co., CA 33 50.0 17 Coal
Puna | Hilo, HI 30 50.0 15 Geothermal
Mammoth Lakes G-1 Mammoth Lakes, CA 8 50.0 4 Geothermal
Mammorh Lakes G-2 Mammoth Lakes, CA 12 50.0 6 Geothermal
Mammoth Lakes G-3 Mammoth Lakes, CA 12 50.0 6 Geothermal
Soda Lake 1 Fallon, NV 3 50.0 2 Geothermal
Soda Lake 11 Fallon, NV 13 50.0 7 Geothermal
Stillwater Fallon, NV 13 50.0 6 Geothermal
Rocklin Placer Co., CA 24 50.0 12 Biomass
Fresno Fresno, CA 24 50.0 12 Biomass
Chinese Station Sonora, CA 22 45.0 10 Biomass
Malacha Muck Valley, CA 32 50.0 16 Hydro
Central Wayne Dearborn, MI 22 50.0 11 Municipal

Solid Waste

SEGS 1V Kramer Juncrion, CA 30 12.0 4 Solar
SEGS V Kramer Junction, CA 30 4.0 1 Solar
SEGS VI Kramer Junction, CA 30 9.0 3 Solar

Total Other 1,934 1,491

Total Generating Facilities 14,977 11,306

(A) Reflects our proportionate interest in and entitlement to capacity from Keystone and Conemaugh, which include 2 megawatts of

diesel capacity for Keystone and 1 megawatt of diesel capacity for Conemaugh.

17



The following table describes our processing facilities:

Installed % Capacity Primary
Plant Location Capacity (MW) Owned Owned (MW) Fuel
(at December 31, 2002) (at December 31, 2002)
A/C Fuels Hazelton, PA —_ 50.0 —_ Coal Processing
Gary PCI Gary, IN — 24.5 — Coal Processing
PC Synfuel VA 1 Appalachia, VA — 16.7 — Synfuel Processing
PC Synfuel WV I Charleston, WV — 16.7 — Synfuel Processing
PC Synfuel WV II  Wheelersburg, OH — 16.7 — Synfuel Processing
PC Synfuel WV III  Mayberry, WV — 16.7 — Synfuel Processing

ftem 3. Lega! Proceedings

We discuss our legal proceedings in frem 7. Managements Discussion and Analysis—Business Environment section and in

Note 11 to Consolidated Financial Statements.

tem 4. Submission of Matiers to Yole of Security Holders
Not applicable.

Executive Officers of the Registrant

Name Age Present Office
Mayo A. Shattuck III 48  Chairman of the Board of Constellation

Energy (since July 2002), President
and Chief Executive Officer of
Constellation Energy (since November
2001); and Chairman of the Board of
BGE (since July 2002)

E. Follin Smith 43 Senior Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer of Constellation
Energy (since June 2001) and Senior
Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer of Baltimore Gas and Electric
Company (since January 2002)

Thomas V. Brooks 40  President of Constellation Power Source,
Inc. (since October 2001)

Frank O. Heintz 59  President and Chief Executive Officer of
Baltimore Gas and Electric Company
{since July 2000)

Michael J. Wallace 55  President of Constellation Generation
Group, LLC (since January 2002)

Thomas F Brady 53  Senior Vice President, Corporate
Strategy and Development of
Constellation Energy (since May
2002)
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Other Offices or Positions Held
During Past Five Years

Co-Chairman and Co-Chief Executive
Officer—DB Alex Brown, LLC and
Deutsche Banc Securities, Inc., Vice
Chairman—DBankers Trust
Corporation.

Senior Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer—Armstrong
Holdings, Inc.; Vice President and
Treasurer—Armstrong Holdings, Inc.
(filed for bankruptcy under Chapter
11 on December 6, 2000); and Chief
Financial Officer—General Motors—
Delphi Chassis Systems.

Vice President of Business Development
and Strategy—Constellation Energy;
and Vice President—Goldman Sachs.

Executive Vice President, Utility
Operations—BGE; and Vice
President, Gas—BGE.

Managing Director and Member—
Barrington Energy Partners; and
Senior Vice President—
Commonwealth Edison.

Vice President, Corporate Strategy and
Development—Constellation Energy;
Vice President, Retail Services—BGE;
and Vice President, Customer Service
and Distribution—BGE.



Name

Paul ]. Allen

Kathleen A. Chagnon

John R. Collins

Mark P. Huston

Marc C. Ugol

Age

51

43

45

39

44

Present Office

Vice President, Corporate Affairs of
Constellation Energy (since May
2001)

Vice President, General Counsel, and
Secretary of Constellation Energy
(since August 2002)

Vice President and Chief Risk Officer of
Constellation Energy (since December

2001)

Vice President, Corporate Strategy and
Development of Constellation Energy
(since May 2002)

Vice President, Human Resources of
Constellation Energy (since October
2002)

Other Offices or Positions Held
During Past Five Years

Senior Vice President and Group
Head—Ogilvy Public Relarions.

Vice President, Corporate Group
General Counsel—The St. Paul
Companies, Inc.; and Assistant Vice
President and Associate Group
Counsel—USF&G Corporation.

Managing Director—Finance—
Constellation Power Source Holdings,
Inc.; and Senior Financial Officer—
Constellation Power Source, Inc.

Manager, Corporate Strategy &
Development—Constellation Energy;
Project Manager, Restructuring
Project—BGE; and Director, Gas
Business Development—BGE.

Senior Vice President, Human Resources
and Administration—Tellabs, Inc.;
and Senior Vice President, Human
Resources—Platinum Technology
Inrernational.

Officers are elected by, and hold office at the will of, the Board of Directors and do not serve a “term of office”

as such. There is no arrangement or understanding between any director or officer and any other person pursuant to

which the director or officer was selecred.
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PART I
ftem 3. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Reiated Sharehoider Matters

Steck Trading In January 2003, we announced an increase in our
Constellation Energy’s common stock is traded under quarterly dividend from 24 cents to 26 cents per share
the ticker symbol CEG. It is listed on the New York, on our common stock payable April 1, 2003 to holders
Chicago, and Pacific stock exchanges. It has unlisted of record on March 10, 2003. This is equivalent to an
trading privileges on the Boston, Cincinnati, and annual rate of $1.04 per share.
Philadelphia exchanges. Quarterly dividends were declared on our common
As of February 28, 2003, there were 50,914 stock during 2002 and 2001 in the amounts set forth
common shareholders of record. below.
BGE pays dividends on its common stock after its
Bividend Peolicy Board of Directors declares them. There are no
Constellation Energy pays dividends on its comnion contractual limitations on BGE paying common stock
stock after its Board of Directors declares them. There dividends unless:
are no contractual limitations on Constellation Energy ¢ BGE elects to defer interest payments on the
paying common stock dividends. 7.16% Deferrable Interest Subordinated
Dividends have been paid continuously since 1910 Debentures due June 30, 2038, and any
on the common stock of Constellation Energy, BGE, deferred interest remains unpaid; or
and their predecessors. Future dividends depend upon ¢ all dividends (and any redemption payments)
future earnings, our financial condition, and other due on BGE’s preference stock have not been
factors. paid.

Common Steck Dividends and Price Ranges

2002 2001

Dividend — '™  Dividend ___ Fric®

Declared High Low Declared High Low
First Quarter ... o $.24 $31.18 $26.16  $§ .12 $44.65 $34.69
Second Quarter............ ... ... .. .24 32.38 27.65 12 50.14  40.10
Third Quarter ... 24 29.85 21.51 12 4380  22.85
Fourth Quarter ......... ... . 24 29.02 19.30 12 28.21 20.90
Toral ..o $.96 $ .48

* Based on New York Stock Exchange Composite Transactions.
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ftem 6. Selected Financial Data

Constellation Energy Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
(Dollar amounss in millions, excepr per share amounts)
Summary of Operations
Total Revenues $ 4,703.0 $ 3.878.8 $ 3,774.4 $3,830.9 $3,382.5
Total Expenses 3,878.1 3,527.2 3,009.9 3,081.0 2,647.9
Nert Gain on Sales of
Investments and Other Assets 261.3 6.2 78.1 10.0 3.9
Income From Operations 1,086.2 357.8 842.6 759.9 738.5
Orther Income 30.5 1.3 4.2 7.9 5.7
Fixed Charges 281.5 238.8 271.4 255.0 260.6
Income Before Income Taxes 835.2 120.3 575.4 512.8 483.6
Income Taxes 309.6 37.9 230.1 186.4 177.7
Income Before Extraordinary
Item and Cumulative Effect of
Change in Accounting
Principle 525.6 82.4 345.3 3264 305.9
Extraordinary Loss, Net of
Income Taxes — — — (66.3) —
Cumulative Effect of Change in
Accounting Principle, Net of
Income Taxes —_ 8.5 — — —
Net Income $ 525.6 $ 90.9 $ 3453 $ 260.1 $ 3059
Earnings Per Common Share and
Earnings Per Common
Share—Assuming Dilution
Before Extraordinary Item
and Cumulative Effect of
Change in Accounting
Principle $ 3.20 $ 52 $ 2.30 $ 218 $ 206
Extraordinary Loss — — — (.44) —
Cumulative Effect of Change in
Accounting Principle — .05 — — —_
Earnings Per Common Share and
Earnings Per Common
Share—Assuming Dilution $ 3.20 $ .57 $ 2.30 $ 1.74 $ 2.06
Dividends Declared Per
Common Share $ .96 $ 48 $ 1.68 $ 1.68 $ 1.67
Summary of Financial Condition
Total Assets $ 14,1289 $14,109.4 $12,939.3 $9,745.1 $9,434.1
Short-Term Borrowings $ 10.5 $ 9750 $ 2436 $ 3715 $ _
Current Portion of Long-Term
Debt $ 426.2 $ 1,406.7 $  906.6 $ 808.3 $ 5417
Capiralization
Long-Term Debt $ 4,613.9 $ 2,712.5 $ 3,159.3 $2,575.4 $3,128.1
Minority Interests 105.3 101.7 97.7 95.2 20
Preference Stock Not Subject
to Mandatory Redemption 190.0 190.0 190.0 190.0 190.0
Common Sharcholders’ Equity 3,862.3 3,843.6 3,174.0 3,017.5 2,995.9
Total Capitalization $ 8,771.5 $ 6,847.8 $ 6,621.0 $5,878.1 $6,316.0
Financial Statistics at Year End
Ratio of Earnings to Fixed
Charges 3.33 1.18 2.78 2.87 2.60
Book Value Per Share of
Common Stock $ 23.44 § 2348 $  21.09 $ 2017 $ 20.08

Certain prior-year amounts have been reclassified to conform with the curvent year’s presentation.

We discuss items that affect comparability between years, including acquisitions, accounting changes, and special items,
in ltem 7. Managements Discussion and Analysis.
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Baltimore Gas and Electric Company and Subsidiaries

2002 2001 2000(A) 1999 1998
(Dollar amounts in millions)
Summoary of Operations
Total Revenues $ 2,547.3 $2,720.7 $2,746.8 $3,092.2 $3,386.4
Total Expenses 2,181.0 2,408.9 2.334.4 2,387.9 2,647.9
Income From Operations 366.3 311.8 412.4 704.3 738.5
Other Income 10.7 0.4 7.5 8.4 5.7
Fixed Charges 140.6 154.6 184.0 205.9 238.8
Income Before Income Taxes 236.4 157.6 235.9 506.8 505.4
Income Taxes 93.3 60.3 92.4 178.4 177.7
Income Before Extraordinary Item 143.1 97.3 143.5 328.4 327.7
Extraordinary Loss, Net of Income
Taxes — — — (66.3) —
Net Income 143.1 97.3 143.5 262.1 327.7
Preference Stock Dividends 13.2 13.2 13.2 13.5 21.8
Earnings Applicable to Common
Stock $ 1299 $ 84.1 $ 130.3 $ 248.6 $ 305.9
Summeary of Financial Condition
Total Assets $ 4,779.9 $4,954.5 $4,654.2 $7,272.6 $9,434.1
Shore-Term Borrowings $ — $ — $ 321 $ 129.0 $ —
Current Portion of Long-Term
Debt $ 4207 $ 666.3 $ 3567.6 $ 5239 $ 5417
Capitalization
Long-Term Debt $ 1,499.1 $1,821.7 $1,864.4 $2,206.0 $3,128.1
Minority Interest 19.4 5.0 4.6 4.2 1.1
Preference Stock Not Subject to
Mandatory Redemption 190.0 190.0 190.0 190.0 190.0
Common Shareholder’s Equity 1,461.7 1,131.4 802.3 2,355.4 2,981.5
Total Capitalization $ 3,170.2 $3,148.1 $2,861.3 $4,755.6 $6,300.7
Financial Statistics at Year End
Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges 2.66 1.99 2.27 3.45 2.94
Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges
and Preferred and Preference
Stock Dividends 2.31 1.75 2.03 3.14 2.60

Certain prior-year amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current year’s presentation.

(A) In July 2000, BGE transferred its generation assets, net of associated liabilities, to our merchant energy business

as a result of the deregulation of electric generation.
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Item 7. Mznagement’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

introduction

Constellation Energy Group, Inc. (Constellation Energy) is 2
North American energy company that conducts its business
through various subsidiaries including a merchant energy
business and Baltimore Gas and Electric Company (BGE). We
describe our operating segments in Note 3.

This report is a combined report of Constellation Energy
and BGE. References in this report to “we” and “our” are to
Constellation Energy and its subsidiaries, collectively. References
in this report to the “utility business” are to BGE.

Our merchant energy business is a competitive provider of
energy solutions for large customers in North America, It has
electric generation assets located in various regions of the United
States and provides energy solutions to meet customers’ needs.
Our merchant energy business focuses on serving the full energy
and capacity requirements (load-serving activities) of, and
providing other risk management activities for various customers,
such as utilities, municipalities, cooperatives, retail aggregators,
and large commercial and industrial customers. These load-
serving activities typically occur in regional markets in which
end use customer electricity rates have been deregulated and
thereby separated from the cost of generation supply.

BGE is a regulared electric and gas public transmission and
distribution utility company with a service territory that covers
the City of Baltimore and all or part of ten counties in central
Maryland.

Our other nonregulated businesses:

# design, construct, and operate single-site heating,
cooling, and cogeneration facilities for commercial and
industrial customers,
provide home improvements, service heating, air
conditioning, plumbing, electrical, and indoor air
quality systems, and provide electric and natural gas
retail marketing, and
own and operate a district cooling system for
commercial customers in the City of Baltimore,
Maryland.

In addition, we own several investments that we do not
consider to be core operations. These include financial
investments, real estate projects, and interests in a Latin
American distribution project and in a fund that holds interests
in two South American energy projects. We sold certain non-
core assets in 2002 and closed our retail merchandise stores in
December 2002.

In this discussion and analysis, we explain the general
financial condition and the results of operations for
Constellation Energy and BGE including:

# factors which affect our businesses,
our earnings and costs in the periods presented,
changes in earnings and costs between periods,
sources of earnings,

L 2K 28 2N J

impact of these factors on our overall financial
condition,

expected future expenditures for capital projects, and
expected sources of cash for future capital expenditures.
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As you read this discussion and analysis, refer to our
Consolidated Statements of Income, which present the tesults of
our operations for 2002, 2001, and 2000. We analyze and
explain the differences between periods in the specific line irems
of the Consolidated Statements of Income.

Effective July 1, 2000, electric generation was deregulated
in Maryland and BGE rtransferred all of its generation assets and
related liabilities at book value to our merchant energy business.
As a result, the financial results of the electric generation portion
of our business are included in the merchant energy business
beginning July 1, 2000. Prior to July 1, 2000, the financial
results of electric generation were included in BGE’s regulated
electric business. We discuss the deregulation of electric
generation in the Electric Competition—Maryland section.

Critical Accounting Policies

Qur discussion and analysis of financial condition and resules of
operations are based on our consolidated financial starements
that were prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. Management
makes estimates and assumptions when preparing financial
statements. These estimates and assumptions affect various
marters, including:

¢ our reported amounts of assets and liabilicies in our
Consolidated Balance Sheets at the dates of the financial
statements,
our disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities ar the
dates of the financial statements, and
our reported amounts of revenues and expenses in our
Consolidated Statements of Income during the reporting
periods.

These estimates involve judgments with respect to
numerous factors that are difficult o predict and are beyond
management’s control. As a result, actual amounts could
materially differ from these estimates.

Management believes the following accounting policies
represent critical accounting policies as defined by the SEC. The
SEC defines critical accounting policies as those that are both
most important to the portrayal of a company’s financial
condition and results and require management’s most difficult,
subjective, or complex judgment, often as a result of the need to
make estimares abour the effect of matters that are inherently
uncertain and may change in subsequent periods. We discuss our
significant accounting policies, including those thar do not
require management to make difficult, subjective, or complex
judgments or estimates, in Noze 1.

Revenue Recognition/Mark-to-Market Method of
Accounting

Our merchant energy business engages in origination and risk
management activities using contracts for energy, other energy-
related commodities, and related derivative contracts. We record
merchant energy business revenues using two methods of
accounting: accrual accounting and mark-to-market accounting,
We describe our use of accrual accounting in more detail in
Note 1.




On October 25, 2002, the Emerging Issues Task Force
(EITF) reached a consensus on Issue 02-3, Recognition and
Reporting of Gains and Losses on Energy Trading Contracts Under
EITF Issues No. 98-10 and No. 00-17. EITF 02-3 affects how we
apply the mark-to-market method of accounting. We describe
our accounting for energy contracts and the impact of
EITF 02-3 below.

We use mark-to-marker accounting for energy trading
activities and for derivatives and other contracts for which we
are not permitted to use accrual accounting or hedge accounting.
These mark-to-market activities include derivative and (prior to
EITF 02-3) non-derivative contracts for energy and other
energy-related commodities. Under the mark-to-market method
of accounting, we record the fair value of energy contracts as
mark-to-market energy assets and liabilities at the time of
contract execution. We record the changes in mark-to-market
energy assets and liabilities on a net basis in “Nonregulated
revenues  in our Consolidated Statements of Income.

At December 31, 2002, mark-to-marker energy assets and
liabilities consisted of a combination of energy and energy-
related derivative and non-derivative contraces. While some of
these contracts represent commodities or inscruments for which
prices are available from external sources, other commodities and
certain contracts are not actively traded and are valued using
modeling techniques to determine expected future marker prices,
contract quantities, or both. The market prices and quantities
used to determine fair value reflect management’s best estimate
considering various factors. However, future market prices and
actual quantities will vary from those used in recording mark-to-
market energy assets and liabilities, and it is possible that such
variations could be material.

We record reserves ta reflect uncertainties associated with
certain estimates inherent in the determination of fair value that
are not incorporated in market price information or other
market-based estimates used to determine fair value of our mark-
to-market energy contracts. To the extent possible, we utilize
market-based data together with quantitative methods for both
measuring the risks for which we record reserves and
determining the level of such reserves and changes in those
levels.

We describe below the main types of reserves we record and
the process for éstablishing each. Generally, increases in reserves
reduce our earnings, and decreases in reserves increase our
earnings. However, all or a portion of the effect on earnings of
changes in reserves may be offset by changes in the value of the
underlying positions.

& Close-out reserve—this reserve represents the estimated
cost 1o close out or sell to a third-party open mark-to-
market positions. This reserve has the effect of valuing
“long” positions at the bid price and “short” positions at
the offer price. We compute this reserve based on our
estimate of the bid/offer spread for each commadity and
option price and the absolute quantity of our open
positions for each year. Effective July 1, 2002, to the
extent that we are not able to obtain markert
information for similar contracts, the close-out reserve is
equivalent to the initial contract margin, thereby

resulting in no gain or loss at inception. The level of

total close-out reserves increases as we have larger
unhedged positions, bid-ofter spreads increase, or market
information is not available, and ir decreases as we
reduce our unhedged positions, bid-offer spreads
decrease, or market information becomes available.

¢ Credit-spread adjustment—for risk management
purposes, we compute the value of our mark-to-market
assets and liabilities using a risk-free discount rate. In

order to compute fair value for financial reporting
purposes, we adjust the value of our mark-to-market
assets to reflect the credit-worthiness of each individual
counterparty based upon published credit ratings, where
available, or equivalent internal credit ratings and
associated default probability percentages. We compute
this reserve by applying the appropriate default
probability percentage to our outstanding credit
exposure, net of collateral, for each counterparty. The
level of this reserve increases as our credit exposure to
counterparties increases, the maturity terms of our
transactions increase, or the credit ratings of our
counterparties deteriorate, and it decreases when our
credit exposure to counterparties decreases, the maturity
terms of our transactions decrease, or the credit ratings
of our counterparties improve.
Market prices for energy and energy-related commodities
vary based upon a number of factors. Changes in market prices
will affect both the recorded fair value of our mark-to-market
energy contracts and the level of future revenues and costs
associated with accrual-basis activities. Changes in the value of
our mark-to-market energy contracts will affect our earnings in
the period of the change, while changes in forward market prices
related to accrual-basis revenues and costs will affect our earnings
in future periods. We cannot predict whether or to what extent
the factors affecting marker prices may change, but those
changes could be marterial and could affect us either favorably or
unfavorably. We discuss our market risk in more detail in the
Market Risk section.
On October 25, 2002, the EITF reached a consensus on
Issue 02-3 chat changed the accounting for certain energy
contracts. The main provisions of Issue 02-3 are as follows:
¢ EITF 02-3 prohibits the use of mark-to-market
accounting for any energy-related contracts that are not
derivatives. Any contracts subject to EITF 02-3 must be
accounted for on the accrual basis and recorded in the
income statement gross rather than net upon application
of EITF 02-3. This change applied immediately to new
contracts executed after October 25, 2002 and applied
to existing non-derivative energy-related contracts
beginning January 1, 2003.

¢ We are required to report the impact of initally
applying EITF 02-3 as the cumulative effect of a change
in accounting principle.

& The EITF minutes on Issue 02-3 indicate that an entity

should not record unrealized gains or losses at the

inception of derivative contracts unless the fair value of
the conrracts is evidenced by observable marker data.



Applying EITF 02-3 will not affect our cash flows or our

accounting for new load-serving contracts for which we have

been using accrual accounting since early 2002. Additionally, we
continued to mark existing non-derivative energy-refated
contracts to market for the remainder of 2002. However,
EITF 02-3 requires us to record a non-cash, cumulative effect
adjustment to convert these non-derivative mark-to-market
contracts to accrual accounting no later than January 1, 2003.

We reviewed our portfolic of mark-to-marker contracts to
identify the contracts that are subject to the requirements of
EITF 02-3. The primary contracts that are affected are our full
requirements load-serving contracts and unit-contingent power
purchase contracts, which are not derivatives. The majority of
these contracts are in Texas and New England and were entered
into prior to the shift to accrual accounting earlier in 2002.
Additionally, we reviewed derivatives we use as supply sources
and hedges of contraces that are subject to EITF 02-3. To the
extent permitied by Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (SFAS) No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities, as amended, we designated derivative
contracts used to fulfill our load-serving contracts as either
normal purchases or cash flow hedges under SFAS No. 133
effective January 1, 2003.

We summarize the impact on our Consolidated Balance

Sheets of applying EITF 02-3 on January 1, 2003 as follows:

Assets  Liabilities  Net
(In millions)

Mark-to-market energy contracts

Current $ 1440 & 94.1 $ 499

Noncurrent 1,348.2 881.5  466.7

Total 1,492.2 975.6  516.6
Other

Current 85.7 56.8 28.9

Noncurrent 24.2 2.5 21.7

Toral 109.9 59.3 50.6
Balance at December 31, 2002 1,602.1  1,034.9  567.2
Impact of EITF 02-3 Adoption
Non-derivarive net asser reversed

as cumulative effect of a change

in accounting principle

Mark-to-market energy

contracts (494.7) (119.8) (374.9)

Other (109.9) (59.3)  (50.6)
Toral non-derivative net asset

reversed as cumulartive effect of

a change in accounting

principle (604.6) (179.1) (425.5)
Derivatives designated as hedges (88.3) (94.4) 6.1
Derivatives designated as normal

purchases and sales (192.6) (128.3) (64.3)
Mark-to-market derivarives

remaining after adoption of

EITF 02-3 on January 1, 2003 § 716.6 § 633.1 § 835
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On January 1, 2003, we recorded the $425.5 million non-
derivative net asset removed from our Consolidated Balance
Sheets as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle,
which will reduce our 2003 net income by $263 million. The
$425.5 million represents $374.9 million of non-derivative
contracts recorded as “Mark-to-market energy assets and
liabilities” and $50.6 million of “Other assets and liabilities”
from the re-designarion of Texas contracts to accrual accounting
earlier in 2002. The fair value of these contracts will be
recognized in earnings as power is delivered.

Addidionally, on January 1, 2003, we reclassified the fair
value of derivartives designated as hedges as “Risk management
assets and liabilities” in the balance sheer and will account for
these hedges in accordance with the provisions of SFAS
No. 133. Ar that tme, we also reclassified the fair value of
derivatives designated as normal purchases and normal sales as
“Other assers and liabilities” in the balance sheer and will
account for these contracts on the accrual basis, with the fair
value amortized into earnings over the lives of the underlying
contracts.

We cannot predict the impact of applying the provisions of
EITF 02-3 in the future. Those provisions prohibit mark-to-
market accounting for gains at the inception of new non-
derivative energy contracts, require accrual accounting for those
contracts, and limit the ability to record gains at the inception
of new derivative contracts. We believe thar our shift to accrual
accounting for new physical delivery transactions in early 2002
is consistent with the requirement of EITF 02-3 to use accrual
accounting for non-derivative contracts.

However, the impact of applying EITF 02-3 in the future
will be affected by many factors, including:

@ our ability to designate and qualify derivative contracts
for normal purchase and sale accounting or hedge
accounting under SFAS No. 133,
potential volatility in earnings from derivative contracts
that serve as economic hedges but do not meet the
accounting requirements to qualify for normal purchase
and sale accounting or hedge accounting,
our ability to enter into new mark-to-market derivative
origination transactions, and
sufficient liquidity and transparency in the energy
markets to permit us to record gains at inception of new
derivative contracts because fair value is evidenced by
quoted market prices or current market transactions.

While we cannor predict the ongoing impact of applying
EITF 02-3, the timing of recognizing earnings on new
transactions will change. In general, earnings on new
transactions will no longer be recognized at the inception of the
transactions under mark-to-market accounting because they will
be recognized over the term of the transaction. As a result, while
total earnings over the term of a transaction will be unchanged,
we expect that our reported earnings for contracts subject to
EITF 02-3 will generally match the cash flows from those
contracts more closely and may be less volatile under accrual
accounting than under mark-to-market accounting, which
reflects changes in fair value of contracts when they occur rather
than when products are delivered and costs are incurred.




Alternatively, other comprehensive income may have greater
fluctuations after we apply EITF 02-3 because of a larger
number of derivative contracts that we designated for hedge
accounting under SFAS No. 133, but these fluctuations will not
affecr earnings or cash flows. Additionally, because we will record
revenues and costs on a gross basis under accrual accounting,
our revenues and costs could increase, but our earnings will not
be affected by gross versus net reporting.

We discuss the impact of mark-to-market accounting on
our financial results in the Results of Operations—~Merchant
Energy Business section.

Evaluation of Assets for impairment and Cther Than
Temporary Decline in Value

We are required to evaluate certain assets that have long lives
{for example, generating property and equipment and real estate)
to determine if they are impaired when certain conditions exist.
SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of

Long-Lived Assets, provides the accounting for impairments of

long-lived assets. We are required to test our long-lived assets for
recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable.
Examples of such events or changes would be as follows:

¢ a significant decrease in the market price of a long-lived
asset,

& a significant adverse change in the manner an asset is

being used or its physical condition,

an adverse action by a regulator or in the business
climate,

an accumulation of costs significantly in excess of the
amount originally expected for the construction or
acquisition of an asset,

a current-period loss combined with a history of losses
or the projection of future losses, or

a change in our intent about an asset from an intent to
hold to a greater than 50% likelihood thar an asset will
be sold or disposed of before the end of its previously
estimated useful life.

For long-lived assets that are expected to be held and used,
SFAS No. 144 requires that an impairment loss shall only be
recognized if the carrying amount of an asset is not recoverable
and exceeds its fair value. The carrying amount of an asset is
not recoverable under SFAS No. 144 if the carrying amount
exceeds the sum of the undiscounted future cash flows expected
to result from the use and eventual disposition of the asset.
Therefore, when we believe an impairment condition may have
occurred, we are required to estimate the undiscounted furure
cash flows associated with a long-lived asset or group of long-
lived assets. This necessarily involves judgement surrounding the
inherent uncertainty of future cash flows.

In order to estimate an asset’s future cash flows, we will
consider historical cash flows, as well as reflect our
understanding of the extent to which future cash flows will be
either similar to or different from past experience based on all
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available evidence. To the extent applicable, the assumptions we
use are consistent with forecasts that we are otherwise required
to make (for example, in preparing our other earnings forecasts).
If we are considering alternative courses of action to recover the
carrying amount of a long-lived asset (such as the potential sale
of an asset), we probability-weight the alternative courses of
action to establish the cash flows.

We use our best estimates in making these evaluations and
consider various factors, including forward price curves for
energy, fuel costs, legislative initiatives, and operating costs.
However, actual future market prices and project costs could
vary from the assumptions used in our estimates, and the impact
of such variations could be material.

For long-lived assets that can be classified as assets to be
disposed of by sale under SFAS No. 144, an impairment loss
shall be recognized to the extent their carrying amount exceeds
their fair value, including costs to sell.

The estimation of fair value under SFAS No. 144, whether
in conjunction with an asset to be held and used or with an
asset 1o be disposed of by sale, also involves estimation and
judgment. We consider quoted market prices in active markets
to the extent they are available. In the absence of such
information, we may look to prices of similar assets, consult
with brokers, or employ other valuation techniques. Often, we
will discount the estimated future cash flows associated with the
asset using a single interest rate that is commensurate with the
risk involved with such an investment or employ an expected
present value method that probability-weights a range of possible
outcomes. The use of these methods involves the same inherent
uncertainty of fucure cash flows as discussed above with respect
to undiscounted cash flows and accual future market prices and
project costs could vary from those used in our estimates, and
the impact of such variations could be marerial.

We also are required to evaluate our equity-method and
cost-method investments (for example, in partnerships that own
power projects) to determine whether or not they are impaired.
Accounting Principles Board Opinion (APB) No. 18, The Equity
Method of Accou;m'ng Jor Investments in Commaon Stock, provides
the accounting for these investments. The standard for
determining whether an impairment must be recorded under
APB No. 18 is whether the investment has experienced a loss in
value that is considered an “other than a temporary” decline in
value.

The evaluation and measurement of impairments under the
APB No. 18 standard involves the same uncertainties as
described above for long-lived assets that we own directly and
account for in accordance with SFAS No. 144. Similarly, the
estimates that we make with respect to our equity and cost-
method investments are subject to variation, and the impact of
such variations could be material. Additionally, if the projects in
which we hold these investments recognize an impairment under
the provisions of SFAS No. 144, we would record our
proportionate share of that impairment loss and would evaluate
our investment for an other than remporary decline in value

under APB No. 18.




Significant Events
2002

In 2002, we recorded the following special items in earnings:

Pre-Tax  After-Tax
(In millions)

Workforce reduction costs:

¢ We recorded a $1.6 million expense associated with
deferred payments to employees eligible for the VSERP.
Partially offsetting these costs, we reversed approximately
$2.6 million of previously accrued workforce reduction

@

costs primarily as a result of the reversal of education
and outplacement assistance benefits we accrued chat
employees did not utilize to the extent expected.

In 2002, we recorded $12.0 million of expenses for anticipated

Liabiliry Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits

¢ We recorded $8.5 million for workforce reduction costs
for the severance of 120 employees at Calvert Cliffs

¢ We recorded $1.6 million of workforce reduction costs
for the severance of 27 employees in our information

Costs associated with 2001 programs $(50.8) $(30.8)
Costs associated with programs initiated
in 2002 (12.0) (7.2)  Costs Associated with 2002 Programs
Total workforce reduction costs (62.8) (38.0)
Impairment losses and other costs: involuntary severance costs in accordance with EITF 94-3,
Impairments of investments in
c quahfymg faé:lllt}eﬁ anfi p?‘gfé FE’FOJCC“ (14.4) 9.9)  4nd Other Costs 10 Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs
Oﬁfz;ssossss}xa:;iscesigrgs (9.0) ©.1) Incurred in a Restructuring) associated with new workforce
Impairments of real estace and ' ’ reduction initiatives as follows:
international investments (1.8) (1.2
Total impairment losses and other costs (25.2) (17.2) :
Net gain on sales of investments and other Nuclear Power Plant (Calvert Cliffs).
assets 261.3 166.7
Tortal special items $173.3  $111.35

We also discuss these special items in Note 2.

Workforce Reduction Costs

During 2002, we incurred costs related to workforce reduction
efforts initiated in the fourth quarter of 2001 as discussed in the
2001 section and additional initiatives undertaken in 2002. We
discuss these costs in more detail below.

Costs Associated with 2001 Programs
In 2002, we recorded $63.7 million of net workforce reduction

costs associated with our 2001 workforce initiatives as discussed
below. The $63.7 million included $50.8 million recognized as
expense, of which BGE recognized $33.8 million. The
remaining $12.9 million was recognized by BGE as a regulatory
asset related to its gas business.

& We recorded $52.9 million when 308 employees elecred
the age 50 to 54 Voluntary Special Early Retirement
Program (VSERP).

We reversed $17.8 million of the $25.1 million
involuntary severance accrual that was recorded in 2001
to reflect the employees that elected the age 50 to 54
VSERP and whose costs were included in that program.
Ultimately, we involuntarily severed 129 employees that
resulted in a total cost for the involuntary severance
program of $7.3 million.

We recorded $29.6 million of settlement charges related
1o our pension plans under SFAS No. 88, Employers’
Accounting for Settlements and Curtailments of Defined
Benefit Pension Plans and for Termination Benefits. These
charges reflect the recognition of actuarial gains and
losses associated with employees who have retired and
taken their pension in the form of a lump-sum
payment. Under SFAS No. 88, the settlement charge
could not be recognized until lump-sum pension
payments exceeded annual pension plan service and
interest cost, which occurred in 2002.
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technology organization. BGE recorded $0.6 million of
this amount,

¢ We recorded $1.9 million of workforce reduction costs
for the severance of 20 employees in our legal
organization. BGE recorded $0.9 million of this
amount.

Ongoing Impacts

As a result of our workforce reduction programs and other
process improvements, we expect to realize cost savings from
productivity initiatives of approximately $65 million in 2003.

Impairment Losses and Other Costs
Investments in Qualifying Facilities and Power Projects
Our merchant energy business recorded impairment losses on
certain of the investments in qualifying facilities and power
projects totaling $14.4 million under the provisions of APB
No. 18. The provisions of APB No. 18 require that an
impairment loss be recognized when an investment experiences a
loss in value that is other than temporary as discussed in our
Critical Accounting Policies section.

During the third quarter of 2002, we performed an analysis
of whether any of the investments were impaired. As a result of

our analysis, we concluded that the declines in value of
particular investments in cerrain qualifying facilities and power
projects were other than temporary in nature under the
provisions of APB No. 18 and we recognized the following losses
in 2002:
¢ We recognized a $5.2 million other than temporary
decline in value of our investment in a partnership that
owns a geothermal project in Nevada. This project
experienced a well implosion and we believe that the
expected cash flows from the project will not be
sufficient to recover our equity interest in that
partnership.




& We recognized a $2.6 million other than temporary
decline in value of our investment in a fuel processing
site in Pennsyivania where the expected cash flows from
a sublease are no longer expected to be sufficient to
recover our lease costs associated with this site.
We recognized a $6.6 million other than temporary
decline in value of our investment in a partership that
owns a waste burning power project in Michigan.

At December 31, 2002, our investment in qualifying
facilities and domestic power projects consisted of the following:

Project Type Book Value
(In millions)
Geothermal $151.4
Coal 133.9
Hydroelectric 62.6
Biomass 52.6
Fuel Processing 23.2
Solar 10.5
Total $434.2

We believe the current market conditions for our equity-
method investments that own geothermal, coal, hydroclectric,
and fuel processing projects provide sufficient positive cash flows
to recover our investments. We continuously monitor issues that
potentially could impact future profitability of these investments,
including environmental and legislative initatives. We discuss
certain risks and uncertainties in more detai! in our Forward
Looking Statements section. However, should future events cause
these investments to become uneconomic, our investments in
these projects could become impaired under the provisions of
APB No. 18.

We have an investment in a partnership that owns a
geothermal project with a book value of $99.0 million at
December 31, 2002. Currently, the project is not generating at
its designed capacity. The project is drilling wells at this site to
restore the generation and we expect the geothermal resource to
be sufficient to enable the project to generate adequate cash
flows over the life of this project to recover our equity interest in
that investment. However, should current or future well drilling
at this site prove to be unsuccessful or become uneconomic
causing us not to make future investments in this partnership,
our investment in this partnership could become impaired under
the provisions of APB No. 18 and any losses recognized could
be material.

The ability to recover our costs in our equity-method
investments that own biomass and solar projects is partially
dependent upon subsidies from the State of California. Under
the California Public Urtility Act, subsidies currently exist in that
the California Public Utilities Commission (CPUC) requires
electric corporations to identify a separate rate component to
fund the development of renewable resources technologies,
including solar, biomass, and wind facilities. In addition, recently
enacted legislation in California requires that each electric
corporation increase its total procurement of eligible renewable
energy resources by at least one percent per year so that 20% of
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its retail sales are procured from eligible renewable energy

resources by 2017. The legislation also requires the California
Energy Commission to award supplemental energy payments to
electric corporations to cover above market costs of renewable
energy.

Given the need for electric power and the desire for
renewable resource technologies, we believe California will
continue to subsidize the use of renewable energy to make these
projects economical to operate. However, should the California
legislation fail to adequately support the renewable energy
initiatives, our equity-method investments in these types of
projects could become impaired under the provisions of APB
No. 18, and any losses recognized could be material.

If our strategy were to change from an intent to hold to an
intent to sell for any of our equity-method investments in
qualifying facilities or power projects, we would need to adjust
their book value to fair value, and that adjustment could be
material. If we were to sell chese investments in the current
market, we may have losses that could be material.

Closing of BGE Home Retail Merchandise Stores
In September 2002, we announced our decision 1o close our

BGE Home retail merchandise stores. In connection with that
decision, we recognized approximately $9.5 million in exit costs.
We recognized $2.9 million related to expected severance costs
for 93 employees and $2.9 million of costs in connection with
the termination of leases for the eight stores and other exit costs
in accordance with EITF 94-3.

We also recognized $3.2 million for the write-off of
unamortized leasehold improvements in accordance with SFAS
No. 144, and $0.5 million for the write-down of inventory to a
lower-of-cost-or-market valuation in accordance with Accounting
Research Bulletin No. 43, Restatement and Revision of Accounting
Research Bulletins. The $0.5 million is included in “Operating
expenses” in our Consolidated Statements of Income.

Real Estate and International Investments
As discussed in the 2001 section, we changed our strategy from

an intent to hold to an intent to sell for certain of our non-core
assets in 2001. During 2002, we determined that the fair value
of several real estate projects and our investment in a South
American generation project declined below their respective book
values due to deteriorating market conditions for these projects.
Accordingfy, we recorded losses that totaled $1.8 million for
these projects in accordance with SFAS No. 144 and APB

No. 18. In 2002, we sold our investment in a South American
generation project for approximately book value.

Net Gain on Sales of Investments and Other Assets

In February 2002, Reliant Resources, Inc. acquired all of the
outstanding shares of Orion Power Holdings, Inc. {Orion} for
$26.80 per share, including the shares we owned of Orion. We
received cash proceeds of $454.1 million and recognized a gain
of $255.5 million on the sale of our investment.




In the fourth quarter of 2001, we announced our decision
to focus efforts and capital on core domestic energy businesses
and undertook a plan to sell a number of non-core businesses
and investments. In 2002, we made further progress on this
initiative, and recognized approximately $5.8 million in net
gains from the sale of several non-core assets including:

¢ Our other nonregulated businesses recognized gains
totaling $6.7 million on the sale of several parcels of
real estate and financial investuments.

In October 2002, we sold all of our 18 senior-living
facilities for $77.2 million that represents a combination
of cash and the assumption by the buyer of existing
mortgages. Our other nonregulated businesses recognized
a $2.8 million gain on the sale of our entire ownership
interest in these facilities.

Our merchant energy business recognized a $2.3 million
gain on the sale of a discontinued wind-powered
development project.

In 2001, our merchant energy business recognized an
impairment loss on four turbines, associated with a
discontinued development program as discussed in the
2001 section. Since that time, many other companies
canceled development projects and the market values for
turbines have declined significantly. Orders for three of
the four turbines were canceled with termination fees
paid to the manufacturer consistent with the amount
recognized in December 2001. The fourth turbine-
generator set was sold during 2002 for $6.0 million
below its book value.

In addition, we sold all of our Corporate Office Properties
Trust (COPT) equity-method investment in 2002, approximately
8.9 million shares, as part of a public offering. We received cash
proceeds of $101.3 million on the sale, which approximated the
book value of our investment.

Acquisitions

NewEnergy

On September 9, 2002, we completed our purchase of AES
NewEnergy, Inc. from AES Corporation. Subsequent to the
acquisition, we renamed AES NewEnergy, Inc. as Constellation
NewEnergy, Inc. (NewEnergy). NewEnergy is a leading national
provider of electricity, natural gas, and energy services, serving
approximately 4,300 megawatts (MW) of load associated with
large commercial and industrial customers in competitive energy
markets including the Northeast, Mid-Atancic, Midwest, Texas
and California. We acquired. 100% ownership of NewEnergy for
cash of $250.3 million including $1.4 million of direct costs
associated with the acquisition. We acquired cash of $45.5
million as part of the purchase. We describe the net assets
acquired in Note 14. We include the results of NewEnergy in
our merchant energy business segment beginning on the date of
acquisition.
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Alliance

On December 31, 2002, we purchased Alliance Energy Services,
LLC and Fellon-McCord Associates, Inc. (collectively, Alliance)
from Allegheny Energy, Inc. These businesses provide gas supply
and transportation services and energy consulting services to
large commercial and industrial businesses primarily in the

Midwest region, but also in other competitive energy markets
including the Northeast, Mid-Atlantic, Texas and California
regions. We acquired 100% ownership of these companies for a
note payable of $21.2 million that was settled in cash on
January 2, 2003. We acquired cash of $4.6 million as part of the
purchase. We describe the net assets acquired in Noze 4. We
will include the operating results of Alliance in our merchant
energy business segment in 2003,

Renegotiations of our High Deserr Power Contract

We are currently leasing and supervising the construction of the
High Desert Power Project. The project is scheduled for
completion in mid-2003. In April 2002, we amended our High
Desert Power Project long-term power sales agreement with the
State of California to provide revised pricing and more flexibilicy
in cthe amount of electricity purchased from the plant by the
California Department of Water Resources (CDWR) and the
timing of such purchases. This amended agreement provides the
State of California with the flexibility they desired, while
preserving our overall economics and reducing our regulatory,
fuel, and legal risks.

The contract is a “tolling” structure, under which the
CDWR will pay a fixed amount of $12.1 million per month
and provides CDWR the right, but not the obligation, to
purchase power from the High Desert Power Project at a price
linked to the variable cost of production. During the term of the
contract, which runs for seven years and nine moaths from the
commercial operation date of the plant, the High Desert Power
Project will provide energy exclusively to the CDWR.

We also signed a comprehensive settlement agreement with
the CDWR, the California Energy Oversight Board (EOB), the
CPUC, the California Atrorney General, and the Governor of
California by which each of these parties agreed to release claims
against us arising out of the original and renegotiated contracts.

Under the settlement agreement, the California parties filed
with the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) to
withdraw us from the regulatory complaint filed at the FERC by
the CPUC and EOB against all holders of long-term power
contracts. We agreed to pay $1.25 million into a school and
public buildings energy retrofit fund and another $1.25 million
to the Attorney General’s office in order to conclude this overall
comprehensive settlement package.

We discuss our High Desert project in more detail in the
Capital Resources section.



Generating Facilities Commence Operations

The following generating facilities commenced operations during
the second half of 2002. Qur origination and risk management
operation manages the output of these plants.

Capacity Primary
Plant Location MW) Type Fuel

Rio Nogales Seguin, TX 800 Combined  Natural
Cycle Gas

Oleander Brevard Co., FL 680 Combustion Natural

Turbine Gas
Combined Natural
Cycle Gas

Holland Energy  Shelby Co., IL 665

Pension Plan

At December 31, 2002, we recorded an after-tax charge to
equity of $118 million as a result of increasing our additional
minimum pension liability, We discuss this in more detail in
Note 6.

As a result of declines in the financial markets, our actual
return on pension plan assets was a loss of approximarely 10%
for the year ended December 31, 2002. We assume an expected
return on pension plan assets of 9% for the purpose of
computing annual net periodic pension expense. We determined
our assumption for expected return on pension plan assets in
accordance with SFAS No. 87, Employers Accounting for Pensions.
This assumption reflects our targeted long-term investment
allocation of 65% cquities and 35% fixed income securities for
our pension plan assets. We set the level of this assumed return
based on a review of average, actual returns for these caregories
of investments over a long-term period. Some years our actual
return on pension assets will exceed the 9% expected return,
resulting in an actuarial gain; and some years our actual return
will fall short of the 9% expected return, resulting in an
actuarial loss.

These differences between actual and expected returns are
deferred along with other actuarial gains and losses and reflected
in future net periodic pension expense in accordance with SFAS
No. 87. Expected and actual rerurns on pension assets also are
affected by plan contributions. In 2002, we contributed $152
million to our pension plans, which included $80 million to the
Constellation Energy qualified pension plan and amounts
received from the sellers of Nine Mile Point to the Nine Mile
Point pension plan. As of the date of this report, we contributed
an additional $111 million to our pension plans in 2003.

Certain Relationships

Thomas F. Brady, a Senior Vice President of Constellation
Energy is a trustee of COPT. Constellation Energy sold some of
its real estate holdings to COPT in 2002 for an aggregate price
of less than $5 million. Constellation Energy sold, and
anticipates selling, additional real estate holdings to COPT in
2003 for an aggregate price of less than $35 million. The real
estate sales were made, and future sales will be made, on an
arm’s length basis,
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In 2001, we recorded the following special items in earnings:

Pre-Tax  After-Tax
(In millions)
Workforce reduction costs:

Voluntary termination benefits—VSERP $ (70.1)  $ (42.5)
Settlement and curtailment charges (16.3) 9.9)
Involuntary severance accrual (19.3) (11.7)
Total workforce reduction costs (105.7) (64.1)
Contract termination related costs (224.8) (139.6)
Impairment losses and other costs:
Cancellation of domestic power projects (46.9) (30.5)
Impairments of real estate, senjor-living, and
international investments (107.3) (69.7)
Reduction of financial investment (4.6) (2.8)
Total impairment losses and other costs (158.8) (103.0)
Net gain on the sales of investments and other
assets 6.2 1.9
Total special items $(483.1)  $(304.8)

We also discuss these special items in Note 2.

Workforce Reduction Costs

In the fourth quarter of 2001, we undertook several measures to
reduce our workforce through both voluntary and involuntary
means. The purpose of these programs was to reduce our
operating costs to become more competitive. As part of this
initiative, several companies, including our merchant energy
business and BGE, announced several workforce reduction
initiatives to provide enhanced retirement benefits to certain
cligible participants thar elected to retire in 2002 and other
involuntary severance programs.

As a result, we recorded $105.7 million of expenses related
to these programs during the fourth quarter of 2001. BGE
recorded $57.0 million of this amount as expense relating to its
electric and gas businesses. BGE also recorded $19.5 million on
its balance sheet as a regulatory asset of its gas business.

Contract Termination Related Costs

We announced the termination of our power business services
agreement with Goldman Sachs & Co. (Goldman Sachs) in
2001. We paid Goldman Sachs a total of $355 million,
representing $196 million to terminate the power business
services agreement with our origination and risk management
operation and $159 million previously recognized as a payable
for services rendered under the agreement. We issued commercial
paper and borrowed under our existing bank lines to fund chis
payment. In the fourth quarter of 2001, we recognized expenses
of approximately $224.8 million related to the termination of
the contract with Goldman Sachs.

Impairment Losses and Other Costs

In the fourth quarter of 2001, our merchant energy business
recorded impairments of $46.9 million primarily due to the
termination of all planned development projects not under
construction, including projects in Texas, California, Florida, and
Massachusetts, and due to a decline in value of an investment in




a power project in Michigan. We decided to terminate our
development projects due to the expected excess generation
capacity in most domestic markets and the significant decline in
the forward market prices of electricity. The impairments

included costs associated with four turbines no longer expected
to be placed in service.

In the fourth quarter of 2001, our other nonregulated
businesses recorded $107.3 million in impairments of certain
non-core assets as follows:

¢ We decided to sell six real estate projects without further
development and our senior-living facilities.

+ We decided 1o accelerate the exit strategies for two other
real estate projects that we will continue to hold and
own over the next several years.

We decided to accelerate the exit strategy for the
investment in a distribution company in Panama.

There was an other than temporary decline in value in
our equity-method Bolivian investment due tw a
deterioration in our investment’s position in the Bolivian
capacity market.

In addition, our financial investments business recorded a
$4.6 million reduction of its investment in an aircraft due to the
decline in value of used airplanes as a result of the

September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks and the general downturn

in the aviation industry.

Net Gain on the Sales of Investments and Other Assets
During 2001, our other nonregulated businesses recognized a
$49.5 million gain on the sale of non-core assets, including a
$14.9 million gain on the sale of one million shares of our
Orion investment and $34.6 million on the sales of other
financial investments.

In addition, on November 8, 2001, we sold our
Guatemalan power plant operations to an affiliate of Duke
Energy International, L.L.C., the international business unit of
Duke Energy. Through this sale, Duke Energy acquired Grupo
Generador de Guatemala y Cia., S.C.A., which owns two
generating plants at Esquintla and Lake Amatitlan in Guatemala.
The combined capacity of the plants is 167 megawatts.

We decided to sell our Guatemalan operations to focus our
efforts on our core North American energy businesses. As a
result of this transaction, we are no longer committed to making
significant future capital investments in this non-core operation.
We recorded a loss of $43.3 million in the fourth quarter of
2001 resulting from this sale.

Nine Mile Point

On November 7, 2001, we completed our purchase of the Nine
Mile Point Nuclear Station (Nine Mile Point) located in Scriba,
New York. Nine Mile Point Nuclear Station, LLC, a subsidiary
of Constellation Nuclear, purchased 100 percent of Nine Mile
Point Unit 1 and 82 percent of Unit 2 for cash of $382.7
million including settlement costs and a sellers’ note of $388.1
million to be repaid over five years with an interest rate of
11.0%. This note was prepaid in April 2002. The sellers also
transferred approximately $442 million in decommissioning
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funds. As a resule of this purchase, we own 1,550 megawatts of
Nine Mile Point’s 1,757 megawatts of toral generating capacity.
We sell 90% of our share of Nine Mile Point’s output, on a
unit contingent basis (if the output is not available because the
plant is not operating, there is no requirement to provide output
from other sources), back to the sellers at an average price of
nearly $35 per megawatt-hour for approximately 10 years under

‘pOWCI‘ PUI‘ChBSE agreements.

We describe the net assets acquired in Note 4.

Bethlehem Steel

On October 15, 2001, Bethlehem Steel Corporation filed for
reorganization under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptey Code.
Bethlehem Steel’s Sparrows Point plant, located in Baltimore,
Maryland is BGE’s largest customer, accounting for
approximately three percent of electric revenues and one percent
of gas revenues. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, our exposure
to Bethlehem Steel was not material. There is uncertainty
regarding the continuation of Bethlehem Steel’s operations;
however, we do not expect the impact to be material to our
financial results.

Strategy

We are pursuing an integrated energy platform that provides a
balanced mix of stable and predictable earnings from regulated
utility operations with a growth platform from merchant energy
operations. The strategy for our merchant energy business is to
be a leading competitive provider of energy solutions for large
customers in North America. Our merchant energy business has
electric generation assets located in various regions of the United
States and has an origination and risk management operation
that focuses on providing energy solutions to meet customers’
needs throughout North America.

The integration of electric generation assets with origination
and risk management of energy and energy-related commodities
allows our merchant energy business to manage energy price risk
over geographic regions and over time. Our focus is on
providing solutions to customers’ energy needs, and our
origination and risk management operation adds value to our
generation assets by providing national market access, market
infrastructure, real-time marker intelligence, risk management
and arbitrage opportunities, and transmission and transportation
expertise. Generation capacity supports our origination and risk
management operation by providing a source of reliable power
supply that provides a physical hedge for some of our load-
serving activities.

To achieve our strategic objectives, we expect to continue to
pursue opportunities that expand our access to customers and to
support our origination and risk management operation with
generation assets that have diversified geographic, fuel, and
dispatch characteristics. We also expect to use a disciplined
growth strategy through originating transactions with large
customers and by acquiring and developing additional generating
facilities when desirable to support our merchant energy
business.




Our merchant energy business will focus on long-term,
high-value sales of energy, capacity, and related products to large
customers, including distribution utilities, industrial customers,
and large commercial customers primarily in the regional
markets in which end-use customer electricity rates have been
deregulated and thereby separated from the cost of generation
supply. These markets include the New England region, the
New York region, the Mid-Adantic region, Texas, lllinois,
California, and certain areas in Canada.

The growth of BGE and our other retail energy services
businesses is expected through focused and disciplined expansion
primarily from new customers.

Customer choice, regulatory change, and energy market
conditions significantly impact our business. In response, we
regularly evaluate our strategies with these goals in mind: to
improve our competitive position, to anticipate and adapt to
business environment and regulatory changes, and to maintain a
strong balance sheet and investment-grade credit quality.

Beginning in the fourth quarter of 2001, we undertook a
number of initiatives to reduce our costs towards competitive
levels and to ensure that our resources are focused on our core
energy businesses. This included the implementation of
workforce reduction programs, termination of all planned
development projects not under construction, and the
acceleration of our exit strategy for certain non-core assets.

We also might consider one or more of the following
strategies:

¢ the complete or partial separation of BGE'’s transmission

function from its distribution function,

© mergers or acquisitions of utility or non-urility

businesses or assets, and

¢ sale of assets or one or more businesses.

usiness Environment

General industry

The utility industry and energy markets continue to experience
significant changes as a result of less liquid and more volatile
wholesale markets, deteriorating credit qualities of various
industry participants, volatile power and fuel prices, excess
generation in the domestic markets, and the slow recovery of the
U.S. economy.

Due to market conditions in 2001, we canceled our
separation plans and terminated our power business services
agreement with Goldman Sachs on October 26, 2001 and
decided to maintain our existing corporate structure. We also
terminated all planned development projects not under
construction. Separately, we initiated efforts to reduce costs in
order to become more competitive and to sell certain non-core
assets to focus attention and capital resources on our core energy
businesses.

During 2002, the energy markets were affected by
significant events, including expanded investigations by state and
federal authorities into business practices of energy companies in

the deregulated power and gas markers relating to “wash trading”

to inflate revenues and volumes, and other trading practices
allegedly designed to manipulate market prices. In addidon,

several merchant energy businesses significantly reduced their

energy trading activities due to deteriorating credit qualiry.
Beginning in the second quarter of 2002, several regional

energy markets experienced a significant decline in liquidity. As a

result of the reduced market liquidity, our origination and risk
management operation held energy positions in certain markets
longer than it otherwise would have during the first half of

2002. In response to this reduced marker liquidiry, we reduced
these positions and continue to modify our positions to reflect
the underlying liquidity of the various regional energy markets.

As discussed above, certain companies in the energy
industry have been experiencing deteriorating credit quality. We
continue to actively manage our credit portfolio to attempt to
reduce the impact of a potential counterparty default. We discuss
our counterparty credit risk in more detail in the Market Risk
section.

We also continue to examine plans to achieve our strategies
and to further strengthen our balance sheet and enhance our
liquidity. We discuss our strategies in the Strategy section. We
discuss our liquidity in the Financial Condition section.

Eleciric Competition
We are facing competition in the sale of electricity in wholesale
power markets and to retail customers.

Maryland
As a result of the deregulation of electric generation in
Maryland, the following occurred effective July 1, 2000:

¢ All customers can choose their electric energy supplier.
BGE provides fixed price standard offer service over
various time periods for different classes of customers
that do not select an alternative supplier until June 30,
20006.

¢ While BGE does not sell electric commodity to all
customers in its service territory, BGE does deliver
electricity 1o all customers and provides meter reading,
billing, emergency response, regular maintenance, and
balancing services.

@ BGE provides a market rate standard offer service for
those commercial and industrial customers who are no
longer eligible for fixed price standard offer service until
June 30, 2006.

¢ BGE reduced residential base rates by approximately
6.5% on average, or about $54 million a year, from
rates prior to July 1, 2000. These rates will not change
before July 2006. While total residential base rates
remain unchanged over this transition period (July 1,
2000 through June 30, 2006), the increase in the
standard offer service rate is offset by a corresponding
decrease in the competitive transition charge (CTC) that
BGE receives from its customers.

¢ Commercial and industrial customers have several
service options that will fix electric energy rates through
June 30, 2004 and transition charges through June 30,
20006.




¢ BGE wransferred, at book value, its nuclear generating

assets, its nuclear decommissioning trust fund, and
related assets and liabilities to Calvert Cliffs Nuclear
Power Plant, Inc. In addition, BGE transferred, at book
value, its fossil generating assets and related assets and
liabilities and its partial ownership interest in two coal
plants and a hydroelectric plant located in Pennsylvania
to Constellation Power Source Generation.

Our origination and risk management operation provides
BGE with 100% of the energy and capacity required to meer its
standard offer service obligations through June 30, 2003. Our
origination and risk management operation obtains the energy
and capacity to supply BGE’s standard offer service obligations
from affiliates that own Calvert Cliffs and BGE’s former fossil
plants, supplemented with energy and capacity purchased from
the wholesale marker, as necessary.

In August 2001, BGE entered into contracts with our
origination and risk management operation to supply 90% and
Allegheny Energy Supply Company, LLC (Allegheny) to supply
the remaining 10% of BGE’s standard offer service for the final
three years (July 1, 2003 to June 30, 2006) of the transition
period. Currently, the credit ratings of Allegheny are below
investment grade. Under the terms of the contract, in certain
circumstances, BGE has the right to request additonal credit
support from Allegheny to secure performance under the
contract. If BGE was to exercise these rights and Allegheny did
not meet such request, BGE could liquidate and terminate the
contract. As of the date of this report, Allegheny is in
compliance with the terms of the contract.

BGE’s (and other Maryland utilities’) role in providing
electricity supply to customers is currently the subject of a
proceeding at the Maryland PSC. Specifically, BGE entered into
a proposed settlement agreement with parties representing
customers, industry, utilities, suppliers, the Maryland Energy
Administration, the Maryland PSC’s Staff, and the Office of
People’s Counsel that extends BGE’s obligation to supply
standard offer service.

Under the proposed settlement agreement, BGE would be
obligated to provide market-based standard offer service to
residential customers until June 30, 2010, and for commercial
and industrial cuscomers for a one, two or four year period
beyond June 30, 2004, depending on customer size. The rates
charged during this time would be fixed during the term of the
supply contract and would include an administrative fee. The
proposed settlement agreement currently is before the Maryland
PSC for approval.
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Other States

Several states, other than Maryland, have supported deregulation
of the electric industry. The pace of deregulation in other states
varies based on historical moves to competition and responses to
recent market events. Certain states that were considering
deregulation have slowed their plans or postponed consideration.
In response to regional market differences and to promote
competitive markets, the FERC proposed initiatives promoting
the formation of Regional Transmission Organizations and a
standard market design. If approved, these marker changes could
provide additional opportunities for our rnerchant energy
business. We discuss these initiatives in the FERC Regulation—
Regional Transmission Organizations and Standard Marker Design
section.

As a result of ongoing litigation before the FERC regarding
sales into the spot markets of the California Independent System
Operator and Power Exchange, we estimate that we may be
required to pay refunds of between $3 and $4 million for
transactions that we entered into with these entities for the
period between October 2000 and June 2001. However, our
estimate is based on current information and because litigation is
ongoing, new events could occur that could cause the actual
amount, if any, to be materially different from our estimate.

Gas Competition

Currently, no regulation exists for the wholesale price of natural
gas as a commodity, and the regulation of interstate transmission
at the federal level has been reduced. All BGE gas customers
have the option to purchase gas from other suppliers.

Regulation by the Maryland PSC

In addition to electric restructuring which was discussed earlier,
regulation by the Maryland PSC influences BGE’s businesses.
The Maryland PSC determines the rates that BGE can charge
customers for the electric distributioh and gas businesses. The
Maryland PSC incorporates into BGE’s electric rates the
transmission rates determined by FERC. Prior to July 1, 2000,
BGE’s regulated electric rates consisted primarily of a “base rate”
and a “fuel rate.” BGE unbundled its electric rates to show
separate components for delivery service, competitive transition
charges, standard offer services (generation), transmission,
universal service, and taxes. The rates for BGE’s regulated gas
business continue to consist of a “base rate” and a “fuel rate.”




Base Rate

The base rate is the rate the Maryland PSC allows BGE to
charge its customers for the cost of providing them service, plus
a profit. BGE has both an electric base rate and a gas base rate.
Higher electric base rates apply during the summer when the
demand for electricity is higher. Gas base rates are not affected
by seasonal changes.

BGE may ask the Maryland PSC to increase base rates
from time to time. The Maryland PSC historically has allowed
BGE to increase base rates to recover increased utility plant asset
costs and higher operating costs, plus a profit, beginning at the
time of replacement. Generally, rate increases improve our utility
earnings because they allow us to collect more revenue. However,
rate increases are normally granted based on historical data, and
those increases may not always keep pace with increasing costs.
Other parties may petition the Maryland PSC to decrease base
rates.

On June 19, 2000, the Maryland PSC authorized a $6.4
million annual increase in our gas base rates effective June 22,
2000.

As a result of the deregulation of electric generation in
Maryland, BGE’s residential electric base rates are frozen until
2006. Electric delivery service rates are frozen until 2004 for
commercial and industrial customers. The generation and
transmission components of rates are frozen for different time
periods depending on the service options selected by those
custamers.

Fuel Rate

Through June 30, 2000, we charged our electric customers
separately for the fuel we used to generarte electricity (nuclear
fuel, coal, gas, or oil) and for the net cost of purchases and sales
of electricity. We charged the actual cost of these items to the
customer with no profir to us. If these fuel costs increased, the
Maryland PSC generally permitted us to increase the fuel rate.

Under deregulation of electric generation, BGE’s electric
fuel rate was frozen until July 1, 2000, at which time the fuel
rate clause was discontinued. We deferred the difference between
our actual costs of fuel and energy and what we collected from
customers under the fuel rate through June 30, 2000.

In September 2000, the Maryland PSC approved the
collection of the $54.6 million accumulated difference berween
our actual costs of fuel and energy and the amounts collected
from customers that were deferred under the electric fuel rate
clause through June 30, 2000. We collected this accumulated
difference frem customers over the twelve-month period ended
October 2001. Effective July 1, 2000, earnings are affected by
the changes in the cost of fuel and energy.

We charge our gas customers separately for the natural gas
they purchase from us. The price we charge for the natural gas
is based on a market-based rates incentive mechanism approved
by the Maryland PSC. We discuss market-based rates and a
current proceeding with the Maryland PSC in more detail in the
Gas Cost Adjustments section and in Note 1.
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FERC Regulation

Regional Transmission Organizations and Standard Market
Design

In December 1999, FERC issued Order 2000, amending its
regulations under the Federal Power Act to advance the

formation of Regional Transmission Organizations (RTOs) that
would allow easier access to transmission.

On July 31, 2002, the FERC issued a proposed rulemaking
regarding implementation of a standard market design (SMD)
for wholesale electric markets. The SMD rulemaking is intended
to complement the FERC’s RTO order, and will require RTOs
to substantially comply with its provisions. The SMD proposal
requires transmission providers to turn over the operation of
their facilities to an independent operartor that will operate them
consistent with a revised market structure proposed by the
FERC. According to the FERC, the revised market structure will
reduce inefficiencies caused by inconsistent marker rules and
barriers to transmission access. The FERC proposed that its rule
be implemented in stages by October 1, 2004. Comments on
the SMD proposal were submitted in February 2003. However,
in early 2003, the FERC announced that it would issue a report
on SMD and again solicit comments from interested parties.

In 1997, BGE turned over the operation of its transmission
facilities to PJM, a FERC approved RTO, which generally
conducts its operations in accordance with FERC standard
market design principles. We believe that the SMD proposal
may lead to long-term benefits for Constellation Energy and
BGE because the proposal will promote competition in regions
where it is implemented. However, until the proposal is
finalized, we cannot predict its effect on our, or BGE, financial
results.

Cash Management

In August 2002, the FERC issued proposed rules for the
regulation of cash management practices of a regulated
subsidiary of a nonregulated parent. As currently proposed, we
do not believe the proposed rule will have a material effect on
our, and BGE’s, financial results. We discuss our cash
management arrangement in Note 15.

Weather

Merchant Energy Business

Weather conditions in the different regions of North America
influence the financial results of our merchant energy business.
Weather conditions can affect the supply of and demand for
electricity and fuels, and changes in energy supply and demand
may impact the price of these energy commodities in both the
spot market and the forward market. Typically, demand for
electricity and its price are higher in the summer and the winter,
when weather is more extreme. Similarly, the demand for and
price of natural gas and oil are higher in the winter. However,
all regions of North America typically do not experience extreme
weather conditions at the same time.




BGE

Weather affects the demand for electricity and gas for our
regulated businesses. Very hot summers and very cold winters
increase demand. Mild weather reduces demand. Residential sales
for our regulated businesses are impacted more by weather than
commercial and industrial sales, which are mostly affected by
business needs for electricity and gas.

However, the Maryland PSC allows us to record 2 monthly
adjustment to our regulated gas business revenues to eliminate
the effect of abnormal weather patterns. We discuss this furcher
in the Weather Normalization section.

We measure the weather's effect using “degree-days.” The
measure of degree-days for a given day is the difference between
the average daily actual temperature and a baseline temperature
of 65 degrees. Cooling degree-days result when the average daily
actual temperature exceeds the 65 degree baseline. Heating
degree-days result when the average daily actual temperature is
less than the baseline.

During the cooling season, hotter weather is measured by
more cooling degree-days and results in greater dernand for
electricity to operate cooling systems. During the heating season,
colder weather is measured by more heating degree-days and
results in greater demand for electricity and gas to operate
heating systems.

We show the number of cooling and heating degree-days in
2002 and 2001, the percentage change in the number of degree-
days from the prior year, and the number of degree-days in a
“normal” year as represented by the 30-year average in the
following table.

30-year

2002 2001  Average

Cooling degree-days 1,006 787 836
Percentage change from prior year 27.8%  6.9%

Heating degree-days 4,542 4,514 4,736
Percentage change from prior year 6.6% (8.5)%

QOther Factors

A number of other factors significantly influence the level and
volatility of prices for energy commodities and related derivative
products for our merchant energy business. These factors
include:

4 seasonal daily and hourly changes in demand,

#® number of market participants,

@ extreme peak demands,

@ available supply resources,

& cransportation availability and reliabilicy within and
between regions,

@ procedures used to maintain the integrity of the physical
electricity system during extreme conditions, and

& changes in the nature and extent of federal and state

regulations.
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These factors can affect energy commodity and derivative
prices in different ways and to different degrees. These effects
may vary throughout the country as a result of regional
differences in:

L4

4

@

weather conditions,

market Jiquidity,

capability and reliability of the physical electricity and
gas systems, and

& the nature and extent of electricity deregulation.

Other factors, aside from weather, also impact the demand
for electricity and gas in our regulated businesses. These factors
include the “number of customers” and “usage per customer”
during a given period. We use these terms later in our
discussions of regulated electric and gas operations. In those
sections, we discuss how these and other factors affected electric
and gas sales during the periods presented.

The number of customers in a given period is affected by
new home and apartment construction and by the number of
businesses in our service territory.

Usage per customer refers to all other items impacting
customer sales that cannot be measured separately. These factors
include the strength of the economy in our service territory.
When the economy is healthy and expanding, customers tend to
consume more electricity and gas. Conversely, during an
economic downtrend, our customers tend to consume less
electricity and gas.

Eavironmental and Legal Matters

You will find details of our environmental matters in Note 11
and ftem 1. Business—Environmental Matters section. You will
find details of our legal matters in Note 7/. Some of the
information is about costs that may be material to our financial
results.

Accounting Standards Adopted and Issued

We discuss recently adopted and issued accounting standards in
Note 1.




Resulis of Operations

In this section, we discuss our earnings and the factors affecting
them. We begin with a general overview, then separately discuss
net income for our operating segments. Changes in other
income, fixed charges and income taxes are discussed in the
aggregate for all segments in the Consolidated Nonoperating
Income and Expenses section.

We benefited from the absence of Goldman Sachs fees
due to the termination of the power business services
agreement in October 2001.

We had higher mark-to-market earnings from our
origination and risk management operation.

We had higher earnings from our regulated electric
business because of warmer summer weather in the
central Maryland region.

We had higher earnings from the addition of
NewEnergy.

We had higher earnings from our other nonregulated
businesses due to the growth of our energy services
business and improved results from our international
portfolio.

Overview
Net Income
2002 2001 2000
(In millions)
Net Income Before Special Items
Included in Operations:
Merchanr energy $275.5 $291.2  $213.6
Regulated electric 119.8 84.5 106.5
Regulated gas 31.9 38.3 30.6
Other nonregulated (13.1) (26.8) (33.4)
Net Income Before Special Items o
Included in Operations 414.1 387.2 317.3
Special Irems Included in Operations:
Net gain on sales of investments and
other assets 166.7 1.9 47.2
Workforce reduction costs (38.0) (64.1) (4.2)
Impairments of investment in
qualifying facilities and domestic
power projects (9.9) (30.5) —
Costs associated with exit of BGE
Home merchandise stores (6.1) — —
Impairmencs of real estate, senior-
living, and international
investments (1.2) (69.7) —
Contract termination related costs — (139.6) —
Reduction of financial investment — (2.8) —
Deregulation transition cost — — (15.0)
Net Income Before Cumulative Effect of
Change in Accounting Principle 525.6 82.4 3453
Cumulative Effect of Change in
Accounting Principle — 8.5 —
Net Income $525.6 $ 909 83453

Net income for the periods presented reflect a significant shift from
the regulated electric business to the merchant energy business as a
result of the transfer of BGES electric generation assess to
nonregulated subsidiaries on July 1, 2000,

2002

Our toral net income for 2002 increased $434.7 million, or
$2.63 per share, compared to 2001 mostly because of the
following:

& We recognized a $163.3 million after-tax gain, or $1.00
per share, on the sale of our investment in Orion as
previously discussed in the Significanz Events section.

¢ We recorded special items in 2001 that had a negative
impact in that year.

& We had cost reductions due to productivity initiatives
associated with our corporate-wide workforce reduction
and other productivity programs.

& The addition of Nine Mile Point Nuclear Station (Nine
Mile Point) to the generation fleet increased net income.

These increases were partially offset by special items
recorded in 2002 as previously discussed in the Significant Events
section and the following:

6 We had higher fixed charges due to the issuance of $2.5
billion of long-term debt that was primarily used to
repay short-term borrowings and due to lower
capitalized interest because of the new generating
facilities that commenced operations since mid-2001.

& Our merchant energy business had higher purchased fuel
costs.

% We had lower earnings due to the extended outage at
Calvert Cliffs to replace the steam generators at Unit 1.

¢ Our merchant energy business had lower earnings due
to the impact of large commercial and industrial
customers {eaving BGE’s standard offer service and
electing other generation suppliers resulting in the sale
of excess generation at lower wholesale market prices.

¢ Our merchant energy business had lower earnings from
our investments in qualifying facilities and domestic
power projects.

In addition, our other nonregulated businesses recorded the

following in 2001 that had a positive impact in that period:

& an $8.5 million after-tax, or $.05 per share, gain for the
cumulative effect of adopting SFAS No. 133, and

& gains on the sale of securities of $30.0 million after-tax,
or $.19 per share.

Earnings per share contributions from all of our business

segments are impacted by the dilution resulting from the
issuance of 13.2 million of common shares during 2001.

2001
Our total net income for 2001 decreased $254.4 million, or
$1.73 per share, compared to 2000 mostly because the special
items included in operations as previously discussed in the
Significant Events section more than offset the $69.9 million, or
$.29 per share, increase in our net income before special items.
Net income before special items was $387.2 million, or
$2.41 per share, in 2001 compared o $317.3 million, or $2.12
per share, in 2000. Net income before special items was higher
compared to 2000 mostly because BGE recorded $75.0 million
pre-tax, or approximately $.30 per share, of amortization expense
for the reduction of our generating plants associated with the
deregulation of electric generation in 2000 that had a negative
impact in that year. In addition, we had higher earnings from
our regulated gas business in 2001 mostly because of increases in




the sharing mechanism under our gas cost adjustment clauses

and the increase in our base rates. These increases were offset by
the impact of a 6.5% annual electric residential rate reduction
that was effective July 1, 2000.

The decrease in total net income for 2001 compared to
2000 also was partially offser by the following;

¢ Qur merchant energy business recorded in 2000 an
expense of $15.0 million after-tax, or 8.10 per share, for
a deregulation transition cost to Goldman Sachs that
had a negative impact in that year.
BGE recorded an expense of $4.2 million after-tax, or
$.03 per share, for its employees that elected to
participate in a targeted VSERP in 2000 that had a
negative impact in that year.
We recorded an $8.5 million after-tax, or $.05 per
share, gain for the cumulative effect of adopting SFAS
No. 133 in the first quarter of 2001.

In the following sections, we discuss our net income by
business segment in greater detail.

Merchant Encrgy Business

Background

Our merchant energy business is a competitive provider of
energy solutions for large customers in North America. As
discussed in the Business Environment—~FElectric Competition
section, in connection with the July 1, 2000 implementation of
customer choice in Maryland, BGE’s generating assets became
part of our nonregulated merchant energy business, and our
origination and risk management operation began selling to
BGE the energy and capacity required to meert its standard offer
service obligations for the first three years (July 1, 2000 two
June 30, 2003) of the transition period.

In August 2001, BGE entered into a contract with our
originatdon and risk management operation to provide 90% of
the energy and capacity required for BGE to meet its standard
offer service requirements for the final three years (July 1, 2003
to June 30, 2006) of the transition period. Also effective July 1,
2000, merchant energy business revenues include 90% of the
competitive transition charges (CTC revenues) BGE collects
from its customers and the portion of BGE'’s revenues providing
for nuclear decommissioning costs.

We record merchant energy revenues and expenses in our
financial results in different periods depending upon which
portion of our business they affect. We discuss our revenue
recognition policies in the Critical Accounting Policies section and
in Note 1. We summarize our policies as follows:

& We record revenues as they are earned and electric fuel
and purchased energy costs as they are incurred for
contracts and activities subject to accrual accounting,
including certain load-serving activities, as discussed
below.

Prior to the settlement of the forecasted transaction being
hedged, we record changes in the fair value of contracts
designated as cash-flow hedges in other comprehensive
income to the extent that the hedges are effective. We
record the effective portion of the changes in fair value of
hedges in earnings in the period the settlement of the
hedged transaction occurs. We record the ineffective
portion of the changes in fair value of hedges, if any, in
earnings in the period in which the change occurs.
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@ We record changes in the fair value of contracts that are
subject to mark-to-market accounting in revenues on a
net basis in the period in which the change occurs.
EITF 02-3 will affect how we apply the mark-to-market
method of accounting. We discuss EITF 02-3 in the
Critical Accounting Policies section and in Noze 1.

Mark-to-market accounting requires us to make estimates
and assumptions using judgment in determining the fair value of
our contracts and in recording revenues from those contracts.
We discuss the effects of mark-to-market accounting on our
revenues in the Competitive Supply—Mark-to-Marker Revenues
section. We discuss mark-to-market accounting and the
accounting policies for the merchant energy business further in
the Critical Accounting Policies section and in Nore 1.

As a result of the changes in our organization and senior
management in late 2001, including the cancellation of our
business separation and the termination of the power business
services agreement with Goldman Sachs, we re-evaluated our
load-serving activities in Texas and New England as discussed in
more detail in the Comperitive Supply section. We determined
that since we manage these activities as a physical delivery
business rather than a trading business, it is appropriate to apply
accrual accounting for these activities. After the re-designation of
existing contracts to non-trading, we began to record revenues
and expenses on a gross basis, but this did not have a material
impact on earnings because the resulting increase in revenues
was accompanied by a similar increase in fuel and purchased
energy expenses.

As a result of applying accrual accounting to an increasing
portion of our merchant energy business, including the January
1, 2003 implementation of EITF 02-3, future mark-to-market
earnings will be lower than they otherwise would have been
because we will record the margin on new transactions as power
is delivered to customers over the contract term using accrual
accounting rather than in full at the inception of each new
contract. However, we expect accrual earnings for 2003 to be
$52 million higher than they would have been prior to applying
EITF 02-3, reflecting the 2003 portion of the fair value of
contracts converted to accrual accounting using market prices as
of December 31, 2002.

While we cannot predict the ongoing impact of applying
EITF 02-3, the timing of recognizing earnings on new
transactions will change. In general, earnings on new
transactions will no longer be recognized at the inception of the
transactions under mark-to-market accounting because they will
be recognized over the term of the transaction. However, we
cannot predict the total impact of these changes on our earnings
for the reasons discussed in the Critical Accounting Policies
section.

Additionally, we also expect lower earnings volatility for this
portion of our business because unrealized changes in the fair
value of load-serving contracts will no longer be recorded as
revenue at the time of the change under mark-to-market
accounting as is required for trading activities. Any contracts
subject to EITF 02-3 must be accounted for on the accrual basis
and recorded gross rather than net upon application of EITF
02-3, which was effective after October 25, 2002 for new non-
derivarive transactions (including spot market purchases and
sales) and January 1, 2003 for contracts existing as of
October 25, 2002.




Our merchant energy business results were as follows:

Net Income
2002 2001 2000
(In millions)
Revenues $2,765.7 $1,765.5 $1,025.7
Fuel and purchased energy
expenses 1,151.3 484.5 199.5
Operations and maintenance
expenses 787.4 597.8 387.3
Workforce reduction costs 26.5 46.0 —
Impairment losses and other
costs 14.4 46.9 —
Contract termination related
costs _ 224.8 —
Depreciation and
amortization 242.8 174.9 83.6
Taxes other than income
taxes 83.5 49.4 24.6
Net loss on sales of assets 3.7 — —
Income from Operations $ 456.1 $ 141.2 $ 3307
Net Income 2472 $ 931 § 1986
Net Income Before Special
Items Included in
Operations $ 2755 $ 2912 § 2136
Workforce reduction costs (16.0) (28.0) —
Impairment of investments
in qualifying faciiities
and domestic power
projects 9.9) (30.5) —
Ner loss on sales of assets (2.4) — —
Contract termination
related costs —_ (139.6) —
Deregulation transition
cost — — (15.0)
Net Income $ 2472 % 931 $ 1986

Revenues and Fuel and Purchased Energy Expenses

Our origination and risk management operation manages our

costs of procuring fuel and energy and revenues we realize from
the sale of energy to our customers. The difference between
revenues and fuel and purchased energy expenses is the primary
driver of the profitability of our merchant energy business.
Accordingly, we believe it is appropriate to discuss the operating
results of our merchant energy business by analyzing the changes
in the relationship between revenues and fuel and purchased
energy expenses. We discuss non-fuel direct costs, such as
ancillary services, transmission costs, financing, and legal costs in
conjunction with other operations and maintenance expenses
later in this section.

We analyze our merchant energy revenues and fuel and
purchased energy expenses in the following categories because of
differences in the revenue sources, the nature of fuel and
purchased energy expenses, and the risk profile of each category.

¢ PJM Platform—our fossil, nuclear, and hydroelectric

generating facilities and load-serving activities in the
PJM Interconnection (PJM) region for which the output
is primarily used to serve BGE.

¢ Plants with Power Purchase Agreements—our generating

facilities with long-term power purchase agreements,
including our Nine Mile Point nuclear generating
facility and our new Oleander and University Park
generating facilities.

¢ Competitive Supply—our wholesale business that

provides load-serving activities to distribution utilities
(primarily in Texas and New England), other wholesale
origination and risk management services, and electric
and gas retail energy services to large commercial and
industrial customers.

@ Other—our other gas-fired generating facilities,

investments in qualifying facilities and domestic power
projects, and our generation and consulting services.

Above amounts include intercompany transactions eliminated in our
Consolidared Financial Statements. Note 3 provides a reconciliation
of aperating results by segment to our Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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We provide a summary of our revenues and fuel and

purchased energy expenses as follows:

2002 2001 2000

(Dollar amounts in millions)

These decreases were due to approximately 1,200 megawatts
of large commercial and industrial customers leaving BGE’s
standard offer service in the second quarter of 2002 and electing
other electric generation suppliers, partially offset by higher
volumes sold to BGE due to warmer summer weather. However,

R« :
c;}:ﬁxes approximately one-third of the load for large commercial and
Placform  $1,391.4 $1,379.2 $ 7317 industrial customers left BGE’s standard offer service and elected
Plants with BGE Home, a subsidiary of Constellation Energy, as their
gi:;:ase electric generation supplier. Qur merchant energy business
Agreements  456.4 70.8 — continues to provide the energy to BGE Home to meet the
Comperitive requirements of these customers under market-based rares.
Supply 825.7 175.8 151.5 Revenues from BGE Home were $45.3 million in 2002. BGE
2 . . .
Other 922 139.7 1425 Home is included in our other nonregulated businesses.
Toal $2,765.7 $1,765.5 51,025.7 CTC revenues are impacted by the CTC rates our
Fuel and merchant energy business receives from BGE customers as well
purchased as the volumes delivered to BGE customers. The CTC rates
energy decline over the transition period as previously discussed in the
expenses: . i .
PJM Electric Competition—Maryland section.
Platform  $ 527.5 $ 4209 $ 1995 Revenues from BGE’s standard offer service requirements
Plants with increased $578.0 million, including CTC and decommissioning
gowi: revenues that increased $74.4 million, in 2001 compared to
rcnase . . 5
A;reemems 40.0 13.9 _ 2000 because our merchant energy business provided BGE’s
Competitive standard offer service requirements for a full year in 2001 as
Supply 552.9 — — compared to six months in 2000.
Other 30.9 49.7 —
Total $1,151.3 § 4845 § 1995 Other PJM Revenues
Revenue less Other merchant energy revenues in the PJM region decreased
fuel and $32.6 million in 2002 compared to 2001 mostly because of the
z::chased % of % of % of following:
expl;i};es: Total Total Total & The sales of power from our owned generation in excess
PJM of that required to serve BGE's standard offer service
Plaform  § 863.9 53%$ 9583 75%$ 5322 65% requirements decreased $17.9 million compared to
Plants with 2001. These sales decreased primarily due to lower
vt i F the extended Cal
Purchase generation because of the extended outage at Calvert
Agreements  416.4 26 56.9 4 - = Cliffs in order to replace the steam generators at Unit 1
Competitive and lower generation from our coal plants partially
Supply 2728 17 1758 14 1515 18 o
Ocher 613 4 %00 7 1425 17 offsil by higher revenues due to warmer summer
weather.
Jowd $1,614.4 100%31,2810 100%3 8262 100% ¢ Our merchant energy business recognized a $9.5 million
gain on the sale of a project under development in this
PIM Platform region in 2001 that had a positive impact in that year.
2002 2001 2000 Other mercha:nF energy revenues in the PJM region
o increased $69.5 million in 2001 compared to 2000 mostly
(In millions) b £ the followine:
Revenues $1,391.4 $1,379.2 $73ly  DScAuse of the following: _ ,
@ The sales of power from our Baltimore plants in excess
Fuel and purchased energy ) \ .
of that required to serve BGE's standard offer service
expenses 527.5 420.9 199.5 . . .
requirements increased $51.2 million.
Revenues less fuel and ¢ Our merchant energy business recognized a $9.5 million
purchased encrgy $ 8639 § 9583 §5322 gain on the sale of a project under development in the
PJM region in March 2001.
Revenues ¢ The Handsome Lake generating facility that commenced

BGE Standard Offer Service

The majority of PJM Platform revenues arise from BGE
standard offer service. Revenues from BGE’s standard offer
service requirements decreased $8.3 million, including CTC and

decommissioning revenues that decreased $4.3 million, in 2002
compared to 2001.
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operations in 2001 provided revenues of $8.8 million.

Fuel and Purchased Energy Expenses

Our merchant energy business had higher fuel and purchased
energy expenses in the PJM region in 2002 compared to 2001
primarily due to higher replacement power costs from the
extended outage at Calvert Cliffs and higher coal prices. These
were partially offset by lower generation at our coal plants.



Our merchant energy business began an extended ourtage at
Unit 1 of Calvert Cliffs during the first quarter of 2002 to
replace the unit’s steam generators, which was completed at the
end of June 2002. As a result, our merchant energy business had
lower revenues and higher operating costs, including higher
purchased energy to meet BGE’s standard offer service. Calvert
Cliffs will replace the steam generators for Unit 2 during the
2003 refueling outage. Based on our current outage schedule, we
expect the 2003 outage to be shorter than the 2002 extended
outage. However, this outage will be significantly longer than a
normal refueling outage. We expect lower annual revenues and
higher annual operating costs in 2003 from Calvert Cliffs
compared to 2001 due to the longer outage.

Our merchant energy business had higher fuel and
purchased energy expenses in the PJM region in 2001 compared
to 2000 mostly because 2001 reflects a full year’s operation of
the generation plants that were transferred from BGE effective
July 1, 2000. The fuel cost increase also reflects higher fuel
prices for generating electricity mostly because coal prices
increased during 2001 compared to 2000.

Plants with Power Purchase Agreements

2002 2001 2000
(In millions)
Revenues $456.4 $70.8 $—
Fuel and purchased energy expenses 40.0 13.9 —
Revenues less fuel and purchased
energy $4164 $569  $—

The increases in revenues and expenses primarily were due
to a full years results from Nine Mile Point, which we acquired
in November 2001, and the University Park generating facility,
which commenced operations in the second half of 2001. In
addition, the Oleander generating facility commenced operations
in the second half of 2002.

Competitive Supply

2002 2001 2000
(In millions)
Accrual revenues $5876 $ — § —
Mark-to-market revenues 238.1 175.8 151.5
Fuel and purchased energy
expenses 552.9 — —
Revenues less fuel and purchased
energy $272.8 $175.8 $151.5

We analyze our accrual and mark-to-market competitive
supply activities separately below.

40

Accrual Revenues and Fuel and Purchased Energy Fxpenses

Our accrual revenues and fuel and purchased energy expenses
increased in 2002 primarily due to the re-designation of our
Texas and New England load-serving activities to accrual and the
acquisition of NewEnergy in September 2002. Texas and New
England revenues were $310.5 million, and purchased energy
expenses were $317.1 million. NewEnergy’s revenues were
$261.3 million, and purchased energy expenses were $211.6
million. We discuss the re-designation of Texas and New
England below.

Since February 2002, we manage our Texas load-serving
activities as a physical delivery business separate from our trading
activities and re-designated these activities as non-trading. We
believe this designation more accurately reflects the substance of
our Texas load-serving physical delivery activities.

At the time of this change in designation, we reclassified
the fair value of load-serving contracts and physically delivering
power purchase agreements in Texas from “Mark-to-market
energy assets and liabilities” to “Other assets and liabilities.” The
contracts reclassified consisted of gross assets of $78 million and
gross liabilities of $15 million, or a net asset of $63 million.
EITF 02-3 required us to remove the unamortized balance of
these assets and liabilities, excluding the costs of any acquired
contracts, from our Consolidated Balance Sheets by January 1,
2003,

After the change in designation, the results of our Texas
load-serving business are included in “Nonregulated revenues” on
a gross basis as power is delivered to our customers and
“Operating expenses” as costs are incurred. Prior to the re-
designation, the results of these activities were reported on a net
basis as part of mark-to-market revenues included in
“Nonregulated revenues.” Mark-to-market revenues for the Texas
trading activities were a net loss of $1.2 million for the portion
of 2002 prior to designation as non-trading. Mark-to-market
revenues for the Texas trading activities were a net loss of $33.4
million in 2001.

Since future power sales revenues and costs from this
business will be reflected in our Consolidated Statements of
Income as part of “Nonregulated revenues” when power is
delivered and “Operating expenses” when the costs are incurred,
this re-designation generally will delay the recognition of
earnings from this business in the future compared to what we
would have recognized under mark-to-market accounting. The
change in designation of our Texas load-serving business did not
impact our cash flows.

In addition, our New England load-serving business
consists primarily of contracts to serve the full energy and
capacity requirements of retail customers and electric distribution
utilities and associated power purchase agreements to supply our
customers’ requirements. We manage this business primarily to
assure profitable delivery of customers™ energy requirements
rather than as a traditional trading activity. Therefore, we use
accrual accounting for New England load-serving transactions
and associated power purchase agreements entered into since the
second quarter of 2002.




Because applicable accounting rules significantly limited the
circumstances under which contracts previously designated as a
trading activity could be re-designated as non-trading, prior to
EITF 02-3, we were required to continue to include contracts
entered into before the second quarter of 2002 in our mark-to-
market accounting portfolio. However, under EITF 02-3, on
January 1, 2003, we removed these contracts from our “Mark-
to-market energy assets and liabilities” and began to account for
these contracts under the accrual method of accounting,

We discuss the implications of EITF 02-3 in more detail in
the Critical Accounting Policies section and in Note 1.

Mark-to-Market Revenues

Mark-to-market revenues include net gains and losses from
origination and risk management activities for which we use the
mark-to-market method of accounting. We discuss these
activities and the mark-to-market method of accounting in more
deuail in the Critical Accounting Policies section and in Nore 1.
We also discuss the implications of EITF 02-3 on the mark-to-
market method of accounting in the Critical Accounting Policies
section and in Note 1.

As a result of the nature of our operations and the use of
mark-to-market accounting for certain activities, mark-to-market
revenues and earnings will fluctuate. We cannot predict these
fluctuations, but the impact on our revenues and earnings could
be material. We discuss our market risk in more derail in the
Marker Risk section. The primary factors that cause fluctuations
in our mark-to-market revenues and earnings are:

& the number, size, and profitability of new transactions,

@ changes in the level and volatility of forward commodity
prices and interest rates,
changes in estimates of customers’ load requirements as
a result of changes in weather and customer attrition
due to the selection of other suppliers, and
& the number and size of our open derivative positions.
Mark-to-market revenues were as follows:

2002 2001 2000
(In millions)
Unrealized revenues
Origination transactions $160.4 $227.0 $158.8
Risk management
Unrealized changes in fair
value 66.9 (55.7) (4.0)
Changes in valuation
techniques 10.8 4.5 (3.3)
Reclassification of settled
contracts to realized (45.4) (19.7) 57.0
Tortal risk management 323 (70.9) 49.7
Tortal unrealized revenues 192.7 156.1 208.5
Realized revenues 45.4 19.7 (57.0)
Total mark-to-market revenues $238.1 $175.8 $151.5
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Revenues from origination transactions represent the initial
unrealized fair value of new wholesale energy transactions
(including restructurings) at the time of contract execution to
the extent permitted by applicable accounting rules. Risk
management revenues represent both realized and unrealized
gains and losses from changes in the value of our entire
portfolio. We discuss the changes in mark-to-market revenues
below. We show the relationship between our revenues and the
change in our net mark-to-market energy asset later in this
section,

Our mark-to-market revenues were and continue to be
affected by a decrease in the portion of our activities that is
subject to mark-to-market accounting. As previously discussed,
we re-designated our Texas load-serving business as accrual
during 2002, and we began to account for new non-derivative
origination transactions on the accrual basis rather than under
mark-to-market accounting. Under EITF 02-3, we no longer
record existing non-derivative contracts at fair value beginning
January 1, 2003. Further, effective July 1, 2002, to the extent
that we are not able to observe quoted market prices or other
current markert transactions for contract values determined using
models, we record a reserve to adjust such contracts to result in
zero gain or loss at inception. We remove the reserve and record
such contracts at fair value when we obrain current market
information for contracts with similar terms and counterparties.

Mark-to-market revenues increased $62.3 million during
2002 compared to 2001 mostly because of net gains from risk
management activities compared to net losses in the prior year,
partially offset by lower revenues from origination transactions.
The increase in risk management revenues is primarily due to
the absence of mark-to-market losses recorded in 2001 on Texas
trading activities designated as non-trading in 2002, favorable
changes in regional power prices, price volatility, and other
factors in 2002 compared to 2001. The decrease in origination
revenues reflects the use of accrual accounting for new load-
serving transactions originated beginning in the second quarter
of 2002, the impact of applying the EITF guidance on recording
gains at the time of contract origination as previously described,
and fewer individually significant transactions in 2002 as
compared to 2001.

Mark-to-marker revenues increased $24.3 million during
2001 compared to 2000 mostly because of higher revenues from
new origination transactions, pardally offset by net losses from
risk management acrivities. The increase in origination revenues
reflects new full-requirements load-serving transaction volumes,
primarily in New England and Texas. The increase in risk
management net losses is primarily due to decreases in both
future power prices and price volatility in 2001 and costs of
establishing hedges for new origination transactions. The
decrease in forward prices and volatility negatively affected the
mark-to-market value of our portfolio of supply arrangements.
However, these mark-to-marker losses were more than offser by
mark-to-market gains in the form of new origination
transactions that were in part enabled by these supply
arrangements.




Mark-to-Marker Energy Assets and Liabilities
Our mark-to-market energy assets and liabilities are comprised of
a combination of derivative and non-derivative (physical)
contracts. The non-derivative assets and liabilities primarily relate
to load-serving activities originated prior to the shift to accrual
accounting earlier this year. While some of these contracts
represent commodities or instruments for which prices are
available from external sources, other commodities and certain
contracts are not actively traded and are valued using other
pricing sources and modeling techniques to determine expected
future market prices, contract quantities, or both. We discuss our
modeling techniques later in this section.

Mark-to-market energy assets and liabilities consisted of the
following:

At December 31, 2002 2001
(I millions)
Current Assets $ 1440 $ 3984
Noncurrent Assets 1,348.2 1,819.8
Toral Assets 1,492.2 2,218.2
Current Liabilities 94.1 323.3
Noncurrent Liabilities 881.5 1,476.5
Total Liabilities 975.6 1,799.8
Net mark-to-market energy asset $ 5166 $ 418.4

At December 31, 2002, the primary components of our net
mark-to-market energy asset were as follows:

(In millions)
Non-derivative contracts reversed as part of
cumulative effect of a change in accounting

principle effective January 1, 2003 $374.9
Derivatives designated as hedges effective

January 1, 2003 (6.1)
Derivatives designated as normal purchases and

sales effective January 1, 2003 64.3
Other posttions 83.5
Total $516.6

The non-derivative portion of the net asset represents the
fair value of contracts that we reclassified to accrual effective
January 1, 2003 as required by EITF 02-3. Derivarives
designated as hedges effective January 1, 2003 represent
derivative contracts used to hedge our physical delivery contracts
in connection with the implementation of EITF 02-3.
Derivatives designated as normal purchases and sales effective
January 1, 2003, represent derivative contracts used to
economically hedge our physical delivery contracts in connection
with the implementation of EITF 02-3 but which receive accrual
accounting treatment. The remainder of the net asset primarily
consists of a PJM generation hedge comprised of a group of
options that serve as an economic hedge of the PJM generation
portfolio. These options give us the right to sell power at a floor
price which is valuable to our generation operation when market
prices are low and also give us the right to buy power at a
capped price, which adds value when the market prices are high,
We have not designated these oprtions as hedges under SFAS No.
133 due to the complexity of qualifying options as effective
hedges under the requirements of that standard.
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The following are the primary sources of the change in net
mark-to-market energy asset during 2002 and 2001:

2002

(In millions)
$418.4

2001

Fair value beginning of year $527.9
Changes in fair value
recorded as revenues
Origination transactions
Unrealized changes in
fair value
Changes in valuation
techniques
Reclassification of settled
contracts to realized

$160.4 £27.0

66.9 (55.7)

10.8

(45.4)

Total changes in fair value
recorded as revenues

Changes in fair value
recorded as operating
expenses

Changes in value of
exchange-listed futures
and options

Net change in premiums
on options

Texas contracts re-
designated as non-
trading

Other changes in fair value

192.7 156.1

9.0 (15.0)

(8.5) 6.9

(40.1) (242.2)

(15.3)
$418.4

63.3)
8.4

$516.6

Fair value at end of year

Changes in the net mark-to-market energy asset that
affected revenues were as follows:

¢ Origination transactions represent the initial unrealized
fair value at the time these contracts are executed.
Unrealized changes in fair value represent unrealized
changes in commodity prices, the volatility of options
on commodities, the time value of options, and other
valuation adjustments.
Changes in valuation techniques represent improvements
in estimation techniques, including modeling and other

&

statistical enhancements used to value our portfolio to
reflect more accurately the economic value of our
contracts.
Reclassification of settled contracts to realized represents
the portion of previously unrealized amounts settled
during the period and recorded as realized revenues.
The net mark-to-market energy asset also changed due to
the following items recorded in accounts other than revenue:
¢ Changes in fair value recorded as operating expenses
represent accruals for future incremental expenses in
connection with servicing origination transactions.
While these accruals are recorded as part of the fair
value of the net mark-to-market energy asset, they are
reflected in our Consolidated Statements of Income as
expenses rather than revenues.




# Changes in value of exchange-listed futures and options
are adjustments to remove unrealized revenue from

¢ Net changes in premiums on options reflects the
accounting for premiums on options purchased as an

exchange-traded contracts that are included in risk increase in the net mark-to-market energy asset and
management revenues. The fair value of these contracts premiums on options sold as a decrease in the net

is recorded in “Accounts receivable” rather than “Mark- mark-to-market energy asset.

to-market energy assets” in our Consolidated Balance We discuss our Texas contracts re-designated as non-trading
Sheets because these amounts are settled through our in more detail in the Competitive Supply section.

margin account with a third-party broker. The sectlement terms of the net mark-to-market energy

asset and sources of fair value as of December 31, 2002 are as
follows:

Settlement Term

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 Thereafter  Fair Value
(In millions)

Prices provided by external sources (1) $50.1  $(23.9) $(65.1) $(0.5) $(1.1) $(3.9 $10.5 $(33.5)
Prices based on models (0.2) 1244 113.8 83.9 72.2 77.7 78.3 550.1
Total net mark-to-market energy asset $49.9 $100.5 $ 487 $83.4 $71.1 $74.2 $88.8 $516.6

(1) Includes contracts actively quoted and contracts valued from other external sources.

The implementation of EITF 02-3 significantly impacted the amount and composition of the net mark-to-market energy asset.
The table below presents the settlement terms of cur net mark-to-market energy asset as of January 1, 2003 after reflecting the
impact of implementing EITF 02-3. We discuss EITF 02-3 and the effect of its implementation in more detail in the Critical
Accounting Policies section and in Noze 1.

Settlement Term After Reflecting Implementation of EITF 02-3

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 Thereafter  Fair Value
(In millions)

Prices provided by external sources (1) $97 $24) 3487 $(1.0) $(3.0) $ (5.2 $ 39 $(46.7)

Prices based on models 0.8 1.1 353 245 230 20.0 25.5 130.2

Total net mark-to-marker energy asset $10.5  $(1.3) $(13.4) $23.5 $200 §$ 14.8 $29.4 $ 83.5
We manage our mark-to-market risk on a portfolio basis The amounts for which fair value is determined using

based upon the delivery period of our contracts and the prices provided by external sources represent the portion of

individual components of the risks within each coneract. forward, swap, and option contracts for which price quotations

Accordingly, we record and manage the energy purchase and sale  are available through brokers or over-the-counter transactions.

obligations under our contracts in separate components based The term for which such price information is available varies by

upon the commuodity (e.g., electricity or gas), the product (e.g., commodity, region, and product. The fair values included in this

electricity for delivery during peak or off-peak hours), the category are the following portions of our contracts:

delivery location (e.g., by region), the risk profile (e.g., forward & forward purchases and sales of electricity during peak

or option), and the delivery period (e.g., by month and year). hours for delivery terms primarily through 2004, but up
Consistent with our risk management practices, we have to 2010, depending upon the region,

presented the information in the tables above based upon the @ forward purchases and sales of electricity during off-peak

ability to obuain reliable prices for components of the risks in hours for delivery terms primarily through 2004, but up

our contracts from external sources rather than on a contract-by- to 2007, depending upon the region,

contract basis. Thus, the portion of long-term contracts that is & options for the purchase and sale of electricity during

valued using external price sources is presented under the peak hours for delivery terms through 2003, depending

caption “prices provided by external sources.” This is consistent upon the region,

with how we manage our risk, and we believe it provides the @ forward purchases and sales of electric capacity for

best indication of the basis for the valuation of our portfolio. delivery terms through 2005,

Since we manage our risk on a portfolio basis rather than ¢ forward purchases and sales of natural gas, coal and oil

contract-by-contract, it is not practicable to determine separately for delivery terms through 2005, and

the portion of long-term contracts that is included in each & options for the purchase and sale of narural gas, coal

valuation category. We describe the commedities, products, and and oil for delivery terms through 2005.

delivery periods included in each valuation category in detail
below.
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The remainder of the net mark-to-market energy asset is
valued using models. The portion of contracts for which such
techniques are used includes standard products for which
external prices are not available and customized products that are
valued using modeling techniques to determine expected future
market prices, contract quantities, or both.

Modeling techniques include estimating the present value of
cash flows based upon underlying contractual terms and
incorporate, where appropriate, option pricing models and
statistical and simulation procedures. Inputs to the models
include:

©

©

observable market prices,

estimated market prices in the absence of quored market
prices,

the risk-free marker discount rate,

volatility factors,

estimated correlation of energy commodity prices,
estimated volumes for customer requirements, which are

e OO O

influenced by customer switching behavior, impact of
temperature on electric prices, and customer acquisition
and servicing costs,
©
© expected generation profiles of specific regions.
Additionally, we incorporate counterparty-specific credit
quality and factors for markert price and volatility uncertainty
and other risks in our valuation. The inputs and factors used to

estimated volumes for tolling contracts, and

determine fair value reflect management’s best estimates.

The electricity, fuel, and other energy contracts we hold
have varying terms to maturity, ranging from contracts for
delivery the next hour to contracts with terms of ten years or
more. Because an active, liquid electricity futures market
comparable to that for other commodities has not developed, the
majority of contracts used in the origination and risk
management operation are direct contracts between market
participants and are not exchange-traded or financially settling
contracts that can be readily liquidated in their entirety through
an exchange or other market mechanism. Consequently, we and
other market participants generally realize the value of these
contracts as cash flows become due or payable under the terms
of the contracts rather than through selling or liquidating the
contracts themselves.

Consistent with our risk management practices, the
amounts shown in the tables on the previous page as being
valued using prices from external sources include the portion of
long-term contracts for which we can obrain reliable prices from
external sources. The remaining portions of these long-term
contracts are shown in the tables as being valued using models.
In order to realize the entire value of a long-term contract in a
single transaction, we would need to sell or assign the entire
contract. If we were to sell or assign any of our long-term
contracts in their entirety, we may not realize the entire value
reflected in the tables. However, based upon the nature of the
origination and risk management operation, we expect to realize
the value of these contracts, as well as any contracts we may
enter into in the future to manage our risk, over time as the
contracts and related hedges settle in accordance with their
terms. We do not expect to realize the value of these contracts
and related hedges by selling or assigning the contracts
themselves in total.
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The fair values in the tables represent expected future cash
flows based on the level of forward prices and volatility factors
as of December 31, 2002 and could change significantly as a
result of future changes in these factors. Additionally, because
the depth and liquidity of the power markets varies substantially
between regions and time periods, the prices used to determine
fair value could be affected significantly by the volume of
transactions executed.

Management uses its best estimates to determine the fair
value of commodity and derivative contracts it holds and sells.
These estimates consider various factors including closing
exchange and over-the-counter price quotations, time value,
volatility factors, and credit exposure. However, future market
prices and actual quantities will vary from those used in
recording mark-to-market energy assets and liabilicies, and it is
possible chat such variations could be material.

2002 2001 2000
(In millions)
Revenues $92.2 $139.7 $1425
Fuel and purchased energy expenses 30.9 49.7 —
Revenues less fuel and purchased
energy $61.3 $ 90.0 $142.5

We analyze the revenues and fuel and purchased energy
expenses of the final category of our merchant energy business
below.

Revenues

Our other merchant energy business revenues decreased in 2002
compared to 2001 mostly because we had lower revenues of
$23.4 million from our mid-continent region facilities that
commenced operations in mid-summer of 2001 primarily due to
lower output from these facilities because of a less favorable
relationship between energy prices and gas costs. In addition, we
had lower revenues of $14.0 million from our investments in
qualifying facilities and domestic power projects. We discuss our
investments in qualifying facilities and domestic power projects
in more detail on the next page.

Our other merchant energy business revenues decreased in
2001 compared to 2000 mostly because of the following:

@ Our merchant energy business had lower revenues of
$27.1 million from our investments in qualifying
facilities and domestic power projects.

Our merchant energy business terminated an operating
arrangement and sold certain subsidiaries of
Constellation Operating Services Inc. (COSI) to Orion
in 2000. COSI ended its exclusive arrangement with
Orion to operate Orion’s facilities, and Orion purchased
from COSI the four subsidiary companies formed to
operate power plants owned by Orion. Our merchant
energy business recognized a $13.3 million gain on this
sale in 2000 which had a positive impact on that year,
and the absence of $25.6 million of revenues during
2001 compared to 2000 due to the sale of these
subsidiaries.




These lower revenues were partially offset by higher

revenues of $59.2 million from our mid-continent region gas-
fired peaking facilities that commenced operations in mid-
summer of 2001.

Investments in Qualifying Facilities and Domestic Power Projects
Our merchant energy business holds up to a 50% ownership

interest in 28 operating domestic energy projects that consist of
electric generation, fuel processing, or fuel handling facilities. Of
these 28 projects, 20 are “qualifying facilities” that receive certain
exemptions and pricing under the Public Utility Regulatory
Policy Act of 1978 based on the facilities’ energy source or the
use of a cogeneration process. Earnings from our investments
were $9.1 million in 2002, $23.1 million in 2001, and $50.2
millien in 2000.

The decrease in revenues in 2002 compared to 2001 was
due to a geothermal project generating at a lower capacity and
fower revenues from our California projects as discussed below.
The decrease in revenues in 2001 compared to 2000 was
primarily due to lower revenues from our California projects.

California Power Purchase Agreements

Our merchant energy business has $260.6 million invested in
partnerships that own 13 operating power projects of which our
ownership percentage represents 137 megawatts of electricity that
are sold to Pacific Gas & Electric {PGE) and to Southern
California Edison (SCE) in California under power purchase
agreements. Our merchant energy business was not paid in full
for its sales from these plants to the two utilities from November
2000 through early April 2001. At December 31, 2001, our
portion of the amount due for unpaid power sales from these
utilities was approximately $45 million. We recorded reserves of
approximately 20% of this amount in 2001.

Through the date of this report, we received the $45
million for unpaid power sales plus interest. We reversed all of
our credit reserves that totaled $9.1 million during the first
quarter of 2002 as payments ensued following court-approved
restructuring agreements.

Revenues from these projects, net of credit reserves, were
$20.0 million in 2002, $22.1 million in 2001, and $44.1
million in 2000. While California power prices were significantly
lower during 2002 compared to 2001, 2001 results were reduced
by credit reserves established for our exposure in California.
These reserves were subsequently reversed in 2002 as discussed
above, which had a positive impact in 2002.

Revenues decreased in 2001 compared to 2000 because of
lower power prices in California during the second half of 2001.
While energy rates were higher during the first half of 2001, the
higher rates were offset by reserves established for our exposure
in California during that year.

The projects entered into agreements with PGE through
July 2006 and SCE through April 2007 that provide for fixed-
price payments averaging $53.70 per megawatt-hour plus the
stated capacity payments in the original agreements.

Fuel and Purchased Energy Expenses

Our other merchant energy business fuel and purchased energy
expenses decreased in 2002 compared to 2001 mostly because
we had lower fuel and purchased energy for our mid-continent
region facilities primarily due to lower demand for the output of
these facilities.
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Operations and Maintenance Expenses

Our merchant energy business operations and maintenance
expenses increased $189.6 million in 2002 compared to 2001
mostly due to the following:

¢ Higher operations and maintenance expenses of $224.0
million associated with the acquisitions of Nine Mile
Point in November 2001 and NewEnergy in September
2002.

Higher operations and maintenance expenses of $11.6
million associated with new generating facilities that
commenced operations beginning in mid-2001 and
mid-2002.

These increases were parrially offset by the following:

¢ Lower costs of approximately $31 million due to
productivity initiatives associated with our corporate-
wide workforce reduction and other productivity
programs.

Lower origination and risk management operating
expenses of $10.2 million as a result of the absence of
Goldman Sachs fees due to the termination of the
power business services agreement in October 2001. The
Goldman Sachs fees were $28.9 million in 2001. This
decrease was partially offset by an increase in expenses
associated with the growth of the operation.

Our merchant energy business operations and maintenance
expenses increased $210.5 million in 2001 compared to 2000
mostly due to the following:

¢ Higher operations and maintenance expenses of $203.0
million mostly because 2001 reflects a full year’s
operation of the generation plants that were transferred
from BGE effective July 1, 2000.

Higher operations and maintenance expenses of $29.5
million associated with the acquisitions of Nine Mile
Point in November 2001.

Higher operations and maintenance expenses of $4.3
million associated with new generating facilities that
commenced operations beginning in mid-2001.
Higher origination and risk management operating
expenses of $41.2 million as a result of the growth of
the operation and higher direct expenses primarily due
to higher transaction volumes.

These increases were partially offset by the following:

¢ The decrease in the Goldman Sachs fees of $52.4
million due to the termination of the power business
services agreement in October 2001. The Goldman
Sachs fee was $81.3 million in 2000, which included
the $24.0 million, or $.10 per share, deregulation
transition cost.

Lower operations and maintenance expenses at COSI of
$20.9 million due to the sale of certain subsidiaries as
previously discussed.

Workforce Reduction Costs, Impairment Losses and Other Costs,
Contract Termination Related Costs, and Net Loss on Sales of
Assets
Our merchant energy business recognized the following in 2002:
¢ $26.5 million of expenses associated with our workforce
reduction efforts,
¢ $14.4 million of impairment losses for the decline in
value of certain jnvestments in partnerships that have
investments in qualifying facilities and domestic power
projects,




¢ $6.0 million loss on the sale of a steam turbine

generator set, and

@ $2.3 million gain on the sale of Cabazon, a

wind-powered independent power project located
in California.

Our merchant energy business recognized the
following in 2001:

& $224.8 million of expenses related to the
termination of the power business services
agreement with Goldman Sachs,
$46.0 million of expenses associated with our
workforce reduction efforts,
$40.8 million of impairment losses of certain
planned development projects thar were
terminated, and
¢ $6.1 million loss on the impairment of a power
project.

We discuss these special items in more dertail in the
Significant Events section and in Note 2.

As a result of our workforce reduction programs and
other process ‘impl;ovement initiatives, our merchant
energy business expects to realize cost savings of
approximately $44 million partially offset by other
increases in operating costs in 2003.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense

Merchant energy depreciation and amortization expense
increased $67.9 million in 2002 compared to 2001
mostly because of the depreciation and amortization
associated with Nine Mile Point and the new generating
facilities.

Merchant energy depreciation and amortization
expense increased $91.3 million in 2001 compared to
2000 mostly because 2001 includes a full year of
expenses associated with the generation plants that were
transferred from BGE effective July 1, 2000. Additionally,
2001 expenses include depreciation and amortization
associated with the new generating facilities and Nine
Mile Point.

Taxes Other Than Income Taxes

Merchant energy taxes other than income taxes increased
$34.1 million in 2002 compared to 2001 mostly because
of taxes other than income taxes associated with Nine
Mile Point and the new generating facilities.

Merchant energy taxes other than income taxes
increased $24.8 million in 2001 compared to 2000
mostly because of taxes other than income taxes
associated with the generation plants that were transferred
from BGE effective July 1, 2000. Additionally, 2001
expenses include taxes other than income taxes associated
with Nine Mile Point and the new generating facilities.
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Reguiated Electric Business

As previously discussed, our regulated electric business
was significantly impacted by the July 1, 2000
implementation of customer choice. These changes
include BGE'’s generating assets and related liabilities
becoming part of our nonregulated merchant energy

business on that date.

Effective July 1, 2000, BGE unbundled its rates to
show separate components for delivery service, transition
charges, standard offer services (generation), transmission,
universal service, and taxes. BGE’s rates also were frozen
in total except for the implementation of a residential
base rate reduction totaling approximately $54 million
annually. In addition, 90% of the CTC revenues BGE
collects and the portion of its revenues providing for
decommissioning costs, are included in revenues of the
merchant energy business.

As part of the deregulation of electric generation,
while toral rates were frozen over the transition period,
the increasing rates received from customers under the
standard offer service are offset by declining CTC rates.

Net Income
2002 2001 2000
(In millions)

Revenues $ 1,966.0 $2,040.0 $2,135.2
Fuel and purchased

energy expenses 1,080.7 1,192.8 870.7
Operations and

maintenance

expenses 252.4 258.7 4472
Workforce

reduction costs 34.0 55.7 7.0
Depreciation and

amortization 174.2 173.3 319.9
Taxes other than

income taxes 137.0 139.5 157.8
Income from

Operations 2877 $ 2200 $ 3326
Net Income 993 § 509 § 1023
Net Income Before

Special Items

Included in

Operations $ 1198 $ 845 § 1065
Workforce

reduction costs (20.5) (33.6) (4.2)
Net Income $ 993 §$§ 509 $ 1023

Above amounts include intercompany transactions eliminated
in our Consolidated Financial Statements, Note 3 provides a
reconciliation of operating results by segment ro our
Consolidated Financial Statements.




Net income from the regulated electric business
increased in 2002 compared to 2001 mostly because of
the following:

¢ increased distribution sales volumes due to
warmer summer weather, increased usage per
customet, and an increased number of customers,

# cost reductions resulting from our corporate-wide

workforce reduction programs and other
productivity initiatives, and

¢ lower interest expense.

Net income from the regulated electric business
decreased in 2001 compared to 2000 mostly because of
the July 1, 2000 deregulation of electric generation as
discussed later in this section.

Electric Revenues
The changes in electric revenues in 2002 and 2001
compared to the respective prior year were caused by:

2002 2001
(fn millions)
Distribution sales volumes $ 327 $ 28
Standard offer service (70.2) (79.3)
Fuel rate surcharge (43.2) 30.5
Total change in electric revenues
from electric system sales (80.7) (46.0)
Interchange and other sales — (53.8)
Other 6.7 4.6

$(74.0) $(95.2)

Total change in electric revenues

Distribution Sales Volumes

“Distribution sales volumes” are sales to customers in

BGE’s service territory at rates set by the Maryland PSC.
The percentage changes in our electric system sales

volumes, by type of customer, in 2002 and 2001

compared to the respective prior year were:

2002 2001
Residential 8.0% 0.3%
Commercial 3.2 0.7
Industrial 0.7 (0.7)

In 2002, we distributed more elecrricity to
residential and commercial customers compared to 2001
due to warmer summer weather, increased usage per
customer, and an increased number of customers. We
distributed about the same amount of electricity to
industrial customers in 2002 compared ro 2001.

In 2001, we distributed abourt the same amount of
elecericity to all customer classes compared to 2000 due
primarily to milder winter weather offset by an increased
number of customers.
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Standard Offer Service

BGE provides standard offer service for customers that
do not select an alternative generation supplier as
previously discussed. Standard offer service revenues
decreased in 2002 compared to 2001 primarily as a result
of large commercial and industrial customers leaving
BGE’s standard offer service and electing other electric

generation suppliers. These decreased revenues were
partially offset by increased sales to residential customers
due to warmer summer weather and an increase in the
standard offer service rate that BGE charges its
customers,

As a result of large commercial and industrial
customers leaving BGE’s service, BGE also had lower
purchased energy expense as discussed in the Electric Fuel
and Purchased Fnergy Expenses section.

Standard offer service revenues decreased in 2001
compared to 2000 mostly due to:

¢ the 6.5% annual residential rate reduction of

$17.6 million recorded through June 30, 2001,
and

¢ $74.4 million of higher CTC and

decommissioning revenues that were transferred
to the merchant energy business effective July 1,
2000.

These decreases were partially offset by the increase
in the standard offer service rate that BGE charges its
customers and other net impacts of the rate restructuring
previously discussed.

Fuel Rate Surc/)azrge
Prior to July 1, 2000, we deferred (included as an asset

or liability in our Consolidated Balance Sheets and
excluded from our Consolidated Statements of Income)
the difference between our actual costs of fuel and energy
and what we collected from customers under the fuel rate
in a given period. Effective July 1, 2000, the fuel rate
clause was discontinued as a result of the deregulation of
electric generation. In September 2000, the Maryland
PSC approved the collection of the $54.6 million
accumulated difference between our actual costs of fuel
and energy and the amounts collected from customers
that were deferred under the electric fuel rate clause
through June 30, 2000. We collected this accumulated
difference from customers over the twelve-month period
ended October 2001.

Interchange and Other Sales

“Interchange and other sales” are sales in the PJM energy
market and to others. PJM is a FERC approved RTO
that also operates a regional power pool with members
that include many wholesale market participants, as well
as BGE and other udility companies. Prior to the

implementation of customer choice, BGE sold energy to




PJM members and to others after it had satisfied the
demand for electricity in its own system.

Effective July 1, 2000, BGE no longer engages in
incerchange sales, as these activities are included in our
merchant energy business, which resulted in a decrease in
interchange and other sales for 2001 compared to 2000.

Electric Fuel and Purchased Energy Expenses

2002 2001 2000
(Tn millions)

Actual costs $ 1,080.7 $1,150.5 $868.0
Recovery of costs

deferred under

electric fuel rate

clause — 42.3 2.7
Total electric fuel and

purchased energy

expenses $ 1,080.7 $1,192.8 $870.7

Actual Costs

As discussed in the Business Environment—Electric
Competition section, effective July 1, 2000, BGE
transferred its generating assets to, and began purchasing
substantially all of the energy and capacity required to
provide electricity to standard offer service customers
from, the merchant energy business.

Our actual cests of fuel and purchased energy
decreased in 2002 compared to 2001 mostly because
BGE purchased less energy due to farge commercial and
industrial customers leaving BGE’s fixed price standard
offer service and electing other electric generation
suppliers.

Our actual costs of fuel and purchased energy
increased in 2001 compared to 2000 mostly because of
the deregulation of electric generation. The higher
amount BGE paid for purchased energy from our
merchant energy business is offset by the absence of
$206.4 million in 2001 in fuel costs, and lower
operations and maintenance, depreciation, taxes, and
other costs at BGE as a result of no longer owning and
operating the transferred electric generation plants.

Prior to July 1, 2000, BGE's purchased fuel and
energy costs only included actual costs of fuel to generate
electricity (nuclear fuel, coal, gas, or oil) and electricity
we bought from others.

Llectric Operations and Maintenance Expenses

Regulated electric operations and maintenance expenses
decreased $6.3 million in 2002 compared to 2001 mostly
due to cost reductions resulting from our corporate-wide
workforce reduction programs and other productivity
iniciatives,

Regulated electric operations and maintenance
expenses decreased $188.5 million during 2001 compared
to 2000 mostly because effective July 1, 2000, costs of
$194.7 million were no longer incurred by this business
segment. These costs were associated with the electric
generation assets that were transferred to the merchant
energy business.

Warkforce Reduction Costs
BGE’s electric business recognized expenses associated
with our workforce reduction efforts as previously
discussed in the Significant Evenss section and in Noze 2.
As a result of our workforce reduction programs and
other process improvement initiatives, our electric
business expects to realize cost savings of approximately
$17 million pardially offset by other increases in
operating costs in 2003.

Electric Depreciation and Amortization Expense
Regulated electric depreciation and amortization expense
was about the same during 2002 compared to 2001.
Regulated electric depreciation and amortization expense
decreased $146.6 million during 2001 compared to 2000
mostly due to:
¢ the absence of $75.0 million of amortizacion
expense recorded in 2000 associated with the
$150 million reduction of our generating plants
as a result of the deregulation of electric
generation, and
4 $75.1 million of expenses associated with the
transfer of the generation assets to the merchant
energy business effective July 1, 2000.

Electric Taxes Other Than Income Taxes

Regulated electric taxes other than income taxes were
about the same during 2002 compared to 2001.
Regulated electric taxes other than income taxes decreased
$18.3 million during 2001 compared to 2000 mostly
due to the absence of taxes other than income taxes
associated with the generation assets that were transferred
to the merchant energy business effective July 1, 2000
partially offset by fewer tax credits.




Regulated Gas Business

All BGE customers have the option to purchase gas from
other suppliers. To date, customer choice has not had a
material effect on our, or BGE’s, financial results.

Net Income
2002 2001 2000
(In millions)
Revenues $581.3 $680.7 $611.6
Gas purchased for resale
expenses 3167  401.3 3506
Operations and
maintenance expenses 102.9 104.3 100.6
Workforce reduction costs 1.3 1.3 —
Depreciation and
amortization 47 .4 47.7 46.2
Taxes other than income
taxes 34.4 34.3 34.8
Income from Operartions 786 $ 918 $ 794
Net Income 31.1 %375 § 306
Net Income Before
Special Items Included
in Operations $ 319 §$ 383 $ 306
Workforce reduction
COSts (0.8) (0.8) —
Net Income $ 31.1 $375 $ 306

Above amounts include intercompany transactions eliminated
in our Consolidated Financial Statements. Note 3 provides a
reconciliation of operating results by segment to our
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Net income from our regulated gas business
decreased during 2002 compared to 2001 mostly due to
a $7.7 million pre-tax disallowed portion of a previously
established regulatory asset as discussed in the Gas Cost
Adjustments section and a $3.7 million pre-tax decrease in
the shareholders’ portion of the sharing mechanism under
our gas cost adjustment clauses.

Net income from our regulated gas business
increased during 2001 compared to 2000 mostly due to
a $3.6 million pre-tax increase in the shareholders’
portion of the sharing mechanism under our gas cost
adjustment clauses and an increase in our base rates.
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Gas Revenues
The changes in gas revenues in 2002 and 2001 compared
to the respective prior year were caused by:

2002 2001
(In millions)

Distribution sales volumes $ 14 $(3.4)

Base rates 2.9) 33

Weather normalization (0.5) 11.9

Gas cost adjustments (55.8) 43.6
Total change in gas revenues

from gas system sales (57.8) 55.4

Off-system sales (38.8) 12.6

Other (2.8) 1.1

Total change in gas revenues $(99.4) $69.1

Distribution Sales Volumes
The percentage changes in our distribution sales volumes,
by type of customer, in 2002 and 2001 compared to the

respective prior year were:

2002 2001
Residential 3.5% (7.8)%
Commercial 7.1 3.5
Industrial (1.4) (25.2)

We distributed more gas to residential and
commercial customers during 2002 compared to 2001
mostly due to increased usage per customer, slighdy
colder weather, and an increased number of customers.
We distributed less gas to industrial customers mostly
because of a decreased number of customers.

We distributed less gas to residential customers
during 2001 compared to 2000 mostly due to milder
winter weather and lower usage per customer partially
offset by an increased number of customers. We
distributed more gas to commercial customers mostly due
to higher usage per customer. We distributed less gas to
industrial customers mostly because of lower usage due to
customers switching to lower cost alternative fuel sources
and lower business needs related to the general downturn
in the economy, partially offset by an increased number
of customers.

Base Rates
Base rate revenues decreased during 2002 compared to
2001 mostly because of a decrease in the rate approved
by the Maryland PSC associated with the energy
conservation surcharge program.

Base rate revenues increased during 2001 compared
to 2000 mostly because the Maryland PSC authorized a
$6.4 million annual increase in our base rates effective
June 22, 2000.



Weather Normalization

The Maryland PSC allows us to record a monthly
adjustment to our gas revenues to eliminate the effect of
abnormal weather patterns on our gas system sales
volumes. This means our monthly gas revenues are based
on weather that is considered “normal” for the month
and, therefore, are not affected by actual weather
conditions.

Gas Cost Adjustments
We charge our gas customers for the natural gas they

purchase from wus using gas cost adjustment clauses set by
the Maryland PSC as described in Noze 1. However,
under market-based rates, our actual cost of gas is
compared to a market index (a measure of the market
price of gas in a given period). The difference between
our actual cost and the market index is shared equally
between shareholders and customers. The shareholders
portion decreased $3.7 million during 2002 compared to
2001. The shareholders” portion increased $3.6 million
during 2001 compared to 2000.

Effective November 2001, the Maryland PSC
appraved an order that modifies certain provisions of the
market-based rates incentive mechanism. These provisions
require that BGE secure fixed-price contracts for at least
10%, but not more than 20%, of forecasted system
supply requirements for the November through March
period. These fixed price contracts are not subject to
sharing under the market-based rates incentive
mechanism. We do not expect these changes to have a
material impact on our financial resuls.

Delivery service customers are not subject to the gas
cost adjustment clauses because we are nor selling gas to
them. We charge these customers fees to recover the fixed
costs for the transportation service we provide. These fees
are the same as the base rate charged for gas discributed
and are included in gas distribution volumes.

Gas cost adjustment revenues decreased during 2002
compared to 2001 mostly because the gas we sold to
non-delivery service customers was at a lower price,
partially offset by more gas sold. Gas cost adjustment
revenues increased during 2001 compared to 2000
mostly because the gas we sold to non-delivery service
customers was at a higher price, partially offset by less
gas sold. In the first half of 2001, the revenue increase
reflects the significant increase in natural gas prices.

In December 2002, a Hearing Examiner from the
Maryland PSC issued a proposed order related to our
annual gas adjustment clause review proceeding that will
allow us to recover $1.7 million of a previously
established regulatory asset of $9.4 million for certain
credits that were over-refunded to customers through our
market-based rates. BGE reserved the remaining
difference of $7.7 million as disallowed fuel costs.

However, we appealed the proposed order. As of the date
of this report, the Maryland PSC has not acted on BGE’s

appeal.

Off-System Sales

Off-system gas sales are low-margin direct sales of gas to
wholesale suppliers of natural gas outside our service
territory. Off-system gas sales, which occur after we have
satisfied our customers’ demand, are not subject to gas
cost adjustments. The Maryland PSC approved an
arrangement for part of the margin from off-system sales
to benefit customers (through reduced costs) and the
remainder to be retained by BGE (which benefits
shareholders).

Revenues from off-system gas sales decreased during
2002 compared ro 2001 mostly because we sold less gas
at a lower price.

Revenues from off-system gas sales increased during
2001 compared to 2000 mostly because the gas we sold
off-system was at a higher price partially offser by less gas
sold. In the first half of 2001, the revenue increase
reflects the significant increase in natural gas prices.

Gas Purchased For Resale Expenses

Gas purchased for resale expenses include the cost of gas
purchased for resale to our customers and for off-system
sales. These costs do not include the cost of gas
purchased by delivery service customers.

Gas costs decreased during 2002 as compared to
2001 because we purchased gas at a lower price partially
offset by the $7.7 million of disallowed fuel costs as
previously discussed in the Gas Cost Adjustments section.

Gas costs increased during 2001 compared to 2000
mostly because gas we purchased was at a higher price
partially offset by less gas purchased for both system and
off-system sales.

Gas Operations and Maintenance Expenses

Regulated gas operations and maintenance expenses were
about the same during 2002 and 2001 compared to the
respective prior year. In 2002, cost reductions resulting
from our corporate-wide workforce reduction programs
and other productivity initiatives were offset by the
amortization of gas regulatory assets established in 2001
related to these initiatives.

Workforce Reduction Costs

BGE’s gas business recognized expenses associated with
our workforce reduction efforts as previously discussed in
the Significant Events section and in Noze 2.

As a result of our workforce reduction programs and
other process improvement initiatives, our gas business
expects to realize cost savings of approximately $4 million
partially offset by other increases in operating costs in

2003.




Other Nonreguiated Businesses
Net Income

2002

2001

2000

Revenues

Operating expenses

Workforce reduction costs

Impairment losses and
other costs

Depreciation and
amortization

Taxes other than income
taxes

Net gain on sales of
investments and other
assets

(In millions)

$ 537.4
505.9
1.0

10.8
16.6
4.3

265.0

$552.6
510.7
2.7

111.9
23.2
3.4

6.2

$635.2
588.8

20.3
4.3

78.1

Income (Loss) from
Operations

$ 263.8

$(93.1)

$ 99.9

Net Income (Loss) Before
Cumulative Effect of
Change in Accounting
Principle

Cumulative Effect of
Change in Accounting
Principle

$ 148.0

$99.1)

8.5

$ 13.8

Net Income (Loss)

$ 148.0

$(90.6)

$ 13.8

Net Loss Before Special
Items Included in
Operations
Net gain on sales of
investments and other
assets

Workforce reduction
costs

Costs associated with
exit of BGE Home
merchandise stores

Impairment of real
estate, senior-living,
and international
investments

Reduction of financial
investment

$ (13.1)

169.1
0.7)

(6.1)

(1.2)

$(26.8)

1.9
(1.7)

(69.7)
2.8)

$(33.4)

47.2

Net Income (Loss) Before
Cumulative Effect of
Change in Accounting
Principle

Cumulative Effect of
Change in Accounting
Principle

148.8

(99.1)

8.5

13.8

Net Income (Loss)

$ 148.0

$(90.6)

$ 13.8

Above amounts include intercompany transactions eliminated
in our Consolidated Financial Statements. Note 3 provides a
reconciliation of operating results by segment to our
Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Net income from our other nonregulated businesses
increased during 2002 compared to 2001 mostly because
of the following;

© We recognized a $255.5 million pre-tax gain on
the sale of our investment in Orion in 2002.

@ We recorded impairment losses and other costs
in 2001 that had a negative impact in that year.

& We recognized a loss on the sale of our
Guatemalan operations in 2001 that had a
negative impact in that year.

¢ We had higher earnings due to the growth of
our energy services business and improved results
from our international portfolio.

These increases were partially offset by the

following:

@ We recognized gains on the sale of securities in
2001 that had a positive impact in that year,
including the $14.9 million pre-tax gain on the
sale of one million shares of our Orion
investment and $34.6 million pre-tax gains on
the sale of securities by our financial investments
operation.

& We recorded $9.5 million of pre-tax costs
associated with the exit of BGE Home
merchandise stores in 2002.

& We recorded impairment losses of $1.8 million
pre-tax related to certain non-core assets in 2002.

Net income from our other nonregulated businesses
decreased during 2001 compared to 2000 mostly because
of the following items:

@ Our Latin American operation recorded a loss of
$43.3 million pre-tax on the sale of our
Guatemalan operations.

4 We recorded impairment losses of $107.3 million
pre-tax related to certain non-core assets.

4 Our financial investments operation recorded a
$4.6 million pre-tax reduction of its investment
in an aircraft due to the decline in value of used
airplanes as a result of the September 11, 2001
terrorist attacks and the general downturn in the
aviation industry.

¢ Our financial investments operation had lower
earnings due to lower gains on the sale of
securities and declining equity values in 2001
compared to 2000.

We discuss our special items further in the

Significant Events section and in Note 2.

In addition, we recognized an $8.5 million after-tax,
or $.05 per share, gain for the cumulative effect of
adopting SFAS No. 133 in the first quarter of 2001.



As previously discussed in the Significant Events
section, we decided to sell certain non-core assets and
accelerate the exit strategies on other assets that we will
continue to hold and own over the next several years.
These assets included approximately 1,300 acres of land
holdings in various stages of development located in
seven sites in the central Maryland region, an operating
waste water treatment plant located in Anne Arundel
County, Maryland, all of our 18 senior-living facilities
and certain international power projects. In 2002, we
sold approximately 800 acres of land holdings, all of our
senior-living facilities, and a South American generating
facility. While our intent is to dispose of these remaining
non-core assets, market conditions and other events
beyond our control may affect the actual sale of these
assets. In addition, a fucure decline in the fair value of
these assets could result in additional losses.

Our remaining projects are partially or substantially
developed. Our strategy is to hold and in some cases
further develop these projects to increase their value.
However, if we were to sell these projects in the current
market, we may have losses that could be material,
although the amount of the losses is hard to predict.

In addition, we initiated a liquidation program for
our financial investments operation and expect to sell
substantially all of our investments in this operation by
the end of 2003. Through February 28, 2003, we
liquidated approximately 85% of our investment
portfolio since the beginning of 2002.

Consolidated Nenoperating income and Expenses
Other Income

Other income increased $29.2 million during 2002
compared to 2001 mostly because of interest income on
the nuclear decommissioning trust fund transferred in
connection with the acquisition of Nine Mile Point and
income on temporary cash investments. Other income
was about the same in 2001 compared to 2000.
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Other income for BGE increased $10.3 million
during 2002 compared to 2001 mostly because of
interest income on temporary cash investments in the
Constellation Energy cash pool. Other income for BGE
decreased $7.1 million during 2001 compared to 2000
mostly due to the absence of income on the Calvert
Cliffs decommissioning trust fund that was transferred to
our merchant energy business effective July 1, 2000 as a
result of electric deregulation.

Fixed Charges
Total fixed charges increased $42.7 million during 2002
compared to 2001 mostly because of a higher level of
debt outstanding at higher interest rates and lower
capitalized interest due to our new generating facilities
commencing operations. In 2002, we issued $2.5 billion
of long-term debt and used the proceeds to repay short-
term borrowings, to prepay the Nine Mile Point sellers’
note, and to fund acquisitions. Total fixed charges
decreased $32.6 million during 2001 compared to 2000
mostly because of lower interest rates and higher
capiralized interest associated with our construction of
new generating facilities. These decreases were offset
partially by a higher average level of debt outstanding.
Total fixed charges for BGE decreased $14.0 million
during 2002 as compared to 2001 mostly because of 2
lower level of debt outstanding due to the repayment of
maturing long-term debt. Total fixed charges for BGE
decreased $29.4 million during 2001 compared to 2000
mostly because of a lower level of debt outstanding
primarily due to the transfer of debt to our merchant
energy business effective July 1, 2000 due to the
implementation of electric deregulation.

Income Taxes

The differences in income taxes result from a
combination of the changes in income and the effective
tax rate. We include an analysis of the changes in the
effective tax rate in Note 9.




Financial Condition
Cash Flows

Cash provided by operations was $1,020.0 million in
2002 compared to $573.3 million in 2001 and $850.9
million in 2000.

Cash used in investing activities was $319.8
million in 2002 compared to $1,472.7 million in 2001
and $1,106.5 million in 2000. The decrease in 2002
compared to 2001 was mostly due to the sale of Orion
and COPT that generated $555.4 million in cash
proceeds, as well as the liquidation program associated
with our investment portfolio and a decrease in capital
spending due to the termination of all planned
development projects. This was partially offset by the
acquisitions of NewEnergy (net of cash acquired) for
$204.8 million in September 2002 and of Alliance (net
of cash acquired) for $16.6 million in December 2002.
The increase in 2001 compared to 2000 was mostly
due to increased purchases of property, plant and
equipment and other capital expenditures including
$382.7 million relating to the net cash paid for the
acquisition of Nine Mile Point.

Cash used in financing activities was $157.6
million in 2002 compared to cash provided by
financing activities of $789.1 million in 2001 and
$345.6 million in 2000. The decrease in 2002
compared to 2001 was mostly due to higher repayment
of debt in 2002 and the issuance of common stock in
2001. This was partially offset by higher issuance of
debr during 2002, The increase in 2001 compared to
2000 was mostly due to increased proceeds from the
issuance of common stock, an increase in proceeds from
the net issuance of short-term borrowings, and a $130.0
million decrease in common stock dividends paid.
These items were partially offset by the issuance of less
long-term debt and higher repayments of our long-term

debrt,

Security Ratings

Independent credit-rating agencies rate Constellation
Energy's and BGE’s fixed-income securities. The ratings
indicate the agencies” assessment of each company's
ability to pay interest, distributions, dividends, and
principal on these securities. These ratings affect how
much it will cost each company to sell these securities.
The better the rating, the lower the cost of the
securities to each company when they sell them.
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The factors that credit rating agencies consider in
establishing Constellation Energy’s and BGE's credit
ratings include, but are not limited to, cash flows,
liquidity, and the amount of debr as a component of
total capitalization. All Constellation Energy and BGE
credit ratings have stable outlooks. At the date of this
report, our credit ratings were as follows:

Standard
& Poors  Moody’s
Rating  Investors  Fitch-
Group Service  Ratings
Constellation Energy
Commercial Paper A-2 P-2 F-2
Senior Unsecured
Debt BBB+ Baal A-
BGE
Commercial Paper A2 P-1 F-1
Mortgage Bonds A Al A+
Senior Unsecured
Debt BBB+ A2 A
Trust Originated
Preferred
Securities and
Preference Stock BBB Baal A—

Available Sources of Funding

In 2001, we decided to sell certain non-core assets to
focus on our core strategies. During 2002, we realized
proceeds of over $800 million from the sale of non-core
assets and used these funds to repay both short-term
and long-term debt. In addition, during 2002, we
issued $2.5 billion of debt and established $1.28 billion
of credir facilities resulting in $1.7 billion of total credit
facilities. We continuously monitor our liquidity
requirements and believe that our facilities and access to
the capital markets provide sufficient liquidity to meet
our business requirements. We discuss our available
sources of funding in more dertail below.

Constellation Energy

In addition to the $2.5 billion of debrt issued in 2002,
Constellation Energy has a commercial paper program
under which we can issue short-term notes to fund our
subsidiaries. At December 31, 2002, we had
approximately $1.5 billion of credic under three
facilities as discussed below.

In June 2002, Constellation Energy arranged a
$640 million 364-day revolving credit facility and a
$640 million three-year revolving credit facilicy. We use
these two facilidies to allow issuance of commercial
paper and letters of credir along with our previously
established $188.5 million revolving credit facility that
expires in June 2003.




At December 31, 2002, we had $338.7 million of
outstanding letters of credit that results in approximately
$1.1 billion of unused credit facilities. These three
facilities can issue letrers of credit up to approximately
$1.1 billion. Constellation Energy also has access to
interim lines of credit as required from time to time to
support its outstanding commercial paper.

BGE

BGE maintains $200.0 million in annual committed
credit facilities, expiring May through November 2003,
in order to allow commercial paper to be issued. As of
December 31, 2002, BGE had no outstanding
commercial paper, which results in $200.0 million in
unused credit facilities. BGE also has access to interim
lines of credit as required from time to time to support
its outstanding commercial paper.

Other Nonregulated Businesses
BGE Home Products & Services maintains a program
to sell up to $50 million of receivables.

If we can get a reasonable value for our remaining
real estate projects and other investments, additional
cash may be obtained by selling them. Our ability to
sell or liquidate assets will depend on market
conditions, and we cannot give assurances that these
sales or liquidations could be made.

Capital Resources

Our business requires a great deal of capital. Our actual
consolidated capital requirements for the years 2000
through 2002, along with the estimated annual amount
for 2003, are shown in the table below.

We will continue to have cash requirements for:

@ working capital needs,

& payments of interest, distributions, and

dividends,

¢ capital expenditures, and

& the retirement of debt and redemption of

preference stock.

Capital requirements for 2003 and 2004 include
estimates of spending for existing and anticipated
projects. We continuously review and modify those
estimates. Actual requirements may vary from the
estimates included in the table below because of a
number of factors including;

@ regulation, legislation, and comperition,

¢ BGE load requirements,

& environmental protection standards,

% the type and number of projects selected for
construction or acquisition,
the effect of market conditions on those
projects,
the cost and availability of capital, and
¢ the availability of cash from operations.

@

Lid

Our estimates are also subject to additional factors.
Please sce the Forward Looking Statements section.

2000 2001 2002 2003
(In millions)

Nonregulated Capital

Requirements:

Merchant energy (excludes
acquisitions)
Construction program  $ 537 $ 697 $122 § —
Steam generators 21 53 83 70
Environmental controls 45 89 66 20

Continuing requirements
(including nuclear

fuel) 96(A) 205 370 320(B)
Total merchant energy
capiral requirements 699 1,044 641 410
Other nonregulated capital
requirements 131 35 65 65
Total nonregulated capital
requirements 830 1,079 706 475
Utility Capital
Requirements:
Regulated electric
Generation 73 _ = =
Steam generators 13 _ - —
Environmental controls 17 _ = =
Transmission and
distribution 187 180 167 205
Total regulated electric 290 180 167 205
Regulated gas 60 59 50 55
Total utility capiral
requirements 350 239 217 260

Total capital requirements  $1,180 $1,318 $923 $735

(A) Effective July 1, 2000, includes $44.6 million for
electric generation and nuclear fuel formerly part of
BGE’s regulated electric business.

(B) Excludes capital requirements and financing costs
for the High Desert Power Project, which are
estimated to be approximately $90 million for the
full year of 2003.

Certain prior-year amounts have been reclassified to
conform to the current year5 presentation.

As of the date of this report, we have not
completed our 2004 capital budgeting process, but
expect our 2004 capital requirements to be
approximately $600-700 million.




Capital Requirements
Merchant Energy Business
Our merchant energy business will invest in the
following:
® Costs for replacing the steam generators at Calvert
Cliffs. In March 2000, we received a license
extension from the NRC that extends Calvert
Cliffs’ operating licenses to 2034 for Unit 1 and
2036 for Unit 2. Replacement of the steam
generators will allow us to operate these units
through our operating license periods. The 2002
steam generator replacement for Unit 1 was
completed at the end of June 2002, We expect the
2003 stearn generator replacement to occur during
the 2003 refueling outage for Unit 2.

¢ Continuing requirements, including construction
expenditures for improvements to generating
plants, nuclear fuel costs, costs of complying
with the Environmental Protection Agency
(EPA), Maryland, and Pennsylvania nitrogen
oxides (NOx) emissions regulations, and
enhancements to our information technology
infrastructure. We discuss the NOx regulations
and timing of expenditures in Note /1.

The table on the previous page does not include the
financing for the High Desert 830 megawatt gas-fired
generation project in California, which is under an
operating lease with a term through February 2006.
Under the terms of the lease, we are required to make
payments that represent all or a portion of the lease
balance if construction is terminated prior to completion
or we default under the lease.

Under certain circumstances, we may be required to
either post cash collateral equal to the outstanding lease
balance or we may elect to purchase the property for the
outstanding lease balance. At any time during the term
of the lease we have the right to pay off the lease and
acquire the asset from the lessor. At December 31, 2002,
the outstanding lease balance plus other committed
expenses was approximately $585 million.

Our wholly owned subsidiary, High Desert Power
Project LLC, is supervising the construction of, and
leasing, the High Desert project from High Desert Power
Trust, an independent special purpose entity (SPE)
created to own and lease the project to our subsidiary.
Neither Constellation Energy nor any affiliate owns any
equity or other interest in High Desert Power Trust,
which is owned by a consortium of banks and other
financial institutions. We provide a guaranty of High
Desert Power Project LLC's obligations to the Trust,

The High Desert Power Project uses an off-balance
sheet financing structure through this SPE and currently
qualifies as an operating lease. As an operating lease, we
do not record any assets or debt associated with the
project in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. In January
2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. (FIN) 40,
Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, that will impact
the accounting for, but not the cash flows associated
with, our High Desert operating lease and the relared
SPE. Under the interpretation and current lease structure,
we will be required to consolidate the SPE in our
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of July 1, 2003, which is
the effective date of FIN 46. Had we consolidated this
project at December 31, 2002, we would have recorded
approximately $488.7 million of development,
construction, and capitalized financing costs as an asset
and the related financial obligations as a liability in our
Consolidated Balance Sheets. We discuss FIN 46 in more
detail in Noze 1.

The lease with the Trust contains several events of
default that are commonly found in financings of this
type, including failure to make all payments when due,
failure to comply with all covenants, violation of material
representations and warraaties and change of control. In
addition, several events of default are applicable to us as
guarantor, including defaults in other material financing
agreements and failure to own 100% of BGE’s common
stock.

At the conclusion of the lease term in 2006, we
have the following options:

4 renew the lease upon approval of the lessors,

@ elect to purchase the property for a price equal

to the lease balance at the end of the term, or

& request the lessor to sell the property.

If the lessor sells the property, we guarantee the
payment of any difference between the sale proceeds and
the lease balance at the time of sale up to a maximum
amount of approximately 83% of such lease balance. The
lease balance at the end of the term is currently
estimarted to be $600 million, which represents the
estimated cost of the project; however, this may vary
based on the ultimate cost of construction and interest
incurred during the construction period.

Regulated Electric and Gas

Regulated electric and gas construction expenditures
primarily include new business construction needs and
improvements to existing facilities.




Funding for Capital Regquirements

Merchant Energy Business

Funding for the expansion of our merchant energy
business is expected from internally generated funds. We
also have available sources from commercial paper
issuances, issuances of long-term debt and equity, leases,
and other financing activities.

The projects that our merchant energy business
develops typically require substantial capital investment.
Most of the projects recently constructed were funded
through corporate borrowings by Constellation Energy.
Many of the qualifying facilities and independent power
projects that we have an interest are financed primarily
with non-recourse debt that is repaid from the projects
cash flows. This debt is collateralized by interests in the
physical assets, major project contracts and agreements,
cash accounts and, in some cases, the ownership interest
in that project.

We expect ro fund acquisitions with a mixture of
debr and equity with an overall goal of maintaining a
strong investment grade credit profile.

BGE

Funding for urility capital expenditures is expected from
internally generated funds. During 2003, we expect our
regulated utility business to generate significant excess
cash flows from operations. If necessary, additional
funding may be obtained from commercial paper
issuances, available capacity under credic facilities, the
issuance of long-term debr, trust securities, or preference
stock, and/or from time to time equity contributions
from Constellation Energy. During 2002, Constellation
Energy made a $200 million capital coneribution to
BGE. BGE also participates in a cash pool administered
by Constellation Energy as discussed in Noze 15.

Other Nonregulated Businesses

Funding for our other nonregulated businesses is
expected from internally generated funds, commercial
paper issuances, issuances of long-term debt of
Constellation Energy, sales of securities and assets, and/or
from time to time equity contributions from
Constellation Energy. BGE Home Products & Services
can continue to fund capital requirements through sales
of receivables.

Our ability to sell or liquidate securities and non-
core assets will depend on marker conditions, and we
cannot give assurances that these sales or liquidations
could be made. We discuss our remaining non-core assets
and market conditions in the Results of Operation—Other
Nonregulated Businesses section.

Committed Amounts
Our total contractual and contingent obligations as of
December 31, 2002 are shown in the following table:

Payments/Expiration

2004~  2006-
2003 2005 2007 Thereafter Total

(In millions)

Contractual Obligations

Shore-term borrowings § 1058 —% —§ — § 105
Nonregulated fong-

term debt’ 5.5 3156 620.1 22086  3,149.8
BGE long-term debt 2842 1947 3914 829.7  1,900.0
BGE preference stock — — — 190.0 190.0
Fuel and

transportation 6269 3169 145.2 94,2 1,183.2
Purchased capacity and

energy’ 1828 160.7 46.5 73.1 463.1
Operating leases 346 1037 38.0 151.6 3279
Capital and loan

commitments 32.7 0.5 — — 33.2

Toral contractual

obligations $1,177.2 $1,092.1 $1,441.2 $3,547.2 § 7,257.7

Contingent Obligations

Letters of credit $ 3383% 04% -5 — § 3387
Guarantees -

competitive supply’ 1,758.8  167.0 35.8 189.4  2,151.0
Other guarantees, net * 16.5 22 6021 140.8 761.6

Toral contingent

obligations $2,113.68% 169.6$% 637.9 § 3302 $ 3,251.3

$3,290.8 $1,261.7 $2,079.1 $3,877.4 $10,509.0

Total obligations

1 Amounts reflected in long-term debt maturities do not include $394.3
million investors may require us to repay early through put options and
remarketing features.

2 Our contractual obligations for purchased capacity and energy are shown
on a gross basts for certain transactions, including contracts in Texas that
were re-designated and NewEnergy

3 Amounts relared to capital expenditures are included for applicable years
in our capital requirements table.

4 While the fuce amount of these guarantees is $2,151.0 million, we do not
expect to fund the full amount as our calculation of the fair value of
obligations covered by these guarantees was $519.8 million at
December 31, 2002.

5 Other guarantees in the above table are shown net of liabilities recorded ar
December 31, 2002 in our Consoliduted Balance Sheets. The 2006
amount shown in the table primarily relates to the High Desert lease.

While we included our contingent obligations in the
table above, these amounts do not represent incremental
consolidated Constellation Energy obligations; rather,
they primarily represent guarantees from one
Constellation entity to another. We do not expect to
fund the full amounts under the letters of credit and
guarantees. Specifically, the $2,151.0 million
guarantees—competitive supply represent the face
amount of these guarantees. However, we do not expect
to fund the full amount, as our calculation of the fair
value of obligations covered by these guarantees was
$519.8 million at December 31, 2002.



Lease payments under the High Desert operating
lease are reflected in “Other guarantees, net” in the table
on the previous page. The lease balance at the end of the
2006 lease term is currently estimated to be $600
million.

The table on the previous page does not include the
fixed payment portions of our mark-to-market energy
assets and liabilities primarily related to capacity
payments under tolling contracts. We discuss the
expected settlement terms of these contracts in the
Competitive Supply—Mark-to-Marker Energy Assets and
Liabilities section.

Liguidity Provisions

We have certain agreements that contain provisions that
would require additional collateral upon significant credit
rating decreases in the Senior Unsecured Debt of
Constellation Energy. Decreases in Constellation Energy’s
credit ratings would not trigger an early payment on any
of our credit facilities. However, under counterparty
contracts related to our origination and risk management
operation, where we are obligated to post collateral, we
estimate that we would have additional collateral
obligations based on downgrades to the following credit
ratings for our Senior Unsecured Debt:

Level Below

Credit Ratings Current Incremental ~ Cumulative
Downgraded Rating Obligations ~ Obligations
(In millions)
BBB/Baa2 1 $ 55 $ 55
BBB-/Baa3 2 125 180
Below investment
grade 3 500 680

At December 31, 2002, we had approximately $1.3
billion of unused credir facilities and $615.0 million of
cash available to meet potential requirements. However,
based on market conditions and contractual obligations
at the time of such a downgrade, we could be required
to post collateral in an amount that could exceed the
amounts specified above, and which could be material.

In many cases, customers of our origination and risk
management operation rely on the creditworthiness of
Constellation Energy. A decline below investment grade
by Constellation Energy would negatively impact the
business prospects of that operation.
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The credit facilities of Constellation Energy and
BGE have limired material adverse change clauses that
only consider a material change in financial condition
and are not directly affected by decreases in credit
ratings. If these clauses are violated, the lending
institutions can decline making new advances or issuing
new letters of credit, but cannot accelerate existing
amounts outstanding. The long-term debt indentures of
Constellation Energy and BGE do not contain material
adverse change clauses or financial covenants.

Certain credit facilities of Constellation Energy contain
a provision requiring Constellation Energy to maintain a
ratio of debt to capitalization equal to or less than 65%. At
December 31, 2002, the debt to capitalization ratios as
defined in the credit agreements were no greater than 57%.

A BGE credit facility of $50.0 million that expires
in August 2003 requires BGE to maintain a ratio of debt
to capitalization equal to or less than 70%. At December
31, 2002, the debr to capitalization ratio for BGE as
defined in the credit agreement was 54%. At December
31, 2002, no amount is outstanding under this facilicy.

Failure by Constellation Energy, or BGE, to comply
with these covenants could result in the marturity of the
debt outstanding under these facilities being accelerated.
The credit faciliries of Constellation Energy contain usual
and customary cross-default provisions that apply to
defaults on debt by Constellation Energy and certain
subsidiaries over a specified threshold. Certain BGE
credit facilities also contain usual and customary cross-
default provisions that apply to defaults on debe by BGE
over a specified threshold. The indentures pursuant to
which BGE has issued and outstanding mortgage bonds
and subordinated debentures provide that a default under
any debt instrument issued under the relevant indenture
may cause a default of all debt outstanding under such
indenture.

Constellation Energy also provides credit support to
Calvert Cliffs and Nine Mile Point to ensure these plants
have funds to meet expenses and obligations to safely
operate and maintain the plants.

We discuss our short-term borrowings in Note 7,
long-term debt in Note 8, lease requirements in Note 10,
and commitments and guarantees in Note 11.




fWiarket Risk

We are exposed to various marker risks, including
changes in interese rates, certain commodicy prices, credit
risk, and equity prices. To manage our market risk, we
may enter into various derivative instruments including
swaps, forward contracts, futures contracts, and options.
In this section, we discuss our current market risk and
the related use of derivative instruments.

Principal Payments and Interest Rate Detail by Contractual Maturity Date

Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to changes in interest rates as a result of
financing through our issuance of variable-rate and fixed-
rate debt. We may use derivative instruments to manage
our interest rate risks. The following table provides
information about our debt obligations that are sensitive
to interest rate changes:

Fair value at

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 Thereafter Toral Dec. 31, 2002
~(Dollar amounts in millions)

Short-term debt
Variable-rate debt $ 105 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 105 $ 105
Average interest

rate 3.61% — — — — — 3.61%
Long-term debt
Variable-rate debt $ 5.0 % 70 $ 75 $1206 $ 100 $ 185.8 $ 335.9 $ 335.9
Average interest

rate 5.49% 5.45% 5.50% 1.75% 5.50% 1.76% 2.08%
Fixed-rate debt $284.7(A) $152.0 $343.8 $352.8 $728.1 $2,852.5 $4,713.9 $5,018.8
Average interest

rate 6.50% 5.75% 7.72% 5.54% 7.00% 6.90% 6.74%

(A) Amount excludes $136.5 million of long-term debt that contains certain put options under which lenders could potentially
require us to repay the debt prior to maturity and is classified as current portion of long-term debt in our Consolidated

Balance Sheets.

Commedity Risk

We are exposed to the impact of market fluctuations in
the price and transportation costs of electricity, natural
gas, coal, and other commodities. These risks arise from
our ownership and operation of power plants, the load-
serving activities of BGE standard offer service and our
competitive supply activities, and our mark-to-market
origination and risk management activities. We discuss
these risks separately for our merchant energy and our
regulated businesses below.

Merchant Energy Business

Our merchant energy business is exposed to various
risks in the competitive marketplace that may materially
impact its financial results and affect our earnings.
These risks include changes in commodity prices,
imbalances in supply and demand, and operational risk.

Commodity Prices

Commodity price risk arises from the potential for
changes in the price of, and transportation costs for,
electricity, natural gas, coal, and other commodiries; the
volatility of commodity prices; and changes in interest
rates. A number of factors associated with the structure
and operation of the electricity markets significantly
influence the level and volatility of prices for energy
commodities and related derivative products. We use
such commodities and contracts in our merchant energy
business, and if we have not hedged the associated
financial exposure, this price volatility could affect our
earnings. These factors include:

& seasonal daily and hourly changes in demand,

©

extreme peak demands due to weather
conditions,

¢ available supply resources,

transportation availability and reliability within
and between regions,

procedures used to maintain the integrity of the
physical electricity system during extreme
conditions, and

changes in the nature and extent of federal and

state regulations.
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These factors can affect energy commodity and
derivative prices in different ways and to different

degrees. These effects may vary throughout the country
as a result of regional differences in:
¢ weather conditions,
¢ market liquidity,
¢ capability and reliability of the physical
electricity and gas systems, and

¢ the nature and extent of electricity deregulation.

Supply and Demand_ Risk

We are exposed to the risk that available sources of

supply may differ from the amount of power demanded
by our customers under fixed-price load-serving
contracts. During periods of high demand, our power
supplies may be insufficient to serve our customers’
needs and could require us either to generate power
using plants with more costly fuel or to purchase
additional energy at higher prices. Alternatively, during
periods of low demand, our power supplies may exceed
our customers’ needs and could result in us selling that
excess energy at lower prices. Either of those
circumstances could have a negative impact on our
earnings.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk that a generating plant will
not be available to produce energy and the risks related
o physical delivery of energy to meet our customers’
needs. For 2003, we expect to use the majority of the
generating capacity controlled by our merchant energy
business to provide standard offer service to BGE or to
serve the load requirements of the sellers of Nine Mile
Point. Beginning in July 2002, approximately 1,200
megawatts of industrial customer load moved from
BGE’s standard offer service to market-based rates.
Going forward, our merchant energy business will
supply 100% of the standard offer service to BGE
through June 30, 2003 and 90% from July 1, 2003
through June 30, 2006.

As a result of declines in BGE’s standard offer
service load and the 2,900 megawatts of natural gas-
fired peaking and combined cycle generating facilities
recently constructed, we have a substantial amount of
generating capacity that is subject to future changes in
wholesale electricity prices and have fuel requirements
that are subject to future changes in coal, natural gas,
and oil prices. Our power generation facilities purchase
fuel under contracts or on the spot market. Fuel prices
may be volatile and the price that can be obtained from
power sales may not change at the same rate as changes
in fuel costs.
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Additionally, if one or more of our generating
facilities is not able to produce electricity when required
due to operational factors, we may have to forego sales
opportunities or fulfill fixed-price sale commirments
through the operation of other more costly generating
facilities or through the purchase of energy in the
wholesale markert at higher prices.

Our nuclear plants produce electricity at a
relatively low marginal cost. As a result, the costs of
replacement energy associated with outages at these
plants can be significant. If an unplanned outage were
to occur during the summer or winter when demand
was at a high level, the replacement power costs could
have a marterial adverse impact on our financial results.
Calvert Cliffs experienced an extended outage to replace
the steam generators for Unit 1 during 2 refueling
outage in the spring of 2002, and will experience
another extended outage to replace the steam generators
for Unit 2 during a refueling outage in the spring 2003.

Risk Management

As part of our overall portfolio, we manage the
commodity price risk of our competitive supply
activities and our electric generation facilities, including
power sales, fuel and energy purchases, emission credits,
weather risk, and the market risk of ourages. In order to
manage these risks, we may enter into fixed-price
derivative or non-derivative contracts to hedge the
variability in furure cash flows from forecasted sales of
electricity and purchases of fuel and energy, including:
o forward contracts, which commit us to
purchase or sell energy commodities in the
future;
¢ futures contracts, which are exchange-traded
standardized commitments to purchase or sell a
commodity or financial inscrument, or to make
a cash settlement, at a specific price and future
date;
¢ swap agreements, which require payments to or
from counterparties based upon the differential
between two prices for a predetermined
contractual (notional} quantity; and
& option contracts, which convey the right to buy
or sell a commodirty, financial instrument, or
index at a predetermined price.




The objectives for entering into such hedges
include:

¢ fixing the price for a portion of anticipated

furure electricity sales at a level that provides an
acceptable return on our electric generation
operations,

© fixing the price of a portion of anticipated fuel

purchases for the operation of our power
plants, and

¢ fixing the price for a portion of anticipated

energy purchases to supply our load-serving
customers,

The portion of forecasted transactions hedged may
vary based upon management’s assessment of market,
weather, operational, and other factors.

While some of the contracts we use to manage risk
represent commodities or instruments for which prices
are available from external sources, other commodities
and certain contracts are not actively traded and are
valued using other pricing sources and modeling
techniques to determine expected future market prices,
contract quantities, or both. We use our best estimates
to determine the fair value of commodity and derivative
contracts we hold and sell. These estimates consider
various factoss including closing exchange and over-the-
counter price quotations, time value, volatility factors,
and credit exposure. However, it is likely that future
market prices could vary from those used in recording
mark-to-market energy assets and liabilities, and such
variations could be material.

We monitor and manage our risk exposures
through separate, but complementary financial,
operational, and credit reporting systems. Constellation
Energy’s board of directors establishes parameters for the
risks that we can undertake and risk levels are
monitored daily by management and our Chief Risk
Officer. In addition, we maintain segregation of duties,
with credit review and risk monitoring functions
performed by groups that are independent from revenue
producing groups.

We measure the sensitivity of our mark-to-market
energy contracts to potential changes in market prices
using value at risk. Value at risk is a statistical model
thar attempts to predict risk of loss based on historical
market price volatility. We calculate value art risk using a
variance/covariance technique that models option
positions using a linear approximation of their value.
Additionally, we estimate variances and correlation using
historical commodity price changes over the most recent
rolling three-month period. Our value at risk calculation
includes all mark-to-market energy assets and liabilities,
including contracts for energy commodities and
derivartives that result in physical settlement and
contracts that require cash settlement.
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The value at risk calculation does not include

market risks associated with activities that are subject to
accrual accounting, primarily our generating facilities
and our competitive supply load-serving activities. We
manage these risks by monitoring our fuel and energy
purchase requirements and our estimated contract sales
volumes compared to associated supply arrangements.
We also engage in hedging activities to manage these
risks. We describe those risks and our hedging activities
earlier in this section.

The value at risk amount represents the potential
pre-tax loss in the fair value of mark-to-market energy
assets and liabilities over a one-day holding period.
Based on the confidence levels in the table below, we
would expect a one-day change in fair value greater
than or equal te the daily value at risk at least once per
year. Our value at risk was as follows:

99.9% 95%
Confidence Confidence
Level Level
Year Ended December 31, 20062 2001 2002 2001
(In millions)
Year end $74 $180 $30 $ 74
Average 15.5 18.0 6.4 7.5
High 338 689 139 269
Low 42 8.7 1.7 3.6

The high value at risk amount for the year 2001
represents certain hedge contracts entered into in
anticipation of closing an offsetting transaction. When
the offsetting transaction closed within several days, the
value at risk amount returned to a level more
representative of the average for the year.

Due to the inherent limitations of staristical
measures such as value at risk, the relative immarurity
of the competitive market for electricity and relared
derivatives, and the seasonality of changes in market
prices, the value at risk calculation may not reflect the
full extent of our commodiry price risk exposure.
Additionally, acrual changes in the value of options may
differ from the value at risk calculated using a linear
approximation inherent in our calculation method. As a
result, actual changes in the fair value of mark-to-
market energy assets and liabilities could differ from the
calculated value at risk, and such changes could have a
material impact on our financial results.

Regulated Electric Business

Effective July 1, 2000, BGE’s residential rates are frozen
for a six-year period, and its commercial and industrial
rates are frozen for four to six years. BGE entered into
standard offer service arrangements with our origination
and risk management operation and Allegheny Energy
Supply Company to provide the energy and capacity
required to meet its standard offer service obligations
through June 30, 2006.




Regulated Gas Business
Our regulated gas business may enter into gas furures,

options, and swaps to hedge its price risk under our
market-based rate incentive mechanism and our off-
system gas sales program. We discuss this further in
Note 1. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, our exposure
to commodity price risk for our regulated gas business
was not material.

Credit Risk
We are exposed to credit risk, primarily through our
merchant energy business. Credit risk is the loss that
may result from a counterparty’s nonperformance. We
use credit policies to manage our credit risk, including
utilizing an established credit approval process,
monitoring counterparty limits, employing credit
mitigation measures such as margin, collateral, or
prepayment arrangements, and using master netting
agreements. We measure credit risk as the replacement
cost for open energy commeodity and derivative
positions (both mark-to-market and accrual) plus
amounts owed from counterpatties for settled
transactions. The replacement cost of open positions
represents unrealized gains, net of any unrealized losses,
where we have a legally enforceable right of setoff.
Recently, several major participants in the energy
markets suffered severe declines in their credit ratings or
declared bankruptcy. However, as of December 31,
2002, approximately 85% of our credit portfolio was
rated at least investment grade by the major rating
agencies, with 3% rated below investment grade and
12% not rated. Of the portion not rated, 84%
primarily represents governmental entities,
municipalities, cooperatives, power pools, or other load-
serving entities that we assess are equivalent to
investment grade based on internal credit ratings.

Due to the possibility of extreme volatility in the
prices of energy commodities and derivatives, the
market value of contractual positions with individual
counterparties could exceed established credit limits or
collateral provided by those counterparties. If such a
counterparty were then to fail to perform its obligations
under its contract (for example, fail to deliver the
electricity our origination and risk management
operation had contracted for), we could sustain a loss
that could have a matertal impact on our financial
results.

Additionally, if a counterparty were to default and
we were to liquidate all contracts with that entity, our
credit loss would include the loss in value of mark-to-
market contracts, the amount owed for settled
transactions, and additional paymenss, if any, we would
have to make to settle unrealized losses on accrual
contracts.

Equity Price Risk

We are exposed to price fluctuations in equity markets
primarily through our financial investments operation,
our pension plan assets, and our nuclear
decommissioning trust funds. We are required by the
NRC to maintain an externally funded trust for the
costs of decommissioning our nuclear power plants. We
discuss our nuclear decommissioning trust funds in
more detai} in Note 1.

A hypothetical 10% decrease in equity prices
would result in an approximate $65 million reduction
in the fair value of our financial investments thac are
classified as trading or available-for-sale securities. In
2002, the value of our defined benefit pension plan
assets decreased by approximately $90 million due to
declines in the markets in which plan assets are
invested. We describe our financial investments in more
detail in Note 4, and our pension plans in Nore 6.

ftem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

The information required by this item with respect to

market risk is set forth in ftem 7 of Part 11 of this Form

10-K under the heading Marker Risk.
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ftem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

REPORT .OF MANAGEMENT

The management of Constellation Energy and BGE
{Companies) is responsible for the informartion and
representations in the Companies’ financial statements. The
Companies prepare the financial statements in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America based upon available facts and circumstances and
management’s best estimates and judgments of known
conditions.

The Companies maintain an accounting system and relared
system of internal controls designed to provide reasonable
assurance that the financial records are accurate and that the
Companies’ assets are protected. The Companies’ staff of
internal auditors, which reports directly to the Chief Financial
Officer, conducts periodic reviews to maintain the effectiveness
of internal control procedures. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLE,
independent accountants, audit the financial statemencs and
express their opinion on them. They perform their audit in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America.

_REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUN NTS

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, which
consists of three independent Directors, meets periodically with
management, internal auditors, and PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
to review the activities of each in discharging their
responsibilities. The internal audit staff and
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP have free access to the Audit

Committee.

E. Follin Smith
Senior Vice-President ¢
Chief Financial Officer

i/

Mayo A. Shattuck III
Chairman of the Board,
President and Chief
Executive Officer

1o the Shareholders of Constellation Energy Group, Inc. and
Baltimore Gas and Electric Company

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in
the index appearing under Item 15(a) 1. present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of Constellation Energy
Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries and of Baltimore Gas and Electric
Company and Subsidiaries at December 31, 2002 and 2001,
and the resulis of their operations and their cash flows for each
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002 in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. In addition, in our opinion, the
financial statement schedule listed in the index appearing under
Irem 15(a) 2. of this Form 10-K presents fairly, in all material
respects, the information set forth therein when read in
conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements.
These financial statements and the financial statement schedule
are the responsibility of the Companies’ management; our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits.
We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America, which require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management,
and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

We have also previously audited, in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America, the consolidated balance sheets and statement of
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capitalization of Constellation Energy Group, Inc. and
Subsidiaries and of Baltimore Gas and Electric Company and
Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998, and the
related consolidated statements of income, cash flows, and
common shareholders’ equity and comprehensive income for the
years ended December 31, 1999 and 1998 (none of which are
presented herein); and we expressed unqualified opinions on
those consolidated financial statements. In our opinion, the
information set forth in the Summary of Operations and
Summary of Financial Condition of Constellation Energy
Group, Inc. included in the Selected Financial Data for each of
the five years in the period ended December 31, 2002, and the
information set forth in the Summary of Operations and
Summary of Financial Condition of Baltimore Gas and Electric
Company included in the Selected Financial Darta for each of
the five years in the period ended December 31, 2002, is fairly
stated, in all material respects, in relation to the consolidared
financial statements from which it has been derived.

As discussed in Note I to the consolidated financial
statements, in 2001, the Companies changed their method of
accounting for derivative and hedging activities pursuant to
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133,
Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, as
amended by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 138, Accounting for Certain Derivative Instruments and
Certain Hedging Activities (an amendment of FASB Statement
No. 133).

it Rosiapen S

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Baltimore, Maryland
January 29, 2003




CONSOLiIDATED%'STA"I'EMENTS OF INCOME

Constellation Energy Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Year Ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000
(In millions, except per share amounts)
Revenues

Nonregulated revenues $2,166.9 $1,164.9 $1,035.9

Regulated electric revenues 1,965.6 2,039.6 2,134.7

Regulated gas revenues 570.5 674.3 603.8

Total revenues 4,703.0 3,878.8 3,774.4
Expenses

Operating expenses 3,049.9 2,392.2 2,311.4

Workforce reduction costs 62.8 105.7 7.0

Impairment losses and other costs 25.2 158.8 —

Contract termination related costs —_ 224.8 —_

Depreciation and amortization 481.0 419.1 470.0

Taxes other than income raxes 259.2 226.6 2215

Toral expenses 3,878.1 3,527.2 3,009.9
Net Gain on Sales of Investments and Other Assets 261.3 6.2 78.1
Income from Operations 1,086.2 357.8 842.6
Other Income 30.5 1.3 4.2
Fixed Charges

Interest expense 312.3 283.2 2824

Interest capitalized and allowance for borrowed funds used

during construction (44.0) (57.6) (24.2)

BGE preference stock dividends 13.2 13.2 13.2

Total fixed charges 281.5 238.8 271.4
Income Before Income Taxes 835.2 120.3 575.4
Income Taxes 309.6 37.9 230.1
Income Before Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Principle 525.6 82.4 345.3
Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Principle,

Net of Income Taxes of $5.6 (see Note 1) — 8.5 —
Net Income $ 525.6 $ 909 $ 345.3
Earnings Applicable to Common Stock $ 525.6 $ 909 $ 345.3
Average Shares of Common Stock Outstanding 164.2 160.7 150.0
Earnings Per Common, Share and Earnings Per Common Share—

Assuming Dilution Before Cumulative Effect of Change in

Accounting Principle $ 3.20 $ 52 $ 230
Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Principle — .05 —
Earnings Per Common Share and

Earnings Per Common Share—Assuming Dilution $ 3.20 $ .57 $ 230

See Notes ro Consolidated Financial Statements.

Certain prior-year amounts bave been rveclassified to conform with the current years presentation.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Consteliation Energy Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

At December 31,

(In millions)

Assets
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 6150 72.4
Accounts receivable (net of allowance for uncollectibles

of $41.9 and $22.8, respectively) 1,247.3 738.9
Trading securities 77.1 178.2
Mark-to-market energy assets 144.0 398.4
Risk management assets 72.3 65.2
Fuel stocks 126.5 110.2
Materials and supplies 208.6 210.2
Prepaid taxes other than income taxes 57.1 64.7
Other 153.9 58.0

Toral current assets 2,701.8 1,896.2

Investments and Other Assets

Real estate projects and investments 86.1 210.7
Investments in qualifying facilities and power projects 439.2 499.1
Investment in Orion Power Holdings, Inc. — 4425
Financial investments 36.9 60.7
Nuclear decommissioning trust funds 645.4 683.5
Mark-to-market energy assets 1,348.2 1,819.8
Risk management assets 88.8 77.6
Goodwill 115.9 —
Other 167.8 132.8
Total investments and other assets 2,928.3 3,926.7

Property, Plant and Equipment
Regulated property, plant and equipment

Plant in service 4,952.4 4,862.4
Construction work in progress 118.3 81.8
Plant held for future use 4.5 4.5
Total regulated property, plant and equipment 5,075.2 4,948.7
Nonregulated generation property, plant and equipment 6,811.9 6,538.7
Other nonregulated property, plant and equipment 242.0 192.9
Nuclear fuel (net of amortization) 224.8 174.8
Accumulated depreciation (4,396.8) (4,161.8)
Net property, plant and equipment 7,957.1 7,693.3
Deferred Charges
Regulatory assets (net) 405.7 463.8
Other 136.0 129.4
Total deferred charges 541.7 593.2
Total Assets $14,128.9 $14,109.4

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
Cerrain prior-year amounts bave been reclassified to conform with the current year’s presentation.
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. CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS = |

Constellation Energy Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

At December 31, 2002 2001
(In millions)
Liabilities and Equity

Current Liabilities
Short-term borrowings $ 105 § 975.0
Current portion of long-term debt 426.2 1,406.7
Accounts payable 943.4 523.3
Mark-to-market energy liabilities 94.1 323.3
Risk management liabilities 20.1 11.7
Dividends declared 42.8 23.0
Accrued interest 95.5 57.7
Other 392.8 250.4
Tortal current liabilities 2,025.4 3,571.1

Deferred Credits and Other Liabilities
Deferred income taxes 1,330.7 1,431.0
Mark-to-market energy liabilities 881.5 1,476.5
Risk management liabilities 149.5 12.5
Net pension liability 334.6 215.5
Postretirement and postemployment benefits 352.8 330.9
Deferred investment tax credits 85.7 93.4
Other 197.2 130.7
Total deferred credits and other liabilities 3,332.0 3,690.5

Capitalization (See Statement of Capitalization)
Long-term debt 4,613.9 2,712.5
Minority interests 105.3 101.7
BGE preference stock not subject to mandatory redemption 190.0 190.0
Common shareholders’ equity 3,862.3 3,843.6
Total capitalization 8,771.5 6,847.8

Commitments, Guarantees, and Centingencies (see Note 11)

Total Liabilities and Equity $14,128.9 $14,109.4

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Certain prior-year amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current year’s presentation.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Constellation Energy Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Year Ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000
(Tn millions)

Cash Flows From Operating Activities

Net income $ 525.6 $ 909 $ 3453
Adjustments to reconcile to net cash provided by operating activities
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle — (8.5) —
Depreciation and amortization 548.0 468.9 524.8
Deferred income taxes 148.3 (26.5) 42.1
Investment tax credit adjustments 7.9) 8.1) (8.4)
Deferred fuel costs 23.9 37.6 2.8
Pension and postemployment benefits (116.2) 55.3 27.9
Net gain on sales of investments and other assets (261.3) 6.2) (78.1)
Worldforce reduction costs 62.8 105.7 7.0
Impairment losses and other costs 25.2 158.8 —
Contract termination related costs — 26.2 —
Deregulation transition cost — — 24.0
Equity in earnings of affiliates less than (in excess of) dividends received 67.0 2.0 (5.3)
Changes in
Accounts receivable (236.8) 53.7 (214.1)
Mark-to-market energy assets and liabilities (133.7) 109.5 (379.6)
Risk management assets and liabilities 58.6 (93.2) —
Materials, supplies and fuel stocks (11.7) (90.9) 14.5
Orther current assets 130.3 (20.5) (31.1)
Accounts payable 188.4 (226.7) 384.9
Orther current liabilities 50.4 7.8 21.3
Other (40.9) (62.5) 172.9
Nert cash provided by operating activities 1,020.0 573.3 850.9
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (831.9) (1,302.5) (1,067.0)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (221.4) (382.7) —
Contributions to nuclear decommissioning trust funds (17.6) (22.0) (13.2)
Payments for structured deal fees (51.4) — — {
Sale of (investment in) Orion 454.1 26.2 (101.5)
Sale of investments and other assets 383.9 260.9 169.9
Purchases of marketable equity securities (0.2) (33.2) (80.8)
Other investments (35.3) (19.4) (13.9)
Net cash used in investing activities (319.8) (1,472.7) (1,106.5)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Net issuance (maturity) of short-term borrowings (964.5) 731.4 (127.9)
Proceeds from issuance of
Long-term debt 2,529.3 1,175.2 1,374.0
Common stock 28.5 504.4 35.9
Repayment of long-term debt (1,627.7) (1,510.2) (697.0)
Common stock dividends paid (137.8) (120.7) (250.7)
Orther 14.6 9.0 11.3
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (157.6) 789.1 345.6
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 542.6 (110.3) 90.0
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year 72.4 182.7 92.7
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year $ 6150 $ 724 $ 1827

Other Cash Flow Information:

Cash paid during the year for:
Interest (net of amounts capitalized) $ 2305 $ 2383 $ 268.2
Income taxes $ 157.8 $ 1015 $ 1847

Non-Cash Transaction: )
In connection with our prrchase of Nine Mile Point in 2001, the fair value of the net assets purchased was $770.8 million. We paid
$382.7 million in cash, i1 luding sertlement costs, and incurred a sellers’ note of $388.1 million as discussed further in Note 14.

See Notes to Consolidated Fin . ial Statements.
Certain prior-year amounts b been reclassified to conform with the current year’s presentation.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMMON SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY| AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Constellation Energy Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Years Ended December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000

Accumulated
Qcher
Common Stock Retained  Comprehensive Total
Shares Amount Earnings Income Amount

(Dollar amounts in millions, number of shares in thousands)

Balance at December 31, 1999 149,556 $1,494.0 $1,499.1 $ 244 $3,017.5
Comprehensive Income
Net income 345.3 345.3
Other comprehensive income (OCI)
Reclassification of net gain on sales of securities from
OCI to net income, net of taxes of $18.4 (28.1) (28.1)
Net unrealized gain on securities, net of taxes of $27.9 46.7 46.7
Total Comprehensive Income 363.9
Common stock dividend declared ($1.68 per share) (251.8) (251.8)
Common stock issued 976 35.9 35.9
Other 8.8 (0.3) 8.5
Balance at December 31, 2000 150,532 1,538.7 1,592.3 43.0 3,174.0
Comprehensive Income
Net income 90.9 90.9
Other comprehensive income
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle,
net of taxes of $22.6 (35.5) (35.5)
Reclassification of net gain on sales of securities from
OCI to net income, net of taxes of $15.7 (24.0) (24.0)
Net unrealized gain on securities, net of taxes of $87.5 148.5 148.5
Nert unrealized gain on hedging instruments, net of
taxes of $65.6 102.6 102.6
Minimum pension liability, net of taxes of $29.3 (44.7) (44.7)
Total Comprehensive Income 237.8
Common stock dividend declared ($.48 per share) (77.1) (77.1)
Common stock issued 13,176 504.4 504.4
Qther 0.9) 5.4 4.5
Balance at December 31, 2081 163,708 2,042.2 1,611.5 189.9 3,843.6
Comprehensive Income
Net income 525.6 525.6
Other comprehensive income
Reclassification of net gain on sales of securities from
OCI to net income, net of taxes of $87.7 (152.8) (152.8)
Reclassification of net gains on hedging instruments
from OCI to net income, net of taxes of $10.9 (17.8) (17.8)
Ner unrealized loss on securities, net of taxes of $28.6 (43.2) (43.2)
Ner unrealized loss on hedging instruments, net of
taxes of $31.7 (52.2) (52.2)
Minimum pension liability, net of taxes of $77.2 (118.1) (118.1)
Total Comprehensive Income 141.5
Common stock dividend declared ($.96 per share) (157.6) (157.6)
Common stock issued 1,135 28.5 28.5
Other 8.2 (1.9) 6.3
Balance at December 31, 2002 164,843 $2,078.9 $1,977.6 $(194.2) $3,862.3

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Certain prior-year amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current years presentation.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CAPITALIZATION

Constellation Energy Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

At December 31,

2002

2001

Long-Term Debt
Long-term debt of Constellation Energy

(In millions)

Floating rate notes, due January 17, 2002 $ — $ 635.0
77%% Notes, due April 1, 2005 300.0 300.0
6.35% Fixed Rate Notes, due April 1, 2007 600.0 —
6.125% Fixed Rate Notes, due September 1, 2009 500.0 —
7.00% Fixed Rate Notes, due April 1, 2012 700.0 -
7.60% Fixed Rate Notes, due April 1, 2032 700.0 —
Total long-term debt of Constellation Energy 2,800.0 935.0
Long-term debt of nonregulated businesses
Tax-exempt debt transferred from BGE effective July 1, 2000
Pollution cantrol loan, due July 1, 2011 36.0 36.0
Port facilities loan, due June 1, 2013 48.0 48.0
Adjustable rate pollution control loan, due July 1, 2014 20.0 20.0
5.55% Pollution control revenue refunding loan, due July 15, 2014 47.0 47.0
Economic development loan, due December 1, 2018 35.0 35.0
6.00% Pollution control revenue refunding loan, due April 1, 2024 75.0 75.0
Floating rate pollution control loan, due June 1, 2027 8.8 8.8
5%4% Installment series, due July 15, 2002 — 6.7
District Cooling facilities loan, due December 1, 2031 25.0 25.0
Loans under revolving credit agreements 51.7 46.0
11% Installment note, due November 7, 2006 — 388.1
Mortgage and construction loans
Floating rate mortgage notes and construction loans, due through 2005 — 13.8
4.25% Mortgage note, due March 15, 2009 3.3 19.7
Total long-term debt of nonregulated businesses 349.8 769.1
First Refunding Mortgage Bonds of BGE
7Y4% Series, due July 1, 2002 — 124.0
6% Series, due February 15, 2003 124.8 124.8
(%% Series, due July 1, 2003 1249 124.9
5%4% Series, due April 15, 2004 125.¢ 125.0
Remarketed floating rate series, due September 1, 2006 1115 1115
7% Series, due January 15, 2007 123.5 123.5
6%% Series, due March 15, 2008 124.9 124.9
7%% Series, due March 1, 2023 98.1 98.1
7Y%% Series, due April 15, 2023 72.2 84.0
Total First Refunding Mortgage Bonds of BGE 904.9 1,040.7
Other long-term debt of BGE
5.25% Notes, due December 15, 2006 300.0 300.0
Floating rate reset notes, due February 5, 2002 — 200.0
Medium-term notes, Series B 12.1 23.1
Medium-term notes, Series C 25.5 25.5
Medium-term notes, Series D 68.0 68.0
Medium-term notes, Series E 199.5 200.0
Medium-term notes, Series G 140.0 140.0
6.75% Remarketable or redeemable securities, due December 15, 2012 —_— 173.0
Total other long-term debt of BGE 745.1 1,129.6
BGE obligated mandatorily redeemable trust preferred securities of subsidiary trust holding solely
7.16% deferrable inrerest subordinated debentures due June 30, 2038 250.0 250.0
Unamortized discount and premium 9.7) (5.2)
Currenc portion of long-term debt (426.2) (1,406.7)
Total Jong-term debt $4,613.9 $2,712.5

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consteflation Energy Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

At December 31, 2002 2001
(In millions)
Minority Interests $ 105.3 $ 101.7
BGE Preference Stock
Cumulative preference stock not subject to mandatory redemption, 6,500,000 shares authorized
7.125%, 1993 Series, 400,000 shares outstanding, not callable prior wo July 1, 2003 40.0 40.0
6.97%, 1993 Series, 500,000 shares outstanding, not callable prior to October 1, 2003 50.0 50.0
6.70%, 1993 Series, 400,000 shares outstanding, not callable prior to January 1, 2004 40.0 40.0
6.99%, 1995 Series, 600,000 shares outstanding, not callable prior to October 1, 2005 60.0 60.0
Total preference stock not subject to mandatory redemption 190.0 190.0
Common Shareholders’ Equity
Common stock without par value, 250,000,000 shares authorized; 164,842,708 and 163,707,950 shares
issued and outstanding ar December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. (At December 31, 2002,
18,000,000 shares were reserved for the long-term incentive plans, 11,451,868 shares were reserved
for the Shareholder Investment Plan, 1,806,100 shares were reserved for che continuous offering
programs, and 1,505,863 shares were reserved for the employee savings plan.) 2,078.9 2,042.2
Retained earnings 1,977.6 1,611.5
Accumularted other comprehensive (loss) income (194.2) 189.9
Total common shareholders’ equity 3,862.3 3,843.6
Total Capitalization $8,771.5 $6,847.8

See Notes 10 Consolidated Financial Statements.
Certain prior-year amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current years presentation.
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 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME.

Baltimore Gas and Electric Company and Subsidiaries

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Year Ended December 31, 2001
(In millions)
Revenues
Electric revenues $1,966.0 $2,040.0 $2,135.2
Gas revenues 581.3 680.7 611.6
Total revenues 2,547.3 2,720.7 2,746.8
Expenses
Operating Expenses
Electric fuel and purchased energy 1,0890.7 1,192.8 870.7
Gas purchased for resale 316.7 401.3 350.6
Operations and maintenance 355.3 363.0 547.4
Workforce reduction costs 35.3 57.0 7.0
Depreciation and amortization 221.6 221.0 366.1
Taxes other than income raxes 171.4 173.8 192.6
Total expenses 2,181.0 2,408.9 2,334.4
Income from Operatiens 366.3 311.8 412.4
Other Income 10.7 0.4 7.5
Fixed Charges
Interest expense 142,1 156.2 187.2
Allowance for borrowed funds used during construction (1.5) (1.6) (3.2)
Total fixed charges 140.6 154.6 184.0
Income Before Income Taxes 236.4 157.6 235.9
Income Taxes
Current 67.4 62.4 142.1
| Deferred 28.0 0.2 (44.4)
i Investment tax credit adjustments (2.1) (2.3) {(5.3)
| Total income taxes 93.3 60.3 92.4
Net Income 143.1 " 97.3 143.5
Preference Stock Dividends 13.2 13.2 13.2
\ Earnings Applicable toc Common Stock $ 1299 $ 841 $ 1303
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CONSOLIDATEDBALANCE SHEETS

Baltimore Gas and Electric Company and Subsidiaries

At December 31, 2002 2001
(In millions)
Assets
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 102 $ 374
Accounts receivable (net of allowance for uncollectibles of $11.5
and $13.4, respectively) 357.5 295.2
Investment in cash pool, affiliated company 338.1 439.1
Accounts receivable, affiliated companies 131.2 63.4
Fuel stocks 40.6 52.3
Materials and supplies 31.8 331
Prepaid taxes other than income taxes 42.0 43.8
Other 10.3 36.3
-~ Total current assets 961.7 1,000.6
QOther Assets
Receivable, affiliaced company 63.3 183.3
Other 85.9 745
Total other assets 149.2 257.8
Utility Plant
Plant in service
Electric 3,422.3 3,349.9
Gas 1,041.0 1,014.4
Common 489.1 498.1
Total plant in service 4,952.4 4,862.4
Accumulated depreciation (1,851.4) (1,751.4)
Net plant in service 3,101.0 3,111.0
Construction work in progress 118.3 81.8
Plant held for future use 4.5 4.5
Net utility plant 3,223.8 3,197.3
Deferred Charges
Regulatory assets (net) 405.7 463.8
Other 39.5 35.0
Total deferred charges 445.2 498.8
Total Assets $ 4,779.9 $ 4,954.5

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
Certain prior-year amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current years presentation.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Baltimore Gas and Electric Company and Subsidiaries

At December 31, 2002 2001
(In millions)
Liabilities and Equity
Current Liabilities
Current portions of long-term debt $ 4207 $ 666.3
Accounts payable 103.2 63.6
Accounts payable, affiliated companies 85.6 92.6
Customer deposits 54.2 50.0
Accrued taxes 9.0 7.6
Accrued interest 31.4 37.0
Accrued vacation costs 19.5 21.7
Other 30.2 39.2
Total current liabilities 753.8 978.0
Deferred Credits and Other Liabilities
Deferred income taxes 528.9 503.1
Postretirement and postemployment benefits 278.0 266.1
Deferred investment tax credits 20.5 227
Decommuissioning of federal uranium enrichment facilities 14.6 19.3
Other 13.9 17.2
Total deferred credits and other liabilities 855.9 828.4
Long-term Debt
First refunding mortgage bonds of BGE 904.9 1,040.7
Other long-term debt of BGE 745.1 1,129.6
Company obligated mandatorily redeemable trust preferred
securities of subsidiary trust holding solely 7.16% debentures
of BGE due June 30, 2038 250.0 250.0
Long-term debt of nonregulated businesses 25.0 71.0
Unamortized discount and premium (5.2) (3.3)
Current portion of long-term debt (420.7) (666.3)
Total long-term debt 1,499.1 1,821.7
Minority Interest 19.4 5.0
Preference Stock Not Subject to Mandatory Redemption 190.0 190.0
Common Shareholder’s Equity
Common stock 912.2 7119
Retained earnings 549.5 419.5
Total common shareholder’s equity 1,461.7 1,131.4
Commitments, Guarantees, and Contingencies (see Note 11)
Total Liabilities and Equity $ 4,779.9 $ 4,954.5

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
Certain prior-year amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current years presentation.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Baltimore Gas and Electric Company and Subsidiaries

Year Ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000
(In millions)

Cash Flows From Operating Activities

Net income $ 143.1 $ 973 $ 143.5
Adjustments to reconcile to net cash provided by operating activities
Depreciation and amortization 224.4 223.3 393.6
Deferred income taxes 28.0 0.2 (44.4)
Investment tax credit adjustments 2.1) (2.3) (5.3)
Deferred fuel costs 23.9 37.6 2.8
Pension and postemployment benefits (40.7) 14.7 16.1
Allowance for equity funds used during construction (2.8) (3.0) (2.6)
Workforce reduction costs 35.3 57.0 7.0
Changes in
Accounts receivable (62.3) 117.8 (101.4)
Receivables, affiliated companies 52.2 (113.5) (128.7)
Materials, supplies and fuel stocks 13.0 . (14.0) 11.1
Other current assets 27.8 (30.3) 31.8
Accounts payable 39.6 (55.7) (88.6)
Accounts payable, affiliated companies (7.0) (10.9) 98.8
Other current liabilities (11.2) 7.7) (7.1)
Other 33.2 615 68.1
Net cash provided by operating activities 494.4 371.8 394.7
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Utility construction expenditures (excluding equity portion of AFC) (216.7) (236.4) (309.5)
Investment in cash pool at parent 101.0 {441.1) 2.0
Nuclear fuel expenditures — — (39.5)
Contributions to nuclear decommissioning trust fund — — (8.8)
Other (17.0) (20.9) 0.1
Ner cash used in investing activities (132.7) (698.4) (355.7)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Net maturity of short-term borrowings — (32.1) (96.9)
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt — 532.1 377.3
Repayment of long-term debt (575.5) (394.1) (121.7)
Preference stock dividends paid (13.2) (13.2) (13.2)
Distribution from (to) parent 200.0 250.0 (188.5)
Other 0.2) — 1.8
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (388.9) 342.7 (41.2)
Net (Decrease) Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents (27.2) 16.1 2.2)
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year 37.4 21.3 23.5
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year $ 102 $ 374 $ 213

Other Cash Flow Information
Cash paid during the year for:
Interest (net of amounts capitalized) $ 147.5 $162.0 $ 184.7
Income taxes $ 36.6 $102.8 $127.6

Noncash Investing and Financing Activities:
On July 1, 2000, BGE transferred $1,578.4 million of generation assets, net of associated liabilities, to nonregulated affiliates of
Constellation Energy as a result of the deregulation of electric generation.

See Notes to Consolidased Financial Statements.
Certain prior-year amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current year's presentation.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Qur Business

Constellation Energy Group, Inc. (Constellation Energy) is a
North American energy company that conducts its business
through various subsidiaries including a merchant energy
business and Baltimore Gas and Electric Company (BGE). Our
merchant energy business is a competitive provider of energy
solutions for large customers. BGE is a regulated electric and gas
public transmission and distribution utility company with a
service territory that covers the City of Baltimore and all or part
of ten counties in central Maryland. We describe our operating
segments in Note 3.

This report is a combined report of Constellation Energy
and BGE. References in this report to “we” and “our” ate to
Constellation Energy and its subsidiaries. References in this
report to the “utility business” are to BGE.

Consolidation Policy

We use three different accounting methods to report our
investments in our subsidiaries or other companies:
consolidation, the equity method, and the cost method.

Consolidation

We use consolidation when we own a majority of the voting
stock of the subsidiary. This means the accounts of our
subsidiaries are combined with our accounts. We eliminate
intercompany balances and transactions when we consolidate
these accounts. We discuss the implications of the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Interpretation No. 46,
Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities on our future
consolidation policy later in this Note.

The Equiry Method

We usually use the equity method to report investments,
corporate joint ventures, partnerships, and affiliated companies
(including qualifying facilities and power projects) where we
hold a 20% to 50% voting interest. Under the equity method,
we report:

@ our interest in the entity as an investment in our

Consolidated Balance Sheets, and

¢ our percentage share of the earnings from the entity in

our Consofidated Statements of Income.

The only time we do not use this method is if we can
exercise control over the operations and policies of the company.
If we have control, accounting rules require us to use
consolidation.

The Cost Method

We usually use the cost method if we hold less than a 20%
voting interest in an investment. Under the cost method, we
report our investment at cost in our Consolidated Balance
Sheets. The only time we do not use this method is when we
can exercise significant influence over the operations and policies
of the company. If we have significant influence, accounting
rules require us to use the equity method.
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Regulation of Utility Business

The Maryland Public Service Commission (Maryland PSC) and
the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) provide the
final determination of the rates we charge our customers for our
regulated businesses. Generally, we use the same accounting
policies and practices used by nonregulated companies for
financial reporting under accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. However, sometimes
the Maryland PSC orders an accounting treatment different
from that used by nonregulated companies to determine the
rates we charge our customers. When this happens, we must
defer (include as an asset or liability in our Consolidated Balance
Sheets and exclude from our Consolidated Statements of
Income) certain utility expenses and income as regulatory assets
and liabilities. We have recorded these regulatory assets and
liabilities in our Consolidated Balance Sheets in accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 71,
Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of Regulation.

In addition, the FASB through its Emerging Issues Task
Force (EITF) issued EITF 97-4, Deregulation of the Pricing of
Electricity—Issues Related to the Application of FASB Statements
No. 71 and 101. The EITF concluded that a company should
cease to apply SFAS No. 71 when ecither legislation is passed or
a regulatory body issues an order that contains sufficient derail
to determine how the transition plan will affect the deregulated
portion of the business. Additionally, 2 company would continue
to recognize regulatory assets and liabilities in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets to the extent that the transition plan provides for
their recovery.

We summarize and discuss our regulatory assets and
liabilities further in Note 5.

Use of Accounting Estimates

Management makes estimates and assumprions when prepating
financial statements under accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. These estimates and
assumptions affect various matters, including;

© our reported amounts of assets and liabilities in our
Consolidated Balance Sheets at the dates of the financial
statements,
our disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
dates of the financial statements, and
our reported amounts of revenues and expenses in our
Consolidated Statements of Income during the reporting
periods.

These estimates involve judgments with respect to
numerous factors that are difficult to predict and are beyond
management’s control. As a result, actual amounts could
materially differ from these estimates.




Reclassifications

We have reclassified certain prior-year amounts for comparative
purposes. These reclassifications did not affect consolidated net
income for the years presented.

Revenues

Nonregulated Businesses

We record nonregulated business revenues using two methods of
accounting: accrual accounting and mark-to-market accounting.
We use accrual accounting for our merchant energy business
transactions, including non-trading long-term power sales
contracts that are not subject to mark-to-market accounting.
Transactions subject to accrual accounting include the generation
or purchase and sale of electricity and gas as part of our physical
delivery acrtivities. Under accrual accounting, we record revenues
in the period earned for services rendered, commodities or
products delivered, or contracts settled.

We use mark-to-market accounting for energy trading
activities and for derivatives and other contracts for which we
are not permitted to use accrual accounting or hedge accounting.
We discuss our use of hedge accounting in the Risé Management
and Hedging Activities section later in this Note. These
mark-to-market activities include derivative and {(prior to EITF
02-3) non-derivative contracts for energy and other energy-
related commodities. Under the mark-to-market method of
accounting, we record the fair value of energy contracts as
mark-to-market energy assets and liabilities at the time of
contract execution. We record reserves to reflect uncertainties
associated with certain estimates inherent in the determination
of fair value. To the extent possible, we urilize market-based data
together with quantitative methods for both measuring the risks
for which we record reserves and determining the level of such
reserves and changes in those levels.

We describe below the main types of reserves we record and
the process for establishing each.

# Close-out reserve—this reserve represents the estimated
cost to close out or sell to a third-party open
mark-to-market positions. This reserve has the effect of
valuing “long” positions at the bid price and “short”
positions at the offer price. We compute this reserve
based on our estimate of the bid/offer spread for each
commodity and option price and the absolute quantity
of our open positions for each year. Effective July 1,
2002, to the extent that we are not able to obrain
market information for similar contracts, the close-out

reserve is equivalent to the initial contract margin,
thereby recording no gain or loss at inception. The level
of total close-ourt reserves increases as we have larger
unhedged positions, bid-offer spreads increase, or market
information is not available, and it decreases as we
reduce our unhedged positions, bid-offer spreads
decrease, or market information becomes available.
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Credit-spread adjustment—for risk management
purposes, we compute the value of our mark-to-market
assets and liabilities using a risk-free discount rate. In
order to compute fair value for financial reporting
purposes, we adjust the value of our mark-to-market
assets to reflect the credit-worthiness of each individual
counterparty based upon published credit ratings, where
available, or equivalent internal credit ratings and
associated default probability percentages. We compute
this reserve by applying the appropriate default
probability percentage to our outstanding credit
exposure, net of collateral, for each counterparty.
Mark-to-market revenues include:

4 gains or losses on new transactions ar origination to the
extent permitted by applicable accounting rules,
unrealized gains and losses from changes in the fair
value of open positions,

L4

¢
L 2
We record the changes in mark-to-market energy assets and

net gains and losses from realized transactions, and
changes in reserves.

liabilities on a net basis in “Nonregulated revenues” in our
Consolidated Statements of Income. At December 31, 2002,
mark-to-market energy assets and liabilities consist of a
combination of energy and energy-related derivative and
non-derivative contracts. While some of these contracts represent
commodities or instruments for which prices are available from
external sources, other commodities and certain contracts are not
actively traded and are valued using modeling techniques to
determine expected future marker prices, contract quantities, or
both. The market prices and quantities used to determine fair
value reflect management’s best estimate considering various
factors, including closing exchange and over-the-counter
quotations, time value, and volatility factors. However, future
market prices and actual quantities will vary from those used in
recording mark-to-market energy assets and liabilities, and it is
possible that such variations could be material.

During 2002, the FASB issued EITF 02-3, Recognition and
Reporting of Gains and Losses on Energy Trading Contracts Under
EITF Issues No. 98-10 and No. 00-17 that changed the
accounting for energy contracts. These changes include requiring
the accrual method of accounting for energy contracts that are
not derivatives and clarifying when gains or losses can be
recognized at the inception of derivative contracts. We discuss
EITF 02-3 in more detail in the Recently Issued Accounting
Standards section later in this Note.

Certain transactions entered into under master agreements
and other arrangements provide our merchant energy business
with a right of setoff in the event of bankruptcy or default by
the counterparty. We report such transactions net in the balance
sheets in accordance with FASB Interpretation No. 39, Offetting
of Amounts Related to Certain Contracts.

We also include equity in earnings from our investments in
qualifying facilities and power projects in revenues.

Regulated Utiliry

We record utility revenues when we provide service to customers.




Fue! and Purchased Energy Cosis
We incur costs for:

@ the fuel we use to generate electricity,

@ purchases of electricity from others, and

@ natural gas that we resell.

These costs are included in “Operating expenses” in our
Consolidated Statements of Income. We discuss each of these
separately below.

Fuel Used to Generate Electricity and Purchases of Electricity
From Others
We assemble a variety of power supply resources, including
baseload, intermediate, and peaking plants that we own, as well
as a variety of power supply contracts that may have similar
characreristics, in order to enable us to meet our customers’
energy requirements, which vary on an hourly basis. We
purchase power when our load-serving requirements exceed the
amount of power available from our supply resources or when it
is more economic to do so than to operate our power plants.
The amount of power purchased depends on a number of
factors, including the capacity and availability of our power
plants, the level of customer demand, and the relative economics
of generating power versus purchasing power from the spot
market.

Our accrual-basis third-party fuel and purchased energy

expenses were as follows:

2002 2001 2000
(In millions)
Fuel and Purchased Energy $ 1,144.2 $479.6 $429.7

Effective July 1, 2000, these costs are recorded as incurred.
Historically and until July 1, 2000, we were allowed to recover
our costs of electric fuel under the electric fuel rate clause set by
the Maryland PSC. Under the electric fuel rate clause, we
charged our electric customers for:

# the fuel we used to generate electricity (nuclear fuel,

coal, gas, or oil), and

# the net cost of purchases and sales of electricity.

We charged the actual costs of these items to customers
with no profit to us. To do this, we had to keep track of what
we spent and what we collected from customers under the fuel
rate in a given period. Usually these two amounts were not the
same because there was a difference berween the time we spent
the money and the time we collected it from our customers.

Under the electric fuel rate clause, we deferred the
difference between our actual costs of fuel and energy and what
we collected from customers under the fuel rate in a given
period. We either billed or refunded our customers that
difference in the future. As a result of the deregulation of
electric generation, the fuel rate was discontinued effective
July 1, 2000.
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Natural Gas

We charge our gas customers for the natural gas they purchase
from us using “gas cost adjustment clauses” set by the Maryland
PSC. These clauses operate similarly to the electric fuel rate
clause described earlier in this Note. However, the Maryland
PSC approved a modification of the gas cost adjustment clauses
to provide a market-based rates incentive mechanism. Under
market-based rates, our actual cost of gas is compared to a
market index (a measure of the market price of gas in a given
period). The difference between our actual cost and the market
index is shared equally berween shareholders and customers.
Effective November 2001, the Maryland PSC approved an order
that modifies certain provisions of the market-based rates
incentive mechanism. These provisions require that BGE secure
fixed-price contracts for at least 10%, but not more than 20%,
of forecasted system supply requirements for the November
through March period. These fixed price contracts are not
subject to sharing under the market-based rates incentive
mechanism.

Risk Management and Hedging Activities

Market Risks

We are exposed to market risk, including changes in interest
rates and the impact of market fluctuations in the price and
transportation costs of electricity, natural gas, and other
commodities as discussed further in Noze 12. SFAS No. 133, as
amended by SFAS No. 138, Accounting for Certain Derivative
Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities, requires that we
recognize all derivatives not qualifying for the normal purchase
and normal sale exemption in our Consolidated Balance Sheets
at fair value. Changes in the value of derivatives that are not
hedges must be recorded in earnings. Under SFAS No. 133,
changes in the value of derivatives designated as cash-flow hedges
that are effective in offsetting the variability in cash flows of
forecasted transactions are recognized in other comprehensive
income until the forecasted transactions occur. The ineffective
portion of changes in fair value of derivatives used as cash-flow
hedges is immediately recognized in earnings.

In accordance with the transition provisions of SFAS
No. 133, we recorded the following at January 1, 2001:

¢ an $8.5 million after-tax cumulative effect adjustment

that increased earnings, and

¢ 2 $35.5 million after-tax cumulative effect adjustment

that reduced other comprehensive income.

The cumulative effect adjustment recorded in earnings
represents the fair value as of January 1, 2001 of a warrant for
705,900 shares of common stock of Orion. The warrant had an
exercise price of $10 per share and was received in conjunction
with our investment in Orion. As part of the sale of Orion to
Reliant Resources, Inc., we received cash equal to the difference
between Reliant’s purchase price of $26.80 per share and the
exercise price multiplied by the number of shares subject o the
warrant.

The cumulative effect adjustment recorded in other
comprehensive income represents certain forward sales of
electricity that we designated as cash-flow hedges of forecasted
transactions primarily through our merchant energy business.




Interest Rate Swaps

We use interest rate swaps (o manage our interest rate exposures
associated with new debt issuances. These swaps are in
anticipation of planned financing transactions and are designated
as cash-flow hedges under SFAS No. 133, with our gains or
losses recorded in “Risk management assets or liabilities” in our
Consolidated Balance Sheets and “Accumulated other
comprehensive income,” in our Consolidated Statements of
Common Sharcholders’ Equity and Consolidated Statements of
Capitalization. Any gain or loss on the hedges will be reclassified
from “Accumulated other comprehensive income” into “Interest
expense” and be included in earnings during the periods in
which the interest payments being hedged occur.

Commodity Prices

Our merchant energy and regulated gas businesses use derivative
and non-derivative instruments to manage changes in their
respective commodity prices as discussed in more detail below.

Merchant Energy Business

Our origination and risk management operation manages market
risk on a portfolio basis, subject to established risk management
policies. Our origination and risk management operation may
enter into fixed-price derivative or non-derivative contracts to
hedge the variability in future cash flows from forecasted sales of
energy and purchases of fuel.

Under the provisions of SFAS No. 133, we record gains
and losses on derivative contracts designated as cash-flow hedges
of firm commitments or anticipated transactions in
“Accumulated other comprehensive income” in our Consolidated
Statements of Common Shareholders’ Equity and Consolidated
Staternents of Capitalization prior to the settlement of the
anticipated hedged physical transaction. We reclassify these gains
or losses into earnings upon settlement of the underlying hedged
transaction. We record derivatives used for hedging activities
from our merchant energy business in “Risk management assets
and liabilities” in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Regulared Gas Business
We use basis swaps in the winter months (November through
March) to hedge our price risk associated with natural gas
purchases under our market-based rates incentive mechanism.
We also use fixed-to-floating and floating-to-fixed swaps to
hedge our price risk associated with our off-system gas sales.
The fixed portion represents a specific dollar amount that
we will pay or receive, and the floating portion represents a
fluctuating amount based on a published index that we will
receive or pay. Our regulated gas business internal guidelines do
not permit the use of swap agreements for any purpose other
than to hedge price risk.
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Credit Risk

Credit risk is the loss that may result from counterparty
non-performance. We are exposed to credit risk, primarily
through our merchant energy business. We use credit policies to
manage our credit risk, including utilizing an established credit
approval process, monitoring counterparty limits, employing
credit mitigation measures such as margin, collateral or
prepayment arrangements, and using master netting agreements.
We measure credit risk as the replacement cost for open energy
commodity and derivative positions (both mark-to-market and
accrual) plus amounts owed from counterparties for settled
transactions. The replacement cost of open positions represents
unrealized gains, net of any unrealized losses, where we have a
legally enforceable right of setoff.

Due to the possibility of extreme volatility in the prices of
energy commodities and derivatives, the market value of
contractual positions with individual counterparties could exceed
established credit limits or collateral provided by those
counterparties. If such a counterparty were then to fail to
perform its obligations under its contract (for example, fail to
deliver the electricity our origination and risk management
operation had contracted for), we could sustain a loss that could
have a material impact on our financial results.

Additionally, if a counterparty were to default and we were
to liquidate all contracts with that entity, our credit loss would
include the loss in value of mark-to-market contracts, the
amount owed for settled transactions, and additional payments,
if any, we would have to make to settle unrealized losses on
accrual contracts.

Electric and gas utilities, cooperatives, and energy marketers
comprise the majority of counterparties underlying our assets
from our origination and risk management activities. We held
cash collateral from counterparties totaling $50.1 million as of
December 31, 2002 and $3.5 million as of December 31, 2001.
These amounts are included in “Other deferred credits and other
liabilities” in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Taxes

We summarize our income taxes in Note 9. Our subsidiary
income raxes are computed on a separate return basis. As you
read this section, it may be helpful to refer to Note 9.

Income Tax Expense
We have two categories of income taxes—current and deferred.
We describe each of these below: ‘

# current income tax expense consists solely of regular tax

less applicable tax credits, and

& deferred income tax expense is equal to the changes in
the net deferred income tax liability, excluding amounts
charged or credited to accumulated other comprehensive
income. Our deferred income tax expense is increased or
reduced for changes to the “Income taxes recoverable
through future rates (net)” regulatory asset (described
later in this Note) during the year.



Investment Tax Credits

We have deferred the investment tax credits associated with our
regulated utility business and assets previously held by our
regulated utility business in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.
The investment tax credits are amortized evenly to income over
the life of each property. We reduce income tax expense in our
Consolidated Statements of Income for the investment tax
credits and other tax credits associated with our nonregulated
businesses, other than leveraged leases.

Deferred Income Tax Assets and Liabilities

We must report some of our revenues and expenses differently
for our financial statements than for income tax return purposes.
The tax effects of the differences in these items are reported as
deferred income tax assets or liabilities in our Consolidated
Balance Sheets. We measure the deferred income tax assets and
liabilities using income tax rates that are currently in effect.

A portion of our total deferred income tax liability relates
to our regulated utility business, but has not been reflected in
the rates we charge our customers. We refer to this portion of
the liability as “Income taxes recoverable through future rates
(net).” We have recorded that portion of the net liability as a
regulatory asset in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. We discuss
this further in Note 5.

State and Local Taxes
State and local income taxes are included in “Income taxes” in
our Consolidated Statements of Income.

We also pay Maryland public service company franchise tax
on transmission, distribution, and delivery of electricity and
natural gas. We include the franchise tax in “Taxes other than
income taxes” in our Consolidated Statements of Income.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per common share (EPS) is computed by dividing
earnings applicable to common stock by the weighted-average
number of common shares outstanding for the year. Diluted
EPS reflects the potential dilution of common stock equivalent
shares that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue
common stock were exercised or converted into common stock.
Our dilutive common stock equivalent shares consist of stock
options. Stock options to purchase approximately 4.1 million
shares in 2002, approximately 0.1 million shares in 2001, and
approximately 1.4 million shares in 2000 were not dilutive and
were excluded from the computation of diluted EPS for these
respective years.

Stock-Based Compensation

Under our long-term incentive plans, we granted stock options,
performance and service-based restricted stock, and equity to
officers, key employees, and members of the Board of Directors.
We discuss this in more detail in Noze 13.

As permitted by SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation, we measure our stock-based compensation in
accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion (APB)
No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and related

interpretations.
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Our stock options are granted with an exercise price equal
to the market value of the stock at the date of grant.
Accordingly, no compensation expense is recorded for these

awards. However, when we grant options subject to a
contingency, we recognize compensation expense when options
granted have an exercise price less than the market value of the
underlying common stock on the date the contingency is
satisfied. We amortize compensation expense for restricted stock
over the performance/service period, which is typically a one to
five year period.

The following table illustrates the effect on net income and
earnings per share had we applied the fair value recognition
provision of SFAS No. 123 to all outstanding stock option and
stock awards in each year.

2002

2001 2000

(In millions, except per
share amounts)

Net income, as reported $525.6 $90.9 $345.3
Add: Stock-based compensation

expense included in reported

net income, net of related tax

effects 6.1 6.1) 9.8
Deduct: Stock-based compensation

expense determined under fair

value based method for all

awards, net of related tax effects (16.8) (0.9) (9.0)
Pro-forma net income $514.9 $83.9 $346.1
Earnings per share:

Basic—as reported $ 320 $ 57 § 230

Basic—pro forma $ 314 $ .52 §231

Diluted—as reported $ 320 $ .57 §$ 230

Diluted—pro forma $ 313 §$ .52 %231

In the table above, the stock-based compensation expense
included in reported ner income, net of related rax effects is as
follows:

¢ in 2002, $6.1 million, after-tax, or $10.1 million pre-tax
comprised of $3.0 million of pre-tax expense for certain
stock options, $6.6 million for restricted stock, and
$0.5 million for equity grants,
in 2001, a $(6.1) million, after-tax, or $(10.1) million
pre-tax reversal of expense for restricted stock as a result
of non-attainment of performance criteria, and
in 2000, $9.8 million, after-tax, or $16.3 million pre-tax
for restricted stock grants.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
All highly liquid investments with original maturities of three
months or less are considered cash equivalents.

Inventory

We record our fuel stocks and materials and supplies at the
lower of cost or market. We determine cost using the average
cost method.



Real Estate Projects and Investments

In Note 4, we summarize the real estate projects and investments
that are in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. At December 31,
2002, the projects and investments primarily consist of:

& approximately 500 acres of land holdings in various
stages of development located at 6 sites in the central
Maryland region, and

# an operating waste water treatment plant located in
Anne Arundel County, Maryland.

The costs incurred o develop properties are included as

part of the cost of the properties.

Financial investments and Trading Securities
In Note 4, we summarize the financial investments that are in
our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

SFAS No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt
and Equity Securities, applies particular requirements to some of
our investments in debt and equity securities. We report those
investments at fair value, and we use either specific identification
or average cost to determine their cost for computing realized
gains or losses. We classify these investments as either trading
securities or available-for-sale securities, which we describe
separately below. We report investments thac are not covered by
SFAS No. 115 at their cost.

Trading Securities

Our other nonregulated businesses classify some of their
investments in marketable equity securities and financial limited
partnerships as trading securities. We include any unrealized
gains or losses on these securities in “Nonregulated revenues” in
our Consolidated Statements of Income.

Available-for-Sale Securities

We classify our investments in the nuclear decommissioning
trust funds as available-for-sale securities. We describe the
nuclear decommissioning trusts and the reserves under the
heading “Nuclear Decommissioning” later in this Note.

In addition, our other nonregulated businesses classified
some of their investments in marketable equity securities as
available-for-sale securities.

We include any unrealized gains or losses on our
available-for-sale securities in “Accumulated other comprehensive
income” in our Consolidated Statements of Common
Shareholders’ Equity and Consolidated Statements of
Capitalization.

Evaluation of Assets for impairment and Other Than
Temporary Decline in Value

We are required to evaluate certain assets that have long lives
(for example, generating property and equipment and real estate)
to determine if they are impaired when certain conditions exist.
SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Assets, provides the accounting for impairments of
long-lived assets. We are required to test our long-lived assets for
recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable.
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We determine if long-lived assets are impaired by
comparing their undiscounted expected future cash flows to their
carrying amount in our accounting records. We would record an
impairment loss if the undiscounted expected future cash flows
from an asset were less than the carrying amount of the asser.
We are also required to evaluate our equity-method and
cost-method investments (for example, in partnerships that own
power projects) for impairment. APB No. 18, The Equity Method
of Accounting for Investments in Common Stock, provides the
accounting for these investments. The standard for determining
whether an impairment must be recorded under APB No. 18 is
whether the investment has experienced a loss in value that is
considered an “other than a temporary” decline in value.

We use our best estimates in making these evaluations and
consider various factors, including forward price cusves for
energy, fuel costs, legislative initiatives, and operating costs.
However, actual future market prices and project costs could
vary from those used in our impairment evaluations, and the
impact of such variations could be material.

Goaodwill

Goodwill is the excess of the purchase price of an acquisition
over the fair value of the net assets acquired. We do not
amortize goodwill and cerrain other intangibles under the
provisions of SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible
Agssets. SFAS No. 142 requires the evaluation of goodwill for
impairment at least annually or more frequently if events and
circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. We
discuss our acquisitions in Note 14.

Property, Plant and Equipment, Depreciation,
Amortization, and Decommissioning

We report our property, plant and equipment at its original cost,
unless impaired under the provisions of SFAS No. 144.

Our original costs include:

4 material and labor,

& contractor costs, and

# construction overhead costs and financing costs (where

applicable).

We own an undivided interest in the Keystone and
Conemaugh electric generating plants in Western Pennsylvania,
as well as in the transmission line that transports the plants’
output to the joint owners service territories. Our ownership
interests in these plants are 20.99% in Keystone and 10.56% in
Conemaugh. These ownership interests represented a net
investment of $168 million at December 31, 2002 and
$148 million ac December 31, 2001. Each owner is responsible
for financing its proportionate share of the plants’ working
funds. Working funds are used for operating expenses and
capital expenditures. Operating expenses related to these plants
are included in “Operating Expenses” in our Consolidated
Statemnents of Income. Capital costs related to these plants are
included in “Nonregulated generation property, plant and
equipment” in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.




The “Nonregulated generation property, plant and
equipment” in our Consolidated Balance Sheets includes
nonregulated generation construction work in progress of
$237.2 million at December 31, 2002 and $1,146.2 million at
December 31, 2001.

When we tetire or dispose of property, plant and
equipment, we remove the asset’s cost from our Consolidated
Balance Sheets. We charge this cost to accumulated depreciation
for assets that were depreciated under the composite,
straight-line method. This includes regulated utility property,
plant and equipment and nonregulated generating assets
previously owned by the regulated udlity. For all other assets, we
remove the accumulated depreciation and amortization amounts
from our Consolidated Balance Sheets and record any gain or
loss in our Consolidated Statements of Income.

The costs of maintenance and certain replacements are
charged to “Operating expenses” in our Consolidated Statements
of Income as incurred.

Depreciation Expense
We compute depreciation for our generating, electric
transmission and distribution, and gas facilities over the
estimated useful lives of depreciable property using either the:
¢ composite, straight-line rates (approved by the Maryland
PSC for our regulated utility business) applied to the
average investment, adjusted for anticipated costs of
removal less salvage, in classes of depreciable property
based on an average rate of approximately three percent
per year, ot
modified units of production method (greater of
straight-line method or units of production method).
Other assets are depreciated using the straight-line method
and the following estimated useful lives:

@

Asset Estimared Useful Lives
Building and improvements 20 - 50 years
Transportation equipment 5 - 15 years
Office equipment and computer

software 3 - 20 years

Amortization Expense

Amortization is an accounting process of reducing an amount in
our Consolidated Balance Sheets evenly over a period of time
that approximates the useful life of the related item. When we
reduce amounts in our Consolidated Balance Sheets, we increase
amortization expense in our Consolidated Statements of Income.

Nuclear Fuel

We amortize nuclear fuel based on the energy produced over the
life of the fuel including the quarterly fees we pay to the
Department of Energy for the future disposal of spent nuclear
fuel. These fees are based on the kilowatt-hours of elecericity
sold. We report the amortization expense for nuclear fuel in
“Operating expenses” in our Consolidated Statements of Income.
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Nuclear Decommissioning

We record an expense and a reserve for the costs expected to be
incurred in the future to decommission Calvert Cliffs based on a
sinking fund methodology. The accumulated decommissioning
reserve is recorded in “Accumulated depreciation” in our
Consolidated Balance Sheets. The total reserve was

$333.7 million at December 31, 2002 and $304.6 million at
December 31, 2001. Our contributions to the nuclear
decommissioning trust funds were $17.6 million for 2002,
$22.0 million for 2001, and $13.2 million for 2000.

Under the Maryland PSC’s order deregulating electric
generation, BGE’s customers must pay a total of $520 million in
1993 dollars, adjusted for inflation, to decommission Calvert
Cliffs. BGE is collecting this amount on behalf of and passing it
to Calvert Cliffs Nuclear Power Plant, Inc. Calvert Cliffs
Nuclear Power Plant, Inc. is responsible for any difference
between this amount and the actual costs to decommission the
plant.

We recorded a reserve for the costs expected to be incurred
in the future to decommission Nine Mile Point under the
discounted future cash flows methodology. The total reserve was
$242.1 million at December 31, 2002 and $224.4 million at
December 31, 2001. We determined that the decommissionihg
trust funds established for Nine Mile Point are adequately
funded to cover the furure costs to decommission the plant and
as such, no contributions were made to the trust funds during
the years ended December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2001,

In accordance with Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC)
regulations, we maintain external decommissioning trusts to
fund the costs expected to be incurred to decommission Calvert
Cliffs and Nine Mile Point. The NRC requires utilities to
provide financial assurance that they will accumulate sufficient
funds to pay for the cost of nuclear decommissioning, The assets

in the trusts are reported in “Nuclear decommissioning trust
funds” in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

We classify the investments in the nuclear decommissioning
trust funds as available-for-sale securities, and we report these
investments at fair value in our Consolidated Balance Sheets as
previously discussed in this Note. Investments by nuclear
decommissioning trust funds are guided by the “prudent man”
investment principle. The funds are prohibited from investing in
Constellation Energy or its affiliates and any other entity owning
a nuclear power plant.

As owners of Calvert Cliffs Nuclear Power Plant, we are
required, along with other domestic utilities, by the Energy
Policy Act of 1992 to make contributions to a fund for
decommissioning and decontaminating the Department of
Energy’s uranium enrichment facilities. The contributions are
paid by BGE and generally payable over 15 years with escalation
for inflation and are based upon the proportionate amount of
uranium enriched by the Department of Energy for each utility.
We amortize the deferred costs of decommissioning and
decontaminating the Department of Energy’s uranium
enrichment facilities. The previous owners retained the
obligation for Nine Mile Point.




Capitalized Interest and Allowance for Funds Used
During Construction

Capitalized Interest

With the deregulation of electric generation, we ceased accruing
AFC (discussed below) for electric generation-related
construction projects.

Our nonregulated businesses capitalize interest costs under
SFAS No. 34, Capitalizing Interest Costs, for costs incurred to
finance our power plant construction projects and real estate
developed for internal use.

Allowance for Funds Used During Construction (AFC)
We finance regulated utility construction projects with borrowed
funds and equity funds. We are allowed by the Maryland PSC
to record the costs of these funds as part of the cost of
construction projects in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. We do
this through the AFC, which we calculate using a rare
authorized by the Maryland PSC. We bill our customers for the
AFC plus a return after the utility property is placed in service.
The AFC rates are 9.4% for electric plant, 8.6% for gas
plant, and 9.2% for common plant. We compound AFC
annually.

Long-Term Debt
We defer all costs related to the issuance of long-term debr.
These costs include underwriters’ commissions, discounts or
premiums, other costs such as legal, accounting, and regularory
fees, and printing costs. We amortize these costs to interest
expense over the life of the debrt.

When we incur gains or losses on debt that we retire prior
to maturity in our regulated utility business, we amortize those
gains or losses over the remaining original life of the debrt.

Accounting Standards Adopted

SFAS No. 148

In December 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB) issued SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation— Transition and Disclosure—an amendment of
FASB Statement No. 123. SFAS No. 148 provides alternative
methods of transition for a voluntary change to fair value-based
methods of accounting for stock-based employee compensation.
The Statement also amends the disclosure requirements of
SFAS No. 123 to require prominent disclosures in both annual
and interim financial statements about the method of accounting
for stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the
method used on reported results. The provisions of the
Statement were effective for financial statements for fiscal years
ending after December 15, 2002,
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Recently Issued Accounting Standards

SFAS No. 143

In 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, Accounting for Asser
Retirement Obligations. SFAS No. 143 provides the accounting
requirements for recognizing legal obligations associated with the
retirement of tangible long-lived assets. This statement requires a
cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle to be
reported upon initial adoption and is effective for fiscal years
beginning after June 15, 2002, with ecarly adoption permirted. In
January 2003, we recognized a net after-tax gain of
approximately $68 million in accordance with this statement.

Substantially all of this net gain relates to the impact of
adopting SFAS No. 143 on the measurement of the liability for
the decommissioning of our Calvert Cliffs nuclear power plant.
Losses on the adoption of SFAS No. 143 in other areas of our
business are offset by the gain relating to the decommissioning
of our Nine Mile Point nuclear power plant. The Calvert Cliffs
gain is primarily due to using a longer discount period as a
result of license extension. The existing liability for the
decommissioning of Calvert Cliffs was determined in accordance
with ratemaking treatment established by the Maryland PSC and
is based on a previous decommissioning cost estimate that
contemplated decommissioning being completed at a point in
time much closer to the expiration of the plant’s original
operating license.

As discussed earlier in this Note, we use the composite
depreciation method for certain generating facilities and for our
utility business. This method is currently an acceptable method
of accounting under generally accepted accounting principles and
is widely-used in the energy, transportation, and
telecommunication industries. Under the composite depreciation
method, the anticipated costs of removing assets upon retirement
are provided for over the life of those assets as a component of
depreciation expense.

However, the accounting profession has recently determined
that SFAS No. 143 precludes the recognition of expected costs
of retiring assets in excess of anticipated salvage proceeds as a
component of depreciation expense or accumulated depreciation
unless they are legal obligations under SFAS No. 143. Instead,
we must recognize these costs as incurred.

We currently are evaluating the impact of this new
guidance on our implementation of SFAS No. 143 and on our
financial results. For our merchanrt energy business, we expect
the elimination of cost of removal in excess of anticipated
salvage proceeds from accumulated depreciation to increase the
$58 million after-rax gain we recorded in January 2003 discussed
above. On a comparable basis, we expect depreciation expense
for 2003 and future years to be lower than prior years since the
depreciation expense will no longer include a component for
anticipated cost of removal in excess of salvage. Also, effective
January 1, 2003 we will only record those asset removal costs
that represent legal obligations under SFAS No. 143 prior to
their being incurred.




As of the date of this report, we cannot determine the
ultimate impact on the cumulative effect adjustment under SFAS
No. 143 given the new accounting guidance. However, we
expect the impact of this determination to be material to our
financial results.

We do not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 143 to be
material to BGE’s financial resules. BGE is required by the
Maryland PSC to use the composite depreciation method under
regulatory accounting. As a result, we expect the impact of the
new guidance to be limited to a balance sheet reclassification of
cost of removal from accumulated depreciation to regulatary
assets and liabilities.

SEAS No. 146

In July 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, Accounting for
Exit or Disposal Activities. SFAS No. 146 addresses significant
issues regarding the recognition, measurement, and reporting of
costs that are associated with exit and disposal activities,
including restructuring activities that are currently accounted for
under EITF 94-3. The provisions of the Statement will be
effective for disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002,
with early application encouraged. We will reflect the
requirements of this statement in any exit or disposal initiatives
after its effective date.

FIN 45

In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No. (FIN)
45, Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for
Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others.
This Interpretation provides the disclosures to be made by a
guarantor in interim and annual financial statements about
obligations under certain guarantees. The Interpretation also
clarifies that a guarantor is required to recognize, at the
inception of a guarantee, a liability for the fair value of the
obligation. The initial recognition and measurement
requirements are effective prospectively for guarantees issued or
modified after December 31, 2002. However, the disclosure
requirements of the interpretation are effective for this

Form 10-K and are included in Note /1.

FIN 46

In January 2003, the FASB issued FIN 46, Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities, that addresses conditions when an entiry
should be consolidated based upon variable interests rather than
voting interests. Variable interests are ownership interests or
contractual relationships that enable the holder to share in the
financial risks and rewards resulting from the activities of a
Variable Interest Entity (VIE). A VIE is a corporation,
partnership, trust, or any other legal structure used for business
purposes that either does not have equity investors with voting
rights or has equity investors that do not provide sufficient
financial resources for the entity to support its activities.

In order to apply FIN 46, we must evaluate every entity
with which we are involved through variable interests to
determine whether the entity is a VIE and, if it is, whether or
not we are the primary beneficiary of the entiry. The primary
beneficiary of a VIE is the entity that receives the majority of
the entity’s expected losses, residual returns, or both. FIN 46
requires us to disclose information about significant variable
interests we hold and to consolidate a VIE for which we are the
primary beneficiary. As a result, FIN 46 could resulc in
consolidation of an entity that we are associated with other than
by (and even in the absence of) a voting ownership interest.

The requirements of FIN 46 apply immediately to all VIEs
created after January 31, 2003 and are effective beginning in the
third quarter of 2003 for all VIEs created before February 1,
2003. At the time of initially applying FIN 46 to previously
unconsolidated VIEs, we will remove from our Consolidated
Balance Sheets any previously recognized amounts related to
those entities and record the carrying value of the assets,
liabilities, and minority interest as reflected in their financial
statements. The difference between the net amount added to the
Consolidated Balance Sheets and the amounts removed (if any)
upon initial adoption of FIN 46 must be recorded in earnings as
the cumulative effect of an accounting change.

Based upon our initial review of entities with which we are
involved through variable interests, we believe that some of these
entities are VIEs for which we will have to make disclosures or
which we will be required to consolidate when we apply FIN 46
in the third quarter of 2003. The VIEs for which we are the
primary beneficiary (and therefore will have to consolidate)
include the High Desert Power Project, a geothermal power
project, the Safe Harbor Water Power Corporation, and an office
building in Annapolis, Maryland, that we partially occupy. The
other VIEs with which we are involved (but not as primary
beneficiary) include certain other power projects and fuel
processing facilities.

Our variable interests in these entities generally consist of
equity investments and, in some instances, guarantees of the
entities’ debt or the value of the entities assets. The following is
summary information about these entities as of December 31,
2002:

Primary Significant
Beneficiary  Interest Total

(In millions)
Total assets $802 $472 $1,274
Tocal liabilities 618 419 1,037
Our ownership interest 124 19 143
Other ownership interests 60 34 94

Our maximum exposure to

loss 662 68 730




We believe that the net amount we will add to our

Consolidated Balance Sheets when we consolidate VIEs for
which we are the primary beneficiary is approximately equal to
our recorded investment and will not result in recording a
cumulative effect of an accounting change upon initial adoption
of FIN 46. The maximum exposure to loss represents the loss
that we would incur if our investment in all of these entities
were to become worthless and we were required to fund the full
amount of all guarantees associated witch these entities. Our
maximum exposure to loss as of December 31, 2002 consists of
the following:

¢ our guarantee of $507 million of the High Desert lease
and a portion of other committed expenses as discussed
in Note 10,
our recorded investment in these VIEs totaling
$196 million, and

& guarantees of $27 million of the debt of these VIEs.

We assess the risk of a loss equal to our maximum exposure
to be remote.

*

EITF 02-3

On October 25, 2002, the EITF reached a consensus on Issue
02-3, Recognition and Reporting of Gains and Losses on Energy
Trading Contracts Under EITF Issues No. 98-10 and No. 00-17,
that changed the accounting for certain energy contracts. The
main provisions of EITF 02-3 are as follows:

# EITF 02-3 prohibits the use of mark-to-market
accounting for any energy-related contracts that are not
derivatives. Any contracts subject to EITF 02-3 must be
accounted for on the accrual basis and recorded in the
income statement gross rather than net upon application
of EITF 02-3. This change applied immediately to new
contracts executed after October 25, 2002 and applied
1o existing non-derivative energy-related contracts
beginning January 1, 2003.

¢ We are required to report the impact of initially

applying EITF 02-3 as the cumulative effect of a change
in accounting principle effective January 1, 2003.

The EITF minutes on Issue 02-3 indicate that an entity
should not record unrealized gains or losses at the
inception of derivative contracts unless the fair value of
the contracts is evidenced by observable marker data.

Applying EITF 02-3 will not affect our cash flows or our

accounting for new load-serving contracts for which we have
been using accrual accounting since early 2002. Additionally, we
continued to mark existing non-derivative energy-related
contracts to market for the remainder of 2002. However, EITF
02-3 requires us to record a non-cash, cumulative effect
adjustment to convert these non-derivative mark-to-market
contracts to accrual accounting no later than January 1, 2003.
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We reviewed our portfolio of mark-to-market contracts to
identify the contracts that are subject to the requirements of
EITF 02-3. The primary contracts that are affected are our full
requirements load-serving contracts and unit-contingent power
purchase contracts, which are not derivatives. The majority of
these contracts are in Texas and New England and were entered
into prior to the shift to accrual accounting eatlier in 2002.
Additionally, we reviewed derivatives we use as supply sources
and hedges of contracts that are subject to EITF 02-3. To the
extent permitted by SFAS No. 133, we designated derivative
contracts used to fulfill our load-serving contracts as either
normal purchases or cash flow hedges under SFAS No. 133
effective January 1, 2003.

We summarize the impact on our Consolidated Balance
Sheets of applying EITF 02-3 on January 1, 2003 as follows:

Assets

Liabilities  Net

(In millions)

Mark-to-market energy contracts

Current $ 144.0 $§ 941 % 499

Noncurrent 1,348.2 881.5  466.7

Total 1,492.2 975.6  516.6
Other

Current 85.7 56.8 28.9

Noncurrent 24.2 2.5 21.7

Total 109.9 59.3 50.6
Balance at December 31, 2002 1,602.1  1,0349 567.2
Impact of EITF 02-3 Adoption
Non-derivative net asset reversed

as cumulative effect of a change

in accounting principle

Mark-to-market energy

contracts (494.7) (119.8) (374.9)

Other (109.9) (59.3)  (50.6)
Total non-derivative net asset

reversed as cumulative effect of

a change in accounting

principle (604.6) (179.1) (425.5)
Derivatives designated as hedges (88.3) (94.4) 6.1
Derivatives designated as normal

purchases and sales (192.6) (128.3) (64.3)

Mark-to-market derivatives
remaining after adoption of
EITF 02-3 on January 1, 2003 $ 7166 $ 633.1 $ 835




On January 1, 2003, we recorded the $425.5 million
non-derivative net asset removed from our Consolidated
Balance Sheets as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting
principle, which will reduce our 2003 net income by
$263 million. The $425.5 million represents $374.9 million of
non-derivative contracts recorded as “Mark-to-market energy
assets and liabilities” and $50.6 million of “Other assets and
liabilities” from the re-designation of Texas contracts to accrual
accounting earlier in 2002. The fair value of these contracts
will be recognized in earnings as power is delivered.

Additionally, on January 1, 2003, we reclassified the fair
value of derivatives designated as hedges as “Risk management
assets and liabilities” in the balance sheet and will account for
these hedges in accordance with the provisions of SFAS
No. 133, At that time, we also reclassified the fair value of
derivatives designated as normal purchases and normal sales as
“Other assets and liabilities” in the balance sheet and will
account for these contracts on the accrual basis, with the fair

value amortized into earnings over the lives of the underlying

contracts.

2 impairment Losses, Workforce Reduction, Contract Termination, and Other Special items

2002 Events
Pre-Tax  After-Tax

(In millions)

Worlforce reduction costs:

Costs associated with 2001 programs $(50.8) $ (30.8)
Costs associated with programs
initiated in 2002 (12.0) (7.2)
Total workforce reduction costs (62.8) (38.0)
Impairment losses and other costs:
Impairments of investments in
qualifying facilities and power
projects (14.4) (9.9)
Costs associated with exit of BGE
Home merchandise stores (9.0) 6.1)
Impairments of real estate and
international investments (1.8) (1.2)
Total impairment losses and other costs (25.2) (17.2)
Net gain on sales of investments and
other assets 261.3 166.7
Total special items $173.3 § 1115

Workforce Reduction Costs

During 2002, we incurred costs related to workforce reduction
efforts initiated in the fourth quarter of 2001 as discussed in
this Note and additional initiatives undertaken in the third
quarter of 2002. We discuss these costs in more detail below.

Costs associated with 2001 Programs
In 2002, we recorded $63.7 million of net workforce reduction
costs associated with our 2001 workforce initiatives as discussed
below. The $63.7 million included $50.8 million recognized as
expense, of which BGE recognized $33.8 million. The
remaining $12.9 million was recognized by BGE as a regulatory
asset related to its gas business as discussed in Noze 3.
¢ We recorded $52.9 million when 308 employees elected
the age 50 to 54 Voluntary Special Early Retirement
Program (VSERP).
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© We reversed $17.8 million of the $25.1 million
involuntary severance accrual that was recorded in 2001
to reflect the employees that elected the age 50 to 54
VSERP. Ultimately, we involuntarily severed 129
employees that resulted in a total cost for the
involuntary severance program of $7.3 million.

We recorded $29.6 million of settlement charges related
to our pension plans under SFAS No. 88, Employers’
Accounting for Settlements and Curtailments of Defined
Benefit Pension Plans and for Termination Benefits. These
charges reflect the recognition of actuarial gains and
losses associated with employees who have retired and
taken their pension in the form of a lump-sum
payment. Under SFAS No. 88, the settlement charge
could not be recognized until lump-sum pension
payments exceeded annual pension plan service and
interest cost, which occurred in 2002.

We recorded a $1.6 million expense associated with
deferred payments to employees eligible for the VSERP,
Partially offsetting these costs, we reversed approximately
$2.6 million of previously accrued workforce reduction
costs primarily as a result of the reversal of education
and outplacement assistance benefits we accrued that
employees did not utilize to the extent expected.

In 2002, we completed the 2001 workforce reduction
programs. Accordingly, no involuntary severance liability
recorded under EITF 94-3, Liability Recognition for Certain
Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity
(including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring) remained at
December 31, 2002.

Costs associated with 2002 Programs
In 2002, we recorded $12.0 million of expenses for anticipated
involuntary severance costs in accordance with EITF 94-3
associated with new workforce reduction initiatives as follows:
¢ We recorded $8.5 million for workforce reduction costs
for the severance of 120 employees at Calvert Cliffs
Nuclear Power Plant (Calvert Cliffs).




& We recorded $1.6 million of workforce reduction costs
for the severance of 27 employees in our information
technology organization. BGE recorded $0.6 million of
this amount.

¢ We recorded $1.9 million of workforce reduction costs
for the severance of 20 employees in our legal
organization. BGE recorded $0.9 million of this
amount.
At December 31, 2002, the involuntary severance liability
recorded under EITF 94-3 for our 2002 workforce reduction

programs was $12.0 million.

Impairment Losses and Other Costs
Investments in Qualifying Facilities and Power Projects
In the third quarter of 2002, our merchant energy business

recorded impairment losses on certain of the investments in
qualifying facilities and power projects totaling $14.4 million
under the provisions of APB No. 18. We describe these
investments in Note 4. The provisions of APB No. 18 require
that an impairment loss be recognized when an investment
experiences a loss in value that is other than temporary as
discussed in Noze 1.

During the third quarter of 2002, we performed an analysis
of whether any of the investments were impaired. As a result of
our analysis, we concluded that the declines in value of
particular investments in certain qualifying facilities and power
projects were other than temporary in nature under the
provisions of APB No. 18 and we recognized the following losses
in 2002:

& We recognized a $5.2 million other than temporary
decline in value of our investment in a partnership that
owns a geothermal project in Nevada. This project
experienced a well implosion and we believe that the
expected cash flows from the project will not be
sufficient to recover our equity interest in that
partnership.

& We recognized a $2.6 million other than temporary
decline in value of our investment in a fuel processing
site in Pennsylvania where the expected cash flows from
a sublease are no longer expected to be sufficient to
recover our lease costs associated with this site.
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We recognized a $6.6 million other than temporary
decline in value of our investment in a partnership that
owns a waste burning power project in Michigan. In
2001, we recognized a $6.1 million pre-tax impairment
loss on this investment because we expected operating
cash flows would not be sufficient to pay existing debt
service and that we would not be able to recover our
equity investment. However, at that time, we believed
that we would recover our senior working capital loans
receivable and accounts receivable for operating the
project. As of the third quarter of 2002, the operating
performance of the project did not improve as expected,
and we believed the expected future cash flows were no
longer sufficient to recover these receivables. Therefore,
we recognized an additional impairment loss on this
investment.

Closing of BGE Home Retail Merchandise Stores

In September 2002, we announced our decision to close our
BGE Home retail merchandise stores. In connection with that
decision, we recognized approximately $9.5 million in exit costs.

We recognized $2.9 million related to expected severance costs
for 93 employees and $2.9 million of costs in connection with
the termination of leases for the eight stores and other exit costs
in accordance with EITF 94-3.

We also recognized $3.2 million for the write-off of
unamortized leasehold improvements in accordance with SFAS
No. 144, and $0.5 million for the write-down of inventory to a
lower-of-cost-or-market valuation in accordance with Accounting
Research Bulletin No. 43, Restatement and Revision of Accounting
Research Bulletins. The $0.5 million is included in “Operating
expenses” in our Consolidated Statements of Income.

Real Estate and International Investments

As discussed in the 2001 Events section on the next page, we
changed our strategy from an intent to hold to an intent to sell
for certain of our non-core assets in 2001. During 2002, we
determined that the fair value of several real estate projects and

our investment in a South American generation project declined
below their respective book values due to deteriorating market
conditions for these projects. Accordingly, we recorded losses
that totaled $1.8 million for these projects in accordance with
SFAS No. 144 and APB No. 18.

Ner Gain on Sales of Investments and Other Assets

In February 2002, Reliant Resources, Inc. acquired all of the
outstanding shares of Orion Power Holdings, Inc. (Orion) for
$26.80 per share, including the shares we owned of Orion. We
received cash proceeds of $454.1 million and recognized a gain
of $255.5 million on the sale of our investment.



In the fourth quarter of 2001, we announced our decision
to focus efforts and capital on core domestic energy businesses
and undertook a plan to sell 2 number of non-core businesses
and investments. In 2002, we made further progress on this
initiative, and recognized approximately $5.8 million in net
gains from the sale of several non-core assets including:

4 Our other nonregulated businesses recognized gains
totaling $6.7 million on the sale of several parcels of
real estate and financial investments.

In October 2002, we sold all of our 18 senior-living
facilities for $77.2 million that represents a combination
of cash and the assumption by the buyer of existing
mortgages. Our other nonregulated businesses recognized
a $2.8 million gain on the sale of our entire ownership
interest in these facilities.

Our merchant energy business recognized a $2.3 million
gain on the sale of a discontinued wind-powered
development project.

In 2001, our merchant energy business recognized an
impairment loss on four turbines, associated with a
discontinued development program as discussed in the
2001 Events section. Since that time, many other
companies canceled development projects and the
.market values for turbines have declined significantly.
Orders for three of the four turbines were canceled with
termination fees paid to the manufacturer consistent
with the amount recognized in December 2001. The
fourth turbine-generator set was sold during 2002 for
$6.0 million below its book value.

2001 Events

Pre- After-
Tax Tax
(In millions)

Workforce reduction costs:

Voluntary termination benefits—VSERP  § (70.1) $ (42.5)
Settlement and curtailment charges (16.3) (9.9)
Involuntary severance accrual (19.3) (11.7)
Total workforce reduction costs (105.7) (64.1)
Contract termination related costs (224.8) (139.6)
Impairment losses and other costs:
Cancellation of domestic power projects (46.9) (30.5)
Impairments of real estate, senior-living
and international investments (107.3) (69.7)
Reduction of financial investment (4.6) (2.8)
Total impairment losses and other costs (158.8)  (103.0)
Net gain on the sales of investments and
other assets 6.2 1.9
Total special items $(483.1) $(304.8)
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Workforce Reduction Costs
Voluntary Special Early Retirement Programs—VSERP

In the fourth quarter of 2001, we undertook several measures to
reduce our workforce through both voluntary and involuntary
means. The purpose of these programs was to reduce our
operating costs to become more competitive. We offered several
workforce reduction programs to employees of Constellation
Energy and certain subsidiaries. The first group of these
programs offered enhanced eatly retirement benefits to
employees age 55 or older with 10 or more years of service. The
second group of these programs offered enhanced early
retirement benefits to employees age 50 to 54 with 20 or more
years of service.

Since employees electing to participate in the age 55 or
older VSERP had to make their elections by the end of 2001,
the cost of that program was reflected in 2001. The
$70.1 million in the above table reflects the portion of the total
cost of that program charged to expense for the 507 employees
that elected to participate. BGE recorded $37.9 million of this
amount. BGE also recorded $13.7 million on its balance sheet
as a regulatory asset related to its gas business as discussed in
Note 5.

Settlement and Curtailment Charges

In connection with the age 55 or older VSERD, a significant
number of the participants in our nonqualified pension plans
retired. As a result, we recognized a settlement loss of
approximately $10.5 million and a curtailment loss of

approximately $5.8 million for those plans in accordance with
SFAS No. 88. BGE recorded $6.6 million of this amount.
Additional details on the VSERP and their impact on our
pension and postretitement benefit plans are discussed in Noze 6.

Involuntary Severance Accrual
The voluntary programs were designed, offered, and timed to

minimize the number of employees who would be involuntarily
severed under our overall workforce reduction plan. Qur
workforce reduction plan identified 435 jobs to be eliminated
over and above position reductions expected to be satisfied
through the age 55 or older VSERP and was specific as to
company, organizational unit, and position. However, the
number of employees that would elect to voluntarily retire under
the age 50 to 54 VSERP and how many would thereafter be
involuncarily severed was not known until after the election
period of the VSERP ended in February 2002.

In accordance with EITF 94-3, the Company recognized a
liability of $25.1 million at December 31, 2001 for the targeted
number of involuntary terminations that would have resulted if
no employees elected the age 50 to 54 VSERP. The
$19.3 million in the table above represents involuntary severance
charged to expense in 2001 in connection with our workforce
reduction programs. BGE recorded $12.5 million of this
amount. BGE also recorded $5.8 million on its balance sheet as
a regulatory asset related to its gas business as discussed in
Note 5. '




Contract Termination Related Costs
On October 26, 2001, we announced the decision to remain a
single company and canceled prior plans to separate our

merchant energy business from our remaining businesses.

We also announced the termination of our power business
services agreement with Goldman Sachs. We paid Goldman
Sachs a total of $355 million, representing $196.7 million to
terminate the power business services agreement with our
origination and risk management operation and $159 million
previously recognized as a payable for services rendered under
the agreement.

In addition, we terminated a software agreement we had
whereby Goldman Sachs would provide maintenance, support,

and minor upgrades to our risk management and trading system.

We recognized $17.6 million in expense in the fourth quarter of
2001 representing the unamortized prepaid costs related to this
agreement. Finally, we incurred approximately $10.5 million in
employee-related expenses and advisory costs from investment
bankers and legal counsel. In total, we recognized expenses of
approximately $224.8 million in the fourth quarter of 2001
relating to the termination of our relationship with Goldman
Sachs and our decision not to separate.

Inpairment Losses and Other Costs
Cancellation of Domestic Power Projects
In the fourth quarter of 2001, our merchant energy business

recorded impairments of 846.9 million primarily due to

$40.8 million in impairments associated with the termination of
our planned development projects in Texas, California, Florida,
and Massachusetts not under construction. We decided to
terminate our development projects due to the expected excess
generation capacity in most domestic markets and the significant
decline in the forward market prices of electricity. The
impairments include amounts paid for the purchase of four
turbines related to these development projects. In addition, we
recognized $6.1 million for an other than temporary decline in
the value of our investment in a waste burning power plant in
Michigan where operating cash flows are not sufficient to pay
existing debrt service and we are not likely to recover our equity
interest in this investment.
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Impairments of Real Fstate, Senior-Living, and Other International
Investments
In the fourth quarter of 2001, our other nonregulated businesses

recorded $107.3 million in impairments of certain real estate
projects, senior-living facilities, and international assets to reflect
the fair value of these investments. These investments represent
non-core assets with a book value of approximately

$140.6 million after these impairments. As part of our focus on
capital and cash requirements and on our core energy businesses,
the following occurred:

¢ We decided to sell six real estate projects without further
development and all of our 18 senior-living facilities in
2002 and accelerate the exit strategies for two other real
estate projects that we will continue to hold and own
over the next several years. The real estate projects
include approximately 1,300 acres of land holdings in
various stages of development located in seven sites in
the central Maryland region and an operating waste
water treatment plant located in Anne Arundel County,
Maryland. In 2002, we sold approximately 800 acres of
land holdings.

We decided to accelerate the exit strategy for our
interest in a Panamanian electric distribution company.
As a non-core asset, management has decided to reduce
the cost and risk of holding this asset indefinitely and
intends to dispose of this asset.

We incurred an other than temporary decline in our
equity-method investment in the Bolivian Generating
Group, which owns an interest in an electric generation
concession in Bolivia. This decline in value resulted
from a deterioration of our investment’s position in the
dispatch curve of its capacity market. As a result, we
recorded the impairment in accordance with the
provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion

No. 18.

The impairments of our real estate, senior-living facilities,
and Panama investments resulted from our change from an
intent to hold to an intent to sell certain of these non-core
assets in 2002, and our decision to limit future costs and risks
by accelerating the exit strategies for certain assers that cannot be
sold by the end of 2002. Previously, our strategy for these
investments was to hold them until we could obtain reasonable
value. Under that strategy, the expected cash flows were greater
than our investment and no impairment was recognized.

Reduction of Financial Investment

Our financial investments operation recorded a $4.6 million
reduction of its investment in a leased aircraft due to the other
than temporary decline in the estimated residual value of used
airplanes as a result of the September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks
and the general downturn in the aviation industry. This
investment is accounted for as a leveraged lease under SFAS
No. 13, Accounting for Leases.




Ner Gain on Sales of Investnents and Other Assets

During 2001, our other nonregulated businesses recognized
$49.5 million on the sale of non-core assets, including a
$14.9 million gain on the sale of one million shares of our
Orion investment and $34.6 million on the sales of other
financial investments.

In addition, in 2001, we sold our Guatemalan power plant
operations to an affiliate of Duke Energy International, LLC, the
international business unit of Duke Energy. Through this sale,
Duke Energy acquired Grupo Generador de Guatemala y Cia.,
S.C.A., which owns two generating plants at Esquintla and Lake
Amatitlan in Guatemala. The combined capacity of the plants is
167 megawatts.

We decided to sell our Guatemalan operations to focus our

efforts on our core energy businesses. As a result of this
transaction, we are no longer committed to making significant
future capital investments in a non-core operation. We recorded
a $43.3 million loss on this sale.

2000 Events
In 2000, BGE offered a targeted VSERD to employees ages 55
or older with 10 or more years of service in targeted positions
that elected to retire on June 1, 2000 to reduce our operating
costs to become more competitive. BGE recorded approximately
$10.0 million pre-tax for employees that elected to participate in
the program. Of this amount, BGE recorded approximately
$3.0 million on its balance sheet as a regulatory asset of its gas
business. BGE is amortizing this regulatory asset over a 5-year
period as provided by the June 2000 Maryland PSC gas base
rate order as discussed in Noze 5. The remaining $7.0 million,
or $4.2 million after-tax, related to BGE’s electric business and
was charged to expense.

In addition, we recognized $78.1 million pre-tax, or
$47.2 million after-tax, gains including $15.7 million pre-tax, or
$9.5 million after-tax, on the sale of two million shares of our
Orion investment and $62.4 million pre-tax, or $37.7 million
after-tax, on the sales of other financial investments.

3 Information by Operating Segment

Our reportable operating segments are—Merchant Energy,
Regulated Electric, and Regulated Gas:
¢ Our nonregulated merchant energy business in North
America includes: :

— fossil, nuclear, and hydroelectric generating
facilities and interests in qualifying facilities and
power projects in the United States,
origination of structured transactions (such as
load-serving, tolling contracts, and power
purchase agreements), and risk management
services (hedging of output from generating
facilities and fuel costs),
electric and gas retail energy services to large
commercial and industrial customers, and
— generation and consulting services.

& Our regulated electric business purchases, transmits,

distributes, and sells electricity in Maryland.

& Our regulated gas business purchases, transports, and

sells natural gas in Maryland.

Effective July 1, 2000, the financial results of the electric
generation portion of our business are included in the merchant
energy business segment. Prior to that date, the financial results
of electric generation are included in our regulated electric
business.
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¢ Our remaining nonregulated businesses:

~ design, construct, and operate single-site heating,
cooling, and cogeneration facilities for commercial
and industrial customers,
service electric and gas appliances, and heating
and air conditioning systems, engage in home
improvements, and sell electricity and natural gas,
and
own and operate a district cooling system for
commercial customers.

In addition, we own several investments that we do not
consider to be core operations. These include financial
investments, real estate projects, and interests in a Latin
American power distribution project and in a fund that holds
interests in two South American energy projects. We decided to
sell certain non-core assets and accelerated the exit strategies of
other projects. We sold certain non-core assets in 2002 and
closed our retail merchandise stores in December 2002.

These reportable segments are strategic businesses based
principally upon regulations, products, and services that require
different technology and marketing strategies. We evaluate the
performance of these segments based on net income. We
account for intersegment revenues using market prices. We
present 2 summary of information by operating segment on the
next page.

We have reclassified certain prior-year information for
comparative purposes based on our reportable operating
segments.




Unallocated

Merchant  Regulated  Regulated Other Corporate
Energy Electric Gas Nonregulated  Items and
Business Business Business Businesses Eliminations  Consolidated
(In millions)

2002
Unaffiliated revenues $1,629.5 $1,965.6 $ 570.5 $ 537.4 $ — $4,703.0
Intersegment revenues 1,136.2 0.4 10.8 — (1,147.4) —
Total revenues 2,765.7 1,966.0 581.3 537.4 (1,147.4) 4,703.0
Depreciation and amortization 242.8 174.2 47.4 16.6 — 481.0
Fixed charges 102.0 128.4 25.9 25.2 — 281.5
Income tax expense 127.2 67.1 22.4 92.9 — 309.6
Nert income (a) 247.2 99.3 31.1 148.0 —_ 525.6
Segment assets 8,866.0 3,565.1 1,140.4 913.0 (355.6) 14,128.9
Capiral expenditures 641.0 167.0 50.0 65.0 — 923.0
2001
Unaffiliated revenues $ 6143 $2039.6 $ 6743 $ 550.6 $ — $3,878.8
Intersegment revenues 1,151.2 0.4 6.4 2.0 (1,160.0) —
Total revenues 1,765.5 2,040.0 680.7 552.6 (1,160.0) 3,878.8
Depreciation and amortization 174.9 173.3 47.7 23.2 — 419.1
Fixed charges 25.8 135.8 28.5 48.7 — 238.8
Income tax expense (benefit) 25.2 36.8 25.7 (49.8) — 37.9
Cumulative effect of change in accounting

principle — — — 8.5 — 8.5
Net income (loss) (b) 93.1 50.9 37.5 (90.6) — 90.9
Segment assets 8,123.9 3,764.9 1,104.2 1,314.0 (197.6) 14,109.4
Capital expenditures 1,044.0 180.3 58.7 35.0 — 1,318.0
2000
Unaffiliated revenues $ 421.1 $2,1347 § 603.8 $ 614.8 $ — $3,774.4
Intersegment revenues 604.6 0.5 7.8 20.4 (633.3) —
Total revenues 1,025.7 2,135.2 611.6 635.2 (633.3) 3,774.4
Depreciation and amortization 83.6 319.9 46.2 20.3 — 470.0
Equity in income of equity-method

investees (c) — 2.4 —_ — — 2.4
Fixed charges i8.3 168.4 27.3 65.8 (8.4) 271.4
Income tax expense 118.5 72.2 21.9 17.5 — 230.1
Net income (d) 198.6 102.3 30.6 13.8 — 345.3
Segment assets 7,295.5 3,392.3 1,089.9 1,491.5 (329.9) 12,939.3
Capirtal expenditures 699.0 290.3 59.7 131.5 — 1,180.5

(@) Our merchant energy business, our regulated electric business, our regulated gas business, and our other nonregulated businesses
recognized after-tax charges (income) of $28.3 million, $20.5 million, $0.8 million, and ($161.1 million), respectively, for workforce
reduction costs, business exit costs, impairment losses and other costs, and net gains on sales of investments and other assets as described

in more detail in Note 2.

(b)  Our merchant energy business, our regulated electric business, our regulated gas business, and our other nonregulated businesses
recognized afier-tax charges of $198.1 million, $33.6 million, $0.8 million, and $72.3 million, respectively, for workforce reduction
costs, contract termination related costs, impairment losses and other costs, and a net gain on sales of investments and other assets as

described more fully in Note 2.

(¢)  Our merchant energy business records its equity in the income of equity-method investees in unaffiliated revenues.

(d) Our reguiated electric business recorded an after-tax charge of $4.2 million related 1o employees that elected to participate in a
Voluntary Special Early Retirement Program. In addition, our merchant energy business recorded a $15.0 million afier-tax deregularion
transition cost incurred by our origination and risk management operation. Our other nonregulated businesses also recorded a net gain

of $47.2 million on sales of investments and other assets.
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é fnvestments

Real Estate Projects and Investments
Real estate projects and investments consist of the following:

2002 2001
{In millions)

At December 31,

Operating properties and properties under

development $77.8 $101.4
Equity interest in real estate investments 8.3 109.3
Total real estate projects and investments $86.1 $210.7

In March 2002, we sold all of our Corporate Office
Properties Trust equity-method investment, approximarely
8.9 million shares, as part of a public offering, We received cash
proceeds of $101.3 million on the sale, which approximated the
book value of our investment.

See Note 2 for a discussion of impairments recorded in
2002 and 2001.

investments in Qualifying Facilities and Power Projects
Our merchant energy business holds up to a 50% ownership
interest in 28 operating domestic energy projects that consist of
electric generation, fuel processing, or fuel handling facilities. Of
these 28 projects, 20 are “qualifying facilities” that receive certain
exemptions and pricing under the Public Utility Regulatory
Policy Act of 1978 based on the facilities’ energy source or the
use Of a Cogencration process.

Investments in qualifying facilities and domestic power
projects held by our merchant energy business consist of the
following:

At December 31, 2002 2001
(In millions)
Geothermal $151.4 $162.0
Coal 133.9 160.4
Hydroelectric 62.6 62.3
Biomass 52.6 59.4
Fuel Processing 23.2 33.6
Solar 1¢.5 10.7
Waste to Energy ’ —_ 2.6
Total $434.2 $491.0

The investment in qualifying facilities and domestic power
projects were accounted for under the following methods:

At December 31, 2002 2001
(In millions)
Equity Method $423.7 $480.3
Cost Method 10.5 10.7
Total power projects $434.2 $491.0

Qur percentage voting interest in qualifying facilities and
domestic power projects accounted for under the equity method
ranges from 16% to 50%. Equity in earnings of these power
projects were $9.1 million in 2002, $23.1 millien in 2001, and
$50.2 million in 2000.

Qur power projects accounted for under the equity method
include investments of $260.6 million in 2002 and
$296.4 million in 2001 thar sell electricity in California under
power purchase agreements called “Interim Standard Offer
No. 4” agreements. We discuss these projects further in Note 11.

Our other nonregulated businesses also held international
energy projects accounted for under the equity method of
$5.0 million at December 31, 2002 and $8.1 million at
December 31, 2001.

See Note 2 for a discussion of impairments recorded in
2002 and 2001. '

Orion and Financial investments
Financial investments consist of the following:

At December 31, 2002 2001
(Tn millions)
Orion $ — $442.5
Marketable equity securities — 20.2
Financial limited partnerships 24.2 25.8
Leveraged leases 12.7 14.7
Total financial investments $ 36.9 $503.2

We discuss the sale of our investment in Orion in Noze 2,

Investments Classified as Available-for-Sale
We classify the following investments as available-for-sale:

@ nuclear decommissioning trust funds,

@ our other nonregulated businesses’ marketable equity

securities (shown above), and

@ trust assets securing certain executive benefits.

This means we do not expect to hold them to maturity,
and we do not consider them trading securities.




We show the fair values, gross unrealized gains and losses,
and amortized cost bases for all of our available-for-sale
securities, in the following rables. We use specific identification

to determine cost in computing realized gains and losses, except
we used the average cost basis for our investment in Orion.

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Basis  Gains Losses Value

(In millions)

Marketable equity securities $642.6 $18.9  $(69.2) $592.3
Corporate debt and U.S.

At December 31, 2002

Government agency 51.5 1.7 (0.1) 531
State municipal bonds 22,0 1.3 — 23.3
Totals $716.1 $21.9 $(69.3) $668.7

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
Cost Basis  Gains Losses

(In millions)

At December 31, 2001 Fair Value

Marketable equity

securities $816.1 $270.6 $(10.3) $1,076.4
Corporate debt and U.S.

Government agency 47.7 1.5 — 49.2
State municipal bonds 38.4 3.3 0.2) 41.5
Totals $902.2 $275.4 $(10.5) $1,167.]

In addition to the above securities, the nuciear
decommissioning trust funds included $14.0 million at
December 31, 2002 and $7.7 million at December 31, 2001 of
cash and cash equivalents.

The preceding tables include $47.4 million in 2002 of net
unrealized losses and $21.0 million in 2001 of net unrealized
gains associated with the nuclear decommissioning trust funds
that are reflected as a change in the nuclear decommissioning
trust funds in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Gross and net realized gains and losses on available-for-sale
securities, excluding the gains on our sales of the Orion
investment, were as follows:

2002 2001 2000

(In millions)

Gross realized gains $6.0 $47.6 $54.5
Gross realized losses (9.5) (7.9) (8.0)

$(3.5) $39.7 $46.5

The corporate debt securities, U.S. Government agency

Nert realized (losses) gains

obligations, and state municipal bonds mature on the following

schedule:

At December 31, 2002 Amount
(In millions)
Less than 1 year $ 5.4
1-5 years 30.7
5-10 years 22.1
More than 10 years 18.2
Toral maturities of debt securities $76.4

5 Reguiatory Assets {net}

As discussed in Note I, the Maryland PSC and the FERC
provide the final determination of the rates we charge our
customers for our regulated businesses. Generally, we use the
same accounting policies and practices used by nonregulated
companies for financial reporting under accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. However,
sometimes the Maryland PSC orders an accounting treatment
different from that used by nonregulated companies to
determine the rates we charge our customers. When this
happens, we must defer certain utility expenses and income in
our Consolidated Balance Sheets as regulatory assets and
liabilities. We then record them in our Consolidated Statements
of Income (using amortization) when we include them in the
rates we charge our customers.
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We summarize regulatory assets and liabilities in the
following table, and we discuss each of them separately below.

At December 31, 2002 2001
(In millions)

Electric generation-related regulatory asser  $230.1 $249.0
Income taxes recoverable through furure

rates (net) 88.8 95.6
Deferred postretirement and

postemployment benefit costs 32.3 35.5
Deferred environmental costs 23.2 26.0
Deferred fuel costs (ner) 1.9 33.5
Workforce reduction costs 28.2 21.6
Other (net) 1.2 2.6
Total regulatory assets (net) $405.7 $463.8




Electric Generation-Related Regulatory Asset

As a result of the deregulation of electric generation, BGE no
longer met the requirements for the application of SFAS No. 71
for the electric generation portion of its business. In accordance
with SFAS No. 101 and EITF 97-4, all individual generation-
related reguiatory assets and liabilities must be eliminated from
our balance sheet unless these regulatory assets and liabilities will
be recovered in the regulated portion of the business. BGE
wrote-off all of its individual, generation-related regulatory assets
and liabilities. BGE established a single, new generation-related
regulatory asset for amounts to be collected through its regulated
transmission and distribution business. The new regulatory asset
is being amortized on a basis that approximates the pre-existing
individual regulatory asset amortization schedules.

A portion of this regulatory asset represents the
decommissioning and decontamination fund payment for federal
uranium enrichment facilities that does not earn a return on the
rate base investment. These amounts were $16.3 million at
December 31, 2002 and $19.2 million at December 31, 2001.
Prior to the deregulation of electric generation, these costs were
recovered through the electric fuel rate mechanism, and were
excluded from rate base. We will continue to amortize this
amount through 2008.

income Taxes Recoverable Through Future Rates {net)
As described in Note I, income taxes recoverable through future
rates are the portion of our net deferred income rax liability that
is applicable to our regulated utility business, but has not been
reflected in the rates we charge our customers. These income
taxes represent the tax effect of temporary differences in
depreciation and the allowance for equity funds used during
construction, offset by differences in deferred tax rates and
deferred taxes on deferred investment tax credits. We amortize
these amounts as the temporary differences reverse.

Deferred Postretirement and Postempioyment Benefit
Cosis

Deferred postretirement and postemployment benefit costs are
the costs we recorded under SFAS No. 106 (for postrerirement
benefits) and No. 112 (for postemployment benefits) in excess of
the costs we included in the rates we charge our customers. We
began amortizing these costs over a 15-year period in 1998. We
discuss these costs further in Note 6.
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Deferred Environmental Costs

Deferred environmental costs are the estimated costs of
investigating and cleaning up contaminated sites we own. We
discuss this further in Noge 11. We are amortizing $21.6 million
of these costs {the amount we had incurred through

October 1995} and $6.4 million of these costs (the amount we
incurred from November 1995 through June 2000) over 10-year
periods in accordance with the Maryland PSC’s orders.

Deferred Fuel Costs

As described in Note 1, deferred fuel costs are the difference
between our actual costs of natural gas and our fuel rate
revenues collected from customers. We reduce deferred fuel costs
as we collect them from or refund them to our customers.

In December 2002, a Hearing Examiner from the
Maryland PSC issued a proposed order related to our annual gas
adjustment clause review proceeding that will allow us to recover
$1.7 million of a previously established regulatory asset of
$9.4 million for certain credics that were over-refunded to
customers through our market-based rates. BGE reserved the
remaining difference of $7.7 million as disallowed fuel costs.
However, we appealed the proposed order. As of the date of this
report, the Maryland PSC has not acted on BGE’s appeal.

Our gas deferred fuel costs were $1.9 million at
December 31, 2002 and $33.5 million at December 31, 2001.

We exclude gas deferred fuel costs from rate base because
their existence is relatively short-lived. These costs are recovered
in the following year through the market-based rate mechanism.

Workforce Reduction Costs

The portions of the costs associated with the VSERP and
workforce reduction programs we announced chac relate to
BGE’s gas business are deferred as regulatory assets in accordance
with the Maryland PSC’s orders in prior rate cases. These costs
are amortized over 5-year periods. See Note 2 and Note 6.




6 Pension, Postretirement, Other Postemployment, and Employee Savings Plan Benefits

We offer pension, postretirement, other postemployment, and
employee savings plan benefits. We describe each of these
separately below. Nine Mile Point offers its own pension,
postretirement, other postemployment, and employee savings
plan benefits to its employees. The benefits for Nine Mile Point
are included in the tables beginning on the next page.

Pension Benefits

We sponsor several defined benefit pension plans for our
employees. These include basic qualified plans that most
employees participate in and several nonqualified plans chat are
available only to certain employees. A defined benefit plan
specifies the amount of benefits a plan participant is o receive
using information about the participant. Employees do not
contribute to these plans. Generally, we calculate the benefits
under these plans based on age, years of service, and pay.

Sometimes we amend the plans retroactively. These
retroactive plan amendments require us to recalculate benefits
related to participants’ past service. We amortize the change in
the benefit costs from these plan amendments on a straight-line
basis over the average remaining service period of active
employees.

We fund the plans by contributing at least the minimum
amount required under Internal Revenue Service regulations. We
calculate the amount of funding using an actuarial method
called the projected unit credit cost method. The assets in all of
the plans at December 31, 2002 were mostly marketable equity
and fixed income securities.

Postretirement Benefits

We sponsor defined benefit postretirement health care and life
insurance plans that cover substantially all of our employees.
Generally, we calculate the benefits under these plans based on
age, years of service, and pension benefit levels. We do not fund
these plans.

For nearly all of the health care plans, retirees make
contributions to cover a portion of the plan costs.

Contributions for employees who retire after June 30, 1992
are calculated based on age and years of service. The amount of
retiree contributions increases based on expected increases in
medical costs. For the life insurance plan, retirees do not make
contributions to cover a portion of the plan costs.

Effective January 1, 1993, we adopted SFAS No. 106,
Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than
Pensions. The adoption of that statement caused:

¢ a transition obligation, which we are amortizing over

20 years, and
@ an increase in annual postretirement benefit costs.
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For our regulated utilicy business, we accounted for the
increase in annual postretirement benefit costs under two
Maryland PSC rate orders:

¢ in an April 1993 rate order, the Maryland PSC allowed
us to expense one-half and defer, as a regulatory asset
(see Note 5), the other half of the increase in annual
postretirement benefit costs related to our regulated
electric and gas businesses, and
in a November 1995 rate order, the Maryland PSC
allowed us to expense all of the increase in annual
postretirement benefit costs related to our regulated gas
business.

Beginning in 1998, the Maryland PSC authorized us to:

@ expense all of the increase in annual postretirement
benefit costs related to our regulated electric business,
and

amortize the regulatory asset for postretirement benefit
costs related to our regulated electric and gas businesses
over 15 years.

Effective in 2002, we amended our postretirement medical
plans for all affiliates other than Nine Mile Point. Our
contributions for retiree medical coverage for future retirees that
were under the age of 55 on January 1, 2002 are capped ar the
2002 level. We also amended our plans to increase the Medicare
eligible retirees’ share of medical costs.

VSERP

In 2000, we offered a targeted VSERP to provide enhanced early
retirement benefits to certain eligible participants in targeted jobs
at BGE that elected to retire on June 1, 2000. BGE recorded
approximately $10.0 million ($7.6 million for pension
termination benefits and $2.4 million for postrerirement benefit
costs) for employees that elected to participate in the program.
Of this amount, BGE recorded approximately $3.0 million on
its balance sheet as a regulatory asset of its gas business. We
amortize this regulatory asset over a 5-year period as provided
for in prior Maryland PSC rate orders. The remaining

$7.0 million related to BGE’s electric business was charged to
expense.

In 2001, our Board of Directors approved several voluntary
retirement programs for Constellation Energy and cerrain
subsidiaries. The first group of these programs offered enhanced
early retirement benefits to employees age 55 or older with 10
or more years of service. The second group of these programs
offered enhanced early retirement benefits to employees age 50
to 54 with 20 or more years of service.




Since employees electing to participate in the age 55 or
older VSERP had to make their elections by the end of 2001,
the cost of that program was reflected in 2001. The total cost of
that program was approximately $83.8 million ($63.5 million in
pension termination benefits, $18.5 million in postretirement

benefit costs, and $1.8 million in education and outplacement
assistance costs). Of this amount, BGE recorded approximately
$13.7 million on its balance sheet as a regulatory asset of its gas
business.

The age 50 to 54 program allowed employees to make their
elections beginning in 2002. The cost of that program was
approximately $52.9 million ($43.0 million in pension
termination costs, $8.5 million in postretirement benefit costs,
and $1.4 million in education and outplacement assistance
costs). Of this amount, BGE recorded approximately
$13.4 million on its balance sheet as a regulatory asset of its gas
business. We incurred approximately $0.7 million of
postretirement benefit costs related to additional workforce
reduction initiatives in 2002.

In connection with the retirement of a significant aumber
of the participants in the nonqualified pension plans we
recognized a settlement loss of approximately $10.5 million and
a currailment loss of approximately $5.8 million for those plans
in accordance with SFAS No. 88 in 2001. We recorded
additional settlement charges of $29.6 million related to our
qualified and nonqualified pension plans in 2002 as a resulc of
retirees electing to take their pension benefit in the form of a
lump-sum payment.

At December 31, 2002, our pension obligations were
greater than the fair value of our plan assets for our qualified
and our nonqualified pension plans as follows:

Qualified Plans Non-Qualified

Nine Mile Other Plans Total
(In miltions)
Accumulated benefit
obligation $85.7 $981.6 $35.0 $1,102.3
Fair value of assets 57.8 709.9 — 767.7
Unfunded obligation ~ $27.9 $271.7 $35.0 $ 334.6

In 2001, we recorded a $133.0 million additional
minimum pension liability adjustment primarily as a result of
decreases in the fair value of plan assets due to a declining
equity market that year. We recorded $59.0 million of this
adjustment to an intangible asset included in “Other deferred
charges” in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. We included the
remaining $74.0 million, or $44.7 million after-tax, of this
adjustment in “Accumulated other comprehensive income” in
our Consolidated Statements of Common Shareholders’ Equicy
and Consolidated Statements of Capitalization.

In 2002, we recorded an additional minimum pension
liability of $189.5 million as a result of the decreases in the fair
value of plan assets due to continued declines in the equity
markets. We recorded $5.8 million of this adjustment as a
reduction to an intangible asset. We included the remaining
$195.3 million, or $118.1 million after-tax, of this adjustment
in “Accumulated other comprehensive income.”

The cost of the voluntary retirement programs and the
settlement and curtailment losses are not included in the rables
of net periodic pension and postretirement benefit costs for the
respective years.

Obligations, Assets, and Funded Status

We show the change in the benefit obligations, plan assets, and
funded status of the pension and postretirement benefit plans in
the following tables.

Pension Postretirement
Benefits Benefits
2002 2001 2002 2001

(In millions)

Change in benefit obligation

Benefit obligation at
January 1

Service cost

Interest cost

Plan participants’
contributions _ — 4.7 3.0

$1,259.2 $1,045.1
29.6 25.8
82.2 76.1

$ 475.2 $375.9
5.0 8.4
26.7 29.2

Actuarial loss 78.9 42.6 34.9 49.1
Plan amendments — —  (110.3) _—
VSERP charge 43.9 63.5 9.2 18.5
Curtailment —_ 9.7 — —
Settlement (37.9) (23.0) —_ —
Nine Mile Point

acquisition —_ 91.8 — 15.0
Benefits paid (207.5) (72.4) (30.0) (23.9)

Benefit obligation at

December 31 $1,247.5 $1,259.2 $ 415.4 $475.2




Pension Postretirement
Benefits Benefits
2002 2001 2002 2001

(In miltions)

Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets

at January 1 $ 9122 $1,0046 $ — § —
Actual return on plan
assets (89.4) (42.7) — —
Employer contribution 152.4 22.7 253 209
Plan participants’
contributions — —_ 4.7 3.0
Benefits paid (207.5) (72.4) (30.0) (23.9)
Fair value of plan assets
at December 31 $ 7677 $ 9122 $ — § —
Pension Postretirement
Benefits Benefits
2002 2001 2002 2001

(In millions)
Funded Status
Funded Status at
December 31
Unrecognized net

$(479.8) $(347.0) $(415.4) $(475.2)

actuarial loss 417.8 207.8 135.5 107.8

Unrecognized prior

service cost 49,9 56.7 (43.8) (0.4)

Unrecognized transition
obligation - — 21.3 86.9
Pension. liability

adjustment

(322.5) (133.0) — _
$(334.6) $(215.5) $(302.4) $(280.9)

Accrued benefit cost

Net Periodic Benefit Cost
We show the components of net periodic pension benefit cost in
the following table:

Year Ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000
(In millions)

Components of net periodic

pension benefit cost
Service cost $296 $258 $ 254
Interest cost 82.2 76.1 73.1
Expected return on plan assets (91.0) (87.5) (83.6)
Amortization of transition

obligation - 0.2) 0.2)
Amortization of prior service cost 6.7 6.5 6.5
Recognized net actuarial loss 1.3 2.8 2.6
Amount capitalized as construction

cost (2.9) (2.5) (3.4)
Net periodic pension benefit cost $259 $21.0 $ 204
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We show the components of net periodic postretirement
benefit cost in the following table:

Year Ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000
(In millions)
Components of net periodic
postretitement benefit cost
Service cost $50 § 84 $77
Interest cost 26.7 29.2 26.6
Amortization of transition obligation 2.1 7.9 7.9

6.4 33 31

Recognized net actuarial loss
Amortization of unrecognized prior

service cost (3.5) — —
Amount capitalized as construction

cost 9.1) (145) (10.8)
Net periodic postretirement benefit

cost $27.6 $343 $345
Assumptions

We made the assumptions below to calculate our pension and
postretirement benefit obligations.

Pension Postretirement
Benefits Benefits
At December 31, 2002 2001 2002 2001
Discount rate 6.75% 7.25% 6.75% 7.25%
Expected return on plan
assets 9.00 9.00 N/A N/A
Rate of compensation
increase 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00

We assumed the health care inflation rates to be:

@ in 2002, 11.6% for Medicare-eligible retirees and 14.4%

for retirees not covered by Medicare, and

4 in 2003, 11.0% for both Medicare-eligible retirees and

retirees not covered by Medicare.

After 2003, we assumed inflation rates will decrease to
8.0% in 2004, 6.0% in 2005, 5.5% from 2006 through 2008
and 5.0% annually after 2008.

A one-percent increase in the health care inflation rate from
the assumed rates would increase the accumulated postretirement
benefic obligation by approximately $34.3 million as of
December 31, 2002 and would increase the combined service
and interest costs of the postretirement benefit cost by
approximately $2.6 million annually.

A one-percent decrease in the health care inflation rate
from the assumed rates would decrease the accumulated
postretirement benefit obligation by approximately $29.0 million
as of December 31, 2002 and would decrease the combined
service and interest costs of the postretirement benefit cost by
approximately $2.2 million annually.




Other Postemployment Benefits
We provide the following postemployment benefits:
¢ health and life insurance benefits to eligible employees

determined to be disabled under our Disability
Insurance Plan,
income replacement payments for Nine Mile Point
union-represented employees determined to be
disabled, and
income replacement payments for other employees
determined to be disabled before November 1995
(payments for employees derermined to be disabled
after that date are paid by an insurance company, and
the cost is paid by employees).

The liability for these benefits totaled $49.7 million as of
December 31, 2002 and $48.7 million as of December 31,
2001.

Effective December 31, 1993, we adopted SFAS No. 112,
Emplayers’ Accounting for Postemployment Benefits. We deferred,
as a regularory asset (see Note 5), the postemployment benefit
liability actributable to our regulated utility business as of
December 31, 1993, consistent with the Maryland PSC’s
orders for postretirement benefits (described earlier in this
Note).

We began to amortize the regulatory asset over 15 years
beginning in 1998. The Maryland PSC authorized us to reflect
this change in our regulated electric and gas base rates to
recover the higher costs in 1998.

We assumned the discount rate for other postemployment
benefits to be 5.75% in 2002 and 5.0% in 2001.

Employee Savings Plan Benefits
We, along with several of our subsidiaries, sponsor defined
contribution savings plans that are offered to all eligible
employees of Constellation Energy and certain employees of
our subsidiaries. The Savings Plans are qualified 401(k) plans
under the Internal Revenue Code. In a defined contribution
plan, the benefits a participant is to receive result from regular
contributions to a participant account. Marching contributions
to participant accounts are made under these plans. Matching
contributions to these plans were:

¢ $13.3 million in 2002,

4 $12.2 million in 2001, and

4 $10.8 million in 2000.

2 Short-Term Borrowings

Qur short-term borrowings may include bank loans, commercial
paper, and bank lines of credit. Short-term borrowings mature
within one year from the date of issuance. We pay commitment
fees to banks for providing us lines of credit. When we borrow
under the lines of credit, we pay market interest rates.

Constellation Energy

Constellation Energy had committed bank lines of credit under
three credit facilicies of $1.5 billion at December 31, 2002 for
short-term financial needs as follows:

& $640 million 364-day revolving credit facility expiring

in June 2003,

@ $640 million three-year revolving credit facility expiring

in June 2005, and

¢ $188.5 million revolving credit facility expiring in

June 2003.

We use these facilities to allow issuance of commercial
paper and letters of credit primarily for our merchant energy
business. These facilities can issue letters of credit up to
approximately $1.1 billion. Letters of credit issued under all of
our facilities totaled $338.7 million at December 31, 2002 and

$245.8 million at December 31, 2001. Constellation Energy had

no commercial paper outstanding at December 31, 2002 and
$954.9 million at December 31, 2001.
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The weighted-average effective interest rates for
Constellation Energy’s commercial paper were 2.37% for the
year ended December 31, 2002 and 3.73% for 2001.

BGE
BGE had no commercial paper outstanding at December 31,
2002 and 2001.

BGE maintains $200.0 million in annual commirted credit
facilities, expiring May through November of 2003, in order to
allow commercial paper to be issued. At December 31, 2002,
BGE had $200.0 million in unused credit facilities.

Other Nonreguiated Businesses

Our other nonregulated businesses had short-term borrowings
outstanding of $10.5 million at December 31, 2002 and
$20.1 million at December 31, 2001. The weighted-average
effective interest rates for our other nonregulated businesses’
short-term borrowings were 3.61% at December 31, 2002 and
4.20% for 2001.




8 Long-Term Debt and Preference Stock

Long-term Debt

Long-term debt matures in one year or more from the date of
issuance. We summarize our long-term debt in our Consolidated
Statements of Capitalization. As you read this section, it may be
helpful to refer to those statements.

Constellation Energy
Constellation Energy issued the following fixed rate notes during
2002:

Maturity
and
Date  Repayment Net
Principal  Issued Dare Proceeds
(In millions)
6.35% Notes (interest
payable semi-annually) $ 600.0  3/02 4/07 $ 595.4
7.00% Notes (interest
payable semi-annually) 600.0  3/02 4/12 592.9
7.60% Notes (interest
payable semi-annually) 600.0  3/02 4/32 592.8
6.125% Notes (interest
payable semi-annually) 500.0  8/02 9/09 496.1
7.00% Notes (interest
payable semi-annually) 100.0 12/02 4/12 102.1
7.60% Notes (interest
payable semi-annually) 100.0 12/02 4/32 99.6
Total $2,500.0 $2,478.9

We used a portion of the net proceeds to repay short-term
borrowings, to prepay the sellers’ note of $388.1 million
originally issued for the acquisition of Nine Mile Point Nuclear
Station (Nine Mile Point), and to fund other acquisitions.

BGE
BGE’s First Refunding Morigage Bonds
BGE’s first refunding mortgage bonds are secured by a mortgage

lien on all of its assets. The generating assets BGE transferred to
subsidiaries of Constellation Energy also remain subject to the
lien of BGE’s mortgage, along with the stock of Safe Harbor
Water Power Corporation and Constellation Enterprises, Inc.
BGE is required to make an annual sinking fund payment
each August 1 to the mortgage trustee. The amount of the
payment is equal to 1% of the highest principal amount of
bonds outstanding during the preceding 12 months. The trustee
uses these funds to retire bonds from any series through
repurchases or calls for early redemption. However, the trustee
cannot call the following bonds for early redemprtion:
# 6%4% Series, due 2003 ¢ 7% Seties, due 2007
¢ 614% Series, due 2003 # 6%% Series, due 2008
# 5%2% Series, due 2004

Holders of the Remarketed Floating Rate Series due
September 1, 2006 have the option to require BGE to
repurchase their bonds at face value on September 1 of each
year. BGE is required to repurchase and retire at par any bonds
that are not remarketed or purchased by the remarketing agent.
BGE also has the option to redeem all or some of these bonds
at face value each September 1.

On August 28, 2002, BGE called $11.8 million principal
amount of its 7/4% Series, due April 15, 2023 First Refunding
Mortgage Bonds in connection with its annual sinking fund.
Bonds called were redeemed at the price of 100% of principal,
plus accrued interest from April 15, 2002 to August 28, 2002.

BGEs Other Long-Term Debt

On July 1, 2000, BGE transferred $278.0 million of tax-exempt
debt to our merchant energy business related to the transferred
assets. At December 31, 2002, BGE remains contingently liable
for the $269.8 million outstanding balance of this debt.

On December 20, 2000, BGE issued $173.0 million of
6.75% Remarketable and Redeemable Securities (ROARS) due
December 15, 2012. On December 15, 2002, BGE redeemed all
the outstanding ROARS at 100% of the principal amount.

We show the weighted-average interest rates and maturity
dates for BGE’s fixed-rate medium-term notes outstanding at

December 31, 2002 in the following table.
Weighted-Average Maturity
Series Interest Rate Dates
B 8.62% 2006
C 7.97 2003
D 6.67 2004-2006
E 6.66 2006-2012
G 6.08 2008

Some of the medium-term notes include a “put oggion.”
These put options allow the holders to sell their notes ?ack to
BGE on the put option dates at a price equal to 100% of the
principal amount. The following is 2 summary of medium-term
notes with put options.

Series E Notes Principal Pur Option Dates
(In millions)
6.75%, due 2012 $60.0 June 2007
6.75%, due 2012 $25.0 June 2004 and 2007
6.73%, due 2012 $25.0 June 2004 and 2007
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BGE Obligared Mandatorily Redeemable Trust Preferred Securities
On June 15, 1998, BGE Capital Trust T {Trust), a Delaware
business trust established by BGE, issued 10,000,000 Trust
Originated Preferred Securities (TOP:S) for $250 million ($25
liquidation amount per preferred security) with a distribution
rate of 7.16%.

The Trust used the net proceeds from the issuance of the
common securities and the preferred securities to purchase a
series of 7.16% Deferrable Interest Subordinated Debentures due
June 30, 2038 (debentures) from BGE in the aggregate principal
amount of $257.7 million with the same terms as the TOPrS.
The Trust must redeem the TOPrS at $25 per preferred security
plus accrued but unpaid distributions when the debentures are
paid at maturity or upon any earlier redemprion. BGE has the
option to redeem the debentures at any time on or after
June 15, 2003 or at any time when certain tax or other events
occur.

The interest paid on the debentures, which the Trust will
use to make distributions on the TOPrS, is included in “Interest
expense” in our Consolidated Statements of Income and is
deductible for income tax purposes.

BGE fully and unconditionally guarantees the TOPrS based
on its various obligations relating to the trust agreement,

indentures, debentures, and the preferred security guarantee
agreement.

The debentures are the only assets of the Trust. The Trust
is wholly owned by BGE because it owns all the common
securities of the Trust that have general voting power.

For the payment of dividends and in the event of
liquidation of BGE, the debentures are ranked prior to
preference stock and common stock.

Other Nonregulated Businesses

In November 2002, our other nonregulated businesses entered
into a long-term bank facility of $51.7 million in principal with
an interest rate of 3.25% fixed rate plus 3 months Eurodollar
rate (interest payable quarterly), due December 2008 for net
proceeds of $50.4 million.

Revolving Credit Agreement

ComfortLink had a $50 million unsecured revolving credit
agreement that matured September 26, 2002. Under this
agreement, ComfortLink had no amount outstanding at
December 31, 2002 and $46.0 million outstanding at
December 31, 2001.

On December 18, 2001, Comfor:tLink entered into a
$25.0 million loan agreement with the Maryland Energy
Financing Administration (MEFA). The terms of the loan
exactly match the terms of variable rate, tax exempt bonds due
December 1, 2031 issued by MEFA for ComfortLink to finance
the cost of building a chilled water distribution system. The
interest rate on this debt resets weekly. These bonds, and the
corresponding loan, can be redeemed at any time at par plus
accrued interest while under variable rates. The bonds can also

be converted to a fixed rate at ComfortLink’s option.
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Debt Compliance and Covenants
The credit facilities of Constellation Energy and BGE have

limited material adverse change clauses that only consider a

material change in financial condition and are not directly
affected by decreases in credit ratings. If these clauses are
violated, the lending institutions can decline making new
advances or issuing new letters of credit, but cannot accelerate
existing amounts outstanding. The long-term debt indentures of
Constellation Energy and BGE do not contain marterial adverse
change clauses or financial covenants.

Certain credit facilities of Constellation Energy contain a
provision requiring Constellation Energy to maintain a ratio of
debt to capirtalization equal to or less than 65%. At
December 31, 2002, the debt to capitalization ratios as defined
in the credit agreements were no greater than 57%.

A BGE credit facility of $50.0 million that expires in
August 2003 requires BGE to maintain a ratio of debt to
capitalization equal to or less than 70%. At December 31, 2002,
the debt to capitalization ratio for BGE as defined in the credit
agreement was 54%. At December 31, 2002, no amounts were
outstanding under the BGE facility.

Failure by Constellation Energy, or BGE, to comply with
these covenants could result in the maturity of the debt
outstanding under these facilities being accelerated. The credit
facilities of Constellation Energy contain usual and customary
cross-default provisions that apply to defaults on debt by
Constellation Energy and certain subsidiaries over a specified
threshold. Certain BGE credit facilities also contain usual and
customary cross-default provisions that apply to defaults on debt
by BGE over a specified threshold. The indentures pursuant to
which BGE has issued and outstanding mortgage bonds and
subordinated debentures provide that a default under any debt
instrument issued under the relevant indenture may cause a
default of all debt outstanding under such indenture.

Constellation Energy also provides credit support to Calvert
Cliffs and Nine Mile Point to ensure these plants have funds to
meet expenses and obligations to safely operate and maintain the
plants.

Maturities of Long-Term Debt
All of our long-term borrowings mature on the following
schedule (includes sinking fund requirements):

Constellarion Nonregulated

Year Energy Business BGE
(In millions)

2003 $ — $ 5.5 $ 2842
2004 — 7.5 151.5
2005 300.0 8.1 43.2
2006 — 9.6 463.8
2007 600.0 10.5 127.6
Thereafrer 1,900.0 308.6 829.7
Total long-term debt at

December 31, 2002 $2,800.0 $349.8 $1,900.0




At December 31, 2002, we had long-term loans totaling Preference Stock
$394.3 million that mature after 2002 which concain certain put  Each series of BGE preference stock has no voting power, except

options under which lenders could potentially require us to for the following:
repay the debt prior to marturity. At December 31, 2002, ¢ the preference stock has one vote per share on any
$136.5 million is classified as current portion of long-term debt charter amendment which would create or authorize any
as a result of these provisions. shares of stock ranking prior to or on a parity with the
preference stock as to either dividends or distribution of
Weighted-Average interest Rates for Variable Rate Debt assets, or which would substantially adversely affect the
Our weighted-average interest rates for variable rate debt were: contract rights, as expressly set forth in BGE’s charter,
of the preference stock, each of which requires the
Ar December 31, 2002 2001 affirmarive vote of two-thirds of all the shares of
Nonregulated Businesses (including Constellation preference stock outstanding; and
Energy) ¢ whenever BGE fails to pay full dividends on the
Floating rate notes —% 4.95% preference stock and such failure continues for one year,
Loans under credit agreements 4.42  4.60 the preference stock shall have one vote per share on all
Mortgage and construction loans —  4.39 matters, until and unless such dividends shall have been
Tax-exempt debt transferred from BGE 1.97 3.12 paid in full. Upon liquidation, the holders of the
Other tax-exempt debt 1.49 1.75 preference stock of each series ourstanding are entitled
BGE to receive the par amount of their shares and an amount
Remarketed floating rate series mortgage bonds ~ 1.91% 4.49% equal to the unpaid accrued dividends.
Floating rate reset notes — 4.14
99




9 Taxes

The components of income tax expense are as follows:

Year Ended Decemnber 31,

2002 2001 2000

Income Taxes
Current
Federal
State

(Dollar amounts in millions)

$145.0 §$ 455 $148.2
24.2 27.0 48.2

Current taxes charged to expense
Deferred

Federal

State

169.2 72.5 196.4

131.2 (22.4) 53.9
17.1 4.1) (11.8)

Deferred taxes charged to expense
Investment tax credit adjustments

148.3 (26.5) 42.1
7.9) 8.n (8.4)

Income taxes per Consolidated Statements of Income

$309.6 $ 37.9 $230.1

Total income taxes are different from the amount that would be computed by applying the statutory Federal income tax rate of

35% to book income before income taxes as follows:

Reconciliation of Income Taxes Computed at Statutory Federal Rate to Total Income Taxes
Income before income taxes (excluding BGE preference stock dividends)
Statutory federal income tax rate

$ 848.4 $133.5 $588.6
35% 35% 35%

Income taxes computed at statutory federal rate
Increases (decreases) in income taxes due to
Depreciation differences not normalized on regulated activities
Amortization of deferred investment tax credits
Synthetic fuel tax credits flowed through to income
State income taxes, net of federal income tax benefit

Other

296.9 46.7 2006.0

4.8 5.6 12.6
7.9) (8.1} (8.4)
(20.7) (13.4) (6.5)
31.4 13.5 31.7
5.1 (6.4) (5.3)

Total income taxes

$309.6 $ 379 $230.1

Effective income tax rate

The major components of our net deferred income tax liability are as follows:

At December 31,

365% 28.4% 39.1%

2002 2001

Deferred Income Taxes
Deferred tax liabilities
Net property, plant and equipment

(Dollar amounrs in millions)

$ 1,242.4 $1,156.0

Regulatory assets, net 110.7 130.2
Power marketing and risk management activities, net 285.5 227.3
Financial investments and hedging instruments 3.2 153.9
Orther 130.3 147.9
Total deferred tax liabilities 1,772.1 1,815.3
Deferred tax assets
Accrued pension and postemployment benefit costs 211.8 132.7
Deferred investment tax credits 30.0 35.1
Nuclear decommissioning liability 34.4 32.1
Reduction of investments 53.8 82.3
Other 111.4 102.1
Toral deferred tax assets 441.4 384.3

Deferred tax liability, net

$ 1,330.7 $1,431.0

Certain prior-year amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current year's presentation.
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10...

There are two types of leases—operating and capital. Capiral
leases qualify as sales or purchases of property and are reported
in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Capital leases are not
material in amount. All other leases are operating leases and are
reported in our Consolidated Statements of Income. We expense
all lease payments associated with our regulated utility
operations. We present information about our operating leases
below.

Outgoing Lease Payments
We, as lessee, lease some facilities and equipment. The lease
agreements expire on various dates and have various renewal
options.

Lease expense was:

¢ $19.4 million in 2002,

¢ $11.7 million in 2001, and

¢ $11.3 million in 2000

At December 31, 2002, we owed future minimum
payments for long-term, noncancelable, operating leases as
follows:

Year
(In millions)

2003 $ 34.6
2004 50.8
2005 52.9
2006 21.7
2007 16.3
Thereafter 151.6
Total future minimum lease payments $327.9

The above table includes the operating lease payments for
the High Desert project in California through 2006. The project
is scheduled for completion in mid-2003.

The High Desert project uses an off-balance sheer financing
structure through a special-purpose entity (SPE) that qualifies as
an operating lease. Our wholly owned subsidiary, High Desert
Power Project LLC, is supervising the construction of, and
leasing, the High Desert project from High Desert Power Trust,
an independent SPE created to own and lease the project to our
subsidiary. Neither Constellation Energy nor any affiliate owns
any equity or other interest in High Desert Power Trust, which
is owned by a consortium of banks and other financial
institutions. We provide a guaranty of High Desert Power
Project LLC’s obligations to the Trust.
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Accounting rules presently in effect for SPEs formed prior
to February 2003, require that an SPE lessor must have
sufficient independent equity at risk in order for us not to
consolidate it. High Desert Power Trust maintains such a level
of equiry at risk, since the owners of the Trust maintain a
minimum of 3% real equity at risk. In January 2003, the FASB
issued Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest
Entities, which will require us to consolidate the Trust based on
the current lease structure beginning July 1, 2003. We discuss
this furcher in Noze 1.

Under the terms of the lease, we are required to make
payments that represent all or a portion of the lease balance if
construction is terminated pricr to completion or we default
under the lease.

In addition, we may be required to either post cash
collateral equal to the outstanding lease balance or we may elect
to purchase the property for the outstanding lease balance. At
any time during the term of the lease we have the right to pay
off the lease and acquire the asset from the lessor. At
December 31, 2002, the outstanding lease balance plus other
committed expenses was approximately $585 million.

The lease with the Trust contains several events of default
that are commonly found in financings of this type, including
failure to make all payments when due, failure to comply wich
all covenants, violation of material representations and warranties
and change of control. In addition, several events of defaulr are
applicable to us as guarantor, including defaules in other marerial
financing agreements and failure to own 100% of BGE’s
common stock.

At the conclusion of the lease term in 2006, we have the
following options:

¢ renew the lease upon approval of the lessors,

@ elect to purchase the property for a price equal to the

lease balance at the end of the term, or

# request the lessor to sell the property.

If the lessor sells the property, we guarantee the payment of
any difference berween the sale proceeds and the lease balance at
the time of sale up to a maximum amount of approximately
83% of such lease balance. The lease balance at the end of the
term is currently estimated to be $600 million, which represents
the estimated cost of the project; however, this may vary based
on the ultimate cost of construction and interest incurred during
the construction period.




1 1 Commitments, Guarantees, and Contingencies

Commitments

We have made substantial commitments in connection with our
merchant energy, regulated gas, and other nonregulated
businesses. These commitments relate to:

¢ purchase of electric generating capacity and energy,

& procurement and delivery of fuels, and

¢ capital for construction programs and loans.

Our merchant energy business has a long-term contract for
the purchase of electric generating capacity and energy that
expires in 2013. Portions of this contract became uneconomical
upon the deregulation of electric generation. Therefore, we
recorded a charge and accrued a corresponding liability based on
the net present value of the excess of estimated contract costs
over the market-based revenues to recover these costs over the
remaining term of the contract. At December 31, 2002, the
accrued portion of this contract was $9.2 million,

Our merchant energy business enters into various long-term
contracts for the procurement and delivery of fuels to supply our
generating plant requirements. In most cases, our contracts
contain provisions for price escalations, minimum purchase
levels, and other financial commitments. These contracts expire
in various years between 2003 and 2013. In addition, our
merchant energy business enters into long-term contracts for the
capacity and transmission rights for the delivery of energy to
meet our physical obligations to our customers. These contracts
expire in various years between 2003 and 2013.

Our merchant energy business also has committed to
contribute additional capital for our construction program and
to make additional loans to some affiliates, joint ventures, and
partnerships in which they have an interest.

At December 31, 2002, we estimate the future obligations
of our merchant energy business in the following table:

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 Thereafter Total
(In millions)
Purchased capacity and energy $182.8  $1065 $ 542 $ 336 $129 $ 731 $ 463.1
Fuel and transportation 618.5 243.8 70.4 117.6 27.6 94.2 1,172.1
Capital and loans 32.7 0.5 — — — — 33.2
Total future obligarions $834.0  $350.8  $124.6  $151.2  $40.5 $167.3 $1,608.4

Our regulated gas business entered into various long-term
contracts that expire from 2004 to 2012 for the procurement,
transportation, and storage of gas. These contracts are
recoverable under BGE's gas cost adjustment clause discussed in
Note 1.

BGE Home Products & Services has gas purchase
commitments of $8.4 million in 2003 and $2.7 million in 2004
related to its gas program.

Long-Term Power Sales Contracts

We entered into long-term power sales contracts in connection
with our load-serving activities. We also entered into long-term
power sales contracts associated with certain of our power plants.
Our load-serving power sales contracts extend for terms through
2009 and provide for the sale of full requirements energy to
electricity distribution ucilities and certain retail customers. Our
power sales contracts associated with our power plants extend for
terms into 2011 and provide for the sale of all or a portion of
the actual cutput of certain of our power plants. All long-term
contracts were executed at pricing that approximated market
rates, including profit margin, at the time of execution.

Sale of Receivables

BGE Home Products & Services has an agreement to sell on an
ongoing basis an undivided interest in a designated pool of
customer receivables. Under the agreement, BGE Home
Products & Services can sell up to a total of $50 million. Under
the terms of the agreement, the buyer of the receivables has
limited recourse against BGE Home Products & Services. BGE
Home Products & Services recorded reserves for credit losses. At
December 31, 2002, BGE Home Products & Services sold
$47.7 million of receivables under the agreement.

Guarantees
The terms of our guarantees are as follows:

Payments/Expiration

2004-  2006-
2003 2005 2007 Thereafter  Total
Competitive Supply ~ $1,758.8 $167.0 $ 35.8 $1894  $2,151.0
Orther 16.5 2.8 602.1 415.9 1,037.3
Toral Guarantees $1,775.3 $169.8 $637.9  $605.3  $3,188.3
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At December 31, 2002, Constellation Energy had a total of
$3,188.3 million guarantees outstanding related to loans, credit
facilities, and contractual performance of certain of its
subsidiaries as described below. These guarantees do not

represent our incremental obligations and we do not expect to
fund the full amount under these guarantees.

@ Constellation Energy guaranteed $2,151.0 million on
behalf of its subsidiaries for competitive supply activities.
These guarantees are put into place in order to allow
the subsidiaries flexibility needed to conduct business
with counterparties without having to post substantial
cash collateral. While the face amount of these
guarantees is $2,151.0 million, we do not expect to
fund the full amount as our calculated fair value of
obligations covered by these guarantees was
$519.8 million at December 31, 2002. The recorded
fair value of obligations in our Consolidated Balance
Sheets for these guarantees was $489.6 million at
December 31, 2002.

& Constellation Energy guaranteed $104.5 million
primarily on behalf of Nine Mile Point in connection
with our acquisition in 2001,

# Constellation Energy guaranteed $56.6 million on
behalf of our other nonregulated businesses primarily for
loans and performance bonds of which $25.7 million
was recorded in our Consolidated Balance Sheets at
December 31, 2002.

¢ Constellation Energy guaranteed $600.0 million relating
to the High Desert project as discussed in more detail
in Note 10. This amount is included in the “Other”
guarantees for 2006 in the table on the previous page.

& Our merchant energy business guaranteed $12.9 million
for loans related to certain power projects in which we
have an investment.

* BGE guaranteed two-thirds of certain debt of Safe
Harbor Warter Power Corporation, an unconsolidated
investment. At December 31, 2002, Safe Harbor Water
Power Corporation had outstanding debt of
$20.0 million. The maximum amount of BGE’s
guarantee is $13.3 million. Additionally, BGE
guaranteed the TOPrS of $250.0 million as discussed in
Nore 8.

The total fair value of the obligations for our guarantees
recorded in our Consolidated Balance Sheets was $765.3 million
and not the $3.2 billion of total guarantees. We assess the risk
of loss from these guarantees to be minimal.

Envirenmental Matlers
We are subject to regulation by various federal, state and local
authorides with regard to:

@ air quality,

& water quality, and

# disposal of hazardous substances.

The development (involving site selection, environmental
assessments, and permitting), construction, acquisition, and
operation of electric generating and distribution facilities are
subject to extensive federal, state, and local environmental and
land use laws and regulations. From the beginning phases of
siting and developing, to the ongoing operation of existing or
new electric generating and distribution facilities, our activities
involve compliance with diverse laws and regulations thac address
emissions and impacts to air and water, special, protected and
cultural resources (such as wetlands, endangered species, and
archeological/historical resources), chemical, and waste handling
and noise impacts. Qur activities require complex and often
lengthy processes to obtain approvals, permits, or licenses for
new, existing, or modified facilities. Additionally, the use and
handling of various chemicals or hazardous materials (including
wastes) requires preparation of release prevention plans and
emergency response procedures. As new laws or regulations are
promulgated, we assess their applicability and implement the
necessary modifications to our facilities or their operation, as
required.

We discuss the significant matters below.

Clean Air Act

The Clean Air Act affects both existing generating facilities and
new projects. The Clean Air Act and many state laws require
significant reductions in SO, (sulfur dioxide) and NO, (aitrogen
oxide) emissions that result from burning fossil fuels. The Clean
Air Act also contains other provisions that could materially affect
some of our projects. Various provisions may require permits,
inspections, or installation of additional pollution control
technology or may require the purchase of emission allowances.

Certain of these provisions are described in more detail
below.

On October 27, 1998, the Environmental Protection
Agency (EPA) issued a rule requiring 22 Eastern states and the
District of Columbia to reduce emissions of NOy. Among other
things, the EPA’ rule establishes an ozone season, which runs
from May through September, and a NOx emission budget for
each state, including Maryland and Pennsylvania. The EPA rule
requires states to implement controls sufficient to meet their
NOy budget by May 30, 2004. Coal-fired power plants are a
principal target of NOy reductions under this initiative.

Many of our generation facilities are subject to NOy
reduction requirements under the EPA rule, including those
located in Maryland and Pennsylvania. At the Brandon Shores
and Wagner facilities, we installed emission reduction equipment
to meet Maryland regulations issued pursuant to EPAs rule. The
owners of the Keystone plant in Pennsylvania are installing
emissions reduction equipment by July 2003 to meet
Pennsylvania regulations issued pursuant to EPA’s rule. We
estimate our costs for the equipment needed art this plant will be
approximately $35 million. Through December 31, 2002, we
have spent approximately $26 million.
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The EPA established new National Ambient Air Quality
Standards for very fine particulates and revised standards for
ozone attainment that were upheld after various court appeals.
While these standards may require increased controls at some of
our fossil generating plants in the future, implementation could
be delayed for several years. We cannot estimate the cost of these
increased controls ar this time because the states, including
Maryland, Pennsylvania, and California, still need to determine
what reductions in pollutants will be necessary to meer the EPA
standards. .

The EPA and several states have filed suits against a
number of coal-fired power plants in Mid-Western and Southern
states alleging violations of the deterioration prevention and
non-attainment provisions of the Clean Air Act’s new source
review requirements. In 2000, and again in 2002, using its
broad investigatory powers, the EPA requested information
relating to modifications made to our Brandon Shores, Crane,
and Wagner plants in Baltimore, Maryland. The EPA also sent
similar, but narrower, information requests to two of our newer
Pennsylvania waste-coal burning plants. This information is to
determine compliance with the Clean Air Act and starte
implementation plan requirements, including potential
application of federal New Source Performance Standards. We
have responded to the EPA and as of the date of this report the
EPA has taken no further action.

In general, such standards can require the installation of
additional air pollution control equipment upon the major
modification of an existing plant. Although there have not been
any new source review-related suits filed against our facilities,
there can be no assurance that any of them will not be the
target of an action in the future. Based on the levels of
emissions control that the EPA and states are seeking in these
new source review enforcement actions, we believe that marterial
additional costs and penalties could be incurred, and planned
capital expenditures could be accelerated, if the EPA was
successful in any future actions regarding our facilities.

The Clean Air Act requires the EPA to evaluate the public
health impacts of emissions of mercury, a hazardous air
pollutant, from coal-fired plants. The EPA decided to control
mercury emissions from coal-fired plants. Compliance could be
required by approximately 2007. We believe final regulations
could be issued in 2004 and would affect all coal-fired boilers.
The cost of compliance with the final regulations could be
material.

Furure initiatives regarding greenhouse gas emissions and
global warming continue to be the subject of much debate. The
related Kyoto Protocol was signed by the United States but has
since been rejecred by the President, who instead has asked for
an 18% decrease in carbon intensity on a voluntary basis, Future
initiatives on this issue and the ultimate effects of the Kyoto
Protocol and the President’s initiatives on us are unknown at the
dare of this report. As a result of our diverse fuel portfolio, our
contribution to greenhouse gases varies by plant type. Fossil
fuel-fired power plants are significant sources of carbon dioxide
emissions, a principal greenhouse gas. Our compliance costs with
any mandated federal greenhouse gas reductions in the future
could be material.
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Clean Water Act

Our facilities are subject to a variety of federal and srarte
regulations governing existing and potential water/wastewater
and stormwater discharges.

In April 2002, the EPA proposed rules under the Clean
Water Act that require that cooling water intake structures reflect
the best technology available for minimizing adverse
environmental impacts. These rules pertain to existing utilities
and non-utility power producers that currently employ a cooling
water intake structure and whose flow exceeds 50 million gallons
per day. A final action on the proposed rules is expected by
February 2004. The proposed rule may require the installation
of additional intake screens or other protective measures, as well
as extensive site specific study and monitoring requirements.
There is also the possibility that the proposed rules may lead to
the installation of cooling towers on four of our fossil and both
of our nuclear facilities. Our compliance costs associated with
the final rules could be material.

Waste Disposal

The EPA and several state agencies have notified us that we are
considered a potentially responsible party with respect to the
cleanup of certain environmentally contaminated sites owned
and operated by others. We cannot estimate the cleanup costs
for all of these sites.

However, based on a Record of Decision issued by the EPA
in 1997, we can estimate that BGE’s current 15.47% share of
the reasonably possible cleanup costs at one of these sites, Metal
Bank of America, a metal reclaimer in Philadelphia, could be as
much as $1.3 million higher than amounts we believe are
probable and have recorded as a liability in our Consolidated
Balance Sheets. There has been no significant activity with
respect to this site since the EPA’s Record of Decision in 1997.

In late December 1996, BGE signed a consent order with
the Maryland Department of the Environment that required it
to implement remedial action plans for contamination at and
around the Spring Gardens site, located in Baltimore, Maryland.
The Spring Gardens site was once used to manufacture gas from
coal and oil. BGE submitted the required remedial action plans
and they were approved by the Maryland Department of the
Environment. Based on these plans, the costs BGE considers to
be probable to remedy the contamination are estimated to total
$47 million. BGE recorded these costs as a liability on its
Consolidated Balance Sheets and deferred these costs, net of
accumulated amortization and amounts it recovered from
insurance companies, as a regulatory asset. Because of the results
of studies at this site, it is reasonably possible that additional
costs could exceed the amount BGE recognized by
approximately $14 million. Through December 31, 2002, BGE
spent approximately $39 million for remediation at this site.
BGE also investigated other small sites where gas was
manufactured in the past. We do not expect the cleanup costs of
the remaining smaller sites to have a material effect on our
financial results.




Litigation
In the normal course of business, we are involved in various
legal proceedings. We discuss the significant matters below.

California

Baldwin Associates, Inc. v. Gray Davis, Governor of California and
22 other defendants (including Constellation Power

Development, Inc., a subsidiary of Constellation Power, Inc. )——Thls
class action lawsuit was filed on October 5, 2001 in the Superior
Court, County of San Francisco. The action seeks damages of
$43 billion, recession and reformation of approximately 38
long-term power purchase contracts, and an injunction against
improper spending by the state of California.

Constellation Power Development, Inc. is named as a
defendant but does not have a power purchase agreement with
the State of California. However, our High Desert Power Project
does have a power purchase agreement with the California
Department of Water Resources. In 2002, the court issued an
order to the plaintiff asking that he show cause why he had not
yet served the defendants. In April 2002, a second show cause
order was issued. After several postponements, a hearing is now
scheduled in March 2003 on that order.

NewEnergy

Constellation NewEnergy, Inc. v. PowerWeb Technology, Inc.—Prior
to our acquisition, NewEnergy filed a complaint on May 9,
2002 in the U.S. District Court of Eastern Pennsylvania seeking
approximately $100,000 in direct damages relating to a contract
previously entered into with PowerWeb. PowerWeb Technology
has counter-claimed seeking $100 million in damages against
NewEnergy alleging a breach of a non-disclosure agreement by
misappropriation of trade secrets. To date, discovery has just
begun. We cannot predict the timing, or outcome, of the action
or its possible effect on our financial results. However, based on
the informarion available to Constellation Energy at this time,
we believe NewEnergy has meritorious defenses to the
PowerWeb Technology counterclaim.

Mercury Poisoning

Beginning in September 2002, BGE, Constellation Energy, and
several other defendants have been involved in numerous actions
alleging mercury poisoning from several sources, including coal
plants formerly owned by BGE. The plants are now owned by a
subsidiary of Constellation Energy. In addition to BGE and
Constellation Energy, approximately 11 other defendants,
consisting of pharmaceutical companies, manufacturers of
vaccines and manufacturers of Thimerosal have been sued.
Approximately 50 cases have been filed to date, with each case
seeking $90 million in damages from the group of defendants.
The claims were filed in the Circuit Court for Baltimore City,
Maryland beginning in September 2002. The plaintiffs have
filed motions to remand the cases back to the Baltimore City
Circuit Court. At this time no discovery has occurred. We
believe that we have meritorious defenses and intend to defend
the action vigorously. However, we cannot predict the timing, or
outcome, of these cases, or their possible effect on our, or
BGE’s, financial resules.
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Employment Discrimination

Miller, et. al v. Baltimore Gas and Electric Company, er al.—This
action was filed on September 20, 2000 in the U.S. District
Court for the District of Maryland. Besides BGE, Constellation
Energy Group, Constellation Nuclear, and Calvert Cliffs Nuclear
Power Plant are also named defendants. The action seeks class
certification for approximately 150 past and present employees
and alleges racial discrimination at Calvert Cliffs Nuclear Power
Plant. The amount of damages is unspecified, however the
plaintiffs seck back and front pay, along with compensatory and
punitive damages. The Court scheduled a briefing process for
the motion to certify the case as a class action suit. The briefing
process is scheduled to end in July 2003. We do not believe
class certification is appropriate and we further believe that we
have meritorious defenses to the underlying claims and intend o
defend the action vigorously. However, we cannot predict the
timing, or outcome, of the action or its possible effect on our,
or BGEs, financial results.

Asbestos

Since 1993, BGE has been involved in several actions
concerning asbestos. The actions are based upon the theory of
“premises liability,” alleging that BGE knew of and exposed
individuals to an asbestos hazard. The actions relate to two types
of claims.

The first type is direct claims by individuals exposed to
asbestos. BGE is involved in these claims with approximately 70
other defendants. Approximately 600 individuals that were never
employees of BGE each claim $6 million in damages ($2 million
compensatory and $4 million punitive). These claims were filed
in the Circuit Court for Baltimore City, Maryland in the
summer of 1993. BGE does not know the specific facts
necessary to estimate its potential liability for these claims. The
specific facts BGE does not know include:

¢ the identity of BGE’s facilities at which the plaintiffs

allegedly worked as contractors,

& the names of the plaintiff’s employers, and

¢ the date on which the exposure allegedly occurred.

To date, 67 of these cases were settled for amounts that
were not significant. Approximately 300 cases are scheduled for
trial in 2003.

The second type is claims by one manufacturer—Pittsburgh
Corning Corp. (PCC)—against BGE and approximately eight
others, as third-party defendants. On April 17, 2000, PCC
declared bankruptcy.

These claims relate to approximately 1,500 individual
plaintiffs and were filed in the Circuit Court for Baltimore City,
Maryland in the fall of 1993. To date, about 375 cases have
been resolved, all without any payment by BGE. BGE does not
know the specific facts necessary to estimate its potential liability
for these claims. The specific facts we do not know include:

¢ the identity of BGE facilities containing asbestos

manufactured by the manufacturer,

& the relationship (if any) of each of the individual

plaintiffs to BGE,

& the settlement amounts for any individual plaintiffs who

are shown to have had a relationship to BGE, and

& the dates on which/places ar which the exposure

allegedly occurred.




Until the relevant facts for both types of claims are
determined, we are unable to estimate what our, or BGE’s,
liability mighe be. Although insurance and hold harmless
agreements from contractors who employed the plaintiffs may
cover a portion of any awards in the actions, the potential effect
on our, or BGE’, financial results could be marerial,

Other

McCray, et. al.v. Baltimore Gas and Electric Company—On

June 10, 2002, a suit was filed in the Circuit Court of
Baltimore City, Maryland seeking a total of $585 million in
compensatory and punitive damages from BGE as a result of a
fire in a home that caused five fatalities. Electricity to the home
was shut off. BGE believes it has meritorious defenses and
intends to defend the action vigorously. However, we cannot
predict the timing, or outcome, of the action or its possible
effect on our, or BGE’s, financial results.

Storage of Spent Nuclear Fuel

On February 14, 2002, the Secretary of Energy submitted to the
President a recommendation for approval of the Yucca Mountain
site for the development of a nuclear waste repository for the
disposal of spent nuclear fuel and high level nuclear waste from
the nation’s defense activities. In July 2002, the President signed
a resolution approving the Yucca Mountain site after receiving
the approval of this site from the U.S. Senate and House of
Representatives. This action allows the Department of Energy to
apply to the NRC to license the project. The Department of
Energy expects that this facility will open in 2010. However, the
opening of Yucca Mountain could be delayed due to multiple
lawsuits initiated by the State of Nevada and other interested
parties, the NRC licensing hearings, and other issues related to
the site.

Kuclear insurance

We maintain nuclear insurance coverage for Calvert Cliffs and
Nine Mile Point in four program areas: liability, worker
radiation, property, and accidental outage. These policies conrain
certain industry standard exclusions, including, but not limited
to, ordinary wear and tear, and war.

In November 2002, the President signed into law the
Terrorism Risk Insurance Act (“TRIA”) of 2002, Under the
TRIA, property and casualty insurance companies are required to
offer insurance for losses resulting from Certified acts of
terrorism. Certified acts of terrorism are determined by the
Secretary of State and Attorney General and primarily are based
upon the occurrence of significant acts of international terrorism.
Our nuclear property and accidental outage insurance programs,
as discussed later in this section, provide coverage for Certified
acts of terrorism.

Losses resulting from non-certified acts of terrorism are
covered as a common occurrence, meaning that if non-certified
terrorist acts occur against one or more commercial nuclear

power plants insured by our insurance company within a
12-month period, they would be treated as one event and the
owners of the plants would share one full limic of liability
(currently $3.24 billion).

If there were an accident or an extended outage at any unit
of Calvert Cliffs or Nine Mile Point, it could have a substantial
adverse financial effect on us.

Nuclear Liability Insurance

Pursuant to the Price-Anderson Act, we are required to insure
against public liability claims resulting from nuclear incidents to
the full limit of public liability, approximately $9.6 billion. This
limit of liability consists of the maximum available commercial
insurance of $300 million and the remaining $9.3 billion is
provided through mandatory participation in an industry-wide
retrospective assessment program. Under this retrospective
assessment program, we can be assessed up to $352.4 million
per incident at any commercial reactor in the country, payable at
no more than $40 million per incidenc per year. This assessment
also applies in excess of our worker radiation claims insurance
and is subject to inflation and state premium taxes. In addition,
the U.S. Congress could impose additional revenue-raising
measures to pay claims.

The Price-Anderson Act expired in August 2002. However,
the Price-Anderson Act will remain in effect in its current form
for existing reactors until it is renewed. A renewal bill was
introduced in Congress in January 2003 to extend the Act for
15 years from August 1, 2002. The bill proposes a change in the
annual retrospective premium limit from $10 million to
$15 million per reactor per incident and a change in the
maximum potential assessment from $88.1 million to
$98.7 million per reactor per incident. If approved, these
changes would increase the amount we could be assessed to
$394.8 million per incident, payable at no more than
$60 million per incident per year. We do not know what impact
any other changes to the Act may have on us until a final
resolution is reached.

Worker Radiation Claims Insurance

We participate in the American Nuclear Insurers Master Worker
Program that provides coverage for worker tort claims filed for
radiation injuries. Effective January 1, 1998, this program was
modified to provide coverage to all workers whose nuclear-
related employment began on or after the commencement date
of reactor operations. Waiving the right to make additional
claims under the old policy was a condition for coverage under
the new policy. We describe the old and new policies below:

& Nuclear worker claims reported on or after January 1,
1998 are covered by a new insurance policy with an
annual industry aggregate limit of $200 million for
radiation injury claims against all those insured by this
policy.

¢ All nuclear worker claims reported prior to January 1,
1998 are still covered by the old policy. Insureds under
the old policies, with no current operations, are not
required to purchase the new policy described above,
and may still make claims against the old policies
through 2007. If radiation injury claims under these old
policies exceed the policy reserves, all policyholders
could be retroactively assessed, with our share being up
to $6.3 million.
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The sellers of Nine Mile Point retain the liabilities for

existing and potential claims that occurred prior to November 7,
2001. In addition, the Long Island Power Authority, which
continues to own 18% of Unit 2 at Nine Mile Point, is
obligated to assume its pro rata share of any liabilities for
retrospective premiums and other premiums assessments, If
claims under these policies exceed the coverage limits, the
provisions of the Price-Anderson Act would apply.

Nuclear Property Insurance

Our policies provide $500 million in primary and an additional
$2.25 billion in excess coverage for property damage,
decontamination, and premature decommissioning liability for
Calvert Cliffs or Nine Mile Point. This coverage currently is
purchased through an industry mutual insurance company. If
accidents at plants insured by the mutual insurance company
cause a shortfall of funds, all policyholders could be assessed,
with our share being up to $56.2 million.

Accidental Nuclear Gutage Insurance

Our policies provide indemnification on a weekly basis for losses
resulting from an accidental outage of a nuclear unit. Coverage
begins after 2 12-week deductible period and continues at 100%
of the weekly indemnity limit for 52 weeks and then 80% of
the weekly indemnity limit for the next 110 weeks. Our
coverage is up to $490.0 million per unir at Calvert Cliffs,
$335.4 million for Unit 1 of Nine Mile Point, and

$412.6 million for Unit 2 of Nine Mile Point. This amount can
be reduced by up to $98.0 million per unit at Calvert Cliffs and
$82.5 million for Nine Mile Point if an outage of mote than
one unit is caused by a single insured physical damage loss.

Kon-Kuciear Property insurance

Our conventional property insurance provides coverage of
$1.0 billion per occurrence for Certified acts of terrorism as
defined under the TRIA.

Losses resulting from non-certified acts of terrorism are
covered by an industry mutual insurance program. This
program, which expires May 1, 2003, provides limits of
$50 million per occurrence and is subject to a term aggregate
limit of $100 million. These limits are shared among all
companies participating in the program. The mutual insurer may
renew this program depending upon the availability of
reinsurance at the program’s expiration. If terrorist acts at any of
our facilities result in a loss exceeding this coverage, it could
have a significant adverse impact on our financial results.

Celifornia Power Purchase Agreements

Our merchant energy business has $260.6 million invested in
operating power projects of which our ownership percentage
represents 137 megawatts of electricity that are sold to Pacific
Gas & Electric (PGE) and to Southern California Edison (SCE)
in California under power purchase agreements.

As a result of ongoing litigation before the FERC regarding
sales into the spot markers of the California Independent System
Operator and Power Exchange, we estimate that we may be
required to pay refunds of between $3 and $4 million for
transactions that we entered into with these entities for the
period between October 2000 and June 2001. However, our
estimate is based on current information, and because ligation
is ongoing, new events could occur that could cause the actual
amount, if any, to be materially different from our estimate.
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5 Hedging Activities and Fair Value of Financial instruments

SFAS No. 133 Hedging Activities

We are exposed to market risk, including changes in interest
rates and the impact of market fluctuations in the price and
transportation costs of electricity, natural gas, and other
commodities.

Interest Rates

We use interest rate swaps to manage our interest rate exposures
associated with new debt issuances. These swaps are designated
as cash-flow hedges under SFAS No. 133 in anticipation of
planned financing transactions as discussed in Noze 1. The
notional amounts of the contracts do not represent amounts that
are exchanged by the parties and are not a measure of our
exposure to market or credit risks. The notional amounts are
used in the determination of the cash settlements under the
contracts.

Prior to the March 2002 issuance of $1.8 billion of debrt as
discussed in Note 8, we entered into various forward starting
interest rate swap consracts to manage our interest rate exposure
related to this debt issuance. In 2001, we entered into swaps
that had notional or contract amounts that totaled $800 million
with an average rate of 4.9%. At December 31, 2001, the fair
value of these swaps was an unrealized pre-tax gain of
$36.3 million. In the first quarter of 2002, we entered into
additional forward starting interest rate swaps with notional
amounts that totaled $700 million with an average rate of 5.9%.
All of these swap contracts expired at the end of March 2002
with a gain of $53.7 million.

In addition, we entered into forward starting interest rate
swap contracts with notional amounts that totaled $400 million
with an average rate of 5.1% to manage our interest rate
exposure related to the issuance of $500 million of debt in 2002
as discussed in Note 8. These swap contracts expired in 2002
with a loss of $16.7 million.

We will reclassify the $37.0 million net gain from these
swaps from “Accumulated other comprehensive income” into
“Interest expense” and include them in earnings during the
periods in which the hedged interest payments occur. We expect
to reclassify $3.7 million of pre-tax net gains related to our
expired swap contracts from “Accumulated other comprehensive
income” into “Interest expense” in 2003.

Commodity Prices

Our origination and risk management operation uses a variety of
derivative and non-derivative instruments to manage the
commodity price risk of our competitive supply activities and
our electric generation facilities, including power sales, fuel and
energy purchases, emission credits, weather risk, and the market
risk of outages. In order to manage these risks, we may enter
into fixed-price derivative or non-derivative contracts to hedge
the variability in future cash flows from forecasted sales of
energy and purchases of fuel and energy, including:

& forward contracts, which commit us to purchase or sell
energy commodities in the future;

¢ futures contracts, which are exchange-traded
standardized commitments to purchase or sell a
commodity or financial instrument, or to make a cash
settlement, at a specific price and future date;

¢ swap agreements, which require payments to or from
counterparties based upon the differential between two
prices for a predetermined contractual (notional)
quantity; and

& option contracts, which convey the right to buy or sell a
commodity, financial instrument, or index at a
predetermined price.

The objectives for entering into such hedges include:

@ fixing the price for a portion of anticipated future
electricity sales at a level that provides an acceptable
return on our electric generation operations,

6 fixing the price of a portion of anticipated fuel
purchases for the operation of our power plants, and

¢ fixing the price for a portion of anticipated energy
purchases to supply our load-serving customers.

The portion of forecasted transactions hedged may vary
based upon management’s assessment of market, weather,
operational, and other factors.

At December 31, 2002, our merchant energy business had
designated certain fixed-price forward contracts as cash-flow
hedges of forecasted sales of energy and forecasted purchases of
fuel and energy for the years 2003 through 2010 under SFAS
No. 133.

At December 31, 2002, our merchant energy business
recorded net unrealized pre-tax losses of $45.3 million on these
hedges, net of associated deferred income tax effects, in
“Accumulated other comprehensive income.” We expect to
reclassify $24.7 million of net pre-tax gains on cash-flow hedges
from “Accumulated other comprehensive income” into earnings
during the next twelve months based on the market prices at
December 31, 2002. However, the actual amount reclassified
into earnings could vary from the amounts recorded ar
December 31, 2002 due to future changes in market prices. In
2002, we recognized $1.4 million of losses in earnings related to
hedge ineffectiveness.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value of a financial instrument represents the amount at
which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced sale or
liquidation. Significant differences can occur between the fair
value and carrying amount of financial instruments thar are
recorded at historical amounts. We use the following methods
and assumptions for estimating fair value disclosures for financial
instruments:

# cash and cash equivalents, net accounts receivable, other
current assets, certain current liabilities, short-term
borrowings, current portion of long-term debt, and
certain deferred credits and other liabilities: because of
their short-term nature, the amounts reported in our
Consoclidated Balance Sheets approximate fair value,

¢ investments and other assets where it was practicable to
estimate fair value: the fair value is based on quoted
market prices where available, and

¢ for long-term debt: the fair value is based on quoted
market prices where available or by discounting
remaining cash flows atr current market rates.

We show the carrying amounts and fair values of financial
instruments included in our Consolidated Balance Sheets in the
following table, and we describe some of the items separately
later in this Note.

At December 31, 2002 2001
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount Value Amount Value

(In millions)
Investments and other assets
for which it is:
Practicable to estimate fair

value $ 7551 $ 755.1 $1,183.6 $1,183.6

Not practicable to estimate
fair value 24.2 N/A 25.8 N/A
Fixed-rate long-term debrt 4,713.9 5,018.8 29453 3,069.6
Variable-rate long-term debt 335.9 3359 1,179 1,179.1

It was not practicable to estimate the fair value of
investments held by our nonregulated businesses in several
financial partnerships that invest in nonpublic debt and equity
securities. This is because the timing and amount of cash flows
from these investments are difficult to predict. We report these
investments at their original cost in our Consolidated Balance
Sheets.

The investments in financial partnerships totaled
$24.2 million at December 31, 2002, representing ownership
interests up to 10% and $25.8 million at December 31, 2001,
representing ownership interests up to 11%. The total assets of
all of these partnerships totaled $5.8 billion at December 31,
2001 (which is the latest information available).

@ Stock-Based Compensation

Under our long-term incentive plans, we granted stock options,
performance and service-based restricted stock, and equity to
officers, key employees, and members of the Board of Directors.
Under the plans, we can grant up to a total of 18,000,000
shares. At December 31, 2002, we had stock options and
restricted stock grants outstanding as discussed below.

Non-Qualilied Stock Options

Options are granted at prices not less than the market value of
the common stock art the date of grant, become vested over a
period up to five years, and expire ten years from the date of
grant. In accordance with APB No. 25, no compensation
expense is recognized for these stock option awards.

In February 2002, our Committee on Management of the
Board of Directors granted options, contingent on shareholder
approval of our long-term incentive plan, with an exercise price
equal to fair market value of our stock on the date of grant of
$27.93. Our sharcholders approved the plan at the annual
meeting in May 2002 when then stock price had increased to
$31.21. The difference between the exercise price and the fair
market value in May when the shareholder approval contingency
was satisfied was $6.3 million and is being amortized to
compensation expense over a period up to five years. In 2002,
we recorded compensation expense of $3.0 million related to
this grant.
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All other stock options grants have an exercise price equal to or greater than market value on the date of grant and were not
subject to any future contingencies, therefore no compensation expense has been recognized. We reverse any expense associated with
stock options that are canceled or forfeited prior to the vesting of the grants. Summarized information for our stock option grants is

as follows:

2002
Weighted-

Average
Exercise

2001
Weighted-

Average
Exercise

2000

Weighted-
Average
Exercise

Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price

Outstanding, beginning of year
Granted with Exercise Prices:
At fair markert value
Less than fair market value on the date contingency was
satisfied (1)

Greater than fair market value

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

2,646
1,708

1,935
103

$30.73
30.62

27.93
31.21

2,420 $34.65 —

1,015 25.08 2,462

Total granted 3,746 29.25 1,015 25.08 2,462 34.64
Exercised — —_ (512) (34.25) —_ —
Canceled/Expired (311) 34,01 (277) (37.74) (42) (34.25)

Ourstanding, end of year 6,081 $29.65 2,646  $30.73 2,420 $ 34.65
Exercisable, end of year o 1,413  $30.78 235  $34.25 — —
Weighted-average fair value per share of options granted
with Exercise Prices: 2002 2001 2000
At fair market value $ 7.79 $ 9.27 $ 5.60
Less than fair market value on the date contingency was satisfied (1) $ 9.15 — —
‘Greater than fair rparket value $ 5.89 — _

(1) Shares were granted in February 2002 wich an exercise price equal to fair market value of the stock on the grant date, and the

grant was subject to shareholder approval of our long-term incentive plan. At the date of shareholder approval, the fair market
value of the stock was higher than the grant date fair market value. Therefore, the difference is being amortized to compensation

expense.

The following table summarizes information about stock
options outstanding at December 31, 2002 (shares in
thousands):

Weighted-
Average
Number Remaining Number
Range of Exercise Prices  Outstanding  Contractual Life  Exercisable
$21.47—34.25 6,081 8.8 years 1,413

Restricted Stock Awards

In addition, we issue common stock based on meeting certain
performance and/or service goals. This stock vests to participants
at various times ranging from one to five years if the
performance and/or service goals are met. In accordance with
APB No. 25, we recognize compensation expense for our
performance-based awards using the variable accounting method,
whereby we amortize the value of the market price of the
underlying stock on the date of grant adjusted for subsequent
changes in fair market value through the lapse date to
compensation expense over the performance period. We account
for our service-based awards using the fixed accounting method,
whereby we amortize the value of the markert price of the
underlying stock on the date of grant to compensation expense
over the service period. We reverse any expense associated with
restricted stock that is canceled or forfeited during the
performance or service period.
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We recorded compensation expense related to our restricted
stock awards of $6.6 million in 2002 and $16.3 million in
2000. In 2001, due to non-attainment of performance criteria,
we recorded a reduction to compensation expense of
$10.1 million. Summarized share information for our restricted
stock awards is as follows:

2002 2001 2000

(In thousands, excepr per

share amounts)

Outstanding, beginning of year 435 377 323
Granred 344 87 353
Released to participants (170) — (277)
Canceled (295) (29) (22)

Qurstanding, end of year 314 435 377

Weighted-average fair value restricted

stock granted $27.23 $35.24 $32.89

Equity-Based Grants

In 2002, we recorded compensation expense of $0.5 million
related to equity-based grants to members of the Board of
Directors.

Pro-forma Information
Disclosure of pro-forma information regarding net income and

earnings per share is required under SFAS No. 123, which uses
the fair value method. The fair values of our stock-based awards
were estimated as of the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model based on the following weighted-average
assumptions:

2002 2001 2000
Risk-free interest rate 4.45% 4.79% 6.73%
Expected life (in years) 5.0 5.0 10.0
Expected market price volatility
factors 31.9% 41.3% 21.0%
Expected dividend yields 3.3% 1.8% 5.7%

We disclose the pro-forma effect on net income and
earnings per share in accordance with SFAS No. 148, Accounting
Jor Stock-Based Compensation— Transition and Disclosure, in
Note 1.

1 4E Acquisitions

Acquisition of Aliiance

On December 31, 2002, we purchased Alliance Energy Services,
LLC and Fellon-McCord Associates, Inc. (collectively, Alliance)
from Allegheny Energy, Inc. These businesses provide gas supply
and transportation services and energy consulting services to
large commercial and industrial customers primarily in the
Midwest region, but also in other competitive energy markets
including the Northeast, Mid-Atlantic, Texas and California
regions. We acquired 100% ownership of these companies for a
note payable of $21.2 million that was settled in cash on
January 2, 2003. We acquired cash of $4.6 million as part of the
purchase. We include these companies in our merchant energy
business segment.

Our preliminary purchase price allocation for the net assets
acquired is as follows:

At December 31, 2002

(In millions)

Cash $ 4.6
Other Current Assets 89.1
Total Current Assets 93.7
Net Property, Plant and Equipment 0.6
Goodwill 10.0
Other Assets 3.7
Total Assets Acquired 108.0
Current Liabilities 84.5
Deferred Credits and Other Liabilities 2.3
Ner Assets Acquired $ 21.2
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We recorded the existing contraces ac fair value as part of
the purchase price allocation. The preliminary net fair value of
the contracts was $4.0 million. We recorded the fair value of
these contracts as follows:

Net fair value of acquired contracts

(In millions)

Current Assets $20.8
Noncurrent Assets 3.7
Total Assets 24.5
Current Liabilities 18.2
Noncurrent Liabilities 2.3
Total Liabilities 20.5
Net fair value of acquired contracts $ 4.0

We will amortize this value over a period extending through

2005. The weighted-average amortization period is
approximately one year and represents the expected contract
duration.

There are further refinements to the preliminary valuation
of the existing contracts that have not been finalized that could
impact our purchase price allocation.

On an unaudited pro-forma basis, had the acquisition of
Alliance occurred on the first day of each of the years presented

below, our nonregulated revenues and total revenues would have

been as follows:

Acquisition of NewEnergy
On September 9, 2002, we purchased AES NewEnergy, Inc.
from AES Corporation. Subsequent to the acquisition, we
renamed AES NewEnergy, Inc. as Constellation NewEnergy, Inc.
{NewEnergy). NewEnergy is a leading national provider of
electricity, natural gas, and energy services, serving approximately
4,300 megawatts of load associated with large commercial and
industrial customers in competitive energy markets including the
Northeast, Mid-Atlantic, Midwest, Texas and California. We
acquired 100% ownership of NewEnergy for cash of
$250.3 million, including $1.4 million of direct costs associated
with the acquisition. We acquired cash of $45.5 million as part
of the purchase. We include NewEnergy in our merchant energy
business segment.

Our preliminary purchase price allocation for the net assets
acquired is as follows:

At September 9, 2002

(In millions)

Year Ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000
(In millions)
Nonregulated revenues
As reported $2,166.9 $1,164.9 $1,035.9
Pro-forma 2,706.6 1,659.5 1,381.0
Total revenues
As reported $4,703.0 $3,878.8 $3,774.4
Pro-forma 5,242.7 4,373.4 4,119.5

We believe that the pro-forma impact on “Income before
cumulative effect of change in accounting principle,” “Net
income,” and “Earnings per common share” would not have
been material had the acquisition of Alliance occurred on the
first day of each of the years presented.

Cash $ 455
Other Current Assets 376.5
Toral Current Assets 422.0
Net Property, Plant and Equipment 7.0
Goodwill 105.0
Other Assets 46.9
Total Assets Acquired 580.9
Current Liabilities 276.3
Deferred Credits and Other Liabilities 54.3
Net Assets Acquired $250.3

We recorded the existing contracts at fair value as part of
the purchase price allocation. The preliminary net fair value of

the contracts was $54.8 million. We recorded the fair value of
these contracts as follows:

Net fair value of acquired contracts

(In millions)

Current Assets $ 78.6
Noncurrent Assets 45.0
Total Assers 123.6
Current Liabilities 46.8
Noncurrent Liabilities 22.0
Total Liabilities 68.8
Net fair value of acquired contracts $ 54.8

We will amortize this value over a period extending through
2007. The weighted-average amortization period is
approximately 2 years and represents the expected contract
duration.
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Currently, the following items have not been finalized that
could impact our purchase price allocation:

4 adjustments to the preliminary estimates of severance
costs recorded as current liabilities associated with the
integration of NewEnergy into our operations, and

¢ outcome of litigation matters.

On an unaudited pro-forma basis, had the acquisition of
NewEnergy occurred on the first day of each of the years
presented below, our nonregulated revenues and total revenues
would have been as follows:

Year Ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000
(In millions)
Nonregulated revenues
As reported $2,166.9 $1,164.9 $1,035.9
Pro-forma 3,3067.7 1,885.1 1,584.7
Total revenues
As reported $4,703.0 $3,878.8 $3,774.4
Pro-forma 5,843.8 4,599.0 4,323.2

We believe that the pro-forma impact on “Income before
cumulative effect of change in accounting principle,” “Net
income,” and “Earnings per common share” would not have
been material had the acquisition of NewEnergy occurred on the
first day of each of the years presented.

Acquisition of Nine Mile Point
On November 7, 2001, we completed our purchase of Nine
Mile Point located in Scriba, New York. Nine Mile Point
consists of two boiling-water reactors. Unit 1 is a 609-megawatt
reactor that entered service in 1969. Unit 2 is a 1,148-megawatt
reactor that began operation in 1988.

Nine Mile Point Nuclear Station, LLC, a subsidiary of
Constellation Nuclear, purchased 100 percent of Nine Mile
Point Unit 1 and 82 percent of Unit 2. Approximately one-half
of the purchase price, or $380 million, in addition to settlement
costs of $2.7 million, was paid at closing. The remainder was
financed through the sellers in a note to be repaid over five years
with an interest rate of 11.0%. This note was prepaid in
April 2002. The sellers also transferred to us approximately
$442 million in decommissioning funds. As a result of this
purchase, we own 1,550 megawatts of Nine Mile Points 1,757
megawarts of total generating capacity.

Niagara Mohawk Power Corporation was the sole owner of
Nine Mile Point Unit 1. The co-owners of Unit 2 who sold
their interests are: Niagara Mohawk (41 percent), New York
State Electric and Gas (18 percent), Rochester Gas & Electric
Corporation (14 percent), and Central Hudson Gas & Electric
Corporation (9 percent). The Long Island Power Authority will
continue to own 18 percent of Unit 2.

We will sell 90 percent of our share of Nine Mile Point’s
output back to the sellers at an average price of nearly $35 per
megawatt-hour for approximately 10 years under power purchase
agreements. The contracts for the output are on a unit
contingent basis (if the outpuc is not available because the plant
is not operating, there is no requirement to provide outpur from
other sources).

Nine Mile Point Net Assets Acquired
At November 7, 2001

(In millions)

Current Assets $138.4
Nuclear Decommissioning Trust Fund 441.7
Net Property, Plant and Equipment 280.3
Intangible Assets (details below) 37.6
Total Assets Acquired 898.0
Current Liabilities 18.5
Deferred Credits and Other Liabilities 108.7
Net Assets Acquired 770.8
Note to Sellers 388.1
Total Cash Paid $382.7

The intangible assets acquired consist of the following:

Weighted-
Average
Description Amount Useful Life
(In millions) (In years)
Operating procedures and manuals $22.3 10
Permits and licenses 13.0 27
Software 2.3 5
Total intangible assets $37.6
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1 5 Related Party Transactions—BGE

Income Statement

BGE is providing standard offer service to customers at fixed
rates over various time periods during the transition period,
July 1, 2000 to June 30, 2006, for those customers that do not
choose an alternate supplier. Our origination and risk
management operation is under contract to provide BGE with
the energy and capacity required to meet its standard offer
service obligations for the first three years of the transition
period, and 90% of the energy and capacity for the final three
years (July 1, 2003—June 30, 2006) of the transition period.
The cost of BGE’s purchased energy from nonregulated affiliates
of Constellation Energy to meet its standard offer service
obligation was $1,080.5 million for the year ended

December 31, 2002, $1,150.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2001, and $581.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2000.

In addition, Constellation Energy charges BGE for the
costs of certain corporate functions. Certain costs are directly
assigned to BGE. We allocate other corporate function costs
based on a total percentage of expected use by BGE.
Management believes this method of allocation is reasonable and
approximates the cost BGE would have incurred as an
unaffiliated entity. These costs were $32.2 million for the year
ended December 31, 2002, $27.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2001, and $21.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2000.
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Balance Sheet
BGE participates in a cash pool under a Master Demand Note
agreement with Constellation Energy. Under this arrangement,
participating subsidiaries may invest in or borrow from the pool
at market interest rates. Constellation Energy administers the
pool and invests excess cash in short-term investments or issues
commercial paper to manage consolidated cash requirements.
Under this arrangement, BGE had invested $338.1 million at
December 31, 2002 and $439.1 million at December 31, 2001.

Amounts related to corporate functions performed at the
Constellation Energy holding company, BGE’s purchases to meet
its standard offer service obligation, and BGE’s charges to
Constellation Energy and its nonregulated affiliates for certain
services it provides them result in intercompany balances on
BGE'’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Management believes its allocation methods are reasonable
and approximate the costs that would be charged to unaffiliated
entities.




1 6 Guarterly Financial Data {Unaudited)

Our quarterly financial information has not been audited but, in management’s opinion, includes all adjustments necessary for a fair
presentation. Qur utility business is seasonal in nature with the peak sales periods generally occurring during the summer and winter
months. Accordingly, comparisons among quarters of a year may not represent overall trends and changes in operations.

2002 Quarterly Data—Constellation Energy 2002 Quarterly Data—BGE
Earnings Earnings Earnings
Income Applicable Per Share of Income Applicable
from to Common Common from to Common
Revenues Operations Stock Stock Revenues Operations Stock
(In millions, except per-share amounts) (In millions)
Quarter Ended Quarter Ended
March 31 $1,040.0 $ 418.6 $228.6 $1.40 March 31 $ 683.7 $113.0 $ 43.9
June 30 1,020.8 184.9 81.3 0.50 June 30 572.9 73.1 20.3
September 30 1,270.3 308.0 150.7 0.92 Seprember 30 668.5 87.3 30.6
December 31 1,371.9 174.7 65.0 0.39 December 31 622.2 92.9 35.1
Year Ended Year Ended
December 31 $4,703.0 $1,086.2 $525.6 $3.20 December 31 $2,547.3 $366.3 $129.9

First quarter resules include:
Constellation Energy and BGE

+ workforce reduction costs totaling $15.6 million after-tax, of which BGE recorded $12.6 million.
Constellation Energy

# gain on the sale of investments, including Orion, of $164.2 million after-tax.

Second quarter results include:
Constellation Energy and BGE

¢ workforce reduction costs totaling $8.0 million after-tax, of which BGE recorded $4.8 million.
Constellation Energy

¢ gain on the sale of investments of $1.9 million after-tax, and

¢ loss on sale of turbine of $3.9 million after-tax.

Third quarter results include:
Constellation Energy and BGE
¢ workforce reduction costs totaling $7.5 million after-tax, of which BGE recorded $2.0 million.
Constellation Energy
# impairment of investments in qualifying facilities and domestic power projects, costs associated with exit of BGE Home
merchandise stotes, and impairment of real estate and international investments totaling $17.1 million after-tax.

Fourth quarter results include:
Constellation Energy and BGE

¢ workforce reduction costs totaling $6.9 million after-tax, of which BGE recorded $1.9 million.
Constellation Energy

¢ gains on the sale of investments of $4.5 million after-tax.

We discuss our special items in Noze 2.

The sum of the quarterly earnings per share amounts may not equal the total for the year due to the effects of rounding and dilution as a
result of issuing common shares during the year.
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2001 Quarterly Data—~—Consteliation Energy 2001 Quarterly Data—BGE

Earnings Earnings Earnings
Income Applicable Per Share of Income Applicable
from to Common Common from to Common
Revenues Operations Stock Stock Revenues Operations Stock
(I millions, except per-share amounts) {In millions)
Quarter Ended Quarter Ended
March 31 $1,130.5  $235.0 $111.8 $0.74 March 31 § 849.9 $141.1 $ 55.1
June 30 826.1 171.0 75.6 0.46 June 30 607.1 74.7 19.9
September 30 1,043.4 317.5 163.6 1.00 September 30 701.4 80.4 23.8
December 31 878.8 (365.7) (260.1) (1.59) December 31 562.3 15.6 (14.7)
Year Ended Year Ended
December 31 $3,878.8 $357.8 $ 90.9 $0.57 December 31 $2,720.7 $311.8 $ 84.1

First quarter results include:

Constellation Energy
¢ an $8.5 million after-tax gain for the cumulative effect of adopting SFAS No. 133, and
¢ a gain on sale of investments of $10.0 million after-tax.

Second quarter results include:
Constellation Energy
% a gain on sale of investments of $10.3 million after-tax.

Third quarter results include:
Constellation Energy
® a gain on sale of investments of $0.5 million after-tax.

Fourth quarter resules include:

Constellation Energy and BGE
¢ workforce reduction costs totaling $64.1 million after-tax, of which BGE recorded $34.4 million after-tax.

Constellation Energy
@ contract termination related costs, and impairment losses and other costs totaling an additional $242.6 million after-rax, and
& a net Joss on sale of investments and other assets of $22.7 million after-tax.

We discuss our special items in Note 2.

The sum of the quarterly earnings per share amounts may not equal the total for the year due to the effects of rounding and dilution as a
result of issuing common shares during the year.

Certain prior-year amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current years presentation.
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ltem 9. Changes in and Bisagreemenis with Accountanis on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

PART il The information required by this item with respect to
BGE meets the conditions set forth in General Instruction executive officers of Constellation Energy Group, pursuant to
I(1)(a)and (b) of Form 10-K for a reduced disclosure format. instruction 3 of paragraph (b) of Item 401 of Regulation S-K, is
Accordingly, all items in this section related to BGE are not set forth in Item 4 of Part I of this Form 10-K under Executive
presented. Officers of the Registrant.

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Item 1. Executive Compensation

Registrant The information required by this item is set forth under

The information required by this item with respect to directors Direcrors Compensation, Compensation Committee Interlocks and
is set forth under Election of Constellation Energy Directors in the  [nsider Participation, Executive Compensation, Common Stock
Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference. Performance Graph and Repors of Commirtee on Management on

Executive Compensation in the Proxy Statement and is
incorporated herein by reference.

ltem 2. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Shareholder Matters

Equity Compensation Plan Information

(a) (b) ()
Number of securities Number of securities remaining
to be issued upon Weighted-average available for future issuance
exercise of exercise price of under equity compensation
outstanding options, outstanding options, plans {excluding securities
Plan Category warrants, and rights warrants, and rights reflected in item (a)).
(In thousands) (In thousands)
Equity compensation plans approved by security
holders 3,769 $29.60 6,437
Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holders 2,312 $29.74 4,320
Total 6,081 $29.65 10,757

The plans that do not require security holder approval are the Constellation Energy Group, Inc. 2002 Senior Management
Long-Term Incentive Plan (Designated as Exhibic No. 10(u)) and the Constellation Energy Group, Inc. Management Long-Term
Incentive Plan (Designated as Exhibit No. 10(v)). Under these plans, we may grant up to a total of 7,000,000 equity shares. We have
granted stock options and performance and service-based restricted stock to officers and key employees.

The additional information required by this item is set forth under Security Ownership in the Proxy Statement and is
incorporated herein by reference.

item 13. Certain Relationships and Reiated Yransactions
The additional information required by this item is set forcth under Cermin Relationships and Transactions in the Proxy Statement and
is incorporated herein by reference.

item 14. Internal Controls and Procedures
Within the 90-day period prior to the filing of this report, an evaluation was carried out under the supervision and with the
participation of management, including the principal executive officers and principal financial officer of both Constellation Energy
and BGE, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of their disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-14(c)
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.) Based on that evaluation, such officers have concluded that the design and operation of
Constellation Energy’s and BGE’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

No significant changes were made in either Constellation Energy’s or BGE’s internal controls or in other factors that could
significantly affect such controls subsequent to the date of their evaluation.
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PART ¥
ltem 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K

{a) The following documents are filed as a part of this Report:

. Financial Statements:

Report of Independent Accountants dated January 29, 2003 of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Consolidated Sratements of Income—Constellation Energy Group for three years ended December 31, 2002
Consolidated Balance Sheets—Constellation Energy Group at December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2001
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows—Constellation Energy Group for three years ended December 31, 2002
Consolidated Statements of Common Shareholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income—Constellation Energy
Group for three years ended December 31, 2002
Consolidated Statements of Capitalization—Constellation Energy Group at December 31, 2002 and
December 31, 2001
Consolidated Statements of Income—Baltimore Gas and Electric Company for three years ended
December 31, 2002
Consolidated Balance Sheets—Baltimore Gas and Electric Company at December 31, 2002 and
December 31, 2001
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows—Baltimore Gas and Electric Company for three years ended
December 31, 2002
Notes o0 Consolidated Financial Statements

. Financial Statement Schedules:
Schedule II-—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Schedules other than Schedule IT are omitted as not applicable or not required.

3. Exhibits Required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K.

Exhibic
Number
*2 — Agreement and Plan of Share Exchange between Baltimore Gas and Electric Company and Constellation
Energy Group, Inc. dated as of February 19, 1999. (Designated as Exhibit No. 2 in Form S$-4 dated
March 3, 1999, File No. 33-64799.)
*2(a) — Agreement and Plan of Reorganization and Corporate Separation (Nuclear). (Designated as Exhibit
No. 2(a) in Form 8-K dated July 7, 2000, File Nos. 1-12869 and 1-1910.)
*2(b) — Agreement and Plan of Reorganization and Corporate Separation (Fossil). (Designated as Exhibit
No. 2(b) in Form 8-K dated July 7, 2000, File Nos. 1-12869 and 1-1910.)
*3(a) — Articles of Amendment and Restatement of the Charter of Constellation Energy Group, Inc. as of

April 30, 1999. (Designated as Exhibit No. 99.2 in Form 8-K dated April 30, 1999, File No. 1-1910.)

*3(b) — Articles Supplementary to the Charter of Constellation Energy Group, Inc., as of July 19, 1999.
(Designated as Exhibit No. 3(a) in Form 10-Q dated August 13, 1999, File Nos. 1-12869 and 1-1910.)

*3(c) — Certificate of Correction to the Charter of Constellation Energy Group, Inc. as of Seprember 13, 1999.

(Designated as Exhibit No. 3(c) to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
1999, File Nos. 1-12869 and 1-1910.)

*3(d) — Charter of BGE, restated as of August 16, 1996. (Designated as Exhibit No. 3 in Form 10-Q dated
November 14, 1996, File No. 1-1910.)

*3{e) — Articles Supplementary to the Charter of Constellation Energy Group, Inc. as of November 20, 2001.
{Designated as Exhibit No. 3(e) to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2001, File Nos. 1-12869 and 1-1910.)

3(f) — Bylaws of Constellation Energy Group, Inc., as amended to January 24, 2003.

*3(g) — Bylaws of BGE, as amended to October 16, 1998. (Designated as Exhibit No. 3 in Form 10-Q dated
November 13, 1998, File No. 1-1910.)
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*4(a)

*4(b)

*4(c)

*4(d)

*4(e)

*4(f)

*4(g)
*4(h)
*4(1)

*10(a)

*10(b)

10(c)
*10(d)

*10(e)

Indenture between Constellation Energy Group, Inc. and the Bank of New York, Trustee dated as of
March 24, 1999. (Designated as Exhibit No. 4(a) in Form S-3 dated March 29, 1999, File
No. 333-75217.)

First Supplemental Indenture between Constellation Energy Group, Inc. and the Bank of New York,
Trustee dated as of January 24, 2003. (Designated as Exhibit No. 4(b) in Form S-3 dated January 24,
2003, File No. 333-102723.)

Supplemental Indenture between BGE and Bankers Trust Company, as Trustee, dated as of June 20,
1995, supplementing, amending and restating Deed of Trust dated February 1, 1919. (Designated as
Exhibit No. 4 in Form 10-Q dated August 11, 1995, File No. 1-1910); and the following Supplemental
Indentures between BGE and Bankers Trust Company, Trustee:

Exhibit

Dated File No. Designated In Number
*January 15, 1992 33-45259  (Form S-3 Registration) 4(a)(i1)
*February 15, 1993 1-1910  (Form 10-K Annual Report for 1992) 4(a)(1)
*March 1, 1993 1-1910  (Form 10-K Annual Report for 1992) 4(a)(ii)
*March 15, 1993 1-1910  (Form 10-K Annual Report for 1992) 4(a)(iii)
*April 15, 1993 1-1910  (Form 10-Q dated May 13, 1993) 4
*uly 1, 1993 1-1910  (Form 10-Q dated August 13, 1993) 4(a)
*Qctober 15, 1993 1-1910  (Form 10-Q dated November 12, 1993) 4
*June 15, 1996 1-1910  (Form 10-Q dated August 13, 1996) 4

Indenture dated July 1, 1985, berween BGE and The Bank of New York (Successor to Mercantile-Safe
Deposit and Trust Company), Trustee. (Designated in Registration File No. 2-98443 as Exhibit 4(a)); as
supplemented by Supplemental Indentures dated as of October 1, 1987 (Designated in Form 8-K, dated
November 13, 1987, File No. 1-1910 as Exhibit 4(a)) and as of January 26, 1993 (Designated in

Form 8-K, dated January 29, 1993, File No. 1-1910 as Exhibit 4(b).)

Form of Subordinated Indenture between the Company and The Bank of New York, as Trustee in
connection with the issuance of the Junior Subordinated Debentures. (Designated as Exhibit 4(d) in
Form S-3 dated May 28, 1998, File No. 333-53767.)

Form of Supplemental Indenture between the Company and The Bank of New York, as Trustee in
connection with the issuances of the Junior Subordinated Debentures. (Designated as Exhibit 4(e) in
Form S-3 dated May 28, 1998, File No. 333-53767.)

Form of Preferred Securities Guarantee (Designated as Exhibit 4(f) in Form S-3 dated May 28, 1998,
File No. 333-53767.)

Form of Junior Subordinated Debenture (Designated as Exhibit 4(h) in Form S-3 dated May 28, 1998,
File No. 333-53767.)

Form of Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust (including Form of Preferred Security) (Designated
as Exhibit 4(c) in Form S-3 dated May 28, 1998, File No. 333-53767.)

Executive Annual Incentive Plan of Constellation Energy Group, Inc., as amended and restated.
(Designated as Exhibit No. 10(a) to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2001, File Nos. 1-12869 and 1-1910.)

Constellation Energy Group, Inc. 1995 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended and restated. (Designated
as Exhibit No. 10(b) to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000, File
Nos. 1-12869 and 1-1910.)

Constellation Energy Group, Inc. Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan, as amended and restated.

Constellation Energy Group, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors, as amended
and restated. (Designated as Exhibit No. 10(d) to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2001, File Nos. 1-12869 and 1-1910.)

Baltimore Gas and Electric Company Retirement Plan for Non-Employee Directors, as amended and
restated. (Designated as Exhibit No. 10{m) in Form 10-Q dated May 14, 1999, File Nos. 1-12869 and
1-1910.)
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100 —

*10(g) —

10th) —

*10(1) —

*10() —

*10k) —

*10) —

*10(m)

*10(n) —

*10(0) —

*10(p) —

10 —

*10(r) —

10(s) —
*10) —

10(u) —
10(v) —
10(w) —

12(a) —

Summary of severance arrangement for Edward A. Crooke. (Designated as Exhibit No. 10(g) to the
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999, File Nos. 1-12869 and 1-1910.)

Grantor Trust Agreement Dated as of January 1, 2001 between Constellation Energy Group, Inc. and
Citibank, N.A. (Designated as Exhibit No. 10(g) to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2000, File Nos. 1-12869 and 1-1910.)

Form of Severance Agreements between Constellation Energy Group, Inc. and the following named
executive officers: Mayo A. Shattuck IiI, E. Follin Smith, and Frank O. Heintz.

Grantor Trust Agreement dated as of April 30, 1999 between Constellation Energy Group, Inc. and
T. Rowe Price Trust Company. (Designated as Exhibit No. 10(e) in Form 10-Q dated May 14, 1999,
File Nos. 1-12869 and 1-1910.)

Full Requirements Service Agreement between Constellation Power Source, Inc. and Baltimore Gas and
Electric Company. (Designated as Exhibit No. 10(a) in Form 10-Q dated August 14, 2000, File

Nos. 1-12869 and 1-1910.) (Portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for
confidential treatment.)

Full Requirements Service Agreement between Constellation Power Source, Inc. and Baltimore Gas and
Electric Company. (Designated as Exhibit No. 10(a) in Form 10-Q) dared September 30, 2001, File
Nos. 1-12869 and 1-1910.) (Portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for
confidential treatment.)

Full Requirements Service Agreement between Baltimore Gas and Electric Company and Allegheny
Energy Supply Company, LL.C. (Designated as Exhibit No. 10(b) in Form 10-Q dated September 30,
2001, File Nos. 1-12869 and 1-1910.) (Pottions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request
for confidential treatment.)

Constellation Energy Group, Inc. Benefits Restoration Plan, as amended and restated. (Designated as
Exhibit No. 10(m) to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001, File
Nos. 1-12869 and 1-1910.)

Constellation Energy Group, Inc. Supplemental Pension Plan, as amended and restated. (Designated as
Exhibit No. 10(n} to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001, File
Nos. 1-12869 and 1-1910.)

Constellation Energy Group, Inc. Senior Executive Supplemental Plan, as amended and restated.
(Designated as Exhibit No. 10(0) to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2001, File Nos. 1-12869 and 1-1910.)

Constellation Energy Group, Inc. Supplemental Benefits Plan, as amended and restated. (Designated as
Exhibit No. 10(p) to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001, File
Nos. 1-12869 and 1-1910.)

Compensation agreements between Constellation Energy Group, Inc. and Michael J. Wallace
(Attachment 1—Employment Agreement; Attachment 2—Severance Agreement.)

Compensation agreements between Constellation Energy Group, Inc. and Thomas V. Brooks (Attachment
1—Offer letter; Attachment 2—Equity letter; Attachment 3—Retention plan summary.) (Designated as
Exhibit No. 10(r) to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001, File

Nos. 1-12869 and 1-1910.)

Constellation Energy Group, Inc. Executive Long-Term Incentive Plan.

Constellation Energy Group, Inc. 2002 Executive Annual Incentive Plan. (Designated as Exhibit No. 11
in the Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed on April 18, 2002.)

Constellation Energy Group, Inc. 2002 Senior Management Long-Term Incentive Plan.
Constellation Energy Group, Inc. Management Long-Term Incentive Plan.

Compensation agreements between Constellation Energy Group, Inc. and E. Follin Smith (Attachment 1.
Offer letter; Attachment 2—Severance agreement.)

Constellation Energy Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.
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12(b) — Baltimore Gas and Electric Company and Subsidiaries Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed
Charges and Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Combined Fixed Charges and Preferred and
Preference Dividend Requirements.

21 — Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

23 — Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLD, Independent Accountants.
* Incorporated by Reference.

(b} Reports on Form 8-K:
None.
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CONSTELLATION ENERGY GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
ARD

BALTIMORE GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE l—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Column A Column B Column C
Additions
Balance Charged  Charged to
at to ¢osts Other Balance at
beginnin and Accounts—  (Deductions)— end of
Description of perio expenses Describe Describe period
(In millions)
Reserves deducted in the Balance Sheet from the assets
to which they apply:
Constellation Energy
Accumulated Provision for Uncollectibles
2002 $ 228 $26.4 $ 125 (A) $ (19.8)(B) $ 419
2000 . e 21.3 26.5 — (25.0)(B) 22.8
2000 . .. e 34.8 21.1 — (34.6)(B) 213
Valuation Allowance—
Net unrealized (gain) loss on available for sale
securities
2002 .. e (243.7) — 243.7 (C) — —
200 L. e e (33.7) — (210.0)(C) — (243.7)
2000 . e e e 0.2 — (33.9(C) — (33.7)
Net unrealized (gain) loss on nuclear
decommissioning trust funds
2002 e (21.0) — (26.4)(C) —_ (47.4)
200 . e (34.7) — 13.7 (C) —_ (21.0)
2000 . i (40.5) — 5.8 (C) — (34.7)
Mark-to-market energy assets reserves
2002 . (43.4) — (6.5)(D) — (49.9)
200 .. e e (54.4) — 11.0 (D) — (43.4)
2000 . e (27.5) — (26.9XD) — (54.4)
BGE
Accumulated Provision for Uncollectibles
2002 .. 13.4 14.5 — (16.4)(B) 11.5
2000 .. e e 13.4 21.8 — (21.8)(B) 13.4
2000 . e 13.0 16.4 — (16.0)(B) 13.4

Net unrealized (gain) loss on nuclear

decommissioning trust fund
200 L e e e e e — — — —_
200 L e — — —_

2000 .. (40.5) —_ (1.8)(E) 42—; <

{(A) Represents amounts acquired resulting from our acquisitions of NewEnergy and Alliance.

(B) Represents principally net amounts charged off as uncollectible.

(C) Represents amounts recorded in or reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income.
(D) Represents reserves from mark-to-market energy assets credited/(charged) to revenues.

(E) Represents net unrealized gains credited to accumulated depreciation.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Constellation Energy
Group, Inc., the Registrant, has duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly

authorized.

CONSTELLATION ENERGY GROUP, INC.

Date: March 7, 2003 By /s/

(Registrant)

Mayo A. SHATTUCK IIT

Mayo A. Shattuck II1
Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer

and President

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by the

following persons on behalf of Constellation Energy Group, Inc., the Registrant, and
indicated.

Signature Title

Principal executive officer and director:

M. A. Shartuck III
M. A. Shartuck IIE

Chairman of the Board, Chief
Executive Officer, President
and Director

By /s/

Principal financial and accounting officer:

By /s/ E. E Smith Senior Vice President and
E. E Smith Chief Financial Officer
Directors:
/s/ D. L. Becker Director
D. L. Becker
/sl J. T. Brady Director
J. T. Brady
/sl FE P. Bramble, Sr. Director
E. P Bramble, Sr.
Is! B. B. Byron Director
B, B, Byron
/st E. A. Crooke Director
E. A. Crooke
/s J. R. Curtiss Director
J. R. Curtiss

123

in the capacities and on the dates

Date

March 7, 2003

March 7, 2003

March 7, 2003

March 7, 2003

March 7, 2003

March 7, 2003

March 7, 2003

March 7, 2003




Signature
/s/ R. W. Gale
R. W. Gale
Is/ F. A. Hrabowski, III
E A. Hrabowski, ITI
/s! E. J. Kelly, 111
E, J. Kelly, III
Is! N. Lampton
N. Lampten
Is/ R. J. Lawless
R. J. Lawless
/s/ M. D. Sullivan

M. D. Sullivan
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Title

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Date

March 7, 2003

March 7, 2003

March 7, 2003

March 7, 2003

March 7, 2003

March 7, 2003




Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Baltimore Gas and
Electric Company, the Registrant, has duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto
duly authorized.

BALTIMORE GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY
(Registrant)

Date: March 7, 2003 By /s/ Frank O. HEINTZ

Frank O. Heincz
President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of Baltimore Gas and Electric Company, the Registrant, and in the capacities and on the
dates indicated.

Signature Titde Date

Principal executive officer and director:

By /s/ E O. Heintz President, Chief Executive March 7, 2003
E O. Heintz Officer, and Director

Principal financial and accounting officer and

director:

By /s/ E. E Smith Senior Vice President, Chief March 7, 2003
E E Smidh Financial Officer, and Director

Directors:

fsf M. A. Shacruck IIT Director March 7, 2003

M. A. Shattuck I
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Certification

I, Mayo A. Shattuck III, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Constellation Energy Group, Inc;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit
to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operacions and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and 1 are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and have:

a)  designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

b) evaluated che effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within
90 days prior to the filing date of this annual report (the “Evaluation Date”); and

¢) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors {or persons performing the equivalent
functions):

a)  all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect
the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the
registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal controls; and

6. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether there were
significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to
the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and
material weaknesses.

March 7, 2003

/s/ MAYO A. SHATTUCK III

Mayo A. Shactuck III,
Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and President
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Certification

I, E. Follin Smith, certify that:
1. T have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Constellation Energy Group, Inc;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit
to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and have:

a)  designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information refating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within
90 days prior to the filing date of this annual report (the “Evaluation Date”); and

¢)  presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

S.  The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
funcrions):

a)  all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect
the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the
registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invclves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal controls; and

6. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have indicared in this annual report whether there were
significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to
the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and
marerial weaknesses.

March 7, 2003

/s/ E. FOLLIN SMITH

E. Follin Smith,
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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Certification
I, Frank O. Heintz, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Baltimore Gas and Electric Company;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit
to state a material facr necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidared subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entidies, particularly
during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within
90 days prior to the filing date of this annual report (the “Evaluation Date”); and

©) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officers and 1 have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):

a)  all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect
the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the
registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal controls; and

6. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether there were
significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to
the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and
material weaknesses.

March 7, 2003

/s{ FRANK O. HEINTZ

Frank O. Heintz,
President and Chief Executive Officer
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Certification

I, E. Follin Smith, certify thac:
1. T have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Baltimore Gas and Electric Company;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit
to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual reporg;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual
report, faitly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and have:

a)  designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

b)  evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within
90 days prior to the filing date of this annual report (the “Evaluation Date”); and

¢) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and [ have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, ro the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):

a)  all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect
the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the
registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal controls; and

6. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether there were
significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to
the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and
material weaknesses.

March 7, 2003

/s! E. FOLLIN SMITH

E. Follin Smith,
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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Shareholder Information

Commen Steck Dividends and Price Ranges

2002
Dividend Price*
Declared High Low
First Quarter $0.24 $31.18 $26.16
Second Quarter 0.24 32.38 27.65
Third Quarter 0.24 29.85 21.51
Fourth Quarter 024 29.02 19.30

Total $0.96

* Based on NYSE composite transactions

Bividend Policy

Constellation Energy pays dividends on its common stock after its
Board of Directors declares them. There are no contractual limitations
on Consteliation Energy paying common stock dividends.

Dividends have been paid continuously on our common stock since
1310. Future dividends depend upon future earnings, our financial
condition, and other factors.

Bividend Increase

In January 2003, we announced an increase in our quarterly dividend
from 24 cents to 26 cents per share on our common stock payable
April 1, 2003, to holders of record on March 10, 2003. This is
equivalent to an annual rate of $1.04 per share.

Common Stoclk Dividend Dates

Record dates are normally on the 10th of March, June, September, and
December. Quarterly dividends are customarily mailed to each share-
holder on or about the 1st of April, July, October, and January.

Stock Trading

Consteltation Energy common stock, which is traded under the ticker
symbol CEG, is listed on the New York, Chicago, and Pacific stock
exchanges, and has unlisted trading privileges on the Boston, Cincinnati,
and Philadelphia exchanges.

Form 10-i _

The company has furnished a copy of its Form 10-K as a part of this
annual report. In addition, our Form 10-K and other SEC filings can be
found on our Web site, constellation.com. Upon written request to our
Shareholder Services group, the company will furnish, without charge,
additional copies of its Form 10-K.

fuditer
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Forward Looking Disclaimer

We make statements in this Annual Report that are considered forward
looking within the meaning of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
These statements are not guarantees of our future results and are
subject to risks, uncertainties, and other important factors that could
cause our actual results to differ including those set forth in our Form
10-K under the “Forward Looking Statements” section.

© Constellation Energy Group 2003

2001
Dividend Price*
Declared High Low
First Quarter $0.12 $44.65 $34.69
Second Quarter 0.12 50.14 40.10
Third Quarter 0.12 43.80 22.85
Fourth Quarter 012 28.21 20.90

Total $0.48

Shargholder Investment Plan

Constellation Energy’s Shareholder Investment Plan provides common

shareholders an easy and economical way to acquire additional shares

of common stock. The plan allows shareholders to reinvest all or part of
their common stock dividends, purchase additional shares of common

stock, deposit the common stock they hold into the plan, and request a

transfer or sale of shares held in their accounts.

Steck Transfer Agents and Registrars

Transfer Agent and Registrar:
Constellation Energy Group, Inc.
Baltimore, Maryland

Co-Transfer Agent and Registrar:
Continental Stock Transfer and Trust Company
8th Floor
17 Battery Place South
New York, NY 10004

Shareholder Assistance and Inguiries

If you need assistance with lost or stolen stock certificates or dividend
checks, name changes, address changes, stock transfers, the
Shareholder Investment Plan, or other matters, you may visit our
Web site at constellation.com or contact our Shareholder Services
representatives as follows:

By telephone (Monday —Friday, 8 a.m. —4:45 p.m. EST);

Baltimore Metropolitan Area 410-783-5920
Within Maryland 1-800-492-2861
QOutside Maryland 1-800-258-0499

By U.S. mail:
Constellation Energy Group, Inc.
Shareholder Services
P.C. Box 1642
Baltimore, MD 21203-1642

In person or by avernight delivery:
Constellation Energy Group, Inc.
Shareholder Services, Room 800
39 W. Lexington Street
Baltimore, MD 21201







